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PREFACE--Sierra Club Oral History Program to 1978

In fall 1969 and spring 1970 a self-appointed committee of Sierra Clubbers met
several times to consider two vexing and related problems. The rapid membership growth
of the club and its involvement in environmental issues on a national scale left neither
time nor resources to document the club's internal and external history. Club records were
stored in a number of locations and were inaccessible for research. Further, we were
failing to take advantage of the relatively new technique of oral history by which the
reminiscences of club leaders and members of long standing could be preserved.

The ad hoc committee's recommendation that a standing History Committee be
established was approved by the Sierra Club Board of Directors in May 1970. That
September the board designated The Bancroft Library of the University of California,
Berkeley as the official repository of the club's archives. The large collection of records,
photographs, and other memorabilia known as the "Sierra Club Papers" is thus
permanently protected, and the Bancroft is preparing a catalog of these holdings which
will be invaluable to students of the conservation movement.

The History Committee then focused its energies on how to develop a significant
oral history program. A six-page questionnaire was mailed to members who had joined
the club prior to 1931. More than half responded, enabling the committee to identify
numerous older members as likely prospects for oral interviews. (Some had hiked with
John Muir!) Other interviewees were selected from the ranks of club leadership over the
past six decades.

Those committee members who volunteered as interviewers were trained in this
discipline by Willa Baum, head of the Bancroft's Regional Oral History Office (ROHO)
and a nationally recognized authority in this field. Further interviews have been
completed in cooperation with university oral history classes at California State
University, Fullerton; Columbia University, New York; and the University of California,
Berkeley. Extensive interviews with major club leaders are most often conducted on a
professional basis through the Regional Oral History Office.

Copies of the Sierra Club oral interviews are placed at The Bancroft Library, in the
Department of Special Collections at UCLA, and at the club's Colby Library, and may be
purchased at cost by club regional offices, chapters, and groups, as well as by other
libraries, institutions, and interested individuals.

Our heartfelt gratitude for their help in making the Sierra Club Oral History Project
a success goes to each interviewee and interviewer; to everyone who has written an
introduction to an oral history; to the Sierra Club Board of Directors for its recognition of
the long-term importance of this effort; to the Trustees of the Sierra Club Foundation for
generously providing the necessary funding; to club and foundation staff, especially to
Michael McCloskey, Denny Wilcher, Colburn Wilbur, and Nicholas Clinch; to Willa



Baum and Susan Schrepfer of the Regional Oral History Office; and last but far from least,
to the members of the History Committee, and particularly to Ann Lage, who has
coordinated the oral history effort since 1974.

You are cordially invited to read and enjoy any or all of the oral histories in the
Sierra Club series. By so doing you will learn much of the club's history which is
available nowhere else, and of the fascinating careers and accomplishments of many
outstanding club leaders and members.

Marshall H. Kuhn
Chairman, History Committee
1970-1978

May 1, 1977
San Francisco
(revised March, 1992, A.L.)
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The Sierra Club Oral History Program since 1978

Inspired by the vision of its founder and first chairman, Marshall Kuhn, the Sierra
Club History Committee continued to expand its oral history program following his death
in 1978. In 1980, with five ROHO interviews completed or underway and thirty-five
volunteer-conducted interviews available for research, the History Committee sought and
received funding from the National Endowment for the Humanities for a major project
focusing on the Sierra Club of the 1960s and 1970s. In a four-year period, NEH and
matching Sierra Club funds made possible the completion of an additional seventeen
major oral histories conducted by the Regional Oral History Office and forty-four
volunteer-conducted interviews. Oral histories produced during and following the NEH
grant period have documented the leadership, programs, strategies, and ideals of the
national Sierra Club as well as the club grassroots at the regional and chapter levels over
the past thirty years. The work of the club is seen in all its variety--from education to
litigation to legislative lobbying; from energy policy to urban issues to wilderness
preservation; from California to the Carolinas to Alaska, and on the international scene.
The Sierra Club oral history program, together with the extensive Sierra Club papers and
photographic collection in The Bancroft Library--a collection of 1325 linear feet of
archival records, more than 34,000 photographs, films, tapes, and publications, all
recently processed and catalogued--help celebrate the Sierra Club centennial in 1992 by
making accessible to researchers one hundred years of Sierra Club history.

Special thanks for the oral history project's later phase are due Maxine McCloskey,
chair of the Sierra Club History Committee 1988-1992; Ray Lage, co-chair, History
Committee, 1978-1986; Susan Schrepfer, codirector of the NEH Sierra Club
Documentation Project; members of the History Committee; and most importantly, the
interviewees and interviewers for their unfailing cooperation. The Sierra Club and the
Sierra Club Foundation, as well as special donors to individual interviews, have
generously provided funding to continue the oral history project.

Ann Lage, Director

Sierra Club Oral History Project
Berkeley, California
November 2005
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INTRODUCTION—by Lawrence Downing

In the very early 1970s, a middle-aged North Carolina businessman with a wonderfully smooth
drawl asked to be put on the agenda of a regular Circus meeting of the Board of Directors of the Sierra
Club in San Francisco. This was only the second meeting of the Sierra Club directors he had ever attended
in his life. This man asked to be put on the agenda because he had a document to show those directors, and
a proposal for the use of it and similar documents by the club in the future.

In hindsight the document seems so obvious to us all, but at the time its somewhat reluctant
adoption and use would represent a dramatic new departure from the way the Sierra Club of those days
“did business”—a departure that I submit ultimately took the largely California-focused environmental
organization to a new dimension of membership size, financial stability, environmental power, and
political influence.

Who was that man? Why had he come to the meeting? And what was that document that forever
altered the Sierra Club as it then existed?

I am privileged to be afforded the opportunity to write the introduction to the oral history of that
North Carolina businessman, a clever and personable volunteer leader and problem solver who went on to
serve the Sierra Club as its president for two terms in 1982 to 1984, and, perhaps even more importantly,
who served the Sierra Club as its treasurer for a total of eight transformative terms!

That man, Denny Shaffer, has been my environmental colleague and my close personal friend for
over a quarter of a century. In my observation he had a more profound impact on the growth and stability
of the Sierra Club during the last quarter century than any other single individual.

Denny came to the Sierra Club, as did so many of the effective club leaders during that period, as a
Council delegate from his home chapter, the LeConte Chapter. Certainly there were other individuals with
business backgrounds that had served on the Sierra Club Board of Directors prior to Denny’s arrival in San
Francisco in the early seventies, but no one had brought better financial management and problem-solving
skills. It was a propitious meeting of skills, needs, and opportunities. And the club was the fortunate
organization upon which he chose to focus.

At his first meeting, he observed three main areas where he saw an opportunity for him to apply
his talents to try to improve and strengthen the venerable organization to which we all have devoted so
much of our lives: (1) membership, (2) management, and (3) fundraising. In characteristic fashion, he
returned to San Francisco for his second meeting prepared to address the first of those problems—and the
document in his hand was a colorful membership brochure whose headline said, “A bunch of crazy people
want you to join them,” and a plan for its effective distribution! In those days, about the only place that
one could find a membership application was printed on the book jacket of a Sierra Club book, and it
required you to cut up the jacket! Moreover, it required you also to find two club members who would
recommend you for membership—or to get the club to waive that requirement, as I did.
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Denny’s thought was, “How can you have a church without an evangelist or an army without a
recruiting department? How could you have a Sierra Club with nobody charged with the responsibility of
getting more members?” He reasoned that if this organization can have come this far based upon people’s
willingness “to go to the library and find out where the devil you are and write to you and say, ‘Can I
join?’, just imagine what would happen if you did it the other way around, if you found these people and
asked them to join? Imagine what would happen if you really got serious about getting members in this
organization.”

And so the “long dance” began. The persuasive gentlemen from North Carolina began with the
assistance of other like-minded leaders to woo volunteer leadership and staff into things like a full-time
Membership Department, direct mail prospecting for new members, computerized and therefore
searchable membership and leader lists, life membership campaigns and installment payment of life
memberships, endowment funds from life membership receipts, fund-raising by the club for the Sierra
Club Foundation, a Development Department, the first international assembly, balanced budgets
developed by the staff and approved by the directors, budgeted surpluses, greater funding for priority
campaigns, executive staff hiring and accountability, financial management staft, an Office of Volunteer
Development, increased chapter and group funding and support, membership contests, donor and fund
sharing by national and local entities, executive director and club officer evaluations, statistical analysis of
renewal rates, membership surveys, long-range strategic planning, the Centennial Capital Campaign,
constructive agenda management, e-mail communications for leaders and staff, and telephone fund-raising
solicitation (well, nobody’s perfect), and efforts to preserve the Sierra Club as a volunteer-driven
environmental organization. The list goes on and on.

When [ identified the attempted takeover of the Sierra Club by outsiders in the Board of Directors’
election of 2004, I immediately asked Denny to draft a letter to motivate the directors to sound the alarm
and spur the staff and volunteer leadership into action. And, as was dependably the case, he did it
exceedingly well.

Whenever the need for persuasion or funds became great, Denny’s southern drawl became more
pronounced, and your hand went instinctively to protect your wallet.

Of course, there were Sierra Club problems that he could not help us solve, but we learned to
address them in a more logical and thoughtful way that was mindful of the feelings of the individuals
directly affected.

A couple of facts from his personal life speak volumes about this man and his principles. He was
the first businessman in North Carolina to permit blacks to handle cash from customers. Can we even
imagine that this occurred within our adult lifetimes? His family was threatened by the Ku Klux Klan for
his progressive actions following his election to the Fayetteville City Council.
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He set up medical clinics for pregnant women too poor to be able to afford competent maternity
care. And when Denny finally retired from his dry-cleaning business, he had three employees who had
worked for him for over thirty years, and he was voluntarily serving as guardian for another elderly former
employee who had no family and was suffering from Alzheimer’s Disease.

The Sierra Club has been fortunate to have had the benefit of this man’s time, treasure, and talents.

And I was privileged to have been there.
Lawrence Downing

President of the Sierra Club, 1986-88
President of the Sierra Club Foundation, 1990-92

December 27, 2004
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INTERVIEW HISTORY—Denny Shaffer

Denny Shaffer was invited to participate in the Sierra Club oral history series in January 1993, as
part of an effort to record oral histories with all living past presidents of the club. The oral history
series on the Sierra Club was launched in 1970 by the Sierra Club History Committee, in
partnership with the Regional Oral History Office. Interviewees in the series include both
volunteer leaders and staff members—those who have had a major impact on the national
organization and its environmental agenda, along with those who have worked at the grassroots
level and participated in outings and other club activities.

Denny Shaffer agreed to be interviewed, but somewhat reluctantly, noting that he preferred
looking ahead to the future and that he regarded his presidency, ten years prior, as “ancient
history.” In that same conversation, he characterized himself as an “enabler,” rather than a “carrier
of the flag.” These were modest words for someone who appears prominently in almost every oral
history of club leaders since the 1970s, often described as a wielder of great power within the
organization. A key question of this oral history, then, is how Denny Shaffer, as one of scores of
active volunteer leaders of this large and complex environmental organization, came to exercise so
much power and to what end.

Shaffer joined the club in 1968 or 1969 as a resident of Fayetteville, North Carolina, and
participated as activist and outing leader in the growing LeConte Chapter in the Carolinas. Soon he
was the delegate to the council of club chapters in San Francisco, applying his considerable
management and marketing skills—developed in his dry-cleaning business—to the work of the
national Sierra Club. In 1977 he became a member of the board of directors, a position he held
with only a one-year break until 1991. In 1994, during the course of our interviews, he was again
elected to the board, serving what was for him a troubling three-year final term, which concluded
shortly before our last set of interviews in 1997.

Our first two interviews were recorded in June and November of 1993 in Denny and Kim Shaffer’s
San Francisco apartment, where they stayed while in town on club business. He looked back to his
family influences, youth and education, first marriage and young family, and his involvement in
civil rights issues in Fayetteville as city councilman and businessman in the 1960s. He recalled his
introduction to the Sierra Club in 1968, his participation in outings and environmental campaigns,
and his growing involvement locally and nationally. When he first took part in a national club
“circus” meeting probably in 1970, he brought a newcomer’s fresh perspective and a three-prong
focus that would define the following decades of his leadership in the club. “My perspective was
clearly so much different from somebody’s perspective who had been here for twenty years. I
walked in the door and looked at it, and said . . . “Wow, that’s great. How could it be better?’”
Noting that most club leaders, both volunteer and staff, lacked experience and interest in
management, he turned his attention to three areas—membership development, fund-raising, and
management—introducing a direct-mail program, building endowment through life memberships,
fostering major-donor fund-raising, and instituting new budgetary and priority-setting procedures.



XXVi

Our third and fourth interview sessions took place in November 1997, when he was in a reflective
mood, having left the board for a final time after completing his three-year term. He discussed
club management issues, his role as treasurer, which he describes as the most powerful position in
the club, and his concerns as club president. He reflected on his relationship with four executive
directors, numerous volunteer leaders, and fellow trustees of the Sierra Club Foundation. And he
explained his consternation about what he viewed, during his final term as director, as a
diminishment of the volunteer’s role within the club. His oral history provides a unique insider’s
perspective on the complex cultural institution that is the modern-day Sierra Club, as well as a
detailed overview of the accomplishments of the personable and sometimes controversial
“newcomer” from North Carolina.

Denny Shaffer was sent the oral history transcript, lightly edited by Carl Wilmsen, for review in
June 1998, but his attention was elsewhere, with his wife Kim and adored young daughter,
Francesca. During the following years he traveled with friends and family, faced a series of health
problems, sold his dry-cleaning business, and pursued interests in many areas, from environmental
concerns to the welfare of elderly blues musicians. But the oral history was on his mind, and he
finally returned the reviewed transcript in August 2003. He had corrected dates and names and
made a few additions to elaborate or clarify his oral account. He included illustrative materials,
which appear in the appendices.

Many of Denny Shaffer’s papers relating to his work with the Sierra Club from 1978 to 1987 are
part of the Sierra Club Records and Members Papers in the Bancroft Library (finding aid on line at
http://www.oac.cdlib.org). A document relating to his 1980 Fund Raising Plan for the club is
deposited as supplementary materials to the oral history. He has indicated that he will place his
later papers at the Bancroft as well. The tapes of the oral history sessions are available for listening
in The Bancroft Library.

The Regional Oral History Office was established in 1954 to augment through tape-recorded
memoirs the Library’s materials on the history of California and the West. Copies of all interviews
are available for research use in The Bancroft Library and in the UCLA Department of Special
Collections. The office is under the direction of Richard Candida Smith, and the administrative
direction of Charles B. Faulhaber, the James D. Hart Director of The Bancroft Library, at the
University of California, Berkeley.

Ann Lage, Interviewer

Director, Sierra Club Oral History Project
January 14, 2005
Berkeley, California
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INTERVIEW WITH DENNY SHAFFER

I PERSONAL BACKGROUND: FAMILY, YOUTH, EDUCATION, BUSINESS,
AND CIVIL RIGHTS

[Interview 1: June 9, 1993] ##'

Family's Grocery Business, Early Love of the Qutdoors. and Father's Influence

Today is June 9, 1993, and this is our first interview with Denny Shaffer for the Sierra Club
history program. Today we want to start with background, what molded you and molded
the interests you've displayed in the Sierra Club. Let's begin as we usually do with family,
and where you were born and raised.

Yes, I'm an only son of an only son so it covers family fairly quickly up to that point. In
Pennsylvania, | was born in Altoona, which was then a town of about a hundred thousand
people. In World War II, we moved to where my dad worked, which was seven whole
miles away, in a town called Tyrone, and I stayed there and graduated from high school. |
went to school at the University of Pittsburgh after that, and in '52 graduated and really left
that part of the world.

When were you born?

1931, February the 13th, a Friday.

What kind of work did your father do?

My family was in the grocery business. They had a chain of about sixty-two or three

corner grocery stores that were started when they made deliveries with horse and wagon.
And the premise they built them on was that they were corner grocery stores, they had a

1. ## This symbol indicates that a tape or tape segment has begun or ended. A guide to the
tapes follows the transcript.



Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

delivery service, and they gave you credit. It was Shaffer Stores Company, and they were
painted bright yellow, with yellow awnings. It was very successful; they had their own
bakery, had their own meat packing plant, and their own brands.

My father was in the meat packing part of the business, which was located in Tyrone, seven
miles away from the headquarters, which were in Altoona. We lived in an apartment above
a Shaffer store, grocery store number two of the sixty-some stores, and this was a building
that my grandfather owned, my father's father, and so we lived there when I was a child.

My interest, I think, in natural things came about that time, which would have been my
early school days, elementary school days. My parents were faced with the decision of
whether they should try to get their own house, build their own house, or whether they
should try to get a place out in the country. Well, these were tough times, these were the
thirties, and there was not a lot of money, and so they ended up deciding to go out into the
country and buy a little bit of land and build a cottage on it, which they did, and we spent
summers there, in a place called Spruce Creek. President Carter, when he finished the
presidency, the first thing he wrote after he was president of the United States was an article
for Sports lllustrated about fly-fishing in Spruce Creek, which was the creek that I played
in as a child and where I grew up. A very pleasant, natural setting. From that early time, I
spent a lot of time walking the mountains. My parents were amazingly permissive of that
sort of thing.

Was it their own pleasure as well?

Well, it wasn't. My father had muscular dystrophy, and so he couldn't do those things. His
interests in it were--we would take drives every Sunday afternoon, year-round, we'd take an
automobile drive, and always out through the most remote places we could find, frequently
unpaved roads. I remember more than one time ending up in a farmer's field somewhere so
that you had to open up his gate that kept his cattle in to get out of his property, to get back
to something that resembled a road.

And we would talk at that time. He loved wildflowers and he loved--he was more curious
than anybody ['ve ever known, I suppose, about everything. A most brilliant man, a little
bitter about having this disease that kept him from being able to do so much he wanted to
do, but very curious. When you went to visit him, he would ask you a few things about
where you came from, and what you did, and that would become the conversation. If you
were a historian, he would talk to you about things in that field, or whatever. He had a
unique talent to do that, but his basic background was as an accountant, as a number
cruncher--

Which you don't think of as having the broad interests, often.

No, that's right, that's right. And so I grew up with, I suppose, two or three things from my
father and my family. One was a tremendous curiosity, which I think I still have, "What
makes that work? How do you solve that problem? How do you take something that isn't
working and fix it?" [ mean, Dad used to love to tear a clock apart that didn't work and
make it work, put it back together again.

Did you learn from him by example, or did he actually undertake to teach you?
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No, I think just by my observing his curiosity, I developed a great curiosity, but it was not
very much of him saying, "Denny, come here, let me show you how a clock works." I don't
think he ever did that. My folks were German, German background, Pennsylvania Dutch, I
mean, in this country for, I don't know, more generations than I've been able to check back
on, but not very emotional people, sort of ordered.

All the things you think of when you talk about Pennsylvania Dutch?

Yes, but a real love of nature, and real valuing of it. His father had a great love of
wildflowers, as well as--1 mean, he also grew wonderful other flowers, too, but he probably
would have been the one who introduced me, by their first names, to flowers, knew what
they were, helped me know what I was looking at. But he, too, was physically
handicapped, and so he couldn't get out, either.

Did he have muscular dystrophy as well?

Well, at that time, they really hadn't figured out much what muscular dystrophy was. And
all the people will now tell you that fathers and sons don't have muscular dystrophys; it
comes through the female side. But both my grandfather and his son, my father, had a
crippling disease, and my father's was finally diagnosed as muscular dystrophy. It was sort
of the slow kind; my dad died when he was sixty-one. He had to quit work when he was
probably fifty-one, and I don't remember him when he was able to get around without great
difficulty.

Did that give you a special role in kind of being an enabler for him?
[long pause]

You know, it's hard for me to know, because certainly this influenced my life, but I don't--1
think it probably made me more sensitive to the fact that not all folks are created equal, that
the folks who are not created equal probably didn't vote for it--they didn't say, "This is what
I'd like to have or be."

I think that, probably, it opened my awareness to the fact that if you got something, you're
lucky, and that if there's some way to--if somebody's physically handicapped and they can't
go some place, that your going to that place and bringing it back to them in words or
pictures or whatever is better than your not doing it, or better than your doing it and not
bringing anything back. And it obviously applies far beyond all that. I suppose that sort of
feeling got me in the civil rights movement, the idea of people who are being treated in a
less than equal way because of something which they had no control over, in that case, their
race.

So [I received from my father] a curiosity about all that, and, of course, also what
ultimately became useful to me: my dad's love of the way numbers worked. I remember,
early on, my father would ask me, you know, "What's sixteen percent of forty-three," or
something like that, driving along in the car, as sort of a means of communication. When
the conversation would die, he would start asking me questions like that, which are not the
normal father-son questions. But I ultimately got to the point where I had the answers.
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And my parents could not wait until I got old enough to make the third hand in card games,
and [ was playing three-handed pinochle probably by the time I was seven, or something
like that, and bridge by the time [ was ten, and I was fairly good at it, and always kept
score. So those skills came out of that background, I suspect.

A Nurturing Mother. Religion. and Caring for Others

How about your mother? What was she like?

My mother was one of seven children, a rural family; she grew up on a farm. She quit
school before she graduated from high school to help take care of her brothers and sisters.
Her mother died when Mom's youngest sister was less than a year old.

She was a nurturer; she liked people. She cared about people and got a great deal of
satisfaction out of expressing it. She really did enjoy cooking wonderful meals for people,
entertaining people. She spent a long time taking care of my dad, and the last probably ten
years of his life, he never slept more than an hour or so at a time, and then would need to be
turned, and she would do all that. She was an example to me that you do what there is there
to do, and that somehow, the strength comes. How she did all that I do not know.

She then lived a lot longer; she died just a couple of years ago at eighty-eight. Extremely
active life in-between times. She died in a hospital where there is a plaque beside the
elevator as you go up that has her name on it, saying that she'd contributed over a thousand
hours as a volunteer working in that hospital. And she did that. I have wonderful stories of
her reaching out to people that needed help, women who were sick and by themselves, and
she'd just go take care of them. Take her clothes with her and go and stay for two days and
two nights and take care of them.

Was she a nurse?

No, no, no, no. An extremely bright woman, good sense of humor. Both of my parents had
a very strong moral background, which came out of the church, which was the base of--

What was the church?

Well, the Christian church, a variety of branches. Mother was originally a Lutheran. [ was
baptized a Lutheran. Dad was a Methodist, and I was one of those for a while. And then,
ultimately, we ended up being Presbyterians, because when we moved to Tyrone, we went
around and looked at the churches, determined which had the least steps and which could

be easier to get into, so my father could get in it. And the Presbyterians won; they had the
least steps, so I've been a Presbyterian ever since.

I don't believe, frankly, that the difference between those denominations are particularly
important, particularly the middle grouping of the Methodists and Lutherans and
Presbyterians, and so on, are all pretty much the same. They might not think that, but--.
But my parents came out of that background, and I remember, as a child, the idea of caring
for other people.
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Was their caring rooted in the Christian faith?

Yes, [ mean, I remember them packing up food to take to folks in the family who didn't
have much during the latter days of the Depression. And my dad would read in the
newspaper of somebody's having a hard time, and he would send them money by the mail.
And not much--a dollar, which was probably twenty dollars now, or something like that--
put it in an envelope, no return address, and mail it to them.

My mother, when she died, and I looked through her checkbook, I think it was six out of
the last ten checks she had written were to charities, and they weren't big amounts--they
were twenty dollar amounts--but it was always this feeling of charity, of sharing, that if you
were given something, that A, if you have got good sense, you'll enjoy it; and B, if you
have a good value system, you'll share it. And whether the something is a place, like our
cottage, which was always filled with people on the weekends, or whether it's a talent, or
whatever it is, enjoy it, and share it, and if you share it, you'll enjoy it.

That's a good--I'm sure there's a lot more to say, but that is a very nice picture of your early
life and influences.

Family Interest in Politics, Father's Conservatism, and Other Interests

How about politics? Was that a topic of discussion in your family?

Oh, always. My father was a very conservative Republican of business orientation.
What did he think of Roosevelt?

Well, my mother and dad had a standing joke, because my father fussed about Roosevelt
over all the years he was in office, and my mother reminded him that she didn't vote for
him; he did. He voted for Roosevelt the first time. He never did that again, I can assure
you, but he did do that and--

We had that same joke in my family. [laughter]

She wouldn't stop enjoying that, because he fussed about it all the way through.

So he must have been disturbed about the economy when Roosevelt ran the first time,
disturbed enough to break from his Republicanism.

That's right, that's exactly right.
So your parents were actively interested in politics, and it got discussed around the table?

Oh, not just politics, but a wide interest in everything. One of the things my dad did was
collect stamps. In fact, he dealt in stamps, had a dealership for a while, as a sort of a side
venture that he'd carry on in the evenings and weekends, and he could tell you, you know,
every country, and things about the country and the politics of the country, when ninety
percent of the folks who would come visit him never had heard of the country.
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He also was interested in stocks, and he probably--1 know he did--he made more money
investing in stocks than he ever made any other way. Because of the limitations that his
physical disability put upon him, he could never really advance in business very much,
because it was great effort for him to get up and get to work in the morning and get back
home in the evening, and any more than that was really--. He went as a director to the
board of director's meetings of the Shaffer Stores Company, which were held, you know,
every two or three months, and that was an immense effort. But it made a difference.

But the business of investing in stocks: I mean, he could sit down and talk to you about
corporations you had never heard of and what products they made. So there was always
this broad, endless amount of choice of things to think about. It was an intellectually
stimulating background on a rather simple basis, on a practical basis, on a basis of things
which affected, in some way, daily life. They weren't thinking in terms of, I suppose, the
ultimate intellectual kinds of discussions, but--

They weren't talking theory.

--but it sure as Dickens wasn't boring, either.

Wanting to Be a Boss. and Parental Emphasis on Education

Now what kind of goals did your parents present for you, as an only child?

Well, they came out of the Depression and what they saw for me was that I would get an
education, because if you got an education, that meant you'd always be financially secure,
and Dad never really was, because he was scared--he never knew how long he'd be able to
work, and--

Was he college educated?

No. He graduated from high school and he took correspondence courses, back when you
did that sort of thing, through the mail. He took accounting, and he took business courses,
and all that sort of thing, but his formal education was limited to high school.

Did they think of a business career for you, or Shaffer Stores as a career?

Well, no, because it was a family business, and, as in all families, there were advantages
and disadvantages, and for my father that side of it was always very difficult. No, I never
thought I would do that. I certainly thought I would be in some business. When I was little
boy and somebody asked me what I wanted to do when I grew up, I said I wanted to be a
boss, [laughter] and I did. It struck me that being a boss was better than not being the boss,
and that's what I wanted to be, so that's in some way thinking in terms of business.

But my parents saw for me, clearly they saw for me, "Get an education. That means you'll
be secure financially, you'll be able to get a job, get married, have two kids, live the
American dream, and life will be good." And so that's what I did, until I got to that point
and found out that it was a little more complicated than that, but--

Were there any particular molding influences in your primary and high school education, or
was it mainly family that helped you along?
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Yes, I think so. I found out that I could excel, I found out that getting recognition was kind
of a nice idea. I mean, in seventh grade, I was captain of the Patrol Boys, which was the
ultimate honor for the boy in the class, because he was thought to be the best citizen, to
have the best grades. It also got you in several fights, which they didn't tell you about
beforehand, like having to defend your honor, or somebody's honor. You never knew what
the fights were about, of course, but--

Now did you get in those fights?

Oh yes. I mean, what choice do you have? I mean, somebody comes upon you, what do
you do? Yes. One of the advantages, I guess, of being a boy.

In College: Active in Politics; Organizing and Managing Religious Program

It was in college that the whole political stuff came. I was very active in college politics.
Now, you graduated in '52.
I graduated from college in '52, yes. Graduated from high school in '48.

You were in college in the postwar years, which are not thought of as a particularly political
time for colleges.

I'm talking about school politics--who decides whatever silly things you were deciding, but
they were terribly important at the time.

So this was student government.

Student government, yes. | learned so much about how to organize people and manage
things. We had something called the Religion and Life Program at the University of
Pittsburgh, where we put a religious, quote-unquote, speaker in every classroom and every
organization during a period of one week, everywhere.

"

Now who's "we"? The student government?

Well, this was a sort of university idea, but it was run by students, and I was in charge of it
that year. And we brought in religious leaders from around the world, and we had a budget,
some of which we raised from businesses and interested people, and some--1 don't know at
the moment. People would contribute and the university put up some money.

It was clearly interdenominational. I mean, it was not a matter of promoting any religion; it
was a matter of saying to people, "There is something out there called religion that seems to
affect people's lives and you maybe ought to touch it, see what it's like." And so these
people would come in. A wonderful fellow, I remember, was an air force chaplain. [There
were] others from around the world. But anyhow, putting it together--

Good organization skills.
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Yes, big school, a lot of speakers. Had to have housing for them, some of them got an
honorarium and some didn't, and you had to negotiate with these folks, and it was good, a
lot of fun.

Sounds in some ways like the Sierra Club.

It was. The university also had a spring carnival every year in which we took the lawn and
there were big circus tents for shows and booths for games. I was the business manager for
it for two years, and it was a business. It was a non-profit business, but it was a business,
and [ learned a lot.

Was the University of Pittsburgh a private school?
No, public.
And no one objected to the religious influence there?

No, that was still back in the days where people prayed in classrooms. I mean, it was not
unusual to do that, and not in a university setting, of course, but in other settings. But it
was approached as an educational thing. It was not an evangelical kind of thing. It was
sort of, "You know, this stuff's out there. This is part of what life's about. There's a lot of
people spending a lot of time thinking about all this. Might be something of interest here
that you can learn."

And was there the feeling that the university wasn't teaching that aspect of life, or--

Well, I think it was a feeling at that time--. You could go to college and graduate and never
really get into a lot of areas of what was happening in the world. I mean, you'd never be
exposed to a lot of areas, and religion just happens to be one of them. I was a business
administration student, and you could graduate in business administration and never touch
anything in the arts or philosophy or anything. I mean, you could strictly take math,
science, accounting, and business law, et cetera, and graduate and be a rather uneducated
person, probably. And I think it was an attempt to deal with that.

To kind of broaden people's perspective.
Yes. But anyhow, it was broadening. Out of that kind of thing I learned that I could do
that, that it was fun, and that it made some sense. You got all done with it, and you'd say,

"Well, you know, we did something here that was useful, served some purpose."

That's an interesting relation, because it does sound a lot like Sierra Club activities.

TheKorean War: the Air Force, and Great Smoky Mountains National Park

So, you were a bus ad major and graduated in '52, and then what happened?
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By that time it was the Korean War, and I had used up more deferments than Bill Clinton
ever thought of to get through. I had a different deferment every year, because [ was
concerned that if I didn't finish college, I might not finish college. And, I suppose, looking
back on it, I preferred being in college to being in Korea, but that really wasn't the primary,
the primary thought. It was assumed I was going to go in the service. I mean, there was no
doubt I would do that, because that's what was happening then.

I suppose, had I lived in a different time, maybe [ would have been a conscientious
objector. | have no enthusiasm for killing; it's not something I particularly want to do.
Don't own a gun, don't have a gun, because I don't want to use a gun, still don't want to do
that. But that wasn't one of the options, so I went directly from, almost directly from,
college into the air force.

Talk a little bit more about the Korean War, because it really hasn't come up that often in
our oral histories. Was there any questioning of it on the campus?

It is the one that nobody remembers that we were in.

Yes, and you grew up as a young man with the Second World War affecting everybody's
lives. And then here comes this Korean War. Do you remember any particular questioning
of it, or--

Oh yes. Well, I went through questioning on a certain level. I could have come out of
college and got an instant commission to be a lieutenant in the marines, immediately, just
like that.

Because that's what one could do if you were a college graduate?

If you had a college education, at that point, you could get a commission in the marines.
They would send you off for a few weeks' training, and you were on your way to Korea to
run over a hill or through the jungles, saying, "Charge!" with people hopefully behind you,
preferably not shooting at you. And, you know, it was one of my options. I said, "No, |
don't think that's what I want to do." So it was somewhere between objecting to doing it,
and being selective in how you were going to go about doing it, and I selected the idea of
being a pilot, so I went in pilot training. Turned out to be one of our government's more
complete failures, not a big failure, but a complete one, because I had serious motion
sickness problems, and I went up twenty-one or twenty-two times and got sick twenty-one
or twenty-two times, and that was that.

I spent the rest of my time in the air force doing work in the judge advocate's department,
which was interesting. I enjoyed doing that, and it was also broadening and gave me a
perspective of the law I had never had. I worked in court martials and claims against the
government and actually conducted--I was the special appointed defense attorney for court
martials requested by different people, and I would do that. So it was an interesting
background. I got married then.

One more question. Was the student deferment in the Korean War an accepted thing? Did
most of the students get deferments, or did some of them rush to join up as they did during
World War I1?
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No, no. There was very little of "It is my duty, I can't wait to go" sort of thing, at least
among the people I was with, college students. There may have been somewhere in the
world, you know, people who were still having that sort of "It's my country, I want to go
help defend it" reaction, but not around me. It was more a matter of how to go about this in
an orderly way, and you could get a deferment if you were--I think in your freshman year,
you had to be in the upper twenty-five percent of your class, and by the time you were a
senior, | think, if you were in the upper seventy-five percent of your class, they let you
finish.

#HH

Well the way people felt, in my recollection of the people I was around, was something
between the way people felt about the Vietnam War and the way they felt about World War
II. World War II, it was--I remember the rationing and how everybody really got into
rationing and, you know, if you had more than one spare tire for your car, you turned it in.
And I remember how patriotic people felt because they had a spare tire that they could turn
in to the government that was somehow going to help win the war. And people went off
and fought with that sort of enthusiasm for a sort of black and white, pure thing, that you
were going to do the right thing and this was it. Vietnam, we all remember what that was
like. Korea was something in between those two.

There was beginning to become some real suspicion that it wasn't as black and white as
people thought it was. I don't remember what World War 11 was, World War [ was the "War
to End All Wars," World War Il must have been something different from that. But people
were beginning to get a feeling, with Korea, that there just might be a lot of this, that it
might go on all over the place for a long period of time, and it might not make a lot of
sense, that when you won you might not know what winning would look like, and so it was
that kind of an environment.

So you remember that kind of questioning at some levels.

Yes, oh yes. We'd sit around, talk about it. But you didn't talk about going to Canada. You
talked about how could you do it and not get killed, as opposed to, "How could I do it and
best serve my country?" It became a little more personal and a little less black and white.

Is there more to say about your Korean War experience? You served at your--

Well, there was, I suppose, some relevance to my later Sierra Club work. I ended up
spending twenty-one months of my twenty-four months in the air force at McGhee Tyson
Air Force Base in Alcoa, Tennessee, which was very close to the Great Smoky Mountains
National Park, and I spent an inordinate amount of time hiking, and walking, and so on, in
those mountains.

I ended up working in the judge advocate's office, which was sort of an eight-to-five, five
day a week job, primarily, and so, although I did organize and run an officers' club. They
did not have an officers' club there at that place (it was a relatively new base) and I heard
some officers talking about it, and they were wondering where they could find somebody
who could put one together and run it and so on, and I said, "I can do that. I've done that
sort of thing in the past," which was a slight exaggeration, but I did that. Made some
money doing that, which was of interest to me.
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I did other things. Coached basketball there, which was fun. I still had a lot of fun.

And it was the first time you lived in the South?

Yes, | had spent a little time in North Carolina. I spent a few months, after I graduated from
high school, in North Carolina with relatives, so I had some idea what the South was like.

But, of course, this was very different. I had never been in the southern mountains, and
they were wonderful, great mountains. It rained a lot. But I loved it.

Marriage to Betty, and Dry Cleaning Partnership with Uncle in North Carolina

You married while you were in the Air Force?

Married my childhood sweetheart. Betty and I had our first date when we were in seventh
grade, and we got married while I was in the service, and stayed married until she died. We
had two children. She died in '72. Had two sons. When she died, they were then twelve
and fourteen.

Now, how did you get to North Carolina?

Well, the fellow I had visited with before I went in the service, very wonderful man, also no
background in education, but a real great business mind. It was at that time one-hour dry
cleaning had just started. One-Hour Martinizing was the company that had started it. It
was a brand new idea, and he was there when the idea was started and jumped into it and
called me up and said, "Denny, this is a good thing. There's money to be made here. I can
see a lot of dry cleaning plants being opened and this could be a lot of fun."

I, in the meantime, had applied, sent resumes to--you know how you do when you're
looking for jobs--the twenty-seven Fortune 500 companies, or something like that. But |
really wanted to be in small business. I really liked what my family had done. The idea of
being in a business where you were close enough to it that you could hands-on make some
difference, but still big enough that you didn't have to be there to open the door every
morning and close it every night. But you could know your employees, and you could
know your customers. I liked all of that part of it, so this was--

And you actually thought of these things, as you decided about the business?

Oh yes. Ilike people, in small numbers. I'm not great with cocktail parties. I'd rather sit
down, have two couples over for dinner. I mean, that's a good evening. But anyhow--

Did you go to North Carolina right after the service?

Yes, he got in touch with me, and I went and talked to him, and went to work for him. And
at that point, I guess, he had two dry cleaning plants, and within no time at all, we had a
bunch of them, and we were all over the place, and we were franchising plants. If you
wanted to buy a franchise--we had the franchising for all the Southeast, for Martinizing.
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Now this was Martinizing. But here on your resume I see Koretizing.

Discontent with the Great American Dream

Well, at some place along the line, when Martinizing got bought out by American Laundry
and Machinery Company, and then it got bought out by McGraw-Edison, and when
McGraw-Edison got into the picture, it became considerably less personal and we got out
of that business and we franchised plants under our own name, which was One-Hour
Koretizing, for a while. But I didn't have any real enthusiasm, by then, for that. I had
discovered by then that the Great American Dream was more complicated than my parents
had suggested to me. I had, by then, been married, had two children, and made some
money. And the bells had not yet rung, and I said to myself, "O-ho, there must be
something else one has to do to make the bells ring," and so I--

Now when you say the bells hadn't rung, was this a big feeling of dissatisfaction, or just a
sense that there must be more to life?

You know the old song, "Is this all there is?" It was that sort of thing. It was that--those
were wonderful things. I mean, I liked being married, I liked having children, I liked
having money. I didn't have any before--I mean I really didn't. When I got out of the
service, we hardly had maybe a thousand dollars between us, my wife and I, so it was nice
to get to the point where you made some money.

Had the challenge of the business operation dropped for you? Because you seemed to
really enjoy that kind of a challenge.

Yes, it wore off. I think ten or fifteen years of that and I said to myself, "Well, this is all
very interesting, but there's got to be something more important in life than making money
and running a business." I mean, there's got to be more important things than that, and
there clearly was, and so I just sort of shifted into doing different kinds of things. And I got
out of franchising, because franchising very much controls you; if somebody wants to buy
a unit or two or five or six, then, [ mean, you're gone. You've got to go deal with that. So I
got out of that. I was in business with this man for twelve years, and then we got a business
divorce, split up.

Now he was a relative?
He was a relative. He was married to one of my mother's sisters, so he was an uncle by

marriage, and a wonderful, wild, crazy man who really had an instinct for how you made
money. Very good; I learned a lot from him.
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Role Models: Learning from Other's Failures and Recognizing Good Ideas

You asked me [in the interview outline] about role models, you asked me in two contexts,
I believe, and I thought a lot about that, and I suppose that what I have really done in life is
look at people and figure out what I could learn from them more than looking at people and
saying, "oh, that's what I want to be like."

You take the part of the person--

Yes. I feel like you can learn a lot by watching somebody who has failed at something. 1
think it's sort of a common thought that you learn more from your failures than you do from
your successes, but [ believe you can do that just as well observing other people. "There's
a man who is very bright, very capable, very competent, went about doing something that
made good sense, and it didn't work. What happened?" And if you can figure that out and
avoid doing that yourself, then you're better off. And so, less than role models, whether it
was in business, or whether it was in my personal life, or whether it's in the Sierra Club, I
think what I've tried to do is learn by saying, "There's a good idea." I jokingly have said
that I'm not sure I've ever had an original idea in my life, but I think I recognize good ideas.

You're a analytical observer.

Well, I hope so, because there's an abundance--so many good ideas out there. I mean, you
know, you could look at a David Brower and you could learn so much from him. You don't
necessarily want to learn from him how to balance a budget. But boy, to look at David
Brower and say, "Well, he doesn't balance budgets very well. He's not going to be my role
model"--what a waste.

So role model's not a good word.

Not for me it isn't, because I sure have learned a lot from David Brower, I hope. I hope I
have.

This came up in talking about the uncle that you had the business divorce with.

The business guy, yes, his name was Weller, 1. C. Weller.

You learned things from him also, I guess, but rejected others.

Yes. He had different feelings about certain things than I did. His standards on some levels
were different than mine, but he sure taught me a lot. And he enabled me, he helped me
become successful faster than I would have otherwise. And then, somewhere along that

line, I started getting interested, then, in other things.

Now how did that develop? Let's pursue that a little. What were the other things?



Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

14

Interest in Civil Rights, and Community Reaction

Well, it was the civil rights movement, I guess, first. I got into this thing. I backed into it.
You know, I remember going to North Carolina in 1954 and operating a business and I had
a black tailor in my business. And my black tailor, when he waited on customers, would
find out what they wanted done, he would write up the garment to be tailored or whatever
needed to be done, but he never handled any money. And I said, "This is crazy. Why
doesn't he collect money?" "Well, he's black."

And so I realized that that's the way the system was. If you went to the gas station, a black
man came out, pumped your gas, washed your windows; a white man came out and took
your money. I said, "This is nuts. This makes no sense to me," and I called my employee,
Henry Fritz over, and I said, "Henry, this makes no sense to me. Why don't you handle the
money?" He said, "Going to cause trouble." I said, "Well, makes no sense to me the way it
is." He said, "Well, it doesn't make any sense to me either, but if we change it, it's going to
cause trouble."

This is the black man himself.

Yes, and I said, "Well, are you game?" He said, "Sure." Isaid, "Well, so am I." So we just
started doing it. And then--little things.

Did it cause trouble?

Well, of course it caused some trouble. I mean, there were people who wouldn't hand him
the money. Of course, there were people then who would come into the lobby of the
business and if you waited--if there were three people to be waited on and the last one in
was a white person and the other two were black, it was assumed that you would wait on
the third person who came in who was white and let the two black people wait. Well I
didn't do that.

You weren't from the South.

And we got in some trouble. But this sort of opened my eyes to what just--1 mean, I just
didn't feel very comfortable with all this.

[Added during interviewee review: Looking back, I don’t know if I really understood what
I was getting into. The 1954 Supreme Court separate but equal decision caused a great
revival of the Klan. North Carolina Governor Hodges did nothing to discourage that, in
fact the opposite. Bombings and shootings, violence and the threat of violence were daily
affairs fir the second half of the fifties, in our area. For the first time, some of the guns
were in black hands with the leadership of a fellow named Robert Williams, perhaps the
first advocate of black power, in nearby Monroe--home, by the way, of Jesse Helms.]

I don’t think I worried at all about personal danger. Young, I guess.

Had there been minorities in your community in Pennsylvania?
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Yes, there was, but it was--I had a buddy I walked to school with all the time, was black,
but there were, you know, five black families in Tyrone and there were ten thousand
people, and they had their own church and they sort of lived in their own neighborhood,
and I was sort of oblivious to the whole thing. I was on athletic teams with them, I walked
to school with this one guy, and other than that, [ never thought about it. It never was a
factor in my life. And then I went down to North Carolina, and I got into this.

Then, I guess, a couple of years later, | remodeled a business, and I ran into the State of
North Carolina that told me that I must have restrooms for each race and each sex. At that
time I had black men, black women, white men, white women, and an Indian woman
working for me, so by this law of the state, I had to have five restrooms for twenty people.
I said, "This is crazy," so I called my twenty people together and I said, "Look, do you folks
have any problem if I put in two bathrooms?" They said, "No, makes sense to me," so I
told the state that that's what I was going to do. Well, the state of North Carolina literally
blackmailed me. They were going to take me to court. They decided to back off from that
and--

Were they Public Health--?

No, it was the State Labor Department. And I remember them telling me that, "Well, when
people find out that you're doing this, your business is going to suffer." And I said, "You
mean to tell me the state of North Carolina is threatening to spread rumors about this with
the intent of hurting my business, so that you can perpetuate the number of restrooms you
put in buildings?" Well, of course, he was not comfortable saying, "Yes," but that's exactly
what was going on, and so I just sort of slid further and further into it until I found myself
really actively involved in all of this.

Did you get involved in an organization?

No, because the organizations were all black that were doing anything. The white people
who were involved in being useful were either outsiders that came in and did a sort of hit-
and-run thing, or they were people like myself who were willing to sit down in meetings
and plot and figure out where the weak spots were, where you could make progress, what
you could change, how you could change it, how could you organize people, how could
you get favorable publicity, how could you keep people from getting killed. And, frankly,
willing to take some risks.

What time are we talking about? Are we moving into the sixties now?
From about 1965 through the sixties.

Were you still perceived as an outsider, as a northerner, or had you kind of put down your
roots pretty well.

No, I was perceived, probably, as a northerner. Fayetteville is less conservative than a lot
of southern towns because it's a military town, but in some ways, that makes part of the
town more conservative, because you have a group--the old timers--that really want to be
separate, and they have more to be separate from in a military town.

How large a town?



Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

16

Fayetteville now is about seventy-five or eighty thousand, but the military base is about the
same size and it's really about a 225,000-250,000 metropolitan area.

So you had (let's get back to the sixties) this integrated military base.

Yes. I think overlaying this, of course, was the Vietnam stuff. I mean, Jane Fonda came to
Fayetteville and did her number, but I was not involved in the Vietnam protest because I
had my hands full with what I was doing. And it got nasty. I came home from a city
council meeting one evening to find my son, who must have been at that time maybe ten
years old, on the phone, clearly upset, my wife in the corner in a chair in tears just scared to
death, and my ten-year-old on the phone, and what is this? I take the phone from him and
it's the Ku Klux Klan on the line, and they have just threatened my wife's life and his life
and his brother's life and my life and was giving him a lot of the kind of stuff you would
expect to get, | suppose, from the Ku Klux Klan. I recognized the guy.

You recognized his voice.

I recognized his voice. His name was Matthews. He was a painter, a house painter, and I
remember telling him, I took the phone, and I said, "I know who you are and if you want to
talk to me do it in person. You know where I live, get out from under your robe and come
here. Be a man. Stop picking on women and kids." He didn’t come, for which I was later
thankful, because he surely would have never have come alone. It was an insane time in
many ways. Values that you think you have down just came unraveled.

Values of--?

Life was less--well, I mean, there was this scale; some people's lives were valuable and
some weren't. The law was clearly on one side. And one of the most controversial things |
ever did in my life was when on the city council, I went to the chief of police and sat down
with him and I said, "You know and I know the jail is on the third floor, the booking room
is in the basement, and the standard procedure, when you pick up black people, particularly
drunks, is you put handcuffs on them, you stop between floors, you beat the daylights out
of them, and then you put them in the jail cell, and it has stopped as of today, and I want
you to know that. It's stopped. There will be no more. Since I'm on the city council,
there'll be no more, because I will bring suit against the city of Fayetteville, as a city
councilman, and against you." Well, he thought--you can't imagine at this time how
controversial that was from my point of view. What I was doing was controversial. What
he was doing was not controversial.

This was 1967, when you were first elected to the council.

This was 1967, yes.

And did it stop?

Sure. You bet. And I had enough friends, I had lawyer friends, who knew what was
happening, and others who were--I mean, this was not something I was doing by myself;

there were some other white people that felt the same way. But the majority opinion was
not where [ was.
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Elected to the City Council. 1967. and More on Civil Rights

What is the story of how you happened to run for the council and what kind of support you
had? Was it part of a group effort?

Before I was involved in the civil rights stuff, [ was involved in the church, and I was
involved with the church working with young people. I taught senior high Sunday school,
had the senior high fellowship in the evening.

What church was it?

Highland Presbyterian Church. And I did that for several years. One of the more
rewarding things I've ever done in my life. I still run into those kids--of course, not kids
now, they're adults with children that are that age now--but we spent a lot of time together,
those young people and myself, examining what in life made sense. And they asked good
questions, and they challenged a lot, and they really made me aware of the fact that while |
was questioning a lot of things that I still was not necessarily quite ready to put my body on
the line, and I guess they challenged me to do it. It wasn't their idea, I mean, they never
suggested it to me, but I think the discussions that were held with them--

About race relations?

About race, and about inhumanity to humans, what we used to call inhumanity to man, but
that's sort of sexist. But the fact that, just what I said, that, how can you have a different
value system for people based strictly on race, or whatever? How can society operate that
way, how can a community operate that way?

There was the story about separate but equal schools. Well, they were not equal. They
were certainly separate, but they were not equal. And when you integrated the schools, the
tragedy of the integration was to realize just how different the quality was, and so Southern
schools are still trying to catch back up again from the integration of the schools, and it's
many, many years later.

But those kids kind of challenged me, and so I said, "All right, I'll run for public office,"
and I did. Ran twice, got elected twice. Ran for mayor, and didn't get elected, didn't carry
a white precinct, got beat by a John Birch Society fellow, the first Republican mayor that
had been elected in my town since Reconstruction, a member of my church.

And when was this? Was this in 19717

This was in '71.

Did you have a political support group when you ran, or was this kind of an individual
effort?

No, I had people in every precinct and I had, you know, a campaign manager and fund
raisers and all the whole nine yards.

Had you become a Democrat by this time?
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Oh yes, well, I had never been anything but a Democrat.
Oh, I see, well we talked about your family and--

Yes, my family was Republican. No, I never--I voted for Goldwater, I will acknowledge
that. I didn’t like the choices at the moment, but that's who I voted for.

But you'd been a Democrat.

Well, I've never been a registered Republican. It was a nonpartisan election, but everybody
knew I was a Democrat. I mean, it's just not--

Of course, in the South, most of the people at that time were Democrats.

Well, that's right. But this was the time at which the Republican Party moved into being a
different kind of creature. It became the haven of scoundrels. It was where the Ku Klux
Klan went. The hate mongers moved into the Republican Party, much to the chagrin of a
lot of good, moderate people who were Republicans in the South at that time, who had
moved there from New York or some place and were trying to get a two-party system
started, and then this thing happened.

This fellow who beat me was one of the real--he was a piece of work. And I never knew
what hit me. I mean, there were rumors. It was typical of the kind of hate stuff: lies,
rumors. And the campaign was over, the election was over, before I found out half the
stories that were being circulated about what I had done or was going to do, or whatever,
none of which had an ounce of truth in them. But it didn't matter, the election was over, he
won, and it was probably the best thing that ever happened to me in my life, because I don't
particularly want to be mayor of anything anyhow. I mean, that was a limited opportunity,
and if I had done that, I probably never would have gotten as active in the Sierra Club, or
not as quickly, because then I moved--I took six months to regroup and then I got more
active in the club and then moved into that.

At the same time, it seemed to me that there was a loss of a common agenda in the civil
rights activity in Fayetteville.

Can you define the common agenda?
Well, the common agenda was equality under the law.
And integration.

Yes, integration, which was equality under the law. I mean, if you want to drink out of a
water fountain, and it's a public water fountain, you can drink out of the water fountain.
You're not going to get arrested. And more to the point, you're not going to get arrested and
put in the elevator and get beaten up on the way to the cell because you drank out of the
wrong water fountain. Human beings are going to be treated like human beings. And that
was the common agenda. Justice was the common agenda.

We have in Fayetteville a black college. It was the first state teachers' college for blacks, a
normal school, in the South. Totally black, black faculty, black everything, and about that
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time--and much of the energy for the civil rights movement in our area came from the
students there. The sit-ins at the lunchroom counters came out of Fayetteville State
University students, and I was there. [ was not sitting at the counter, but [ was there,
because it would have been inappropriate for me to be sitting at the counter; that was their
thing.

But the point came when a lot of those folks, who were my friends and working with me,
and I'd been working with them, realized that if you really had integration that institution
would change. You would possibly have Black professors, you might even have a--the
dean or the president of the college might be White, maybe you would move towards
having mostly White students, and they said, "Oh my, we don't want to do this." That was
the basic issue on which I finally bailed out. Everybody was comfortable with me bailing
out, I mean they--

The issue of whether that school should be integrated, or whether it should remain a Black
college.

Yes, well, whether it should--really, both, yes. I mean, what should happen to it? Should it
stay Black, or should it become part of the greater University of North Carolina system and
be like the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill?

And was that more your feeling, that it should be?

Oh, I guess my approach was probably a little simplistic, but I thought you should admit
people there without respect to race. I mean, that's what I thought. And you ought to do it
the same way at the University of North Carolina in Chapel Hill and you ought to do it the
same way in Asheville. They're public schools, and why the devil would you have to even
put your race down when you apply? So we disagreed on that, and I moved on. Then at
the same time I sort of got out of politics in Fayetteville, sort of by unanimous consent, and
so I moved on to something else.

Wife's Illness

Of course, shortly thereafter, my wife--her situation continued to deteriorate.
Did she have a long-term illness?

Yes, she had had illness for a long time, and she had a variety of things that were
complications of complications.

This sounds like a hard time in your life right there.

It was sobering. Losing the mayoral race was the first thing I ever lost that I ever wanted to
do, and that's sobering. And I probably would have been better off had I had that
experience at a younger age. It's good to have that early on, I think. Maybe it isn't, I don't
know. Then Betty’s death, it was difficult for me. And for my sons Rob and David.
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II THE SIERRA CLUB IN NORTH CAROLINA AND INTRODUCTION TO
THE NATIONAL CLUB

Outraged Over Logging in a Northwestern National Forest. and Joining the Sierra
Club

#H

So at this particular point in your life, which was a difficult one, you became involved
or more involved in the Sierra Club.

Well, I joined the club. IinsistI joined in '68. Now the official records say I joined in
'69, but I know how we kept records then, so I still think I'm right. And I guess a word
or two about how I joined and why--

Yes, I think that's important.

My family, my wife and children, and I suppose I might as well admit it, my mother and
my mother-in-law, took a trip in 1968 and we drove 11,759 miles and saw the wonders
of this country, and touched into Mexico and touched into Canada.

Now when was that again?

In '68, summer of '68. And we had great fun doing this. I wrote off to everybody, all the
national parks, all the chambers of commerce, all the state travel bureaus, everybody.
Printed up postcards, sent them out, "Going to be there on a vacation in August. Send
information." And I did this a year in advance, and we put up on the wall in our kitchen
a map of the United States, and after dinner every evening we'd read some of these
things and we each had our colored pen and we'd mark on the map if we found
something we wanted to see. Of course, we ended up with a map that had more color on
it than roads, and it became my task, eventually to make it into some order.

And we had a big Ford station wagon and we loaded into that and took off and did all
these wondrous things. And it was an exposure to some things I had dreamed about
seeing. It was the first time | saw the Grand Canyon, and it was the first time I saw
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Yosemite, and it was the first time I saw the Southwest and all of its grandeur, and
Olympic National Park, and on and on.

Did you focus on the natural areas, the parks?

Yes, we did, absolutely. We spent a little time in cities, but by far the majority of it was
the natural wonders of the country. It's what I wanted to see, it's what my family wanted
to see. It was a grand, grand, grand trip, one of the highlights of my life.

Going through the Northwest, we saw a national forest that looked to me like it had
been bombed. I have never seen such a mess. And it made me mad. I said, "This is
horrible to do this to land, a forest. This is awful." I was just outraged. Checked into a
motel that night, read the local paper, and it said the Sierra Club had brought suit against
the Forest Service for logging practices in this area, and I don't remember much more
than that, but I said, "I don't know who the Sierra Club is, but they're right." And I went
home and got the address of the Sierra Club from a Sierra Club book from the library
and wrote to them and said, "What do you have to do to become a member?" and they
sent me a--

Was that the first exposure to--

Yes, I didn't know who the Sierra Club was, had no idea. I may have had some vague
notion of the books. I think my wife knew about Sierra Club books; she was a school
teacher. I think that probably she's the one that knew about the books. She suggested
this and got the address, and of course, that's still when you had to have somebody's
signature [to become a member]|. Well, for heaven's sakes, I didn't know anybody who
was in the Sierra Club at all, and so I just sent it back with the assumption that they'd
take my money, and they did. And I did it just like, sort of like my dad used to do I
guess, and it was a good idea, "I'll send them a dollar," or, in that case, it was probably
ten dollars, or whatever it was. Certainly, it was never in any intent I would ever go to a
meeting.

You had no sense of the club as a bunch of local groups.

There wasn't any sense of that. At that point, [ became a member of the Atlantic
Chapter, which, of course, held its meetings in New York, which were not convenient to
North Carolina. But I didn't want to go anyhow, so it didn't matter. I did get something
from the Atlantic Chapter maybe once or twice a year that would sort of tell me that
something was happening, but it was irrelevant to me. So that's how I joined.

LeConte (Carolina) Chapter, Forming a Group in Favetteville, Becoming a
Council Delegate. 1970

And then, to move through this quickly, of course, the LeConte Chapter, North and
South Carolina, was formed in 1968 and 1969, and we started forming local groups,
including one in Fayetteville, but I had not been involved at first.
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So there were other people in the area who were--

Yes, by that time, the time we got ready to look at a local group in Fayetteville, I think
there were fifteen people in Fayetteville that belonged to the Sierra Club, and the guy
who pulled it together was in the army. He was a doctor, David Bingham was his name,
a very interesting family, but I won't digress quite that far.

Was he a northerner?

He was from Connecticut. And you remember there was a lawyer out here--we don't
need to put this in my oral history--

Stephen Bingham [young lawyer in the Bay Area who was involved in radical political
action in the seventies]?

Yes, this was a brother of his, and another cousin or somebody was congressman from
up there. Anyhow, very political, very active, very bright, wonderful fellow, and he
wrote in and got the mailing list (there were like fifteen of us). He got us together first,
but I was involved in helping get the local group started.

Then somewhere about that time, it was certainly before Betty died, I went to a chapter
meeting, representing my local group, and they were talking about the need to have a
council delegate that would really make a commitment to do this. We apparently sent a
different delegate each time (the chapter wasn't that old), but they came out and came
back home, and hadn't figured out why they were here [in San Francisco, at Sierra Club
headquarters] yet, when they were going back home, and it was clear to everybody that
what we were doing was not working. So they were looking for somebody, and
somebody asked me if I'd do it and I said, "Yes, I can do that," and did, and so that was
the beginning of that. That got me out here and that was the entree to all this that's
followed out here.

So that was maybe 1970?

That would have been '70, I suppose, yes.

That was soon after you joined.

Yes. I think there were three council meetings [in San Francisco] before Betty died and
I came to two of them, as I recall. I think that's right. And then, in the meantime, on the

other end of the country, I guess I became group chair probably pretty quickly and I also
started leading outings and going on outings.

Family Backpacking After Wife's Death. and L.eading Club Outings

And my boys, by that time, were of an age when they really loved to backpack. They'd
take a couple of buddies and we'd go backpacking. Some of this was I wanted to lead
trips because "there's nobody going where I want to go, so let's do that," and so I did
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that. And then when Betty died, frankly, the backpacking was a mechanism for the boys
and I to be together in a very healing kind of way. It was something we could do
together that we all wanted to do. I'd pick them up after school on Friday with two
buddies and the five of us would head for the mountains. I'd have their packs and
everybody's junk in the back of the station wagon and ride back into Fayetteville
Sunday evening with four kids that were sound asleep and me trying to stay awake. But
it was wonderful, and it was one of the things we could do together. I found very
quickly that being a single parent, you think, “I'm going to really dedicate a lot of time
to this,” but you spend a lot of time by yourself, because they've got their mind on other
things.

Were they teenagers?

Well, they were twelve and fourteen when their mom died, so, yes. So then I got to
know a lot more Sierra Club people, and I got active on the chapter level there as things
opened up, and I got interested and did some lobbying on the Eastern Wilderness Bill.

One thing certainly led to another. Did many people backpack?
Oh yes.
That wasn't unusual, the backpacking.

No. We had a good system in the chapter then. The groups would have outings, listed
them in the chapter newsletter, so on any given weekend you had a choice of three or
four different hikes to go on. You quickly got to know who you really wanted to hike
with; not so much their personality, but their style of hiking. I mean, there's some who
like to suffer. I like to--I'm a--. Ed Easton and I used to talk about having a Ridge
Walker and Valley Amblers’ Section. I think if we had had one, that's what I would
have belonged to. I like to go out and experience wilderness; I didn't want to challenge
it.

When you hiked with the boys, were they on club trips, or were these--

Oh yes. The only times we went hiking that weren't on club trips was when we'd go on
scouting trips. And we'd go out and scout some things and then we'd run the trips. And
they got to the point where, you know, I'd give them some responsibilities. I'd be the
trip leader and they'd have some responsibilities, and they felt good about that, and
they'd bring their buddies along, and it was a good experience. And it got me much
more involved with the club.

Chapter Leaders: Ed Easton, Ann Tavlor, Ted Snvder

Now who were the chapter leaders at that time? You mentioned Ed Easton.

Well, yes. The people who were--again, role models is probably the wrong word--but
the initial people who helped me see what--
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Mentors is really the word to use, I think.

Mentors is the word to use. Ted Snyder, obviously. Ted was the first chapter chair. Ted
and I weren't close in the sense that we were buddies, but I sure learned a whole lot from
Ted. Then you have Easton. And Ann Taylor, who is a wonderful woman who was
chapter chair. I learned from her how you get things done without running over people,
how you get things done without bruising people a lot.

Now what if I ask you how you do that? Are you going to--

Well, I hope I'm better at that than [ used to be. I mean, it used to be that I was--you
know, if I saw something that needed to be done and I wanted to do it and people
thought it was a good idea, I went about doing it. And occasionally, you'd bump a few
people out of the way getting there.

And how did Ann Taylor do it? What did you learn from her?

Well, more conversations, more talking to people, more building a consensus, more
building a constituency, more developing an idea and letting it become other people's
ideas and then letting them say, "Gee, why don't we do this?" And I looked at that, and
I said, "Now that's a good idea," and it really is a good idea. It works much better if you
have a really good idea and you somehow arrange for a group of people to reach the
point where they think it's their really good idea and that they really want to do
something about it. Then you maybe just kind of go along with them, or maybe kind of
help it, getting over the rough spots, or not missing a bend in the trail, but you play a
role that is not out front.

Opposing an Qil Refinery in Wilmington, 1979-1980

I can tell you the refinery story in North Carolina at an appropriate point, and that was
certainly a case in point of doing that.

What date was that?

I don't know. Ireally don't know. I could find out.

But you don't know the decade even?

Well, yes, it would have been in the--wait a minute. Well, maybe I don't know the
decade. It would have been about '80, I would suppose, 1979 and 1980.

[Added during interviewee review: A large oil refinery was proposed for the
Wilmington area, at the mouth of the Cape Fear River as it meets the ocean there. The
chapter was opposed, and they asked me if I could go and make a statement at the
public hearing that was going to be held. It was on Good Friday, and there was a every
heavy rain all evening.
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I spoke first, then each of the twenty-five or so other folks got up and each said about
the same thing. I’'m opposed to this, it is a very bad idea, and they would give some
reasons and say, "But [ know it is going to happen." After everyone spoke I asked the
hearing officer for one more minute. I turned to the audience and said, "You each have
said this is going to happen as bad as it is. Well, it isn’t because there is going to be an
organization formed right here in Wilmington that will stop it, and our first meeting is
just outside that door in five minutes. We will get everyone’s name and phone number
and pick a date for our next meeting, which will be the beginning of the end for this
refinery." So we met there in the hall, and got the list made up, and set a date. Certainly
no one, especially me, had expected to do this, but it just seemed a good idea.

At the date set about fifty or sixty people showed up. They wanted me to be the chair,
but I pointed out the person needed to be local. Well, I just kept telling them they could
do it, and within a year they had two thousand members in a town where the Sierra Club
group was maybe twenty-five. We purchased every billboard in the beach area for the
next summer, with money raised locally, and put the message on them, "The refinery,
the more you know about it, the less you are going to like it." That’s all. And the
tourists asked and asked. By the end of the summer even the Chamber of Commerce
was against the refinery. The chair of the group, Nolen O’Neil, went on to be a county
commissioner. All I did was make suggestions, encourage, help them find resources.
And the lesson to me was clear. Those two thousand people did things that I never
could have done, and did them better. And after that first public hearing, I never spoke
publicly on the subject again, was never carrying the flag. It was a good lesson for me.
There is no oil refinery on the North Carolina Coast.]

But the Sierra Club life went in two directions. One was the North Carolina life, and
then the other was the national life, and I jumped into it with some enthusiasm,
obviously. Do you want to talk about the North Carolina end first, or this end?

Yes, maybe North Carolina makes more sense, to kind of wrap that up, although I
assume you've had some connection with them even as you got more involved
nationally, or is that a wrong assumption?

Ohno. I still go to meetings. I missed for the first time my chapter annual meeting this
year. So, yes, I still go to group meetings and chapter meetings. I've always been
amused when [ was a director and people were talking about the grassroots and what it's
like and so on and so forth, because most years that [ was a director, [ went to more
grassroots meetings than I went to national meetings.

That probably is the exception, but I did because A, I like it and I enjoy it; B, that's
where I get my batteries charged. You don't charge batteries here very well in this [the
national] level. And third is that--well, I don't pose a third. You get things done, it's
fun, and you charge your batteries.
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Lobbyving for the Eastern Wilderness Bill

In North Carolina what I did, I guess, I moved into being conservation chair on the
chapter level. I served on the chapter ExCom [executive committee] a number of years.
I became the vice chair of the chapter. I did a good deal of lobbying while I was
conservation chair. I had done lobbying before, through city government. I'd been to
Washington, I knew where the buildings were, | knew how you found your way around,
so [ had a hand up on that, and--

What kind of issues were they? Were they issues that the conservation committee had
decided were key to the Sierra Club to get--

Well, strip-mining was a big deal then, and the legislation was up, and so you lobbied
for that.

The Eastern Wilderness Bill was the first big issue I worked on, and I'm not sure what
year that was [1974], but it was early on in this, and I went to Washington to lobby for
that. It was kind of an interesting experience for me and for the Sierra Club's

introduction to me. I still have the letter that Brock [Evans] wrote after [ was up there.

The situation was that there had been this ongoing discussion about what wilderness
was, and our enemies wished to not put anything into wilderness areas that had ever
been touched in any way by anybody, which meant most everything in the East was no
longer eligible to be wilderness. And, of course, we were arguing if it looks like
wilderness, smells like wilderness, feels like wilderness, has the characteristics of
wilderness, it's obvious it is wilderness and it should be included. And that was the big
philosophical issue, and then there was the usual issue of, well, which areas go inside
and are included in the bill, and which aren't, and so on.

Was the conservation movement itself divided over this definition of wilderness?

No. We were like we are now. I mean, we wanted a broad definition of wilderness, but
the folks who were desiring not to have things be--to use their expression, "locked up"
as wilderness--included in the bill, made the argument that, "How can you put this in the
wilderness bill? It's clearly not wilderness; there's been a sawmill right down the road
here in this place a hundred years ago, but you can still see where it was." And we said,
"Well, you know, in a hundred years you won't be able to see where it is. Just put it in
the bill and wait a minute."

So I went up and the House Interim Committee’s Subcommittee on Public Lands had
decided, the week I went up there and the weekend before, to pass a bill out of the
subcommittee but they had done it in a very disorderly manner. This had been ongoing
for some time and it was right before Thanksgiving weekend and everybody was in a
hurry to get out of town. There was only about a little better than half the committee
there, and they sort of said to the staff, "Well, put this in and don't put that in," in a
conversational way and they all left town and left it to the staff to write what was going
to be the Eastern Wilderness Bill.
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So I am up there the next week lobbying for this along with a group, a typical lobbying
week thing that we were doing, but we didn't have a copy of the bill because nobody
had a copy of the bill. Well, the third person [ went to see was my congressman, Charlie
Rose. Charlie and I have been friends since forever. Actually, he worked for me when
I ran for city council, and he was a law student at that time.

So he was then my congressman and he said, "Well, Denny, how can you be up here
lobbying for a bill when you don't have the bill?" And I said, "Well, it's not easy, but
this is the problem." And he said, "Well, let me get somebody on the phone." So he
went on the phone and called over there to the subcommittee staff and talked to a fellow
whose name happened to be Shaffer, who was a staff man in charge of getting this bill
out, and explained to him that I was a constituent, did not mention the Sierra Club, and
that I had a great interest in this matter and that I was there and I wanted a copy of the
bill. And the guy says, "Well, you know, we can't do that," and Charlie says to him,
"Well, why can't you? I mean, you know, what's the secret here?"

Well, it ended up that I had an appointment to go talk to this fellow, and so I went into
his office. It was about a third the size of this room, and behind his desk was a great big
picture of the great huge strip-mining shovel that I think they called the Gem of Egypt,
as [ recall. Great, big, huge thing with three or four hundred people standing in the
shovel and there's no doubt in my mind he was one of those people, and I thought, "Oh,
Lord."

I thought you were going to say there was this beautiful Ansel Adams photograph.

No, wrong. And I said, "Oh Lord, [ am in deep trouble." So I went in and I explained to
him who I was and that [ had this interest and that I would be interested in knowing
what the bill was going to look like and what was in and what was out. He started to
explain to me that, in fact, that he had just gotten the bill on his desk and they just
finished typing it, but that it hadn't even been seen by the subcommittee yet, and that he
clearly couldn't give it to me.

And at that point, the phone rings, and I sat there for five minutes while he talks on the
phone. He hangs up, and we start talking again, get about four sentences out, the phone
rings. And we wait five minutes and we start talking again, but by the time I get a
question or two out, the phone rings. Well, about the fifth phone call, after about the
third question, as he's talking on the phone, he's reading, and he sees something so he
hands it over to me and says, "Here," sort of points to there as sort of the answer to one
of my questions. So I get my pencil and paper out and | write that down, but then I keep
sort of shuffling through it and writing down other things of interest and he's on the
phone and he's going "No, no, no, you can't do that." But he's on the phone, so I keep
doing it.

And so he finally hangs up, and he says, "What do you want this for?" I said, "Well, the
truth of the matter is," I said, "I'm just very interested, and listen, I'm not going to be
back up here and you're going to have this thing out in a week, or whatever, and I don't
want to come back up and I just--." He said, "Well, I'll tell you what I'll do. I'll give you
a copy of it, if you're going to keep it to yourself." I said, "Fine."

Did he know you were Sierra Club?
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No.
He knew you were a friend of Charlie Rose.

He just knew I was a constituent of Charlie Rose, who had sent me over. So he runs me
off a copy of the Eastern Wilderness Bill. So I go back to the office, and I go in and it's
typical of that office--it's still the same way, crazy, people all over the place.

Brock Evans' office in Washington.

Brock Evans is in charge. I had met Brock once or twice before, and I go in and I said,
"I want to see Brock." "Well, he's busy." I said, "I don't care if he's busy, I want to see
him. I got the Eastern Wilderness Bill." And they said, "No, you don't have the Eastern
Wilderness Bill; it's not been released yet. It won't be out until next week." 1 said, "I
got the Eastern Wilderness Bill, and I want to see Brock." "Well, he's tied up."

Well, finally they got me in to see him and I went through this conversation with Brock
five times. "Brock, I've got the Eastern Wilderness Bill." "No, you don't have the
Eastern Wilderness Bill. The staff's got it. It won't be out." Finally I just, in
exasperation, laid it down in front of him and said, "Read the damn thing! The Eastern
Wilderness Bill!" He looks at it and says, "My God! It's the Eastern Wilderness Bill!" 1
said, "Yes, Brock, it's the Eastern Wilderness Bill!"

And so, from there on in, of course, we had a different kind of approach to the thing
because we now knew what was in and what was out, and what we were lobbying for,
and what we should be working on, what we were defending, and what we were trying
to add, and so on.

Did you find any surprises in it?

Yes, it had some but it was not violently surprising. I mean, it was more informative.
There were, like it is always, there were those things you were confident were going to
go in and those you thought probably wouldn't go in. And then there were the gray
areas that you hoped would go in and might not, and those were the areas, really, that
you got the education in to see which way they fell.

But it was a good experience and I enjoyed it and I, of course, saw all the congressmen
from North and South Carolina while I was up there. Appointments had been made for
me by members from each district. I found somebody in the district to call and make
the appointment rather than doing it myself. So it was very interesting and of course
Brock, after it was all over, Brock wrote this letter to Ed Easton, who was then chapter
chair, which basically said, you know, "Now this is an unusual fellow you sent up here.
He did a little bit more than what we expected to have happen," and it was a very nice
letter which, as I said, I still somewhere have. So that was my introduction to all of that
back there.

Lobbying at the federal level.

The lobbying and so on, and getting introduced to the people in the club and, frankly,
some of those people getting introduced to me, figuring out who I was. And so |
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piddled around with that kind of stuff for a good while, but basically my interests more
and more drifted out here [to national headquarters in San Francisco].

First Impressions of the National Sierra Club: Problems with Membership
Development, Management, and Fund-raising

The first meeting I came to out here was, without a doubt, one of the most--1 want to say
I was shocked, maybe that's too strong a word. I was sure amazed that this powerful
organization which was viewed as being so wise and old and right in its thinking and
effective, in some levels was just really quite primitive. And the first time I was here, I
realized that we didn't have any membership development staff.

You realized that rather quickly.

Yes, the first meeting I'm out here.

Let's think when the first meeting would have been. Was this a board meeting or a
council meeting?

It was a circus meeting [a national meeting of the club board of directors, council,

regional conservation committee caucus, and many issue committees ].

Circus meeting, and it was in '70.

It was here, could have been in '70.

So it was shortly after David Brower had left as executive director.

Well, see, I don't know about that because he was gone.

But that was '69, May '69, when he left.

We were still--when did we move out of the old Mills Tower?

I don't remember the date, '73 or '74 perhaps [1975].

We were still in Mills Tower, so whenever that was.

That's interesting that you thought about membership development right away.

Well, I thought about three things. That was the first one. [ mean, you cannot have a
church without an evangelist, you cannot have an army without a recruiting department.
How could you have a Sierra Club with nobody charged with the responsibility of

getting members?

Had you worked on that at the local level?
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No.
It hadn't been something you'd been involved with, then, for your chapter.

No, but it just seemed so obvious to me. [ mean, if you can get this power simply by
people who are willing to go to the library and find out where the devil you are and
write to you and say, "Can I join?" can you imagine what would happen if you did it the
other way around, if you found these people and asked them to join?

I suppose it came out of several things. It came out of my business background. The
way you get customers is you try to get customers. I mean, you can open up a store and
wait until they bounce into your front door by mistake, but there are more effective
ways of doing it. And it came out of the movement, the civil rights movement. I mean,
the power comes from a mass of people who are like-minded, who share something, and
work together, and move forward. And the bigger the mass, the more committed it is,
the more power you have.

And it just amazed me that these people, who were clearly very effective and clearly
very bright, didn't seem to be very much interested in that. If somebody happened to
join, that was nice, but if they didn't, well, "We're doing very well, thank you." And I
said to myself, "This is nuts," and I asked questions and there was, in the member
services department, a fellow who spent maybe half of his time doing something on
membership development. And they had one brochure at that time. It was that brown
on brown, "Why the Sierra Club?"

Of course the club thought it was growing fast at the time.

My perspective was clearly so much different from somebody's perspective who had
been here for twenty years. I walked in the door and looked at it, and said, "Well isn't
this interesting?"

Now let me--I should have said this first--1 was immensely impressed by what [ saw
that was positive. I was immensely impressed by the dedication, and the roots, the
background, the fact that we had this history behind us, this credibility behind us, the
competence, the dedication, all that tremendously impressing. But the way my mind
works is I look at something and say, "Wow, that's great. How could it be better? |
mean, if it's this good like this, imagine what would happen if--" And the first thing
was, "Imagine what would happen if you really got serious about getting members in
this organization."

Second thing was, it was clear to me there wasn't anybody around who wanted to be
boss when they were a little boy or a little girl, that they were people who wanted to be
an attorney when they grew up, or they wanted to be whatever, a doctor, when they
grew up. But there was no one who really, I'll say this carefully, that really valued the
skills of management like they valued the skills of surgery or like they valued the skills
of litigation. They somehow didn't see, didn't understand, didn't care about that. In fact,
probably, in some of the leaders, there were negative feelings about it. Some professors
who looked at the administration as being sort of not understanding and if you let the
professors run the college we wouldn't have all these problems, or doctors who said if
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you'd get these hospital administrators out of here and let the doctors run the hospital,
you wouldn't have any of these problems.

So some of them looked at people who had real management and administration skills
as sort of a pain in the neck, as opposed--And I said to myself, "This is nuts! You cannot
run this organization, and you cannot continue to grow it without somebody who knows
how to solve these kinds of problems and wants to do it."

Now, there was Mike McCloskey. Mike McCloskey, clearly one of the most brilliant,
fine human beings I've ever known, who found a way to learn management skills, even
though that ain't what he wanted to do, it wasn't what his background was, it wasn't
where his natural inclinations went. But he was there and the job needed to be done,
and if there's ever been anybody who defines a good soldier, it's Mike, and so he figured
out ways to do that. But it was always painful to him and difficult to him, and I just
looked at him and said, "My God, why don't they go get somebody who's really good at
this who is also sensitive and caring about what we do, but who really knows how to do
it. Let them run the shop behind Mike."

Now, it sounds like you came here and had this instantaneous--
Well, I was here three days.

[laughs]

Well, it was.

It didn't take long for you to see this, it seems.

Well, it's obvious, and the third one--

But, to me, it's amazing that you would notice--I want you to go to the third one, but
first--the club is so complex that for somebody to come in to their first--

Oh, but the issue's so big. [ mean, this is sort of like walking in a store where they don't
have any clerks. I mean, you say, "Well, this is a nice store. They've got good
merchandise, they've got nice stock, it's a great location, ain't got nobody to wait on
you." It was that sort of a feeling. I mean, here is this great big organization trying to
change the value systems of the world, and they haven't got anybody charged with
asking people to join? I mean, this is so fundamental. Here is a major corporation
whose calling is management.

#4[2B]

Well, the third one was fund-raising. I met Denny Wilcher. What a wonderful man!
But it became clear to me in about three minutes that all of the fund-raising of the Sierra
Club was in three by five cards in this guy's back pocket, if they're there at all. [ mean,
that would be the most you could hope for. If there were that kind of records you were
lucky, but the truth of the matter is you suspected that there were probably a lot of
important--well, there probably was a lot of important information on donors and
prospective donors and so forth that was written down nowhere.



Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:
Shafter:
Lage:

Shaffer:

33

And apparently Denny Wilcher brought a new level of fund-raising to the club.
Oh, I think that's probably right. I think that's probably right.

So I looked at these three things and I said, "Okay"--1 must say, [ will say, it was a
highly politicized fund-raising. There was a lot of playing issues against issues and
organizations against organizations. I mean, here is a donor. Will this donor be a donor
to the legal defense fund, or will this donor be a donor to the club, through the
foundation, or whatever. And then you had--

You mean our own family organizations, foundations?

Oh yes, a lot of politicizing in that. I mean, there was a lot of--still is, for that matter--a
lot of thought given to who's going to get to use the money for their issue.

But I went home, and I'm flying home, and I think about it, and I'm thinking about these
three things, and if they ever got their fund-raising really put together in a real
professional manner, and if they got some real management in here, and if they really
got serious about asking people in an aggressive way to become members, this
organization would be a lot more effective. The next thought that occurred to me was
that I thought I knew how to do all those things, and that I probably could contribute a
little bit of time to this organization and find it very rewarding, if the organization was
interested in me doing it.

A Driven Person: Finding Time for Business and the Club

Now are you still running your business with one hand?
Yes.
Okay, I just wanted to make it clear because--

Maybe it is fair to say--you probably are beginning to get a clue to this: I'm a fairly
driven person. I like to think that I'm much more relaxed now than I used to be, and |
think I am, but I still--I value time. Time is such a wonderful gift, and I have a hard
time not doing something with it.

One of the current officers of the club talked to me one time about some things I was
scheduled to do and she said, "Denny, you can't do that," that one person can't do that.
And, in exasperation, [ tried to explain to her that some people can do more than other
people can do, and it's for a variety of reasons, and certainly one of the reasons is the
amount of time you spend doing it.

I spend long days, and enjoy doing that, and when I wanted to make money I did that,

you see. It was five years before I took off a weekend. I'm not talking about vacation,
I'm talking about a weekend. When I came out of college and went into business, it was
five years before I took off a weekend. No vacation, didn't take off a weekend, because
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this is what [ wanted to do. And I was at work at seven in the morning and if I got home
at eight in the evening, that was a normal day.

A lot of times when I was doing this other stuff I'd travel and be gone many times. We
had plants in--I'm digressing, but just to give you some idea of my nature--I mean, we
had businesses two hundred miles away in Charleston, South Carolina, and two hundred
miles the other way in Lynchburg, Virginia. I'd get up in the morning and drive to
Charleston, South Carolina, two hundred miles, work all day, and drive home. And then
the next day I would work in Fayetteville, and the next day I'd get the car and drive to
Lynchburg and work all day and drive back, you know, getting in at two o'clock in the
morning and go to work at eight the next morning. So I can tune back from that a lot
and still have a lot of productive time. Maybe that's helpful, maybe it isn't.

No, it is, because the way you have told the story, it's almost as if you'd dropped your
business and went into the city council and then the Sierra Club. How much did you
stay involved with your business?

What happened in my business world, and maybe I can deal with that in just a couple of
sentences--. When Betty got really sick, I got rid of the business interests I had out of
town and bought out my partners that were in town. That would have been in '66. So |
owned what was local, totally, myself, and got rid of everything else, so that it was
much simpler; I didn't have a lot of travelling to do. I then quickly got in some other
businesses, but they were relatively close by; I got in the nursery business somewhere in
there, for example, which I was in for seven years, a plant nursery, not children. That
came out of this consulting stuff I was doing, and one thing led to another.

Was that the Shaffer Management Company?

Yes. That was basically set up to provide management services. Up until that time, I
found I gave a lot of people advice. You know, they were in small business, they were
in trouble, and they'd come to me, and I'd look at it and say, ""Well, this is what's wrong."
And it occurred to me that doing this in a more formal way is a good idea. I hate to say
I did consulting work because consulting has such a bad name. There are so many
people who list themselves as consultants because they don't have a job. 1 don't mean to
step on people's toes, but it's true. But I did do that and--

You were used to doing with businesses what you thought maybe the Sierra Club could
do.

Well, it was the same sort of thing. There was a chain of dry cleaning plants, they were
on the American Exchange, publicly financed, they had a hundred dry cleaning plants
from Miami to Pittsburgh, from the coast to the Mississippi River. They were doing
very well, and all of the sudden, they started losing money. And they hired me and three
other people to come in and figure out, "What's wrong? What can we do about this?"
And so I did. It's that kind of background I bring into this sort of thing, and so it is just
my nature to walk in and look at something like that.

I'see. So that explains why in three days you could kind of take stock of the Sierra
Club.
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Yes. I mean, I remember going with Roger Craver, who is one of the great people in the
world, and we'll, I'm sure, get into fund-raising and all of that later, but he and I were on
vacation and we walked into the Flying Bear Candy Shop in Fort Bragg, California.
And we looked at this wonderful operation, wonderful candy they were making, and it
was clear to me that he and I were thinking the same thoughts, which was, "Boy, you
could take what they've got here and merchandise this thing, and they could do millions
and millions of dollars worth of business." And then, of course, we both realized that
they really didn't want to do that and we would be doing them no favor, and besides, we
didn't want to be in the candy business, but you just think that way. You know, you just
think that way, and so, yes, I came out here and I looked at that and that's--so anyhow,
that's that. Where does that have us?

Okay, it may be a good point to stop, because we've built a great background picture and
we've shown three areas you thought the club needed, and to me, that starts to sound
like the beginning of some big topics that maybe we shouldn't start on today, that we
can start on next time.

Well, that's fine. And I can think about it.

Yes, yes. And this is the early seventies. We're going to see what you did with these
topics through the council, I'm guessing, in part. When did you get on the board? Now
let me look at our dates--'77 you went on the board.

Yes, and I'd try to write that down, because I have a terrible time with dates.
I have 1977 to May '91, with a year off, 1984-1985.

I was trying to remember who was president before Brant Calkin and Kent Gill. It was
the guy who was in favor of nuclear energy.

Larry Moss [president, 1973-1974].

I came out here when Larry was president, but it was Brant Calkin who put me in charge
of membership development. He gave me chairmanship of the membership committee.
Well, we'll get into that later; we're getting ahead of the story.

Brant was just a one-year president. I can get those dates. It might have been '76-77.

All right, and when Brant resigned, I filled his seat. That's how I got on the board.
When Brant resigned, the directors appointed me to the board.

It may be that I have got this a little off on--it's hard for me to remember. I'd have sworn
I thought I came out here while Betty was still alive, but I may not have. I know I was
coming out here when Kent [Gill] was president [1974-1976]. 1 know I was here when
Larry Moss was, because I remember the debate over nuclear energy because that was
the meeting at which I met David Brower. I had not met David before. That was
memorable.

Do you remember Phil Berry being president? That was 1969-'71.
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Shaffer:  No. I think Ray Sherwin was president [1971-1973] during my first visit to San
Francisco.

[End Interview]
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III WORK ON MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT

[Interview 2: November 23, 1993 |##

Finding a Focus: State of the Club's Membership Development in the Mid-Seventies

Today is November 23, 1993, and this is the second interview with Denny Shaffer on the
Sierra Club. We've just been talking about organization and how to proceed. Last time we
finished, you gave a picture of having come to San Francisco for the first time and having
the realization that the Sierra Club needed work.

[laughs]
In fund-raising, membership, and management, it seems to me.

I think that's right. It was clear to me that this was a dynamic organization doing wonderful
things, that could do more dynamic things even more wonderfully if it got its act together
in the areas that you mentioned. They were things which I had some knowledge of, and so
it seemed to me that focusing on that, as opposed to deciding to head another campaign of
some kind, that that was better focus for me, so that's what I chose to do.

So once you see an area of need in the club, how do you work your way into--or how did
you--let's not talk in the abstract--work your way into becoming a presence?

I think that there's one thing very clear about the club, and that is if there's a vacuum,
people can rush in and fill it, and at least initially, nobody objects to that, as long as it's not
viewed as somebody else's turf or whatever. And believe me, this was nobody's turf.
Membership development at that time was an area that was just almost being ignored. 1
couldn't believe it: here was a church without evangelists; here was an army without a
recruiting department.

It just happened, people just joined?
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It just happened. At that time, there was no person in the Sierra Club, no person on the
staff, whose responsibility, total responsibility or focus was getting members for the Sierra
Club. There was a man whose name was, as I recall, George Denise, who spent perhaps a
third of his time doing that, and the other two-thirds as sort of taking care of records and
that sort of thing. The only promotional material that we had was one brochure--"Why the
Sierra Club?" it said on the front in blazing brown on beige, and it was an interesting
document. It told of the history of the club and so on and so forth, but it was not much of a
sales document. It was beautifully done, and I hope we've preserved it--1've got some; |
hope they're preserved in other places. But there was no sense on the staff side of the club
of really reaching out.

And on the volunteer side, there was a membership committee that had been chaired by
Sandy Tepfer, and then it was being chaired by Bob Norman when I came along, both of
whom are wonderful men who are still active in the club. Sandy went on to become a
longtime director and so on--dedicated, knowledgeable people, but both professors. Bob's
a math professor and Sandy was, I believe, biology, or in the sciences certainly. So they
took their focus more internally, saw themselves as problem-solvers. If the mailing lists
weren't right or the membership chairs didn't know what was going on or whatever, they
provided some really good services of that type.

They occasionally tried outreach. They did a newspaper ad, for example, one time, which
they tested in newspapers across the country, maybe four or five, that asked people to join
the Sierra Club. And they did it themselves. I think in fairness, it would have not sold
Coca-Cola to a thirsty man. | mean, it was--[laughs] that wasn't their strong suit. Instead
of getting the expertise, they sort of did it themselves.

Well, it didn't work, and so then folks decided, well, advertising isn't going to work, so we
can forget about that.

Now, Dave Brower, of course, had done some of this with a flair.

Well, yes. But Brower's flair was more to raise high the issues and to raise high the
positions of the club, and to cry a battle cry. And that was a good idea, and it made the
name of the Sierra Club something people understood. It's an awful lot easier to go out
and, if you will excuse the commercial language, to sell a product, to sell a membership in
an organization that somebody's heard of, and heard of in a way that's positive.

So David's dynamic work in that area had laid out there this potential for somebody to
come along and say, "Okay, now let's act upon that to build the organization." That was so
obvious to me, and I just knew it. It doesn't matter what we do; it's going to work. Now,
some things are going to work better than others, and they're all going to have to be done
rather well, but this is going to work.

Testing a New Approach

You didn't need a business plan to test it?
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No, you didn't need to test this. How could you--no. Well, I'll give you an example. I
think it was the second meeting of the board of directors that I attended, I asked to be on the
agenda, with a membership development concept, project. I sat down with a friend of mine
in Fayetteville, a guy named Bill Raue, who was my dear friend and who had an
advertising agency in Fayetteville, North Carolina, and who happened to be one of the most
brilliant people I've ever met in my life in the area of concepts and promotion, and is very
sympathetic with social change and so on. So we were friends. He also had worked for me
professionally in businesses I had, and he was good.

So I sat down and I talked with him and said, "Bill, this is nuts." So we sat down and we
developed a point-of-sale brochure, with a mock-up in color and a counter display to hold
the brochures and so on. He did the graphics and concepts. I wrote the copy. So I got on
the agenda, and came out and made this presentation. I said, "This is what you need to do.
This will work. It won't cost very much." I don't remember how much, but it was not very
much, a little bit of money. And to do a printing of this.

It introduced several ideas which were revolutionary. One, it was in color, which my
goodness, was revolution in itself. Secondly, it invoked humor. The brochure's headline
said, "A bunch of crazy people want you to join them." So it was different than "Why the
Sierra Club?," which was fine if somebody had asked the question. If somebody wanted to
know, then they might open it up. But this was provocative, sitting on a counter, and
people thought, "Well, this--who, what, why?" And so they opened it up, and there was
something to catch you. And then it went in and talked about, crazy enough to think that
clean air is for all of us, and so on, and then led into the fact that you could be part of this
and make this kind of difference, too. [See appendix for copy of club brochures.]

Well, the board allocated a small amount of money to test it. I took that small amount of
money and [ went to half a dozen chapters on my own, with no authorization whatsoever,
and said, "We're going to do this, and we'd like you to participate, and all you have to do is
pay half the cost." And they agreed to do this, plus they agreed to be the ones to place these
things and replenish the folders in the brochures in the stands.

What chapters did you pick?

Oh, good question. Well, of course North Carolina, which was then the Le Conte Chapter,
which was North and South Carolina. Oh, Ann, I'm not sure I could remember. But they
were scattered around. There was one from California and there was one from the
Midwest, and there was one from the south, south meaning below South Carolina, down
there somewhere. [laughs] And I think maybe four others.

So anyhow, by doing this, [ accomplished two things. First of all, now I had twice as much
money. So I printed three times as many brochures, because as you know with printing, the
more you print, the cheaper they are per piece. So I ended up printing three times more
than anybody had said I could print. But I figured, who's going to complain? This is not a
bad idea, nobody's going to shoot me for this. And then I got the people out there to
commit themselves to going to stores, talking to people, putting them out there.

Well, you can imagine that it worked. And it worked spectacularly well. I am confident
we have never gotten as much return on the dollar in any membership project since then,
just because there was nothing out there. It was new, it was attractive, you had members
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out there on the ground, and it set a precedent that we have forgotten about a number of
times since then, which is the best way to do this--membership, fund-raising, whatever--the
best way to do it is to get people who are the best you can to put together the product. Get
the volunteer, grassroots people involved and interested in it so that you can take delivery
out there. You cannot make this stuff work from an office. You've got to have people out
there. And we did that, and it worked dramatically.

Do you remember when this was? Was this shortly after your first trip to San Francisco?

I think it was the second meeting I came to.

Like '72 or "73?

Yes.

The Board's Reaction: Fear of Being Commercial, and Resistance to New Ideas

And there wasn't a lot of discussion about the content of the brochure--?
Yes, people were offended by it. They thought it was smart-alecky, which it was.
You mean people on the board?

People on the board. They were offended--well, they were offended by it being in color.
They were offended by it being commercial. One of the strains that I have fought all the
way through for twenty years is the objection to using commercial ideas to build the Sierra
Club, and/or to win conservation battles. I've done it both ways. I've used commercial
ways to go out there; I've used billboards to win conservation battles. [laughs]

So there's sort of an anti-commercial feeling throughout the leadership?

Oh, absolutely, yes. And so one of the things that I had to--well, I'll give you another
example. About six months later, I had developed by then another idea. The club was
looking for money, and I said, "Well, here's the way to make some money, and it's a good
way to get the message out there. Why don't we do recordings of native music, if you will,
folk music of an area?" So I set it up to do one with the music of Appalachia, and
contacted--all the music is in the public domain, so you don't pay anything for the music to
start with. The music's free.

So I went out and found the folk musicians who I had heard of, and they were all very
sympathetic with the Sierra Club, if they'd heard of us, and if they hadn't, I explained it to
them, and they kind of liked it, and so that was a good idea. And I cut a deal with them, "If
I do this, will you be happy to do it and me not pay you, except that [ will pay you so much
per record we sell?" And little bits of money, but yes, they said that would be fine, they'd
like to do that.
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So then I found the guy out in Tennessee that pressed out records for a living, a small
recording company, and priced out what it would cost to do. And of course, this was back
in the days of the big records, you know--

Thirty-three LPs.

That's right, great big things. So I said, "Now, but it needs something else." So I contacted
Annie Dillard, who was fresh off of Pilgrim at Tinker Creek and said to her--I had never
met her--but I got her on the phone, talked to her, lovely lady. And I explained to her what
I was doing, and that I was wanting to know if she would write some stuff that we could put
in the middle of this record album, sort of sew it in so that you would be buying not only
this music, but you would be reading this message of the earth there, if you would. And
then at the end, of course, we would have a punch line, which was, "This is the Sierra Club,
this is what we care about, and you can be part of this," but it basically was a fund-raising
idea.

So I brought it to the board and said, "This is--" and I had it all figured out--
You got it all worked out before you brought it to the board?

Oh, yes. I never asked anybody in San Francisco what they thought of this, because |
figured, well, what's wrong with this? So I brought it out, [laughing] got on the agenda,
and it was a little bit like I was speaking in a foreign language. They were not offended by
the idea, but they could not think of any reason in God's earth why we'd want to do this.
We did put out books, but we had decided to do that, and that was okay. But why records,
and how would we sell them? And so I explained to them how we would sell them. And
we only had to sell--

Were you thinking of working it into the book program?

Well, that was one of the ways, and that was one of the ideas of getting Annie Dillard in the
middle, so that you could get reviews not only in the music columns, but you could get
reviews in the literary column, so you've got two ways to go to the newspaper and get your-
-it all made sense to me. It was a good idea, was the reason it made sense to me. It was a
good idea.

Well, after much debate, they decided that if [ wanted to do this, that I should do it, and that
I should share the profits with the Sierra Club. I said, "No, I'm not going to do that,
because I'm going to make money. I don't want to come to the Sierra Club and make
money out of this, because I know how to make money. That's not why I'm here. Why I'm
here is to help the Sierra Club. If I come out here and start profiting personally, then I'm
going to get viewed in a context I do not wish to be viewed, so I'm not going to do that." So
we didn't do it.

About two months later, the guy who made the recordings in Tennessee went to National
Geographic with my idea, and they said, "What a good idea!" So National Geographic did
it, did the whole series, they went for the series around the country, and they have come
back with it in CDs a second time and have made more money off of it a second time. So it
was a good idea. But the board saw it as just, "Why would we do this?" It was outside of
the vision of folks at that time. It wasn't what we did.
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And it was a very educational process to me to realize how bound in tradition the
organization was, that there was a resistance to new ideas, there was some inertia, that there
was a language barrier that if you talked promotion and fund-raising and commercial ideas,
that there really was a language barrier. So it was very helpful to me --

You were learning about the club, and they were probably learning about you.

Oh, yes. After my first experiences with the board of directors, I just sort of went off and
scratched my head and tried to figure out what happened, because I had been accustomed--
I cannot think of another group of people that I could have made that presentation to that
wouldn't have bought it. I mean, at that time, I can't imagine anybody else that I could have
gone to that would not have said, "This is a good idea."

But it does sound like you came from outside with an idea that they hadn't asked for--

Oh, absolutely. And on one level, that they should look at me and say, "Why do this?"
Because they hadn't seen anything like me before, I'm sure. They hadn't had anybody do
this to them.

Was there anyone on staff who was supportive of that focus?

I had run it by some people, I'm sure including Mike [McCloskey]. Ilearned early on that
Mike's way of operating is if he saw something as having merit, he kind of let it ooze on to
the board's agenda and see what happened. That's what had happened. I didn't get on the
agenda simply by force of will, I went through some process to get there. But it was an
educational thing for me, and it helped me move back on. But it also, I think, illustrated
early on to me that I was going to have some real difficulty in fund-raising and in
membership development ideas and in raising the level of aggressiveness and dealing with
the resistance to anything that looked commercial or flashy, or even used paper. [laughs]
You’d get--"Why do we use all this paper?" So it was--it became a challenge.

Probably still is a challenge.

Oh, it is still a challenge. It still is.

Chair of the National Membership Committee

But anyhow, what happened next is Brant Calkin called me while he was president and said
he wanted me to chair the national membership committee.

Is that pretty much the president's prerogative, to choose who is going to be chairman?

Yes, and still is, though some presidents use that authority and power and some don't.
Brant heard me. Brant thought the things I had been saying made good sense. He wanted
somebody that was aggressive; he wanted somebody that would challenge the organization
with new ideas; he wanted somebody who would do something. He wanted to move the
membership committee away from the sort of problem-solving role into a more
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entrepreneurial role, and while not abandoning that side of it, having it tended to in some
way, but to move out there.

So he called me, and I said, "Brant, I've never served on a membership committee in my
own group." He said, "Good." [laughter] I remember him saying it. He said, "What I
want is something different than what we're doing." So we talked briefly, and I said,
"Good, I'll do it." And did.

So this gave you an official role.

That's right. That gave me the license, so I looked out and I said, "Well, there's three things
I've got to do. One is I've got to make this committee a committee that is respected, that
people look at and say, *Well, if they say it's a good idea..."" So it wouldn't be Shaffer, it
would be a group of people that made sense. Then we had to do something about staff, to
get in place some staff so we could do something. And we had to become active
immediately in getting out there and taking advantage of these things that were there for us
to do.

We were not at that time really putting anything out there. I think we had done some
coupons in the Sierra Club Bulletin asking people to join, or something like that, but it had
been very, very--

Individual chapters must have been making some efforts.

Yes. Well, the method up until that time basically had been that people found the Sierra
Club, or "I joined the Sierra Club because I heard about what it was doing and said this is a
good idea, [ want to be part of it." I may have said this to you, I got the address, wrote to
the Sierra Club, and said, "Can I join you?"

It took an effort to join.

You bet. And an amazing number of people did that, but you're not going to get a big
organization that way. There are not that many people that are going to go to that much
trouble.

But you are going to get a more committed membership, most likely. Was that something
you thought about?

Well, you're going to find--you're going to perhaps, by doing it that way, get people who
are more proactive. And you may get a bit different type of cat. But ultimately how much
that benefits the organization I don't know, because there are an awful lot of people who
have joined the Sierra Club in other ways that have become great leaders in the club. |
think clearly one of the best ways to get people to join the club still is, and always was,
finding people that are of similar value systems, and you're a member of the club and you
say to them, "Hey, let me tell you something you need to do. And here is a brochure." 1
have had, I don't know, certainly more than one hundred people I have asked to join the
Sierra Club, and frequently you don't even need to have a brochure, you just get the check
from them. Then you fill it out later and send it in. I think that's a good idea.
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Some Thoughts on the Membership Effort Today

Ultimately, we're going to talk, I suppose, about the process--how we got the big
organization, and how we got there, and direct mail, and things like that. But we're to a
point in time now where we've forgotten about the fact that that is a way a movement
grows, that movements grow because people care and they share the concerns with people,
and they bring them in. The student coalition in the Sierra Club right now is teaching the
Sierra Club, again, that because it has grown in this dynamic way, because these young
people care so much and have just gone out and asked other people. They've not had a
direct mail effort or whatever; they've gone and done it. And they've reminded us again,
and what I've been working on for the last six, eight months just right now, is trying to get
us back to a grassroots membership sensitivity and to provide the tools and the motivation
and training to people out there to do this, because with the great ideas we had coming out
of San Francisco, we didn't tend to the people out there in the field like we should have. So
I think we're paying a little bit of a price for that now, and I think that's one of the reasons--

This is interesting, kind of a circular--

Yes, and this is not unusual. You come along, you have an organization that's built itself to
a certain size using certain methods. Basically, your one-on-one kinds of things. You say,
"Okay, boy, we could really be big." And in the seventies, for example--in the sixties,
Audubon [National Audubon Society] and the Sierra Club were sort of the same size. At
the end of the seventies, Audubon was twice as big as Sierra Club, because Audubon had
found out about something called direct mail, and they started using it. They had like
400,000 members when we had like 200,000 members, having started sort of at the same
place.

So you say, "Hey, there's something to be said for this." I was one of the people that said,
"There's something to be said for this, this is a good idea." And it was a good idea. So I put
a lot of energy into developing those kinds of things, but then we became a little lazy on the
other side, and people out there began to think, "Well, you know, I don't need to do this any
more, because National is doing it for us, and by golly, we've got more members in our
chapter than we ever had, why do we need to worry about this?"

This is clearly one of so many examples where a little forward thinking and a little
planning in this organization would be useful, and we don't do that. Anybody who had sat
back and looked at this and wanted to develop a plan for the Sierra Club, which we still do
not have, in membership development, would have said, "Okay, this is what's going to
happen, but we've got to keep this going here, and who's going to do that while somebody
else is doing this?" But we don't do that. We sort of muddle through.

Forming the Membership Committee. Camaraderie. and the Sense of Working
Together

Well, let's go back and find out what we did do. It must have been about '76 that you
became chairman; that's when Brant Calkin was president.
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I would think that sounds right to me. Yes, if that's when Brant was president, that sure is
it.

So you mentioned getting a group of people on the committee.

Well, that's right. And I can't remember all of the people that were on that committee, but
they were good, strong leaders, and I can tell you three of them that went on to become
directors were Jerry Lieberman, Sue Merrow, and Larry Downing, names you've heard
before. So I didn't do bad in sizing up people that were coming up the pipeline and saying--

Did you get them from your contacts in the [Sierra Club] Council?
Yes. Because they were all council people.
But it wasn't a council project, I'm assuming, or was it? Was there some overlap?

Well, there was overlap. And certainly my field of knowledge on leaders from around the
country centered at that point very much upon the council, because I had been there a little
while. There were really a lot of good, strong people coming through there then. It isn't
hard to figure out who the leaders are. You just sort of sit back and pay attention for a little
while, and you say, "Well, there's a leader."

I had great help with this, too, after we had a staff. In '77, we finally hired Peggy Hynd,
who is now Peggy Combs, as membership coordinator. She wasn't director of
development, because we still had Denny Wilcher, and Denny was running something at
that time called the Office of Program Funding, which was the fund-raising side. So I
guess she basically was hired to just do membership. I'm sure that's the case.

And shortly thereafter, she brought under her Kim Martin-Carroll from Denny Wilcher’s
office. Kim had worked for Denny's office. They both were interesting people. They both
were cause-oriented people; they were people who were there because they believed in
what we were doing, not because they wanted a job. Kim had been a buyer for Emporium-
Capwell and had come to the Sierra Club as a part-time telephone switchboard operator and
part-time working in the Sierra Club store to get her foot in the door, which she then used to
get into Denny's office, and then she used to get into this. She was clearly motivated by the
fact that she wanted to be doing something that she believed in.

And she did come out of a business background.

She came out of a business background, that's exactly right. Peggy had a fund-raising
background, but came out of this passion for social change, this passion for justice. Both of
them.

What age group were they? It would be mid-seventies.

Well, let me think backwards. Kim is forty-two now--

And that was almost twenty years ago.
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So that was seventeen years ago, so that would be twenty-five, wouldn't it? And I guess
Peggy is maybe a year or two older than Kim, but not much difference. So they were bright
people, and they were friendly. They liked people, they were people-oriented, they had
people skills, they had political savvy, they worked the board of directors like lobbyists
would work it. We would meet--the membership committee--and Kim and Peggy would
meet before board meetings and divide up the board of directors: "You take this one, I'll
take this one," and so on, and brainwash them on the ideas that we were working on.

#HH

It was very proactive, if you would. And the staff always attended all the board meetings, 1
mean from beginning to end, we all went. We'd go out and have drinks afterwards, gangs
of us, twenty-five to thirty of us would go out. It was this--[laughs] one of my favorite
stories was, Kim had a little Volkswagen Bug that she called Trigger. It was worn out, but
she would pack people in, and the volunteers would shuffle around. We were driving down
the street, and it was Lieberman and myself and Joe Fontaine in this bug.

Lieberman said, "Look, there's that new council delegate from Connecticut. Stop and pick
her up." So we stopped, and Jerry hollers at her, and it's Sue Merrow. First meeting she's at
in the Sierra Club, as council delegate. "Come on over here, we're going to go out and get
something to eat." She came and got in the car. We were going on to meet another twenty
people, I guess.

She gets in the car, and we start off. And Sue is sort of taken aback, and with the charm
that she has had all these years, and her way of saying things, sort of smiled and said, "You
know, I've been in San Francisco two hours, and I'm already sitting on the lap of the Sierra
Club president." [laughter] Because Joe was president at that time. But it was typical of
that kind of energy that went into all of that thing, and the camaraderie and the sense of
working together. So it was a lot of fun. And I'm digressing.

But I think this is an important part of the story.
Well, it is part of it. It's one of the things that [Ted] Snyder and I agreed on so much, that if
we're not having a good time doing this, there's something wrong with the way we're doing

it. I mean, this is a good cause, we care about the same things together, we ought to have
fun. And boy, did I subscribe to that.

Membership Ads in Sierra Club Publications and Other Promotional Ideas

So early on, right away, before we got staff, going back to that, I remember me insisting
that we needed to have ads in the Sierra Club Bulletin, and Mike agreeing that we would do
that. So the Bulletin would come out and there would be no ad, and I'd get on the phone to
Mike, "Mike, there's no ad again." And he'd say, "Well, you know, we're working on it."
But in fairness to Mike, he had no one to do it.

So finally I lost it, and I said, "Mike, if you will say to me, 'Denny, will you get an ad in the
next issue of the Bulletin,' there will be an ad in the next issue." He said, "Oh, well, would
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you do it?" "I'll do it." He said, "Well, but it's only twelve days" or something "to
deadline." Isaid, "I don't care, you'll have an ad."

Well, of course, I had no idea what I was going to do, but I hung up the phone and got my
friend Bill Raue, and we sat down and drank beer until we thought of a concept, and put
together and ad and sent it out in whatever way you sent things then--

Not by fax.

No, not by fax, and not by express mail. It was something like, you took it to the airport,
and they flew it out, and somebody picked it up or something. It was very complicated, but
it got here. And we had an ad in the Sierra Club Bulletin. It was not a great ad. If I were
to look back on it, I'd say it was probably the worst one we ever did. But it got an idea
started, and after that, we started doing ads for Sierra [the title of the club’s magazine
changed in 1977 from the Sierra Club Bulletin to Sierra]. We started the first inserts in
Sierra; we started producing all of the brochures in Fayetteville. I wrote the copy and he
Bill and I figured out the concepts, and he did the graphics, and we did this stuff in
Fayetteville for years. Of course, staff had input by phone.

Do you have a file of those?
Oh, sure.

Those should go to the Bancroft Library (and maybe a couple for an appendix to the oral
history) [See Appendix].

Oh, sure. And we did things like finding a way to get space in national magazines for
nothing or something close to nothing, and we ran ads in national magazines. We went to
work, and I'm not sure when this happened with getting ads in calendars. I was stunned at
the idea that we were putting out calendars without an invitation to join the Sierra Club. I
went to Mike, and Mike said, "Well, Scribner will not put up with this. This is a quality
product, they don't want something that's commercial in there," and so on and so forth. I
said, "Well, let's find out."

So we went to work on Scribner and finally got their agreement to do that. So we produced
probably the first six ads in calendars came out of Fayetteville, with Bill doing them and
with me writing.

Was there a good return on those?

Oh, absolutely, one of the best. Because it cost practically nothing. And very, very
productive. I don't have the numbers in my head anymore, but just significantly
productive. And again, you knew that anything like that was going to work. How could it
not work? People loved Sierra Club calendars. The people who buy Sierra Club calendars
look at this thing all year long and say, "These people are really neat." But they didn't
know anybody that belonged to the Sierra Club.

They didn't even know it was a club.
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They didn't know that anybody wanted them to join. They didn't know, if they wanted to
join, how to do it. All you've got to do is put a piece of paper in their hand that says, "Yeah,
we want you, and this is what it costs, and you're going to have fun doing it," and they'll
say, "Well, that's a good idea." And they did. It was tremendously successful. Scribner
was very happy not having this insert, but as a businessman I understood this was a two-
way street. Sure, it made sense for them to demand a high quality insert. We owed them
that, but they owed us too.

It's that concept that's often been missed in commercial dealings when the Sierra Club is
doing them, that we were making a lot of money for Scribner. They had a good product
here. Us asking for it to be more useful to us was not an outrageous idea, and while they
may resist it because, all things considered, they'd just as soon not bother, they had enough
business sense to know that what we were asking was not unreasonable.

Did you handle that kind of negotiation?

Not directly. I was not directly in it. The only time I got directly involved with all that was
when we left Scribner, and that's probably for another point, when we went to Random
House. I did get involved in that.

But anyhow, we did these kinds of things. We started doing clip art, making up sheets of
things and sending them to chapter newsletters, so that the chapter newsletter would run
not just an ad with a membership application on it, but we did little cartoons. I remember
doing them on an airplane going home one time, and there was a couple bears looking out
from behind a tree, and there was a bulldozer coming up, and they were saying something
about, "Here goes our neighborhood. " Oh, there was one with a bird that was standing on
the only tree left in the clear-cut forest looking around, and the caption was something like,
"Maybe it's time to do something about this." And then it would ask people to join the
Sierra Club.

But none of this is great brilliance. This is not the sort of thing of which fortunes are made
in the advertising business, but they had to work. And again, they cost almost nothing.

But who gets the newsletters besides the members?

Ah, but the members never had applications. So when their neighbor actually was
interested in joining the Sierra Club, they didn't have anything to give them.

I see, so this served that purpose.

Absolutely. That's why there's such a big thing in Sierra magazine. The magazine goes to
people who belong to the Sierra Club, but what it does, when their neighbor comes over
and they're having dinner together, and their neighbor says, "You know, I've been meaning
to join the Sierra Club sometime," the person says, "Oh, let me get Sierra, it's got an
application in it, and let me give it to you." That's why it works. It's the idea of putting a
tool in people's hands and keeping it there constantly so that it reminds them to use the tool,
and when they want to use it, it's here. No, that's a good question.

As a matter of fact, it was a question and people insisted it wouldn't work because of that.
Why would that work?
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And yet, it is very little ventured, very little risk.

Oh, virtually nothing. Bill charged modest amounts of money to do his work, and of
course, I did everything for free. I had done copywriting before, for commercial stuff, for
money. And so it was not new to me. But it was more fun. Oh, and we did an ad during
the Watt campaign that the Grinch that stole Christmas, and it was a takeoff of Dr. Seuss
[Theodor Geisel] stuff, and we of course had to get hold of Dr. Seuss to do this.

But at any rate, so we got in touch with him, and his agent said, "Well, you know, Dr. Seuss
gets a thousand requests like this a week, and we really don't do this sort of thing, but call
back on this and I'll let you know." So Bill called back and he said, "Well, you know, I told
you Dr. Seuss just doesn't do this sort of thing. We get these thousands of requests. But Dr.
Seuss is with you on this one." [laughs]

How nice!

And so he gave us permission to do it, and set the standard. I wrote the copy, and Bill did
the graphics. We sent them a copy of it, and they made a suggestion or two, and we
changed it, and we got to run it. So again, the idea is there's so many people out there who
are us, who would be glad to help us if we can find a way to reach them and use them.

It's not creating the demand.

No. There's people out there who care so much about what we're doing, and who have
great skills to do this kind of thing, and we've not reached them as well as we could. But
anyhow, we did all that sort of thing. We had a membership contest for chapters, and we
gave out, oh, if you got a member, you got a tree from Stark Brothers Nursery, and I cut a
deal with Stark Brothers because we were giving them a lot of advertising, so I got the trees
from them for practically nothing. It was very successful.

Concerns Among the Directors. and a Basic Contradiction

Did this create any ripples on the board?

Oh, absolutely. Everybody was--not everybody; a lot of people were kind of outraged at it.
What was the objection to this type of thing?

Well, the--[sighs] "It's so commercial. It's what 'they' do. "

And are there people in particular who stand out as being leaders of the opposition?

Oh, I think Phil Berry [laughs] has been the leader of the opposition to commercial ideas,
generally speaking. He has, I think, been somewhat offended by commercialization and
using the club's name in connection with commercial products. And I think in the use of

direct mail, for example, which we can talk a little bit more about, because that really was
the big thing that made the difference in the size of the organization--but I think, though,
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that the truth of the matter is, the overwhelming majority of the board at that time was not
very enthusiastic about this sort of thing.

Was it that they didn't see the virtue of growing the club, to use that new verb?

Oh, absolutely. And there's still resistance to that. There are still people out there arguing
that we should be leaner and meaner.

I saw that in your own words, you used that phrase “leaner and meaner” during your
presidency.

Did I really? Well, there you go. I wonder what [ meant when I said that. I suspect what I
meant, [laughs] if I can do a little revisionist thinking here, we've never paid much
attention to efficiency in this organization. We've had the luxury of being able to do things
over and over again because it doesn't cost anything very much, the volunteers that are
doing it. Or we don't think about what it costs us. I spent an awful lot of time--and this is
outside the scope of fund-raising sorts of things--I spent an awful lot of time in this
organization trying to improve the efficiencies of what we do, to learn and not make the
same mistakes over.

But as far as size is concerned, I think we ought to be real big. If you read our vision
statement, it's a revolutionary statement. It's a statement that talks about changing the
value systems of the people of this country. That's not easily done, and it's certainly, it
seems to me, better done if you've got a whole lot of folks out there doing it. Now, you
need leadership and you need vision and you're not going to get it from everybody. If
you've got a million people in the organization, you need a lot of people doing a lot of
things.

But it's always been my concept to have a presence locally every place. I've said over and
over again, if there's a town of 50,000 in this country, there ought to be a Sierra Club group
there. And then you educate the people coming up, you get the city councilmen coming up,
and who's going to become a governor some day, to the idea that there are these concepts
we believe in. So I believe in big.

But there has been consistently and constantly an argument from people that getting big is
a problem, and it's ranged from the people who were the Sierra Club in California who saw
it as a club, who were the people left from the days when it was exclusive, where you had
to get somebody to sign for you if you wanted to join. Who wanted it to be sort of a group
of people that you knew and went on outings with, and that you didn't have to worry about
strange crazy people coming in from North Carolina and bothering you with strange ideas,
I suppose. [laughs] To personalize it.

But it must have been a broader group than that, because that was really a dying breed.

It was wider. That was a dying breed. Then you had--there is great difficulty in the
philosophy in what we do. We believe in the conservation of the earth's resources, and the
preservation of the wild places that can only be done if we do the first one, and yet many of
us use a lot of the earth's resources, including me. I keep flying back and forth across the
country. There's this built-in contradiction, and we live with this contradiction. It plays out
over and over again in different ways. People offended by the idea that if you send out
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millions of letters to ask people to join the Sierra Club, most of them end up in the
wastebasket. And, "What a waste of resources!"

Now, the other side of that is, you will have 100,000 more people who are giving their
money and their time and their thinking to the cause that we believe in, in an organized
way. But a lot of paper is thrown away. So there's an argument to be made against doing
these things, and it is a balance. It is a balance. I am a pragmatic fellow, I think, and I
believe that having an organization of a half million people or a million people dedicated to
changing the value systems of this country, and using up some resources to that end so that
you can promote the sorts of things that might be able to save the earth from ourselves, has
a hopeful possibility to it.

I think going the other way, which is for me to stay home and not do anything, and not use
any resources, and simplify my life, is in some ways making a contribution, but it is not
going to get us there. It is not going to change the value systems of the people of the earth,
because not enough people are going to know I'm doing it. Even if they've looked at it and
said, "That's a good idea, I'm going to do it," how many people would see me? So it's a
balance.

But yes, I feel guilty when I use the resources, so I understand the argument, and I am
sympathetic with the argument.

Seems to me the other side of the argument might be, which would lead into the next topic
later, when the club gets to this size, how do we manage it? You must have the vision for
that.

That's right, I can see how that can be done. This is not a big problem.
But many people can't.

And it's one we haven't resolved. We're not doing it. We're not doing it right now, but it is
so simple. It's there to be done. You can organize--well, you're right, it is another subject.
But there is a resistance, and it's also the resistance to the commercialized stuff, that big
business, corporate America, behaves that way. Corporate America sends out slick
brochures. Corporate America runs color ads. We don't want to be like corporate America.

Well, I find that sort of curious, because we are corporate America. We are a corporation,
even with the bad finances we're in, we have a $40 million budget, 500,000 members more
or less. We're a California corporation, got a board of directors. I mean, we are a
corporation. So to me, again, obviously I have figured out a way that it sort of suits me,
and that is, you take the tools that they have used for things we do not believe in that are
tools that work. You say, "Okay, we adapt those to social change," rather than saying,
"We're not going to." And the majority is going that way. The majority of the people are
going that way.

But yes, there is the argument against it right up to the moment, "Don't use the resources,
don't waste the money, it costs too much money to send out direct mail, don't do it, don't
send out, don't use up the paper, don't look like corporate America, don't get so big we can't
manage it, don't get so big that we get the wrong kind of people. We want people like us."
And this is not a racial thing. God forbid that it should sound like that. This is a dedication
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to the cause kind of thing. "I want somebody who's as pure as I am, as driven as [ am."
[laughs] I don't! I don't want any more like me. I want everybody. I really want
everybody out there.

Well, let's see how we've got--

Direct Mail: Roger Craver and Dick Haimmond

Can we talk about the direct mail?

That's what I was going to ask you, how did you get the club, or how did the club get into
direct mail?

When I went on the board of directors, I went on in 1977, I guess, and I was called in the
middle of the night by Ted Snyder to say that they had chosen me to fill a vacancy. We can
talk more about that later.

But I got on an airplane and got in a car and arrived at this ranch in the Southwest. [Added
during interviewee review: This was the Baca Ranch in New Mexico that was recently
acquired by the federal government.] That was the first meeting Roger Craver had come
to. Roger Craver is the--how do you describe Roger Craver?

That's what I wanted to ask you.

He is clearly bigger than life. He raises more money for left-of-center causes than anybody
else in the world.

Where does he hail from?

He is out of the Washington, D.C., area. He has a company called Craver, Matthews, and
Smith, CMS. He is a revolutionary. He is a wild man. He is absolutely the most--as
brilliant as any man I've ever known, more dedicated than 99.9 percent. I have vacationed
with Roger, and I'm getting a long way ahead of the story, but when Roger sleeps in in the
morning, he sleeps in until, say, four-thirty. It is not unusual for Roger to get up at three
and start working on fund-raising in Europe that he's working on before people here are
awake.

And this is on vacation?

Oh, yes, and he thinks that's quite reasonable.

How did he come to the Sierra Club?

He came to the Sierra Club because the Sierra Club, Mike and others, had decided that they

really needed to talk to somebody who had some expertise in direct mail, and in fund-
raising techniques of the time, if you will.
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Did you have anything to do with it?

I don't recall having anything to do with it. I may have, because it sounds like something |
would have been interested in. I did not know Roger Craver; I had heard of him.

What other kind of causes does he work for?

Oh, he has handgun control, abortion rights, things like Planned Parenthood. He always
worked very closely with Cesar Chavez. John Anderson, when he ran for president, was a
client of his; he's had the Democratic Senate campaign as a client--you go down the list of
left-of-center causes, and you'd be hard put to find something that Roger hasn't at some
time had some part in helping raise money.

He's not just direct mail, or is he just direct mail?

He is not just direct mail. He has a very large operation that includes quite creative sorts of
things. I like the political hotline he put together, for example, a few years ago in which he
convinced politicians that it would be in their interest to send him information by fax or
electronic mail that would report on their latest knowledge of what was happening with
their campaigns.

So he then had somebody who gathered all this in, piles of information, and then somebody
would sit down, frequently Roger, kind of go over it and edit it, and they put out a
newsletter right back to the same people to tell them what was going on, except they sold
them the newsletter. It's a brilliant business move, because it creates a product out of
something that doesn't cost too much, that people are giving you, but it was a great service,
because it brought together all this information of the progressive candidates, and
permitted people like us or others to know what's going on. So he's very creative, he's very
knowledgeable--he is a force in Washington, behind the scenes. He talks to people who are
thinking about running for vice president or president and encourages them or discourages
them. I don't want to carry on too much about Roger except to say that I don't know really
anybody who has personally contributed to the power of left-of-center social change
organizations more than Roger, because he has enabled us to find ways to get resources
which then we use well and move on.

Well, he was there. [laughs] He tells a story, I don't even know if it's true, because Roger
loves telling stories as much as I do. But he insists that Mike took him aside when he got
there and said--after they put me on the board--"Now, Roger, you need to remember when
Denny comes in here that Denny's not been a part of the board before, and that he may be a
little bit--" I don't know whether trouble-maker is the word he used, but it was sort of the
connotation.

Roger told me later, he said, "Well, clearly that was the best thing Mike could have done,
because | immediately wanted to know who you were, because what this organization
needed was somebody who was going to change some of these things, and clearly if you
were viewed that way, then you and I had something in common." So we had this
introduction before we were introduced. We hit it off just like--1 mean--

He was what you were looking for.
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He was what I was looking for, and he saw me as somebody that he found interesting. We
have since become just dear, good, close friends, a man I care about immensely. And he
introduced me, through him I got to know other giants, people like Dick Hammond. Dick
Hammond--I talked to Mike about this one time. I said, "Mike, I don't know whether
anybody knows what a role these people played in building organizations like ours, and
we're losing them." So maybe this is a good chance to talk about it a little bit.

Yes, I think it's important that we talk about this, because it hasn't been talked about in the
oral histories, except just referred to briefly.

Dick Hammond was a man who realized early on that organizing mailing lists was a good
idea. Now, you've got to keep in mind that direct mail can't work if you don't have people's
names and addresses to send it to. And just starting with the phone book or something is
not a good idea. You need to send them to people who might be receptive to this.

Was he part of the Craver organization?

Well, only loosely. These people whose names I'm going to mention all are people who
were very close to each other--Dick Hammond has died, tragically, a few years ago, at a
young age--and was godfather of one of Roger's kids. So all these people were so close
together. Their financial ties were never clear to me, and I'm not sure necessarily to them.
But they all helped each other--because they all were sort of interdependent of each other.

Up to that point there had been things like--magazines had mailing lists, of course, and so
there was some trade on the commercial side. You could buy lists of names and so on. But
there was nobody thinking about it as a tool to build social change organizations. Dick said
to himself, A, this is a good idea, B, it needs to be done, C, I can make a living doing this.
And he did all of the above, and did it extremely well.

So Dick built mailing lists of people who cared about justice as you or I might see it. And
then they refined and refined and refined the process so that you got more and more focus
and you had some certainty when you sent out this piece of mail it was really going to
somebody that had some interest in your cause. They may not respond, but at least they
had some interest in this.

For example, a new social-change organization coming along, maybe like handgun control,
that might not have much money, and these crazy people would say, "Okay, we'll lend you
half a million names, and then when you build your mailing list up, you let us use your
mailing list, and that will make us even." From a commercial point of view, they were
right. They eventually came out even.

But as advocates for social change, they made this tremendous gift to the new social-
change organization of a mailing list that they could write to that would be likely to
respond.

A mailing list taken from another social change organization?

From some other, yes. With constant refinement and updating.
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#it
Okay, so we have Dick Hammond and--

Yes, and then there's Sheila Martin. Sheila Martin has a company named Triplex that's here
in the Bay Area, and Sheila recognized what computers could do with all of this, and that
all of these lists were useful, but can you imagine how much more useful they could be if
you could computerize all this in such a way that you could pick among the names quickly
by certain characteristics. She, as far as I know, invented the idea of the merge-purge,
which would mean if we wanted to use Audubon's mailing list, before we used it, you'd run
it through the computer and it would throw out all the names on it that were already on our
membership list. So there would be a purge of those names, so that you weren't sending
mail to people that already belonged to the club, asking them to join the club. I think, as far
as I know, she invented that sort of thing. Certainly I know she brought it to another stage
of perfection.

She has built, and is the repository, of these jigillions of names, now separated out and
refined, and of course now there's information by ZIP codes and so on, and there's all kinds
of demographic information you play back against the list of names, and you can put as
many screens over this as you want to. You can sort them out by age, you can sort them out
by all sorts of ways, to target the very best.

Does she do this work just for social-change organizations?

Yes, as far as [ know. All nonprofit stuff. Now, she may have some commercial stuff, but
she got into business, just like Dick got into business, saying to themselves, "I really
believe in this stuff. There's a lot of injustice in this country that needs to be addressed, and
I can find a way here to play a major significant role in doing this, and at the same time,
make a good living." It's sort of that best of all worlds, something I've not been bright
enough to do. I've got to make a living doing something else, and do this in my spare time.

And really, all three of these people sort of were students of, if you will, a guy named Peter
Tagger. Peter Tagger--oh boy, what an oral history that would have been to do. Peter's
dead. He died three years ago, | guess, something like that. Peter was an Australian
immigrant. His father was a playwright and they had to leave Europe because his political
satire brought the Nazis down on them. He then became a very successful screenwriter in
Hollywood. Peter was press secretary to Henry Wallace in 1948, which led to his being
blacklisted during the McCarthy era. He then got into direct mail working for the Jewish
Hospital in Denver, then moved to Santa Barbara and started the Center for the Study of
Democratic Institutions in 1966. This was, I believe, the first liberal think tank. Using
direct mail he built the list of supporters to over 240,000 by the late sixties.

He was working with the tools available then, which weren't very many. This was not
direct mail as we think about it now, millions of pieces, computer-generated, so on. But he
was the first one that figured out that you could do it this way. Up to that point, people had
done fund-raising for social-change organizations, but they hadn't gone out and really tried
to go for the small gifts and the memberships, and getting a commitment of people to the
cause by "joining." And it was Peter that thought of this.
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Now, it may not sound like a big deal at the moment, but that observation changed the way
social-change organizations in this country were built, dramatically.

Do you know when he was operating, when these ideas came into being?

Oh, golly. It was a long time ago. This would have been--this was after the blacklisting. 1
would say probably mid to late fifties, maybe, something like that.

So he was definitely a pioneer.

Oh. And [laughs] one of the world's great characters. He was one of the few people that
could come to our meetings when we were being our most cantankerous, and say
something about us that we would feel comfortable laughing about. He had this way that
was just so delightful. The greatest people skills.

How did he get brought in? Were these board meetings you're talking about?

Well, he's a Craver connect, though he is--and he actually worked in a formal way with
Roger starting in 1974, and sometimes Roger would bring him in on specific kinds of
things. But there were these handful of people, and these four are the giants. There's more,
but these four are the giants. Well--

I don't mean to interrupt you, but I want to get a clearer picture of what Roger's role has
been. In 1977, he made a presentation to the board. Did he become a consultant, an
occasional consultant, a continuous consultant?

Yes, all really--all of the above. He was hired to do specific things for us at that time. He
advocated us becoming a client of his on a contractural basis with a contract that said he
would do certain things, and we then did that. Immediately, because of their personality,
people like Kim said to themselves, "Aha, this is a good idea," and so she would use him,
as would Peggy, when they had a problem. Whether it was in the contract had nothing to
do with it, because Roger's motivation is justice. It is not making a living. Now, he likes
making a living, and he lives well, and that's a good thing to do. But given an opportunity
to make a significant difference, he's going to do that first, then think about, "How do I
bill?" second, or, "Do I bill?" And so on. So we've gone through a variety of things.

Then he, in later years, after Kim left the club, became more involved in the production,
and I think still is involved in the production of things, like mail appeals and so on. When
Kim was there, they actually would get somebody to write the package, and then would
hire a printer here and get it typeset and printed, and a mailing house they would hire, and
they'd get it done.

This would be done out of the club office, Kim--

Well, yes, Kim did it here, that's right. And after Kim left, they pretty much hired Roger to
do it. So he actually then got later into--and he has his own printing and his own art
department, and he has writers who work for him, and so on, though he is by far the best
writer, and he still does a lot of the appeals himself. He was telling me recently about one
he had done that Kurt Vonnegut signed, and about how the interplay between writing copy
that has Kurt Vonnegut's name at the bottom of it, [laughs]--
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That must have been fun.

Well, he said it was, and he said that Kurt called him and said, "Thank god you understand
that this is not supposed to be literature, this is supposed to raise some so-and-so, so-and-so
money." And he clearly understood what it was all about, which is a problem that perhaps
lesser creative people haven't crossed over yet.

Growth of the Direct Mail Program, and the Role of Interior Secretary Watt

But at any rate, Roger came in, and I just got fascinated with all these people, so obviously
I got to know all of them, and spent time with them, they became personal friends. And
they became friends of Kim's. Now, I don't know at what point in this [ acknowledged the
fact that Kim and I ended up being married to each other--

Well, we need to put it in.

Which at some point is relevant. [laughs] But at that point, we were not only not married
to each other, we had no idea that a thought would ever enter either of our minds--as far as
I know; it certainly had never entered mine. For a variety of reasons, it just never occurred
to me. But we did find ourselves, Peggy and Kim and myself and these people I have
named, all sort of learning--well, Peggy and Kim and I wanted to learn, and these people
were the best and the brightest there were. And aside from that, they were nice people, and
they were interesting, and they were fun.

So we learned a whole lot from them, but at the same time were able to introduce this. We
got the club to go into direct mail a little bit at a time, and test it and test it, and move the
numbers up a little bit, and it worked so well. It was hard to do.

Hard to get the--

Hard to get the board of directors to agree to. It meant putting a line item in the budget that
said you're going to spend a lot of money to do this. They'd say, "Well, how do we know
it's going to work?" Well, it's going to work. This is how we know: we test it and we do
this. "But why do you write four-page letters?" Well, they bring more results than two-
page letters. "Well, it's a waste of paper, you ought to be able to say it in two pages." Well,
you should, except four pages brings more money back. We've tried it both ways. "Well,
why do you put it in an envelope that doesn't look like a Sierra Club envelope?" Well,
because more people open it then. "Well, how do you know that?" Well, you get better
results. We've tested this, and you show them the test results.

You had tested it for the club?
Oh, yes.

Or Roger Craver had tested it.
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Both--no, we test everything. We still test everything. In our direct mail membership
solicitation, we send out a test package and then a new package and maybe a third package
every time we do a mail, so that you see which one does better, and then you keep changing
the package to respond to what's happening there. It's not only the way it looks, it's what's
the substance.

And incidentally, and I do not think this is a small matter, the appeals that are responded to
most strongly in this organization are appeals that have to do with the preservation of wild
lands. The direct wilderness kinds of appeals. I believe strongly in the other issues that
we're in, but people join the Sierra Club because they want to save wild places. And there's
an important message there, and Peter Hart [Sierra Club consultant] has just come back
with this study that was just run that reminds us, if you tell people that you want them to
join you and give you a check and their time, because what you do is save wild lands and if
they respond, you better keep reminding them and showing some evidence back to them
that that's what you are doing. It's fine to work on global warming and population, and it is
a good idea to do that, but don't forget the initial connection there. That's important.

So that's held up over the years?

It's held consistent from the beginning to the moment. But what we would do, I would do a
back-of-the-envelope sort of thing that would show people, "Okay, you spend--" whatever
it is, "$400,000 for this direct mail, and this is what you get back this year. But next year,
this is the percentage of those people that will renew, and the cost of renewal is only this."
The club's largest block of discretionary money is renewal income from membership.
There's no restrictions on it at all, and there's very little expense to it.

And the first year, there is a lot of expense.

In the first year, there's an expense of getting the member. But the second, third, fourth
years, if you can keep them out there longer, are very profitable. So I would do this
projection. "If you spend this," whatever it is, $100,000, $400,000, "this is what you get
back." And if you'd play it out for five years, it was ridiculous payback. But you had the
problem that it was over five years, and the Sierra Club has traditionally gotten tied up in
trying to balance a budget for this year, and we don't want to cut program, and everything
we're doing is very important, and we'll worry about next year next year. So it was very
difficult to get any size to the program.

But we finally did, and we grew dramatically. This was the basis of the people and the
money for the eighties. This is why we were able to be what we were in the eighties.
Without this, it wouldn't have been possible. Couldn't have done it.

How did the Watt petition campaign figure into the success of membership? You always
hear that as being a big factor in our dramatically increasing membership.

People have got the right general idea, but they don't have the focus right. You've got to
have a devil. If you have a devil in fund-raising, you're going to do better. It is much
preferable--if I come to you and say, "Look, if you'll give me some money, I'm going to do
some really good things with it." [ mean, this doesn't happen. Or worse, I come to you and
say, "If you give me some money, it would be a good idea, because I really need it, we've
got to make the payroll." Roger has made an observation that nobody buys Buicks because
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General Motors needs the money. That's not the motivation. You buy a Buick because of
something different than that, and you join organizations for something different than that,
not because you need money.

So what was I saying? I got off on Buicks.
The Watt petition.

Oh, yes, the Watt petition. That was far afield. Watt was the perfect devil. Outrageous, an
outrageous man. And he signified everything that we were opposed to. But the thing that
was most significant was that we were in everybody's mailbox when they got mad at him.
It was that we had thought about it in advance and said, "This guy is going to be
outrageous. We know who this guy is. We know what this guy believes in." And we were
out front of it, and when people were picking up the paper and reading the outrageous
things he was saying, and then they reached for the day's mail, there was an envelope from
the Sierra Club saying, "Join us, we're the people that are going to do something about this
nut."

And that's the part people don't pick up. They sort of think that happened spontaneously,
that this guy came along and somehow everybody joined the Sierra Club. Well, it could
have been that he would have come along, and that wouldn't have happened, or it would
have only happened in a very small, incremental way. What happened was that we had a
plan, we were there, and we played the thing out, and we played it up pretty well.

Now, we could have played it better. If we would have had more--we could have been
bigger, we could have raised more money. But we were pretty conservative on that. |
wasn't. | was pushing all the time to get more and more active, because it would have
worked. We could have done 50 percent more direct mail than we did, and it would have
been a good idea, and we would have raised more money, and we would have been bigger
and stronger.

Was the petition itself to get Watt out an important part of the membership development?

No. It wasn't in my opinion, except that, like the Brower ads, it gave you a national
presence. It put us out there. It was a brilliant idea. It was a good thing we did it. I was
there on the steps, and you wouldn't recognize me in the picture; [ have a full beard then--
only did that for a short time--[laughs] everybody in Sierra Club who's male has to try it, |
guess, occasionally--but it was a good idea. I think it helped membership development and
fund-raising in that it made us appear to be an organization that was out there doing
something.

Do you know whose idea it was? I've never quite gotten--

I would give credit to it, without even knowing, to Carl Pope or Doug Scott. It sounds to
me like their kind of thinking.

So it came out of the staff. That had been my impression.

We have--1 have observed this--there is an old advertising saying that you don't sell the
steak, you sell the sizzle. The Sierra Club, in using that metaphor, has more steak than
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anybody. But we keep being hesitant to talk about the sizzle. Where Greenpeace at its
best, and it's now on its decline, but at its best sold more sizzle than I've ever seen. I'm not
sure it had any steak. But they had something out there. They had blond people on little
rubber boats going between the whale and this big ship with weapons on the front of it, and
people responded.

The Sierra Club has been hesitant to, in effect, think in terms of how it presents itself to the
country, and therefore we make it more difficult to raise money and get members, because
we don't--we let others describe who we are. We let others describe us, and say, "This is
what they are, this is how they look, this is what they do," instead of being dramatic and
getting out front. The Watt petition was dramatic and got out front. David Brower's ads
were dramatic and got out front. The list is a very short list of things like that.

Are there things that you thought of that were rejected as sizzle?

Just philosophically, I think I am more aggressive and more dramatic--I would be more
dramatic--an example: direct corporate action. A little while ago, there was an
organization whose name has not come to mind that took on one of the fast food
restaurants, Burger King I think, about beef grown on cut rain forests. They had people
show up in four or five different media markets at the Burger King, or burger whatever it
was, and make the point, and they got a lot of publicity, and eventually had that changed.

The Sierra Club, if they wanted to do that, the way we have a network of groups, chapters,
across the country, could have shown up in the front yard of every Burger King in the
country on that day, if we had wanted. I have suggested on occasion that we ought to do
that sort of thing. I come out of the civil rights movement. You've got to get closer to
being in people's face occasionally. You've got to put yourself out there if you want to have
an aggressive--.

Now, the other side of that is that it's disorderly and it could get out of hand, or it could be
offensive, it could turn off donors, whatever. But I think it's got much more positive--and
we don't have anybody, as far as I know, that's sitting back thinking about opportunities like
that now. By doing that, not only do you affect the specific substance that you're working
on, but you create an image for yourself. We haven't done much to create an image for
ourselves.

Promotion of Life Memberships and Building Endowment

The only other thing I can think of on membership side--well, two things I suppose. Life
memberships. I was, to the best of my knowledge, the first and only person who promoted
the idea of promoting life memberships. Let's go out and sell these things, let's get people
to sign up. And I found immense resistance to this, because it was money that went into an
endowment and you couldn't spend it. Well, I've been known to overstate things, but I still
do not understand any logic in that argument, because the interest on the money is more
than what they would pay in dues. So that if you got the money for the life membership
and didn't spend it, and only spent the income that it created, you had more money to spend
each year.
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Than if they joined every year.

Than if you joined every year. And furthermore, you've got that income forever, including
when they're dead and gone. Even if they get mad at you, you've still got it. Even if they
die, you've still got it. But tremendous resistance to that.

Because they thought that would take away from the annual membership money.

Yes, take away from the annual membership money. Another objections was that 18
percent of dues went to chapters and nothing from life memberships went to chapters. So
chapters didn't want life memberships because they didn't get a piece of the action. Well,
we've changed that, they now get a piece of the action. That was easy to fix.

But there were different kinds of resistances to that, and then the idea, which was mine, that
we should sell it in three easy payments was another one of those sort of, sounds like you're
selling used cars. This is not a good idea. Well, I would contend that it's a very good idea,
because we have built this endowment fund which has been the salvation of the
organization fiscally, because we cannot spend it, but we can borrow against it. Without
that, we do not have--we're not going to have a line of credit at the bank just because we're
nice people. They want to know there's something there if catastrophe strikes.

So that permitted that to happen, so when we've had these fiscal crises like we're in now--
the biggest and best I've ever seen, the one we're in now, $2.9 million in the red they said
this weekend--it's just inconceivable to me that we could let that happen, but we have--and
we would be out of business if we couldn't go to the bank and borrow money, which we are
now in debt to the bank, and we're in debt, and we have this--.

So of the things that I have anything to do with, I really feel good about that. [ managed to
get some other money put into that fund in addition to life memberships, some
contributions and some other things--

Large donations?

Well, yes. For example, the two lakes behind Clair Tappaan Lodge [in the Sierra Nevada]
that we sold. Golly, what was the name of those lakes? [Flora and Azalea]

Well, the Sierra Club Foundation owned that property, and we're not in the property owning
business. So we cut a deal with the federal government that they would buy it from us, and
they would take care of it, protect it, which is the best of all worlds. Now we've got this
money, now what do we do with the money? Well, we could just blow it. We couldn't put
it in this endowment, because this is hard money and that was soft money. This was
foundation money, because that land belonged to the Sierra Club Foundation, because the
club gave it to the foundation when we were in another financial crisis and were afraid we'd
lose it, so we gave it to the foundation, got the foundation to sell it, and then when we talk
about the foundation, we can talk about the fact that they didn't want to give the money
back.

But eventually, we talked them into giving the money back to the club to fund tax
deductible programs like books. That helped create a surplus. So there were two or three
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years in which we ran a nice surplus. So at that point, I was able to convince the directors
to take some of that surplus and put it in the endowment.

Later, Michael Fischer came along with the idea that it was really not an endowment, it was
a quasi-endowment, and that because the board set it up we could un-set it up and spend it.
I allowed as how when he decided to do that, that there was going to be at least one lawsuit
that I could think of, because I was going to be the one hiring the lawyer, and I was going to
win, because I wrote the copy for all these life membership brochures and so on that we put
out there that said, "If you do this, your money will be there forever." And I've got all the
brochures and ads we've ever run. That money has been so intermingled, nobody could
ever straighten it back out again.

So this is an endowment that will be there forever and continues to grow, that has been the
fiscal insurance for the organization. That was a good idea. Aside from all the other
things, it's nice to have life members.

Lessons from Direct Mail

Now, the direct mail had its ups and downs too. Is that something we want to talk about
now, or shall we talk about that under your treasurership?

No, we can talk about it now, because I don't think it's--there's not a whole lot to be said
about it. The most significant thing in the ups and downs of direct mail is that for the last
three years, it's been down. It's going the same direction, and there's some consistency to it,
and it's a serious matter. It isn't working like it used to work. Costs are changing. The
subsidy, as it is called by some people in Congress and so on, to nonprofits, meaning they
get a cheaper mailing rate, is all endangered. So all those things are changing, and it's
becoming a different thing.

There are basically two things to be learned from it, and I think that the lessons are on the
table. Now, whether we've learned them or not--. One is that it's not going to work forever,
that solutions to problems don't necessarily solve all your problems forever, and that when
something works, you use it, and when it starts to not work, you start looking for something
else, and if you're really clever, you start looking for it before the first one stops doing it.
And so this is why I have been encouraging, as others have, this sort of reorientation to
some other things which have worked in the past, which we know would work, that we're
not using.

And also, we've encouraged us to think creatively to alternatives to everything we've done.
Instead of going back to something we've done, what is it we have not done? How do we

approach this in a different way? And we haven't done much of that.

But the second thing, the second lesson out of the decline in mail is the results of this Peter
Hart task force.

Now, who is Peter Hart?
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Peter Hart, the pollster [Added during interviewee review: His father, James D. Hart, was
the head of The Bancroft Library, I have been told by Roger Craver.] He's, I guess, one of
the best there is. Certainly he's an impressive chap. We hired him in November of '91 for
the first time to do a survey of our members to really find out what our members thought of
us. Now, we had done surveys before for other reasons; the Sierra magazine does one to
see how much everybody makes, and whether you buy cars and televisions, so that they can
show their advertising clients that it's a good idea to advertise in Sierra because we're the
kind of people who buy--whatever, backpacks.

But we hadn't really done one that asked--that might bring bad news. Well, it did bring
some bad news--and this came out of the work of the development department and
development advisory committee, which we'll talk about a little bit later, which is one of
the things I'm doing nowadays, serving on that. We didn't do anything about it, really, the
November '91 study. So it kept getting worse.

So we insisted that we go back and do this survey again and see what this told us. And it
told us a number of things that reflect on why not only membership development is going
downhill, but the renewal rate is dropping. People who have been members for years, four,
five, six, twenty years, are not renewing, but instead are throwing their renewal notices in
the wastebasket. We now have some hard information to go by. Having learned a lesson
from the November '91 experience, we this time--I sat up most of the night writing the
resolution for the board that said, "Okay, this is what this man is saying, now this is what
we need to do. We need to appoint a task force that's going to do these things," and that
became part of the resolution, and it was passed. Robbie Cox is chairing that right now and
is doing some dynamite work.

What did that second survey show?

[Added during interviewee review: Hart came back to us with so much information. We
asked people for money and for their calls and letters on an issue, yet barely thanked them.
The next thing they got from us was another ask for more money, and more calls, and more
letters. We were not giving our members any feedback, just asking for more and more.

And we didn’t even make the pitch very well. That is we just got to the ask, we didn’t
bring people along, let them know what we were doing, let them know how their
contributions were helping. We were not even saying thanks very well. I referred to all of
this as the care and feeding of the membership, which is a bit too cute, but the giving back
to them, giving them a feeling of ownership in what we were doing. ]

But the question is, what are we going to learn? Are we going to respond to what we
learned?
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IV FUND-RAISING AND RELATIONS WITH SIERRA CLUB FOUNDATION

HH

Relationship Between Membership Development and Fund-raising

We're just starting up again after a break, and I was going to ask you when does
membership development merge into fund-raising, in purpose and effect, and how does it
relate?

Well, it in some ways is part of the same fabric. The members become a source of money
as soon as they join, because you have that membership fee and you have the renewal
income. But they also become--the trade name is file, the file from which you work, to
raise money. So they're the prospective donors of the future to the club, so as you build the
membership, you build a base of support for other kinds of contributions. So it's all
intertwined. It's not that simple--it's more complicated than that, but it's all intertwined.

So I moved immediately into the fund-raising side.

State of Club Fund-raising under Denny Wilcher: Tension Between the Club and the
Foundation

While you were doing the membership development, you were also--

Yes. Well, I was interested in that, and it drove me crazy, because it was just terribly
inefficient. We had Denny Wilcher at the club, heading the office of program funding, and
then the Sierra Club Foundation had their own fund-raising staff, and the legal defense
fund had their own fund-raising staff, and everybody was very competitive. Nobody really
shared information or shared donors or so on. They literally could find themselves in the
same office waiting to see the same person to raise money for "the Sierra Club" at the same
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time. Or one could go in not knowing the prospect very well and do a rather superficial
presentation and come out with $500, where somebody else had been working two years on
developing a proposal to get $100,000 from this person, but the other guy didn't know it--it
was just nuts.

Did it take you a while to figure this out?

Not very long. [laughter] That was pretty obvious. So you'd say--which I did--why are we
doing this? This makes no sense, this is inefficient. You ought to have a central file, you
should have central research on your donors, you should have coordination, and you should
split up the territory and not have people flying past each other across the country--

Was it intended originally that the club wouldn't do fund-raising, and that the foundation
was the fund-raising arm? That was sort of the way I had understood it, I guess.

Well, the foundation was set up as a device to permit the club to raise tax-deductible funds,
when the club lost its tax status. I wasn’t there, and all I know is what I've been told. 1
think it was more a protective device and a device to permit the charitable contributions,
and [ don't know at the time it was particularly clear as to who was going to raise the
money.

From the beginning, though, we saw emerging a serious problem that's still around, though
God knows we have worked to get rid of it, and that is the connection between fund-raising
and fund spending. There has been a lot of tradition in the club that says, "If you raise the
money, you get to decide where it goes." Well, this has got a tremendous downside,
because what clearly works significantly better is to back off and say, "What we really want
to do is raise the maximum amount of money we can for these organizations, and then we
want to spend it on that which most needs to be done." As opposed to the fact that the
person who raised it happened to be interested in a study of the pigeons on Maui or
something, and so you go do a study of pigeons on Maui, which frankly nobody cares
about much one way or the other, and you don't have money to do something else with.

Now, when you say the person who raised it, who are you talking about?

I'm talking about--unfortunately, this got to be contagious into the staff, but it also got to be
a very much of a matter of a contention with the trustees of the foundation. Because keep
in mind, the trustees of the foundation were originally all past presidents of the Sierra Club.
The idea was, well, they're us, and so they will always be--. Well, what happened was they
went there and then they weren't us anymore, they were now them. They looked at the
current boards as less wise than they were, and they saw themselves as quite competent
people with good wisdom as to what needed to be done--and with justification; they were
competent people with good vision.

So you got into a controlling of the funds flow--so the more they raised, then the more they
sort of had some power with, and the more the club raised, the less you had to deal with
that, and so that was sort of a dynamic that kept all this working.

Well, in 1979, I became a trustee of the Sierra Club Foundation. A seven-year term, I
found out after I said yes, and then I found out about a year later that that had only recently
gone in place. Before that it had been like a lifetime term, and going to something as short
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as seven years was a revolutionary move. It sounded biblical to me. I said in joking at the
time, "I don't know that I've committed myself to marriage that long at a time. At least my
wife and I need to talk about it every three or four years, but seven years is a long time."

So I found a bunch of things when I went on the board of trustees. This inefficiency, this
people running into each other, and then in trying to figure out why, it became the control
issue. But it also went back, I believe, to the Brower thing. Because you had people like
Gary Torre and Will Siri and Ed Wayburn who were players at that time, who--and I don't
mean to suggest they all thought the same or anything like that, because there was clear
evidence they didn't--but they didn't really trust Mike. And it wasn't personal. They
wouldn't have trusted Jesus if he'd been the executive director; they didn't trust the staff.
They wanted to keep control of it, and then they knew it would be okay. And if you trust
those people over there, you don't know what they're going to do with it.

So you got into these kinds of issues that then developed in goofy ways. Gary Torre and
others then started presenting the idea that for the Sierra Club Foundation to remain in its
tax classification of tax-deductible, it had to be a public foundation, and that if it raised
money only for the Sierra Club, therefore it became a private foundation, and therefore--
well, nobody outside of that group of people agreed with that position. But they were
attorneys and bright people, and they made great lawyerly arguments, and certainly
convinced themselves.

And then, of course, you can imagine what happens over here at the Sierra Club side,
because what they're hearing is, "You mean these people are going to go out and raise
money in the name of the Sierra Club, using the Sierra Club Foundation name, and we
might not get it? This is not a good arrangement, because we're dependent upon this." So
this got to be extremely messy, and much passion and anger and divisiveness.

Resolution of the Tension: 1980

Were you on their--I thought a lot of this had happened earlier too. Was this still being
resolved?

Yes.
Ted Snyder had some role in all this, didn't he?

Yes. I think--well, Ted in his [laughs]--Ted brought a lot of this to a head. Ted was a
dynamic fellow and very direct. He challenged a number of these things.

He was president of the club when you went on the board of the trustees?

All right, well, there you go. We were clearly working very closely together all the way
through on this, because he and I had a wonderful relationship, and he was--1 have the
greatest respect for Ted. He was an outstanding president. He said, "This is nuts." And of
course, he is a brilliant attorney, and he saw through all that, or at least he thought from his
point of view there was no argument there.
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So the first thing I did was to try to deal with that, to offer some reassurance to the club that
they'd get the money, to lower the temperature there, and try to get some commitment from
the board of trustees that they really weren't going to get mad at the club and give all the
money to somebody else. And I tried a number of things, but I finally--I looked at what
had happened, and they indeed had been passing all the money through to the club, 95
percent of it or 98 percent of it.

So I finally got passed a resolution [1979-1980] in the board of trustees that defined the
purposes of the Sierra Club Foundation by saying that those who would like to understand
the purpose of the Sierra Club Foundation should examine the amount of funds raised in
the previous three years, and the manner in which they were expended. And understand
that this board of trustees is committed as its purpose for existence to follow that pattern.

Well, this was a long way of saying, "We've really been doing nothing but raising money
for the Sierra Club, and turning it over to the Sierra Club, and that's what we intend to do."
But it got it into another language that wasn't threatening--

So they didn't have to say that.

So much to everybody's amazement, it passed. Peter Behr was a trustee at that time. [
remember when I showed it to him, I said, "What do you think?" He said, "I find it
absolutely charming." [laughter] And I thought that was a good sign. Because Peter was
on the side of, let's get on with all this. He was not part of all this sort of thing.

He wasn't part of the old leadership circles of the club.

No, he was not. It made no sense to him at all. So that broke some of the tension over,
where's the money going to go?

Fund-raising Inefficiencies

So then, the next thing was efficiency, how do we get about getting all this mess
straightened out? That was infinitely more difficult. How do we get away from having
double staff, so on and so forth. Mike claimed even after that resolution got passed that
there was still the form, and I don't remember that very much, that the club sort of had to
come and beg for the money, and that there was still an attempt to direct it. Which I suspect
probably was so, but it was manageable. I'm sure it was much more of a problem to Mike
than it looked like it was to me because I was sort of looking at it--

He had to deal with it.

Yes, he had to get the money. So he had to worry more about it. But it was less a concern
to me, and that sort of moved the control thing out of the way, I think. And then we got into
the, how do we make this thing more efficient? And that--we went through several
iterations. We set up something called the funding center, and we drew up a document that
said the three organizations would have a funding center for the Sierra Club's work, and
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that there would be a management committee. So the management committee of the
funding center became the device, volunteer committee, to pull together, to coordinate.

That was the first effort, and Bob Girard, as I recall, chaired that. It was my doing, though,
I must admit. And I was on it. But Bob was a really, really good fellow to do that, because
again, he was not part of any team or anything, and I was the Sierra Club, and these people
over here were the foundation. Even though [ was a trustee, I still was viewed as being a
Sierra Club person.

And the Sierra Club Legal Defense Fund was part of this--

Legal Defense Fund was part of it, but they were part of it--Rick [Sutherland] was the best
I have ever seen at being able to just kind of figure out what was the advantage of what he
was doing and taking that, and then not bothering with the rest of it. So he was part of this
in the sense that he attended meetings, and he did not send anybody else. He did not have
volunteers there. He came himself. He was interested in certain parts of it. The rest of us,
I think, were more focusing on coordination. He was more focusing on the advantages for
the legal defense fund. Which was his nature.

Now, and let me quickly say about Rick that that's one of the greatest losses the
environmental movement has had, his premature death [in 1991]. Tragic for what we
believe in. His work is--nobody can do what he did, as far as I'm concerned.

But the funding center and management committee didn't work very well. But it did for the
first time provide an arena for asking questions about costs of fund-raising. I remember
drawing up little charts that sorted out the fund-raising costs from the various budgets.
Then I tried to show what it was spent for. For example a large bequest might come in over
the transom. There was no money spent to raise it, so you put them in there on the income
side, and they made your cost of fund-raising. But nobody had really said, "Wait a minute,
let's separate that out, let's find out how much, for example, major donors are giving us and
how much we're paying to get it." I started doing that, because I knew enough about how
numbers worked, I just got the stuff and sorted it out myself and made charts and said to
people, "Tell me it ain't right." And the truth of the matter is it was right, and that did not
make people very happy, because--

Your costs were greater than--

Oh, yes. The costs were just out of line. But no reason for them not to be. What we were
doing was a very inefficient way of doing it.

Was this when Nick Clinch was still head of the foundation?
It was. Nick then left--1 don't remember exactly when Nick left. I do have that somewhere.

I believe it was 1980 or '81.
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Relations with Foundation Trustees: Cultural Barriers

The next thing--yes--the next thing that happened, and this all came about at about the
same time--I will say as an aside, I really was amazed at the old-timers. Will Siri and Gary
Torre, people like that. I'd never met anybody like that before.

In what respect?

Well, they were sort of aristocracy in the way they behaved. I remember going down and
having lunch with Gary Torre one time, trying to get to know him. I play off of
understanding people. [ invest a lot of time in trying to figure people out. That makes
things work better for me. I went down to his office, and I asked him if we could have
lunch, and he invited me to have lunch and made clear that I was his guest, and was very
gentlemanly about it. We left the office, and he kept saying, "No, go ahead," and wanted
me to walk in front of him. And of course, I didn't know where we were going, which
made it a bit tricky, so I kept watching and looking over my shoulder. We went down an
elevator and out the door.

We came to a very nice restaurant and I thought maybe that was it, and I sort of looked at
him, and he said, "Oh, no. That's where the shop girls eat. We're going over here." And I
had never heard that expression. I had read about it in sort of old English literature or
something.

And so | found myself with this charming, gentlemanly, obviously very bright person, but
who was clearly--I sort of think of myself as a little bit of a bomb-thrower. I mean not
literally, of course, but [ mean a real social revolution. It just was a real shock to realize
how "establishment" he was. I'm not questioning his devotion to what we believe in. I
mean, he believed in wilderness preservation as much as I believed in it, and did great
things. But I found this again, as when I went to the directors I found myself with this
language barrier when I started talking commercial things. I found myself when I ran into
the representatives of the "old Sierra Club," if you will--I had come out of the new Sierra
Club in the Southeast where it was a few years old, and everybody was open to ideas, and
everybody was--I just found I was--

Maybe younger, also?
Oh, absolutely younger. I found it all very curious and difficult.
Did you find Will Siri the same in that respect?

Yes, | think so. And certainly what I did then made these people very angry. And what I
did is I got an agreement through the management committee of the funding center--to get
agreement from the three organizations to bring in a consultant that would look at the
arrangement and tell us what they thought of it. I knew that if we got anybody competent,
they'd come in and tell us, "This doesn't make any sense at all."

So I talked to my friend Roger Craver and said, "We're looking for somebody," and he said,
"Well, let me think of some people." He called me and said, "I've got a guy for you who
would be perfect, his name is Wen Forest. He's a director of development for Planned
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Parenthood and his office is in New York City." So I go to New York City and interviewed
Wen Forest, and within five minutes knew that this was the man. This was, again, a very
professional, very pragmatic fellow, and he started asking questions about how we were
doing things, and his reaction to my answers told me very quickly that he was going to be a
man who would come in and see the things that needed to be changed and say so.

Centering Fund-raising in the Club. 1980

So we got agreement, we brought him in, he did this. He talked to all the people
individually and did what consultants do well. He then met with the individual boards and
made some really very strong suggestions, and they were of course exactly what I had
hoped they would be, which was, "You've got to get one fund-raising department here, and
get rid of this silliness, and what you're doing is not working very well." So we indeed
went that direction, which ended up with the Sierra Club Foundation then not having any
fund-raisers.

Now, this was dramatic. This was reducing a lot of power in some ways, and Nick Clinch
has not, I'm sure, to this day forgiven me. I passed him on an airplane ten years after this
happened, and he still wouldn't speak to me. I didn't know he was on the plane. I saw him
and stuck out my hand, and he walked right past me. Ten years later. So great anger,
because they saw it as--well--

A power grab, would you say?

Well, a power grab, and as sort of repudiating the great things they had done. They had
raised money, and they had spent a lot of time doing good work, and here comes this guy
along who has put in place some things which has caused that to change. And we will not
have any reason to try to exert authority over the expending of this money now, because
we're not really the ones raising it.

So they became administrators.

Well, the foundation trustees became then primarily responsible for trust kinds of
responsibilities, as they saw it. Now, I argued at the time not so, that they could become the
basis of major donor fund-raising from a volunteer point of view, but they were, as my
mama would have said, sot in their ways. They had figured out what they did, and this
made no sense to them. Now in fact, what the trustees are doing now with the Centennial
Campaign is exactly what I had hoped would happen.

But a new board of trustees.

A new board of trustees, new cast of characters. And it's great anger. It's one of those
ironies of life that Will Siri was sitting on the nominating committee this weekend
(November 1993) that I was interviewed by, that chose not to nominate me to run for the
board again. So these things have a thread that goes on. In fact, I was told, and I will spare
us both the name, but I was told at that time that because of what I was doing, I would
never hold another Sierra Club office on national level. It was that deep. I did. I became
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president of the Sierra Club after that. I actually became an officer of the trustees, became
treasurer of the board of trustees after that. But it was that deep anger. We're passionate
people. We take stuff very personally, and this was taken very personally.

How do you react when you have that kind of personal anger directed at you? Or how did
you?

I react a lot better now than [ used to. I don't like it. I'm a passionate fellow myself, I'm a
fighter. You bop me on the nose, I am philosophically and spiritually, I guess, attuned to
the idea of bopping you back as not being the best answer, but there is part of me that finds
that tempting. And so I find that difficult to deal with, but I find more difficult to deal with
the long-running [emotions]--I mean, this thing has worked by now.

The change to having a coordinated staff, the contract with the club, bringing in
professional fund-raisers, coordinated and so on, has raised immensely more money than
we ever thought about, significantly more money. The outgrowth of that into the
Centennial Campaign, which is now bringing in literally millions of dollars, which is--at
last we have a million-dollar donor to the club, or two, or whatever, which we never would
have had under this old system of going around sort of picking on things. So it's been
proven that these were things; history has played itself out, and these were good things to
do.

Now, I don't want to make this sound like this happened because of me. This has not been
a success because of me. What I was able to do was sort of clear a trail, and then good
people went out there and did it. I'm not raising million-dollar gifts. I don't know anybody
that can write a million-dollar check well enough to ask them for it. But the fact that some
people still are angry at me, personally angry at me, and see me as the enemy, or as a bad
guy, [ have a lot of difficulty with. It makes me sad. It makes me feel bad.

Where did Denny Wilcher fit in, then? Maybe we've never really talked about where he fit
in before.

Denny, of course, when I first came along, was associate director of the Sierra Club. I still
have his card that says, "Associate Director." I got to know Denny early on, and we
roomed together in St. Louis when the board met there. He and I--there was a mixup in
rooms, and he and I ended up sharing a room at his offer. He said to me, "Need a place to
stay? There's two beds in my room," and I said, "Fine." So we got to know each other
early on.

But Denny gradually was phased out of all of this and went on to his Alaskan deep love,
and was really happy doing that, and was in a great position to do that, because frankly, he
had developed personal contacts with donors all over the country, and he really, as far as |
could tell, was happy moving on to doing that and letting this all sort of sort itself out. So I
don't remember the year he left, but he sort of phased out in that period of time somewhere.

What happened is we brought in new staff, Audrey Berkovitz, who then became Audrey
Rust, was hired to run the department. She became the boss of Peggy Hynd and of course
of Kim (now Kim Martin Shaffer).

So she was over membership development?
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She was over membership development and fund-raising. She was over all of the raising of
income on that side. I was instrumental in that happening, or played a part in that. I spent
a good year or so, year and a half, running interference for her, taking care of turf battles
and so on, because I wanted to--we spend an awful lot more time in the club talking about
how we're going to spend money than talking about how we're going to raise it, and there's
a lot more interest in, "Is my issue going to get its share," than, "Is somebody going to raise
any money so everybody has a share?" She got, as everybody who's done fund-raising in
this organization does, caught up in the, "But are you raising it for me?" arguments. So |
ran a lot of interference for her.

But that didn't work out as well as we had hoped. There was a difference in personality and
style. She was a professional, and she is still in the field, and I think doing well in the field.
But she brought a dramatically different style to it than the people who had been there
before, some would argue more professional.

You have to fit the club culture. Was this part of the problem?

I think that's right. And this is again another issue, I suppose we might touch later, but the
whole business of moving into "professional people on the staff," and moving away from
people who have come into it because they are cause-oriented, has had its down side. It's
had an up side, but it's had a down side. (I sound like Mike McCloskey; that's one of his
favorite expressions. [laughs] We've listened to each other enough.) And she moved away
from using volunteers in quite the same way. She got a development committee that had on
it--oh, golly, an army of people, and they'd have retreats once or twice a year, and they'd
have the big dog-and-pony show. But there was never a real involvement of volunteers.
That sort of started fizzling out, which I thought was terrible.

So then I worked with some people like Joe Fontaine and Rosemary Carroll when she came
on to head the department, and others, to put together a document which established the
structure which we now have, which is the development advisory committee, which
oversees all of the development efforts and has a charge to raise the maximum amount of
money for the Sierra Club family. If you raise it for chapters, that's okay, just raise money,
the biggest amount possible. Brings in good people--we've had professional fund-raisers
who sit on our committee as volunteers, and at the same time created the entities
committee, which is a terrible name, and it was mine, and I wish I had thought of a better
one, but it deals with the political turf battles. It's now chaired, I think, by Elden Hughes.

Is this part of the development advisory--

Part of--well, it's the same document. The same document said, "We need this group,
development advisory committee, for oversight, big picture, vision, raise lots of money,
good ideas, creative. We need a group that's going to deal with the turf battles, the
problems, and get that out of the way. That's going to be the entities committee. We need a
committee that's going to train grassroots people," and that was the grassroots training
committee, which still exists, "and we need a membership committee." And that continued
to exist. So we had four of these.

Do you have this document somewhere?

It's a board resolution, probably from about 1988. I could look.
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Carl [Pope] allows as there's two kinds of people in the world: those who are horizonal
filers and those who are vertical filers. He and I both file horizontally, which means you
have a lot of tables covered with piles of things.

Who is your other vertical filer? Did you say?

No. Carl is a horizontal filer. Piles of paper. If you've ever been--[laughs] after the last
earthquake, they went around checking the offices to see how much damage was done, and
the only office they couldn't tell was Carl's because it looked that way before the
earthquake hit. That was, of course, before he was executive director, but still, same style.

All right, well I'll get that date.

And then out of this came the Centennial Campaign, and we know sort of where that's been
going.

That's a subject in itself, but it does follow here. Do you think we should leave that for
another time? You kind of run out of steam, I think, after two and a half hours.

Has it been that long? I think we probably ought to quit, because I am getting tired.
Yes, it's a good stopping point, and we can take up with the Centennial Campaign.
All right.

[End of Interview]
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V FUND-RAISING: THE CENTENNIAL CAMPAIGN

[Interview 3: November 8, 1997] ##

Thinking of Events Conceptually Rather than Chronologically

Today is November 8, 1997, and this is our third interview after a very long hiatus. Four
years. Almost exactly. We're just talking about how to conceptualize what's left.

Yes. [Laughter]

Repeat what you said about how you think.

I don't think chronologically. I think in concepts. I think of the things I have done as
treasurer, or fiscal manager and management stuff. Then I think of the political stuff, and I
think of the fund-raising stuff. More than I think, you know, "in 1982 such and such
happened." It's just the way my head works.

I think it is important, then, to have our oral history work the way your head works.

[Laughter] It may make no sense to anyone else, but we'll see.

Well, it is the way we started out when we began interviewing in 1993. You said when you
came out here to San Francisco in '74 there were three things that you immediately saw.

Yes, that's true.
Membership development, fund-raising, and management. We have discussed

membership development. We discussed a lot of fund-raising, and we were just leading
into the Centennial Campaign. So why don't we start there?
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Major-Donor Fund-raising under Denny Wilcher

Yes. That's fine. And I think that is a relatively shorter story, because it was an
evolutionary thing. For a long time we talked about how is it that you raised major
contributions. And we didn't know. We had major donor fund raisers who went out and
made the attempt to do it, but without great success. Denny Wilcher was for many years--
what did they call themselves?--the Office of Program Funding; not the development
department, but the Office of Program Funding. And he was the associate director of the
Sierra Club. I still have his card. Denny Wilcher.

Was that terminology different because he conceived of it differently, or didn't we have the
term "development officer?"

You know, I don't know. Knowing Denny, I think it probably was his desire to approach it
in a different way. But he basically ran a one-man operation. He went out. He knew
people who were sympathetic with what we were doing. And he raised money for the club,
the foundation, the legal defense fund, and kept everything in three-by-five cards in his
back pocket, if any place, and that's where we were.

Was he good at it?

Denny was one of the rare jewels of the world. If you were to write a manual for
professional fund raisers, probably little that Denny did would fit in to what you would
think you should do. But he was honest. He was sincere. His soul was right. He was a
man of great humor.

You know he'd been a conscientious objector in World War II when you didn't do that, and
he went to prison for it. Denny never married the woman, Ida. He never married his wife
of many years with whom--he had several children. Denny was just that much of an
individual.

And yes, he was good at what he did, but he had the limitations of a one-man show. With
no investment in those donors, it was simply a matter of going to those people and having a
pleasant hour or two with them, and saying, "We have some needs here, and you have some
money, and can we put the two together?"

You mean no follow-up?

No, no. Very little follow-up. Very little reward for donors. Very little in the way of donor
recognition. Very little in the way of developing the donor, of courting the donor, and
helping the donor see what it is we are doing--getting their personal involvement and then
going to them for money. It was not that deep. But we did all that over a period of time.
And we had other professional major-donor fund raisers. When I was president of the club,
Ann, who is now Ann Downing, married to Larry Downing--

What was her last name then?
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Knoll. Like Knoll Furniture. She did major-donor fund-raising when Kim, my present
wife, was the person who was director of membership development. At any rate, that's an
aside to all that.

Ann and [ made calls on people to ask them for money when I was president. There was no
major investment in it, if you will. Support staff, research was all minimal.

A Desire for Change--Genesis of the Centennial Campaign

And so a number of people, primarily the trustees of the Sierra Club Foundation, felt we
needed to get on with it and figure out how you did this [major-donor fund-raising].
Maurice Holloway was clearly one of the guiding lights to it. He understood how this was
done. He was a man of, is a man, of some resources. He was accustomed to people
developing his interest and then asking him to make significant financial contributions. He
understood how all that worked. Allan Brown then came in shortly after who had done the
same sorts of things.

Now are we talking about after the period when the club and the foundation kind of went
through their crisis?

Oh yes. The crisis was over. The crisis was over.
We did talk about that last time.

Yes. And as a matter of fact, somewhere, I was looking here you have on my record here
that I was a trustee of the Sierra Club Foundation for seven years [1979-1986] which is
correct, but I also went back and served another three-year term, from 1991 to 1994.

Okay. That's what I didn't know.

And that was during this period of time, as [ recall. It was one of the ironies of all the
conflict between the Sierra Club Foundation and the Sierra Club over things which I
believe we discussed that I was told at that time that I would never hold another office in
the Sierra Club because I had done things which some people in the Sierra Club Foundation
were displeased with. The irony of all this is, not only did I become president of the Sierra
Club, but I also went back and served another term as a trustee of the Sierra Club
Foundation and served a year of that term as trustee as the treasurer of the Sierra Club
Foundation.

So, these things all worked. The changes we made worked. We raised more money. We
spent less money doing it. Everybody had a good time. Everybody felt good about it. And
so people looked back on that and said, "Well, it was a controversy and we took sides and
we disagreed, but we got our major fund-raising ability in place and it's working."

And there were people who wanted to do this. And then there was the question of how do
you do it. Frankly, nobody knew. We had Audrey Berkovitz, who became Audrey Rust,
who had come in to head the development department of the Sierra Club. She had,
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allegedly--1 don't really know what experience she had in major-donor fund-raising, but
allegedly had some--in truth did not have the experience to really make all this work. She
helped us find some consultants which we hired and brought in who made
recommendations, and it turned out they were all dead wrong. They gave us all bad advice.
They didn't know what they were talking about. We went out and tried the things they said
we should try, and it fell flat on its face.

Do you remember what kinds of things?

First of all, we had an enthusiasm from the onset of this to build endowment. And we
would have this major Centennial Campaign at the end of which we would have an
endowment build-up of millions of dollars which would continue to fund programs of the
Sierra Club on forever. And they allowed as how this was a grand idea. They also led us to
believe that there were people out there ready to put a million dollars into endowment with
relative ease, that this would not be too difficult to have happen, that there were people out
there waiting to do this sort of thing.

That's, after all, what you wanted to hear.

That's what we wanted to hear. But none of that turned out to be correct. We went into
another set of consultants. We went through several directors of the Centennial Campaign.
And then we finally ended up with a consultant here in town whose name was Charlie
Howland. H-O-W-L-A-N-D I believe. I'd have to check that.

But Charlie came in as a consultant. Then he acted as acting director of the campaign when
we fired another of the directors. We went through--my goodness--we went through three
or four. He did a lot of reality checking for us. He got us in touch with the things as they
really were. But in the meantime we built a larger constituency of people up around this
that were willing to invest in our campaign and be part of it. Fred Weintz, a partner in
Goldman Sachs, comes to mind, and all of the trustees.

Investing in Fund-raising vs. Spending on Programs

Now were these people willing to give or people willing to--?

Give money and raise money. And give advice and guidance. Investinit. Steve Stevick, |
would have to say Steve Stevick played a very major role in all this as an enabler. It was a
dream of Steve's to see this happen. Steve is, of course, the director of the Sierra Club
Foundation, and Steve always wanted to do something that would have--what Steve does is
very important and has a lasting effect--but he always wanted to expand that and make it
bigger and more important. The Centennial Campaign was a way he saw of doing that, and
he invested a lot of time and energy and creative juices into it. So he was a major one that
kept moving the thing forward because there was the constant conflict between investing
money in raising money, and spending the money right now.

Conflict among policy makers in the club?
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Among the directors. Yes, the policy makers. The board of directors and the top staff.
And this was just an enlargement of the earlier problem with direct-mail fund-raising or
anything else. People like Roger Craver, who led us for so many years in fund-raising in
the mass mailings and so on, and who helped us find a way into this century in that area--
Roger always said, "You should take a certain amount of this money that you are raising
and set it aside, and say, 'Okay, we are going to invest this in fund-raising to build an ability
to continue to raise money."

Well, this never was very attractive to directors who would rather go fight a battle with it.
So generally we went and fought a battle with it, and then the next year you'd put together a
budget that had an expense line item in there of something for fund-raising, and people
would say, "Well, let's scratch this. Let's go fight the battle." So it was always that push
back and forth. And it was the continuation of that into the Centennial Campaign only in
much bigger numbers because you had to really invest money in this if you were going to
do it.

But you did get the board to endorse the idea?

The board endorsed the idea. The board endorsed the idea really based on the
recommendations of the initial--[laughter]--the initial folks we had who were consultants
who made it sound easy, and highly likely to succeed, and not terribly painful. And so with
no intent on anybody's part, I don't believe, I think the board bought in on it thinking it was
going to be easier, and cheaper, and so on, than it turned out to be. I don't think the board
was ever unhappy, however. I think the board has always been--to the best of my
knowledge--very supportive of it, and feels like it's been a great success.

So then we eventually moved along, and we got Harry Dalton to come in. And Harry
Dalton had been a council delegate from South Carolina. He had been a chapter chair in
South Carolina. I knew him as an activist. Frankly I hadn't a clue he had any money.
Which is one of the interesting things we found when we got into the Centennial
Campaign. In the Sierra Club, everybody kind of looks the same. I mean, everybody kind
of dresses casually most of the time, and you see them in the context of meetings and
outings and so on, and the ridiculous thing was that we had all these members, and we
didn't have a clue who were the potential major donors. And so that was one of the things
which was much more of a barrier to our success than we anticipated.

I've done political fund-raising. You get into political fund-raising and finding your people
who put big bucks into political fund-raising is fairly easy to do. They're known in every
community and state, and you get the list and you know where you're going. In the Sierra
Club there was no list like that.

It was a tradition almost.

Yes, that's right. So here comes Harry Dalton who it never occurred to anybody would
have the ability to write a check for a million dollars if he wanted to and it wouldn't bounce.
I mean, it never occurred to me. I certainly wouldn't have. I mean, I couldn't write a check
for a million dollars and have it not bounce, why could he? It never occurred to me.

But he came along, and he put a lot of money in this, as did Allan Brown. And they
basically funded the thing, along with some others.
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Funded the effort?

Yes, they basically put up the nut, if you will, the kitty to get the thing over the hump. And
that's really what made it work. So they deserve the credit for not only the energy and the
vision and so on, but the willingness to put their money on the table and say, "We're going
to make this happen."”

Centennial Campaign Committees and Staff

I know Allan Brown was also involved in managing, on the advisory committee.

That's correct. Oh, yes. Allan was the chair for a very long time. We had two committees.
We had a Centennial Campaign Planning Committee which I chaired and was on for as
long as it existed, along with Larry Downing and a couple other people, from the
beginning. We did that.

Then there was the Centennial Campaign Steering Committee, and the theory was that the
first one, the planning committee, would take care of the political stuff that you have to do
in the Sierra Club; when a chapter chair would get out of joint about the fact that we were
coming into their state and asking people for money without going to the chapter, that
Allan, the Allan Browns of the world, would not have to deal with this. We would deal
with this and work it out so everybody was happy. And we made a lot of changes.

In bequests, for example, I had chaired the committee that had written the only bequest
policies we had back, way back, that Drake hotel meeting we had in--oh Lord, years, way
back. [Added during interviewee review: It was when Joe [Fontaine] was president and I
was treasurer. We looked at a lot of the political problems between the national
organization and the chapters and RCC’s. Until that time chapters or any Sierra Club entity
could do a fund appeal through the mail any time they wanted, so you could get three in
one mailing. We worked out a time window for chapters, for example, and national did no
mailings during that time. There were other problems we worked on.

For example, on bequests. A person would die and leave money to the Sierra Club. Well,
there is only one Sierra Club, the national. So the club would take the money, that had
perhaps come from someone who had been active in their chapter or who had thought of
the club as what they saw the chapter doing. And the chapter would get nothing. So at that
meeting we set up a way of evaluating a bequest, to determine if it should go to national,
chapter, or be split.

But with the Centennial Campaign we made this policy more broad and set up a policy that
the chapter got something from any bequest of a member from that chapter, even if the
chapter was not mentioned. Of course, if the bequest was for a specific entity or program,
it went to that. But we wanted the chapters to be working to get bequests, and giving then
a part of the money that comes in was a good motivation.]

The Centennial Campaign Planning Committee did a lot of that. We worked through the
budgets. We kept the budgets moving so that the steering committee, the Allan Browns
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and the Maurice Holloways, did not have to go to board meetings and argue whether or not
it was worth it to have a meeting or dinner for potential donors. We would take care of that
sort of thing.

I'see. That explains these two committees in a way I hadn't heard them explained before.

Yes. We sort of cleared out the--leveled the field so that those people could go about doing
what they wanted to go about doing.

Did that--excuse me for interrupting--but did it become a policy that a bequest or major
donation would be shared with the chapters?

Yes. So we moved through this, and then we finally had Bill Meadows come to the
campaign with his wonderful background. He'd been a council delegate at one time. He'd
been an activist in the Sierra Club. And he was a professional in major-donor fund-raising.
He was able to not only bring to the table the professional skills, but he also brought to the
table the understanding of the culture of the Sierra Club.

But before him you had somebody that was a big problem, as I recall.

As I remember, we went through three. I think we went through three directors, as I
remember, and [ would have a hard time sitting here telling you who they were. It's sort of
this Freudian thing, your mind kicks out these unpleasant experiences. They weren't bad
people. They just didn't fit; they couldn't understand the culture. They didn't necessarily
understand the product, if you would.

Understanding Club Culture

If you are going to raise money you would love to be The Nature Conservancy rather than
the Sierra Club because The Nature Conservancy hardly ever makes anybody mad. I don't
know that they've ever made anybody mad. The Sierra Club makes people mad. And if
you are going to do this major-donor fund-raising, you've got to have professionals doing it
that understand that's the nature of the organization, and that you're not going to put a gag
on the organization for five years so you can raise more money. The organization wouldn't
stand for it, shouldn't stand for it, and if it did that it would no longer be the organization
that deserved your money [laughter].

And some of them didn't really understand that. And it frustrated them and they would try
to get things changed and it just was not a pretty picture.

Bill came in, he understood what our potential was and what our limitations were. And at
this point we also began to realize that if we were going to raise this money we were not
going to raise it for endowment; we were going to raise it for program. Everybody you
went to, that was willing to give you a big piece of money, was willing to do it if they could
see that they were going to make a difference in the near future.

Oh, I see. So you gave up the idea of endowment.
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We pretty well gave up the idea of endowment. Now I will have to say this was not done
over my dead body, but it was done over my badly wounded body. Because I have felt all
along that endowment was a terribly important thing and that that would be the ultimate
gift we could leave to the Sierra Club was some kind of financial security. The club's
financial health varies based on political situations and the mood of the country, and things
which are outside the control of the organization. Having some stability in the way of
endowment would insure, or come close to insure, our continued being. But that was not,
frankly, to be. That didn't work out that way.

So we've raised a lot of money. It's been very successful. And most importantly, it is built
into the organization now, and this was the hope from the beginning: the capability of
continuing to raise large contributions. And thank God, and Allan Brown and Maurice
Holloway and a lot of other people, that we did that, because direct mail fund-raising and
other mass means of fund-raising have become less efficient over the years. Had we not
moved into this Centennial Campaign, we would be in a very bad situation at the present
time. None of this is a surprise. Everybody knew that was going to happen, and that was
one of the motivating reasons for getting into the Centennial Campaign.

So even though you promoted the idea of the direct mail, you recognized that it had its
limitations?

Oh yes. [pause]
Or was that over time?

It's been my contention, and this is probably an overstatement, that I've never had a good
original idea in my life, but that I've been blessed with the ability to know a good idea when
I see one. At the time we moved into direct mail membership development it was a new
concept, red hot, virginal territory, yet it just was going to work, it was just a wonderful
idea. Not doing it was a bad idea. Going into it as slowly as we did is a darn shame. But it
was there. Did it ever occur to me it was going to last forever? Not in my life. Absolutely
not. Nothing like that lasts forever. When the business of telephone solicitations came
along, which I hate--I just hate them--

The phone-mail programs?

Yeah, I hate those things. And you know I still get people calling me. I must have five
brokers a week calling me, and I have no interest in talking to them. When we got into that
program, which I hated and which I resisted, I recognized, however, that it worked. But I
also recognized, this ain't going to work forever either. And there had been times when
accessibility to government grants has been there. We've never done very much with that.
Other organizations have been much better at that than we have. But clearly this is not the
time for that now. Government's not doing that stuff much anymore. Certainly doing much
less of it.

So, yes, when we went into those things I saw them as the good idea at the time, the thing
you needed to do, and things which we'll always do, I think. I think we'll always do some
of that. But it will come and go. And you will refine the tools. You will learn more about
how they work.
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The Next Step: Involving the Grass Roots

I wonder what the next step is?

Ann, I haven't given this much thought anymore. Twenty-five years or thirty years, or
whatever, of this has been enough, and I really am thinking about other things. That's a
good question, and part of me would love to sit down and think about it a while. There's
going to be a next step. There's going to be new ways to fund organizations.

I will venture one observation. I think we have to get the feeling of the contribution and the
effect of that contribution closer together. I think people are more and more wanting
instant gratification. If1 give you a thousand dollars, I want to know two weeks from now
what happened and, best of all worlds, I would like to be able to go see it, or read about it in
the local paper. I think that's the area we're going in, and that suggests getting things back
closer to people, and if I were to think about this for another two hours, that's probably
where I would end up. I think that's where it's going.

More of an almost grassroots involvement in the funding.

Yes. Ithink so. This really gets into the whole concept of what the Sierra Club ought to be
in the future, and I just wrote a short note to Adam Werbach yesterday on the subject [see
appendix]. But I really believe that we need the national organization to provide the
leadership, the vision, the big concepts, but I think the action has got to be out there. And I
think we need to give people tools. It's the same whether you're trying to save the local
wilderness area, or whether you're trying to raise money. I think it needs to be done there.

Out at the chapter level, or field?

Well, we get into this mentality of the structure which--you know whether it should be on
the group level, or chapter level, or the regional level, or the national level. It really just
needs to be where the people are. You could structure it in any kind of way. But in the best
of all worlds you would have people out there who have some training and ability and
competence to tap into the resources that are available out there to do what needs to be
done out there, as opposed to sending out ten million letters from San Francisco and getting
the mail back--the money back to San Francisco and doling it out to North Carolina where
something is going on. In the best of all worlds--

So more decentralized.

Yes, in the best of all worlds. [pause] Here you've got me thinking in the future. This is
supposed to be history.

I know, I know. [Laughter] You're always thinking about the next step, and we wouldn't be
getting you if we didn't get that.

Oh, and it's so much more exciting to think about what--to me the exciting thing always is
what can you do tomorrow you've not done.
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Legacy of the Centennial Campaign

Right. But analyzing what's happened in the past I think leads to that. Anything else we
should say about the Centennial Campaign, or your particular role?

Oh, I don't think so. I think my role in the Centennial Campaign was like my role is in so
many things. I saw myself as an enabler. I went from one group to another. When people
were out of sorts about something, I tried to find a way to make it work. I got to know
personally Allan and Marilyn Brown and Maurice and Jan Holloway as good friends. Not
because I thought that would be a help to the Centennial Campaign, but because they are
absolutely wonderful people, and the opportunity to get to know them was one of the
blessings of my life.

Who brought them into the Sierra Club?

Oh, they had been there. They had been there forever, just about. But, I'm not quite sure
exactly. Well, Maurice had been involved in fund-raising in the Sierra Club and in other
things.

So I was thinking, on a whole totally different subject, I noticed the name Andrea Bonnette
in here, and he [Maurice Holloway] was one of the people who interviewed her when she
was hired, along with myself. He's clearly a very successful local businessman, and they
wanted somebody who would be able to do that so they called Maurice, and he said, "Sure,
I'll come down and spend a day interviewing candidates for this job." So he's been a friend
of the Sierra Club for a very long time and was willing to come and play these kinds of
roles.

But I think the legacy of this is that we now have the ability and potential to do this kind of
fund-raising, we have some knowledge about how it is done. We have a group of people
who have made major financial contributions, who have now some investment themselves
in a major financial way in the success of the club, and in the continuing raising of money,
and so on. So I think that's moved along very well.

And I think my role in it was that [ understood from the very beginning it was a good idea,
and that I understood that some of the people we got involved weren't going to make it
work, and that I was perfectly willing to help get them out of the way and get somebody
else in that was going to help make it work. Not in a vicious way, but, you know, they
weren't--it wasn't working. So it's another problem you solve, and you solve it by getting
somebody that can make it work. And we did.
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VI DEALING WITH CLUB MANAGEMENT AND MONEY

Initial Impressions of Club Administration

Shall we turn back again to the early involvement and your concern with management
issues in the Sierra Club? When you say management is one of your three major things,
were you thinking of mainly fiscal management, or general club management in which you
saw something of a problem?

Well, the thing that interested me when I came out here was it was clear there was nobody
in sight on the staff of the Sierra Club that was a trained administrator. There was nobody
there that when they were a kid said, "When I grow up I want to be a boss." They were
people who said, "When I grow up I want to be a lawyer." Or, "When I grow up I want to
be a scientist," or "I want to"--whatever.

But the idea of management systems, the idea of the concept of how do you arrange things
to make them work better--the business of people and money and systems--how do you do
that, came to them after they got into their kind of jobs. Mike McCloskey is a perfect
example.

#HH

Moving into the executive director position meant that he had to take this sheer brilliance
that he brings with him and try this, or learn that, or whatever. But he hadn't been brought
to it in that way. So it struck me immediately that it would be good to have somebody
around here that understood those kinds of things. But it also seemed to me that
management systems, if you will, as a shorthand expression, were not particularly valued.
In fact there was a sort of hostility towards administration. You know doctors think that
hospital administrators generally are yoyos, and that the doctors can run it better, and
lawyers have little enthusiasm for the business community or the people who manage
things.

And professors.
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And professors think that the administration is inept at best, and so on. So many of the
people who govern the Sierra Club historically look at these kinds of folks who are
administrators or management people as sort of folks who get in the way of good ideas and
progress. Well, I have my own bias since I spent all my life--I was one of those people who
when I was a kid, and this is the literal truth, when I was five or six years old said to my
mother when I grew up [ wanted to be a boss. And that idea intrigued me, and so I had my
bias here. But good management makes things work better. Good management backs off
and says, "Okay, we're going to make widgets, how do we make the best widget at the least
cost with the people making those widgets feeling the best about it, and our reputation
twenty years from now being better than it is today?"

Now you came on the board in 1977.
Yes.
Did you introduce these ideas, and what kind of a response did you get?

I had a little introduction to the board before I came on through the membership
development. I came to them--

And you were on the council.

Oh yes, and through the council. The council was an interesting experience because the
council was different then, I believe, because the people who were on the council viewed
themselves as national leadership more than they viewed themselves as chapter
representatives. It was a sort of House of Representatives of the Sierra Club, if you will,
everybody from their own district. But when they got here, they looked at the Sierra Club
and said, "How can we make it work better?" And there was very little of, "I've got a
problem back in my chapter and somebody's got to do something about it."

And out of that group of people grew some of the really good leaders of the club. The Sue
Merrows, and Larry Downings, and Marty Fluhartys, and Bob Howards, and a number of
others came out of that same group of people. And that group of people, when they were
on the council, spent a lot of time thinking about the kinds of things we're talking about
here.

So they were interested in--

They were interested in making these things work better. They, or we, I guess it would be
fair to say because | was there with them, would take things on simply because it looked
like they needed to be taken on and nobody was paying any attention to them. And so it
was a continuation of the growth out of my days there.

I went to the board twice that [ remember. One was with a point of sale display to sell
memberships of the Sierra Club which I had developed back in Fayetteville, and the second
experience was I put together with a friend back home a concept to put together recordings
of the music of America [See chapter III].

Now, the moral of the story was [chuckles] that I went on the board knowing that we spoke
a different language in some areas. And that did not mean that my first year was not rocky,
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because it was rocky. But it helped me understand that good people think about good
things differently.

Appointment to the Board of Directors., 1977

When you say that your first year was rocky, what kinds of things? I'm trying to get some
specifics.

Well, I was appointed to the board to fill the seat of Brant Calkin, who resigned to take the
position of southwest rep after he had not been reelected president of the Sierra Club which
everybody thought he was going to be. And he really wanted to do the southwest rep, but
he had served one term [as president] and he felt that it was in the best interest of the Sierra
Club to finish out his second term, and so he did not put his name in the hat to be southwest
rep. Much to his surprise, and to the surprise of a lot of people, the board chose to elect Bill
Futrell in May. And it was a surprise. Perhaps not to Bill Futrell, but it was a surprise to a
lot of people.

So then Brant came back and resigned, and the board then decided to wait until their retreat
in the summer to fill the vacancy. And they did. They made up a list of names. |
understand there were over fifty names on it, and they started going down the list, and
voting on them, and I ended up being the survivor.

So somebody liked what you brought to the board.

Well, evidently. Certainly I had been conspicuous. I had certainly done things which were
high profile. Ilook back on it with some embarrassment. Actually the first membership
campaign that was held in the Sierra Club--we actually used to do this--we used to have
membership contests, and chapters would challenge each other, and people would be
recognized if they got a certain number of people to join the Sierra Club. We gave trees to
people. Fruit trees. If you got a member, we sent you a fruit tree. And the ad that was in
the Sierra Club Bulletin, that was a full page ad which I wrote, had my picture in it holding
the tree.

So I had been very high profile. And I was interested in serving on the board, and I saw
that as something I might do sometime. So yeah, people noticed me, and I think in fairness
the board at that point was looking for somebody with some of the skills they hoped I had.
I think that, I was told later, was the reason they brought me on.

But the board that I came on--I came in mid-summer and that year, which was Bill Futrell's
year as president, which by then was already three months old--

And he was the first southern president. I don't know if that's significant or not, but he was.

Well, I never thought about that, but I guess that's right, yes. No, it wasn't significant to
me. Obviously, I didn't remember it. [Laughter] But it's difficult for a one-term president.
Bill had an agenda. As a matter of fact, he appointed me, and I served as the chair of the
Urban Environment Committee.
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Oh you did?
Which was his pet thing. It was very important to him. He asked me to chair that. I did.
Was that an interest of yours?

Well, I had had some--you know I had been a city councilman early on. I understood what
some of these issues were. | understood how city councils, mayors, and so on thought. It
was not--the truth of the matter is my primary interests are trees and critters, and the health
of the earth and the people that live on it. And these other things were just things that
needed to be done. But it was a year in which things sort of bounced around it seemed to
me. And part of it was just me getting acclimated to the whole thing.

Elected to the Board. 1978. and Thoughts on a Bizarre Election System

Then in the following year I ran for the board and was elected, and was also elected
treasurer at the same time. At a time we were in financial crisis, which was not great
timing on my part.

And Ted Snyder was elected president.

Ted Snyder was elected president. Ted was my friend. I managed to help Ted get elected.
I thought Ted would make a good president. I think he did. I think that was a correct thing
at the time. The primary contender at that time was Richard Cellarius, who later got his
crack at it, much later, but did. And I served with Ted as treasurer.

Is that a--just to go back in time there--are these presidential elections, or was that one, a
particularly contentious kind of thing?

[Pause] A lot of them are eight-to-seven votes. [Laughter] Including mine, the first time.
Directors are political animals. They're inclined to think rather highly of themselves and
their abilities. And in most cases there's justification for that. Being president of the Sierra
Club is a great honor. And when you become a director you have a chance of being
president. It's a risk of being a director, I guess.

[Pause] Contentious, I don't know. Some of them have been that. Some of them have been
hurts that people probably carry with them to this day. I think people generally, though,
have gotten over those things. But, yes, it's important.

It's a bizarre system. It's a system which I've tried to change over the years, and had
absolutely no success doing. We go into a retreat setting two or three days before the May
board meeting. We elect our officers and the president presides Saturday morning at a
board meeting over an agenda which he did not prepare and which he may or may not
know anything about, other than just anecdotally. And, it's nuts. There's no preparation for
the office. When I was president I prepared the two logical people to succeed me. They
were Phil Hocker and Michele [Perrault]. I spent time with Phil and Michele on issues for
the last six months of my presidency, assuming one of them would be president. I don't
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know that anybody has ever done that before, or since. Certainly nobody did it for me. But
I had been there.

Would you prefer to see the election take place earlier?

Oh yes. We should have a president-elect. I think a president-elect would be a good idea
and you have a year of training. Elect officers in February, and have them have a chance to
have the ExCom have a retreat and get to know each other, and set up some plans to work
together and all that before they have the first meeting. You know, you're on the plane
flying across the country and you haven't had your first lesson to where the controls are, or
to where you are going for that matter. It's just a bizarre system.

I am a political animal. And I will acknowledge this. I have probably the most complete
file of ballot statements, and so on that anybody has ever had in this organization. I've had
great interest in the things I have done in that area. I, for example, was the first person to
run for the board of directors of the Sierra Club who asked people to vote for me.
Everybody else just wrote all this stuff, and in self-aggrandizement assumed it would be so
grand people would vote for them. I ended up one of my first statements saying, "Please
vote for me. Let me have one of your votes."

Oh you mean, in the official statement.
In the statement.
Not on the side?

No, on the ballot, on the ballot statement said, "Please vote for me." Asked you to vote for
me. Revolutionary idea. Well, of course everybody does that now. I was the first person to
put my telephone number in my ballot statement and say, "I'm interested in what you would
want me to do, and I would be pleased to answer questions that you have about what |
would like to do. Here's my phone number. Call me." When I first did it, people thought I
was insane. If you look at the ballot now, you'll find a majority of people doing it.

The last time I ran I used quotations from people who said nice things about me, rather than
saying it myself. This is a concept that hasn't been copied much yet, but it will be. I've
enjoyed this kind of political stuff. And I've enjoyed the elections the same way.

I have always, each of the years I served, three months before the elections came up started
talking to the other directors. "Who's going to be the next president? Who's going to be the
next treasurer?” It's been amazing to me that a number of directors don't think much about
it until it's almost time to happen. I think it's unfortunate. But I think that's one of the
reasons why the system ought to be changed. So that the system itself would dictate people
think about it earlier.

We need to think about who is going to be treasurer, for example. We need to know that we
have somebody that's competent to be treasurer on the board, and there are times in which
we do not. And that's not putting down the people that are on the board. Their background
isn't in it. You cannot do that job as well, if you have not got some real experience with
numbers and management systems. You're going to get bamboozled.
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Didn't at one time the club have the capability to appoint a member, a fixed officer or
something?

I have tried several times to have the present system changed. I introduced the concept of
having the board be permitted to elect a treasurer that is not a director. But it would have
taken a bylaw change, and the board voted against it. [ mean for some good reasons, but
they did. I think more than the president the treasurer is a position that you need somebody
with--I mean I think most directors have the skills that a president needs to have. They
have them in varying degrees and they're assorted differently. But they all have some
experience in that sort of thing.

Not infrequently the board is made up of folks who really have not spent much time
working on budgets and finance, are not thinking in terms of risk assessment as a
managerial concept as opposed to a toxic chemical concept. And that's unfortunate. That
diminishes us. But, that's the way it is.

Elected as Treasurer, 1978: Dealing with a Budgetary Mess

But you did get elected treasurer after just one year on the board. [1978-1982]
I did.
Was that something you campaigned for, or how does one get elected treasurer?

It was sort of a given by that time. I think when they put me on the board they were
looking for somebody that they hoped had some skills. They knew they had a mess. And
they wanted me to do it. And I said, "Well, all right I will." It was awful. It was awful.

Let's talk about that.

It was just awful. [Laughter] I had been there a few months, and I should have known
better. I had no clue how bad it was going to be. We went in to the September 1978 board
meeting--well, first of all, there was a budget committee, not a finance committee. And
basically the thing that that committee did was it worked over the budget and it met once a
year. And it looked over the budget, and gave it to the board.

It was a budget committee that I did not choose. It was a committee that I inherited. That
ain't all bad, except that when I have a committee I'm chairing I would like to have at least
one or two people on there that [ have enough relationship with that we know how we
work, and that we are kind of going the same direction instinctively so you don't have to
start every story with Adam and Eve and move forward, that you have some basis to start
from.

But [ didn't. And the budget committee met just a couple weeks or so before, about two
weeks before the board met to adopt the budget. At the budget committee meeting I
realized that the system that we had was that we had no system. At that point the budget
was put together by each department preparing a budget, submitting it to the executive
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director and the accounting department who sort of checked it over to see whether they had
their numbers added up right. And they put it all in a pile, and they gave it to the budget
committee. And the budget would be wildly out of balance, and the budget committee was
to make it whole.

So they gave you what they felt they needed to run the departments and--

Well, unfortunately it was much worse than that. Because the department heads had
learned that it was the inclination of the politicians, the directors, to pump up the income
streams. To say, "Oh well, we'll bring in more than this, so what we'll do is we'll add five
percent on to the revenue from dues." And so the same department heads would understate
what they thought the income was going to be so that when the board overstated what they
had submitted they would come out in the right neighborhood.

They did the same thing in expenses. They would overstate expenses on the assumption
the board is going to cut them, so we'll put a little extra in there so after the board cuts it
we'll still have enough to do the job. So what you had was a pile of numbers from each
department, none of which represented anything that was related to reality. Or very dang
little of which was related to reality. You had overstated expenses, understated income,
none of which balanced, and you had a bunch of people who hadn't seen each other for a
year coming together with varying degrees of skill. And the budget committee at that point
was made up generally, as we had a desire to do at that time, from somebody from the
RCCs [regional conservation committees], a regional vice president, somebody from the
issue committees, everybody there to sort of protect their turf. And nobody really equipped
to deal with the whole thing, except maybe the treasurer who may or may not have been
able. Oh, it was awful.

Does the board usually adopt the budget in September?

Yes.

Would you meet in August?

Yes, yes.

Now what kind of staff involvement was there at these budget committee meetings?

The staff. The way that worked was the accounting department put all this paper together
and gave it to you complete with the fact that it didn't balance. And then you would have a
sort of dog and pony show. And you would have Jon Beckmann [books department head]
come in and tell you about books and calendars, and you would quiz him and try to get him
to commit for a little bit more money, and try to reduce expenses, and of course everybody
knew what the game was.

So there were always some people--Fran, Fran Gendlin [head of public affairs], was one of
the people that was very good at that. Fran always had a few thousand bucks somewhere
hidden away that when things really got tough she would come in and say, "Well, I believe
I could do so and so that would provide another ten thousand dollars." Which always
increased her popularity and so on. But it was unfortunately--all this stuff became part of
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the game [laughter]. This had nothing to do with a sensible way of putting together a
budget.

A Legendary Budget Meeting of the Board. September 1978

So this mess, then, went on to the board, and we met over at the headlands.
Marin Headlands.

And for that meeting there was a large contingent of California activists who appeared at
this meeting because they knew the club's finances were in trouble and they were there to
protect those things which were near and dear to them.

Are we talking about a specific meeting now?
Yes. That was the first board meeting--when the board adopted the budget.
In'78.

In '78, which was my first term as being treasurer. And I am presenting this budget which
has come out of a budget committee meeting in terrible straits, with numbers which are
more or less accurate. Probably less.

Did you get it in balance?

The budget committee did not. I went to that meeting with a solution in my pocket. I
never, as treasurer, went to a meeting with any budget that I didn't have a solution in my
pocket. It was not necessarily a solution I thought anybody would buy. But I certainly
wasn't going into a meeting and have no solution.

Several things happened. One was, there was this large contingent of folks from California
who were there to not only protect, but to argue vehemently for what they believed in, and
they took a great amount of time doing that.

Ted was president. Ted is my friend to this day and I love him. Ted ran a meeting as a
parliamentarian. [ mean everything had to be in the form of a motion, properly made and
seconded, then debated, and then moved on. Well, you try to adopt a budget of ten
thousand pieces in this way, you're talking about the potential for ten thousand motions.
And it was a terribly frustrating system. It was one that almost made progress impossible,
because you couldn't prioritize things, you could just put something up, and it would get
voted down.

One after another.
Yes. Right. It was horrible. And it became clear to me, after two days of this that there

was not a majority in the room for anything. No matter what you proposed, it would go
down in flames because it would mean reducing spending, or whatever, and it had a
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constituency opposed to it. John Higgins, who was then the head of general services,
which was the department that sort of headed the--was the management systems sort of
thing, resigned in the middle of the meeting. Turned in his--

Out of frustration.

Wrote a note on a piece of paper and gave it to Mike McCloskey, and said, "I resign my
position. I cannot run my job in this way. They're tearing my department apart. They're
doing it without understanding what they're doing. Iresign." It was horrible.

Was it a particularly bad crisis year?

[slowly] It was a tough year. It was a year that we were going to have to reduce somewhat
what we were doing. There had been no preparation for it. There had been no building up
to this. There had been no ground laid--and we had had some years in which we had been
having growth, and were adding a little bit here and little there. And, people were not
psychologically prepared for it. It was awful.

I, to this day, don't know exactly how we got out of there, except I remember Dick Fiddler,
who was new on the board--Dick, and Marty, and Nick Robinson were the three new
directors which were elected with me in May. There was a carryover, and I don't remember
who that was now. But, Dick Fiddler, | remember, realizing that we were totally stuck.
And we were. And I tried everything I could think of. We took a break at one time, and |
had about six people--Liz Meyer was one of them, Judy from southern California, Judy--

Anderson?

Judy Anderson. And others that have been active over many years, but they were all there.
And there were all standing around. And they were all hollering at me, and I said, "Stop!
Sit down!" And I sat down on the floor. Right there. And they looked at me like I lost my
mind. I said, "Sit down!" And they sat down. I said, "Tell me what the solution is. Tell
me how to get out of here with a budget that will serve the Sierra Club." Well, they were
not prepared for that kind of question. And it did somewhat cool that part down. That was
good.

And Liz Meyer, incidentally, went on--1 put her on the finance committee, the budget
committee the next year. Which, again, was my style. You find somebody that doesn't like
it like it is, you invite them in and say, "Okay, let's change it." And it needed to be changed.
She was a very bright lady. I haven't seen her in a long time. I'm sure she's still a very
bright lady. But she came in and was a very big help. But we kind of got that part put
down and then--

This was dealing with the California activists?

Yes, this was the California activists. I don't know if it was a major issue. It may have
been. It may have been the question of whether they were going to have one or two field
offices. I mean, I don't remember at this point what it was. But it was more a matter of just
a long series of feelings that we were going to do them in, and this was a bad thing. Then
Fiddler recognized the mess we were in, and he and I got together at a break. He suggested
some packages of expenses and income that we started to vote on one at a time. Eventually
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we got out of there with some semblance of a budget, and got through it. But it was a real
learning experience for me, and of course I came out of that saying, "Well, this ain't ever
going to happen again." And of course it didn't.

That's a good place to change the tape.

HH

What role did the staff play in this meeting, aside from resigning? Did they lobby for their
programs?

Well, it was a political game, so the department heads were forced into a political game
whether they wished to be in it or not. They were forced to defend their numbers. They
tried to put something on the table that would help. Mike was carrying out the role that the
board wanted him to carry out--which was basically to bring all of this together, and have it
put on the table where the responsible people--quote unquote, the board of directors--
would do something about it. The fact that it was not put on the table for the board of
directors in a way that they could responsibly deal with it apparently hadn't been the issue,
which it clearly needed to be.

Making the Staff Responsible for a Balanced Budget

After the meeting it was clear to me what needed to be done and we just proceeded to do it.
I changed the make-up somewhat of the committee. I think the committee met an extra
time. I charged, we charged, whoever charged--it was my idea--never again would we do
this, and that the staff would be charged with preparing a balanced budget to submit to the
budget committee; and that they would test the numbers and stand on them; and that the
executive director would test the numbers and stand on them. And if this is a number that
came in on membership income, the executive director was going to put his hand on it and
say, "That is the right number." Then that would be changed at the peril of the board of
directors if they changed it. That they in fact would either have to have some justification
for doing that or they would have to say out loud, "We're going to change it; it's wishful
thinking, but we're going to do it anyhow." But there would be no game playing. It would
be, "This is the way it is."

Now, the system I set up was that this would be a balanced budget, and it would be a
balanced budget with alternatives. That you would have a program in there in such a way
that it could be identified by description: that this program will do this for you, and it will
cost this amount of money. And this program will do this for you, and it will cost this
amount of money. And here is a piece of program which we are not recommending doing
and which is not in the budget which would do this sort of thing and would cost this
amount of money. The idea being that the directors, then, if they wished could pull this
piece out and put that piece in, if they were somewhat comparable of size, and build a
budget in that way without going down into line items and questioning whether you needed
to have your books department head, Jon Beckmann, travel to Europe to look at the
calendar proofs or not.
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That was the kind of thing they would--?

Oh Lord, yes! I mean, they got down into the most minute level of detail you could get
down into. Literally. Phone bills, travel and so on.

Right at the board meeting?

Oh yes. Down to the nickels and dimes. I mean, yes. Yes, and no big picture. All just
inside the workings of the machinery, sort of like little mites in a television set trying to
rewire it with never having seen a television set in the whole, to know what a television set
ought to look like. I mean it was a bizarre process.

Do you think this came out of the--I mean it must have come out of the history of the club
somehow.

Well, of course. And it was a system that once worked. You could run a mama-papa
business that way, you know. But the club had grown. I mean this was just the beginning
of my discoveries of where we were. It was not much later than that--it may have been
about the same time--that president Ted Snyder is in Alaska, and Mike McCloskey is in
Europe, and Allen Smith, who is the controller, calls me up and says, "Denny"--or maybe
I'm out here. I think I was out here. I spent fifty percent of my time in San Francisco the
first couple years I served.

As treasurer.

As treasurer. And he said, "Denny, we have a problem. We have six thousand dollars in
the bank, and we've got to meet the payroll in three days. We're not going to have enough
money to meet the payroll."

And I said, "Allen, how do we track our cash flow?"

And the answer basically was, "We really don't." Now, nobody apparently had given this
much thought: the fact that we ran business on accrual accounting. And the sort of feeling
was, "Well, if we're running a little surplus, that means you're going to have money in the
bank." Well, of course, that's not at all what it means. It could mean you have a lot of
books in the warehouse somewhere. It could mean a lot things. But it doesn't necessarily
mean you're going to have enough to pay the employees.

From that point on--for the next year and a half--1 kept the cash flow records of the Sierra
Club on a spreadsheet myself on a weekly basis. So I knew how much money we had from
a cash flow point of view. By which time I was able to get the staff to start doing it. And
frankly, in my judgement, in my last term in office I was still troubled by the fact that the
board pays less attention to the cash flow than it should.

But should it be the board that pays attention to it or the staff?

No, but the staff should keep the board informed. The board should know what questions
to ask. The board should know that you can have assets and not be able to pay your bills,
as we've all known personally. I mean you can own a big house and a nice car, and you
can't buy gas, because you just ran out of cash. Well, the Sierra Club can do that too. And
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it's a concept that keeps missing the directors. It's a concept people don't think about very
much.

But what about someone like Allen Smith? Being a controller, wouldn't he have thought of
this? Or who else was responsible for financial management? Len Levitt comes to mind.

Len Levitt came in later. Len came in later. Len came in a little bit later, and Len's--
So Mike was trying to do it all himself.

Yes. [Pause] I don't know the answer to your question directly. Why didn't Allen Smith
have somebody paying attention to this? My guess is there really weren't many people
there. There were Allen Smith and Tom Combs, who later married Peggy Hynd, who was
the director of development at a later time, both of whom are still my dear friends. [Pause].
I don't know. It was emphasis. It was resources dedicated to doing it. It was that sort of
thing, I suspect.

Len Levitt was part of my concept of you've got to get somebody in here that understands
management. Len had been an executive with Safeway, and had decided to retire from that
and to do something that he thought would be better and serve humanity in some way, and
it would still be a job that he could do. He took over the management of a co-op, in
Berkeley I believe it was, and he found rather quickly that this was too crazy for him. This
was cultural shock he was not prepared for. So he then came to the Sierra Club, which of
course I suppose was equally a cultural shock, but fortunately--

Out of the frying pan, | would say [laughter].

Fortunately he had the co-op to acclimate him. But Len brought a sort of remote kind of
approach to the club that was extremely helpful at that time to bring things along in an
orderly way. Roger Craver--I remember one extremely controversial meeting we were at,
and everybody was shouting at everybody about the money going in the wrong direction,
and not enough money, and so on. And Roger Craver was there. Len Levitt was there, and
so on. And everybody was exercised. And I remember after the meeting Roger Craver
saying something of admiration about Len Levitt, and I said, "What do you mean?"

He said, "Well, every organization should have at least one person that doesn't sweat."
[Laughter] And he didn't. Everybody was just exercised, and screaming at each other. Len
just sort of sat there and listened to it all through, and if you asked his opinion, he gave you
a considered opinion, which you may or may not have agreed with, but which had a good
chance that it would work--whether you liked it or not. And I found working with Len to
be very good.

Putting the Executive Director in Charge of his Staff

Len was the first major employee of the Sierra Club that was hired by the executive
director.
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Rather than the board of directors.

[Rather than] by the board of directors. Allen Smith was hired by the board of directors.
Jon Beckmann was hired by the board of directors. All these people up to that time had
been hired by the board of directors. Ted Snyder had advocated, and I advocated strongly,
and the two of us sold the idea, that if you are going to hold an executive director
responsible for what the staff does, you've got let him choose the people that are going to
be on the staff. The board of directors had never given much thought, apparently, to how
you hold an executive director responsible. They just sort of assumed he would be
responsible because he's a responsible fellow.

But it goes back to that management systems thing. You just cannot hold somebody
responsible for doing something and then tell them that you have to do it my way and with
my people, because they have the built-in excuse. They come back to you and say, "Well,
you know I tried, but this fellow you gave me is just a yo-yo, and how could I make it
work?" And it can't work.

Did Mike ask for that, or was this something the two of you, you and Ted--

No, I don't remember Mike asking for it. That would have not been Mike's style. Mike
didn't come forth and say, "You need to give me this, or you need to give me that." Mike is,
and always was, the good soldier. You tell Mike what you want him to do, and Mike will,
by gum, go try to get it done for you, and in most cases get it done better than you dreamed
possible. But he won't look you in the eye and say, "Boy, that's a dumb idea. This is not a
good use of my time." He won't do that to this day. And the board will give things to do
that are dumb ideas. And he will go do them to the best of his ability and deliver them.
They don't do that very often, but certainly over the years there have been those things
happen. And Mike's style would not be to say, "No." Or to come to the board and say,
"You need to let me do this or that."

Richard Cellarius once said to me that's the most significant contribution that I made to the
Sierra Club. I think he's wrong. But I think that it's important--

Putting the executive director in charge of his staff.

In charge. Yes! Now, we just mentioned two things: the executive director now
responsible for putting together a budget, that he says is a responsible budget that would
work to keep this organization moving in the next year in a good way; and he's responsible
for hiring the key people to work here.

That really is quite a change.

It changed the whole concept of what kind of organization--is this a professional
organization or isn't it? And then we moved into other things which I supported like having
wage and salary studies done. Are we paying the people the right amount of money?
Those kinds of things we did over a period of years, I think were important changes to the
professionalism of the staff. You can't successfully hold people responsible unless you put
them in a position where they can operate responsibly. When I came on board there were a
lot of people in positions where they really couldn't control their own destiny. They
couldn't control what they were being asked to do.
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You mean in the departments as well?
All the way up and down the line.

Even as you mention this effort to put the executive director in control, I also think of the
tradition of board members going to department heads, you know, and not going through
the executive director.

Oh, absolutely. And in this same process you had a books committee which was sort of the
advocate for the books program, and you had an outings committee that was advocate for
the outings program, and so on. And so you had political constituencies of volunteers.

Bringing Clair Tappaan Lodge under Club Control

Incidentally, here's a case in point. Strangeness. I got involved about this time—it was
when Joe Fontaine was president--I discovered that Clair Tappaan Lodge--we discovered,
the club discovered--Clair Tappaan Lodge had a serious problem with sewage. We had a
septic tank up there that was draining into the creek. And this is not a good thing for a
conservation, environmental organization to have a lodge where the sewage is running into
the creek. So there was appointed a Clair Tappaan Lodge task force, which I chaired. Dick
Fiddler served on it. Lewis Clark served on it. I don't remember who else, but good
people.

The problem was to solve the sewage thing. I got into this thing and I discovered, my
gracious, we don't own the land this lodge is sitting on! We own land up around here. But
we don't own the land under the lodge!

Was it Forest Service?

Yes. It was on a permitted lease kind of thing from the Forest Service. We owned land
across the street.

You owned the lakes.

The Sierra Club Foundation owned Flora and Azalea Lakes. Which we had absolutely no
use for. We bought them so something bad wouldn't happen to them. So what did I find
myself in? I found myself bringing Clair Tappaan Lodge into the Sierra Club. It had been
run by a volunteer committee who kept the records literally in a shoe box, who paid the
people who worked up there literally out of the shoe box, or out of a checking account
which somebody on the staff may or may not have ever seen. Were we in compliance with
wage and hour laws? Were we in compliance with safety laws? Heaven only knows. Was
the Sierra Club liable if we weren't? Absolutely.

So, we went from solving the sewer problem to bringing Clair Tappaan Lodge into the
club, which was very difficult as these people--

Controversial as I recall.
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Very controversial. These people saw it as a power play, to take this over, and throw them
out. Well, it wasn't. It was just a matter of, it belonged to the Sierra Club, and the Sierra
Club was liable and responsible. And there had to be a system that permitted that
responsibility to be accepted and acted upon.

Then we got into the whole Flora and Azalea Lakes thing, and the land thing, and the end
of that all is we sold Flora and Azalea Lakes to the Forest Service. Big piece of money.
The lakes belonged to the Sierra Club Foundation, so the money went to the Sierra Club
Foundation. Big controversy. Sierra Club Foundation got this money, and Sierra Club
wants it. I'll get back to that in a minute.

And then we went on to the whole thing, okay now, let's acquire the land that's under Clair
Tappaan Lodge. And people like Steve Stevick and Phil Hocker and others worked on that
for years after I worked on that, and that's of course now all been done.

So the club was able to purchase that land?

Yes. Well, traded land. Traded other land we had that we had no earthly use for, for the

land under the lodge. So now we own a lodge that's on our land, which is much better than
owning a lodge that is on somebody else's land.

Disagreement over Proceeds from Sale of Flora and Azalea Lakes

Back to the receipts from the Flora and Azalea Lakes thing. This became a big
controversy. The club wanted the money. Wanted to spend the money. The foundation
said, "No. We ain't going to give it to you. We give it to you, and you'll blow it." And this
was no--

So this is part of the power struggle.

A part of the power struggle. I went from one body to the other body. Back and forth, and
back and forth. We cut a deal that was simple as it could be. [slowly] You give us that
money to fund a program which is fundable by soft money. This will improve our bottom
line because we will have dues income which we will not be required to spend on that
program. We will not spend that money. We will let it fall to the bottom line in surplus.
And we will pass a resolution that says that if the surplus this year is x number of dollars or
more, we will put that amount of money into the life membership endowment fund.

Is that what the foundation wanted, to build the endowment?

They hadn't thought about it. They just didn't want to give us the money because they
didn't want us to blow it. The directors, in fact, probably were thinking about ways to
spend it. What I was thinking about, first, was how do we get the money to the Sierra Club
which was really where it belongs, secondly, how do we not blow it? Because the trustees
were right, we should not have blown it. It was sort of like, you know, somebody dies and
leaves you some money. You go out and you use it to live on this year, and you're going to
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be money short in your budget next year because they ain't going to die again next year,
and [laughingly] we didn't have any more Flora and Azalea Lakes to sell. And that was it.

So more money now lies in that endowment fund in the Sierra Club. It was a matter of
negotiation back and forth. And it was a significant amount of money. That's the kind of
thing that I just kept falling into.

Finding More Money: Negotiating with Random House. Buying a Washington Office.
Selling Life Memberships

Another story. Treasurer. 1982. Books been published by Scribner forever. Scribner, for
whatever reason, is becoming less of a rising star, or less of a star in the publishing
business. Jon Beckmann particularly said we need to shop around, think about other
people doing this. We ended up working a deal out with Random House. Random House
was a very strong publisher at that time. Well-respected, an ideal place for us to go. Jon
Beckmann, working with Mike McCloskey, cut the deal with Random House. They're
going to bring it to the board. They sit down with me. Of course, I'm following this the
whole time. I'm saying, "That-a-boy, Jon. You're doing a good job."

Jon finalizes the whole thing, brings it back, and everybody knows the board has got to
approve this thing. He brings it back. We're sitting in Mike's office, Jon, Mike and I, and
they're telling me how this is, and I'm telling them how good it is. And I said, "Now, what
else do we want?"

And they both looked at me like I'd lost my mind. "What do you mean what else do we
want? We got what we wanted."

I said, "Yes, but we can get something else."
They said, "How do you know."

I said, "Because | know. Random House has already told their salesmen they're going to
have Sierra Club calendars out there in a couple of years, and this is a done deal in their
mind. They're going to be willing to throw something else on the table to keep from losing
this at this point, if we can think of a reasonable thing to ask for."

"Well, how could we do it?"

"That's easy. You tell them that you've got a treasurer who is a nut, and you've come to the
treasurer and the treasurer has said, 'Jon, you haven't done well enough. We've got to get
this, or I can't recommend it to the board." And you say to Random House, 'If the treasurer
doesn't recommend this to the board, this ain't going to happen.' And they will convert.
They will come along with it."

[Laughingly] How did this strike Jon Beckmann?
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Jon Beckmann shook his head. Jon is one of the finest human beings that has ever served
the Sierra Club. One of the finest editors, one of the finest publishers. Has done some of
the best things to get the club's message before the public, and if anything tears at my soul
it's that we no longer have a place for a Jon Beckmann in the Sierra Club, and have no
longer a place for the products that he produced. It brings tears to my eyes, as you can see.

We sat there. They looked at me like I was crazy. They agreed that we do this. “ But what
do we want?”

I said, “I don't know.”

So we sat there and we agreed that what we would ask for was a couple of percentage
points more, which was a poor choice, but was the best we could think of.

Made the appointment, we went to New York to meet with these people.
You went along?

Oh yes. I went along. Good guy, bad guy. I'm the bad guy. I've got to be there. They've
got to hear from me what a bad guy [ am. And we go along, and I explain to them how
proud I am of Jon for what he's done, but the truth of the matter is the club has--we have
some real financial problems. While their reputation is wonderful, and we know they're
going to do all these wonderful things, we really are interested in money. And this is not a
matter of great product to us, it's dollars and cents. I'm overstating it now, I didn't quite put
it that way, but that was the thrust of the thing. And I made this pitch.

They said, "No, we can't give you any more percentage because in fact we have five other
organizations we do the same thing with. They all get the same percentage. If we gave you
more, they'd all be mad at us." Immediately I recognized this is not going to sell.

Out of nowhere, and I had, of course, done my homework, I said to them, "I happen to
know you all are in pretty good shape as far as cash flow is concerned. Let me tell you, we
aren't. How would you feel about giving us an advance on our first year's contract"? Now
at this point interest rates were double digit. I don't remember what they were. They could
have been fifteen percent or thirteen percent, but they were big numbers. And we're
borrowing everything we got.

"Well, we could probably do that." [emphatically] We walked out of there with $500,000
[pause] as an advance on our contract, to get the contract. Now, $500,000 at whatever it
was, 13, 15 percent, whatever it is, was at that time for the Sierra Club a lot of money.

Well, it's that kind of stuff I found myself doing constantly as treasurer of the Sierra Club.
Now, where is it written that that's what the treasurer does? The answer is, it is not written,
and it's not normally--

And every treasurer doesn't do it.
No, no, no, no. And not every staff would let the treasurer do it. Mike McCloskey

recognized that I could do things that were honorable, that worked, that make sense, and he
was pleased for me to do it. Other executive directors wouldn't be that confident that they
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should trust somebody who [laughingly] comes in from North Carolina, who is a small
businessman, and what does know about--I'd never negotiated a publishing contract in my
life. ButI'd negotiated enough contracts to know that these people had--you know, to them
the marriage was done, and the bride has come back to say, "No, | want a bigger ring." And
the announcements are out, so you're going to get the bigger ring if they have the money to
buy the bigger ring. They had, and they did. Common sense. I mean, you don't have to
negotiate a contract to know that, you just know that's the way people behave.

Well, that's a good illustration of--
Well, it was the sort of thing we did--1 did a lot of.

[Added during interviewee review: Then there's the Washington office story. As Treasurer
during Larry Downing’s term as president, we worked together to move forward something
we both felt very strongly about. The lease on the office the club had in Washington D.C.
was up. It seemed to us that trying to buy something on the hill was a good idea. Clearly,
the Capitol was not going to be moved, and we were always going to be there to lobby.

I went to work on the project, talking to my friend Roger Craver who had just completed a
major office move of his own. He gave me the name of a consultant developer named Jon
Abbet. [ went to his office in McLean, Virginia, and arranged for him to work with the club
staff and with me. I talked to the directors about the location we liked, and we purchased it
on August 9, 1988.]

I did three things when I was treasurer--a lot of. One is, I tried to find more money because
I found out pretty quickly, it's a lot more fun to balance a budget by finding more income
than it is by cutting programs. And that there was more money to find.

Are you also thinking of fund-raising when you say find more money?
Well--
Flora and Azalea Lakes?

Flora and Azalea Lakes. But we didn't spend that. But we spent the interest off the surplus
it created and we have done it every year since. That money that is in that endowment pays
interest every year that goes to program funding in the Sierra Club every year. So, every
budget since then has been that much easier to balance because that happened.

The money from the advance on the contract was a one year help. [ worked on the concept.
I remember going in to see Len, we were putting together a budget, and I said, "I'm down to
the last two ideas, Len, of where we can find money."

He said, "What's that?"

I said, "Well, we have got to find a way to get money from people who are not members. |
mean, we raise money from members, but we have never raised money from somebody
who has not made a commitment to join, or had an interest then in joining. And secondly,
we have got to figure out a way to sell life memberships. And my suggestion, Len, would
be that we set up an easy payment plan. We let people become life members by paying a
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third a year, over a three-year period, that we raise the price (I think it was $500 then or
something, and we raise it to $750), and that we have a fire sale. We announce in effect
that it's going to happen in six months, so everybody who wants to join can join at $500
now, which will encourage people to go in and write a $500 check. These are the only
ideas I have Len."

We put in place the life membership thing that year. It took us a lot longer to figure out

how to go around to asking people for money whether they were a member of the Sierra
Club or not. Clearly, we do that. But, I digress.

Vice-President for Planning: Scenario Planning

One [of the three things I did as treasurer] was to find money to balance the budget. One
was to bring some order to the procedures of how you distributed the money. [ mean, what
really is more important? What's your priorities? I worked with the folks who had any
interest in planning. Mike was very much interested in that. Bob Howard spent hours, and
hours, and hours, working on planning for the Sierra Club. I, of course, was vice president
for planning when I wasn't treasurer, in between terms, or whatever.

Well, how successful was that effort? You headed the planning committee obviously.

Yes. One of the things about it, it was a wonderful growing experience for me. I met
world-class planners. We put together a meeting of a guy who used to be the planner for
Royal Dutch Petroleum, the guy who was the planner for Nissan USA, the woman who was
the planner for the local utility here. Pacific, no--

PG&E?

PG&E. Two other people of that caliber, and the Sierra Club. How can we plan our future?
And they went into scenario planning with us. We developed scenario planning. We put it
in front of the board. The board figured out the scenario that was most likely. And I want
to tell you something. It's happened. It's happened. Now did we--

Did you put alternative visions, when you say scenario planning?

Yes.

Do you remember when this happened? Was Mike executive director?

No, Mike [McCloskey] was not. I think Michael Fischer was executive director.

So that was after ’87.

Yes. But Mike was always involved in anything like that, because Mike has the vision. I
mean look around for somebody with some vision and you can't get past Mike.

Mike's good at scenarios, I think.
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Oh. I mean, yes. Mike can take the most complex issue and sit down with a piece of paper
and make a matrix that breaks it down into logical pieces so that you can digest it, and so
you can make a decision.

But, we did those things. We didn't profit by them because people--we predicted, for
example, in that, that people's lives would become more stressed out financially, that there
would be more conflicts for volunteer time, that you would have to start worrying about
whether your kids were at a safe school to go to, and whether your parents were going to
get health care, and whether the local library was going to close, and therefore you'd be less
likely to be a group chairman. That the competition for your dollars as you needed more
money to keep your local library open would become more severe. That more families
would have two people working instead of one. There would be less spare time. People
that are working, like Denny Shaffer, would find it harder. All of which is true. I mean, we
laid all that stuff out there--

And what was the--?

Well, some of it was accepted. People shook their heads and said, "Yes," and some things
happened, and some things didn't happen.

Would the logical conclusion to this scenario be we need more staff?

The logical scenario to that was--Had we proceeded with that, we would have then backed
off and said, "That being the case, what kind of organization is the Sierra Club going to be
in ten years?" And that is the point at which the thing fell apart because almost no one in
the Sierra Club is willing to think ten years ahead. That's just something we don't do. We
demand it of industry. We say government should be thinking that way. We don't think
that way. We hear the bell and we go to the fire [laughter].

Yes. It's built into the organization.

Priority-Setting and Tying Priorities to Funding

But in this planning process, we were able to tie priorities (and that's before the scenario
planning), we were able to tie priorities to funding. We did a study, it may have been when
Sue was president, of what was important to people--maybe it was before Sue, but it was
about that time.

I remember Doug Scott being involved in priority setting.

And out of that came three things. And we sent out questionnaires, and we held
workshops, and we talked to people, and--

#HH

And it came out they wanted three things. They wanted funding for state programs, state
lobbying programs. They wanted a handbook. Something that reflected who the devil we
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were, and where we came from, and so on, which, of course, was what David Brower was
pushing.

I know. I thought that was just David Brower. But this came from the grassroots too?

It came out, I think, third on the list. But it came out, and there was enthusiasm for it. And
David was the advocate. 1 would have to admit that.

The third thing the membership wanted was an office of volunteer development. Which
would be somebody at the offices of the Sierra Club that was thinking not about what can
we get volunteers to do, but what can we do to help volunteers. Who can a chapter chair
call when he has just been elected chapter chair and he hasn't a clue what he should do?
[He] knows that the person before them didn't do it very well; knows that there must be a
better way of doing it, but hasn't got a clue how to do it. You know, what does my treasurer
do? My treasurer has not turned in an accurate report or accounting for nine months, what
should I do about this? Who do I ask?

Historically the answer was you would call the offices of the Sierra Club, and you would
get moved around from telephone to telephone, and if you got lucky, you got a good
answer. If you didn't get lucky, you didn't get any answer. You didn't have anybody
thinking in terms of how do you develop the people out there. This is what they wanted.
And we put those things in the budget.

I was treasurer. | remember going to the executive director, whoever he was at the time,
and saying, "Okay, this is the year we're going to do this one. And this is the year we're
going to do this one."

And the executive director saying, "I'm not sure we're going to have the money."

And me saying, "If this treasurer is going to support the budget, this is going to be in the
budget."

Treasurer: the Most Powerful Position in the Club

But did this come from you as an individual because you thought it was important, or were
you supporting a process?

No. You asked a question in some of things you sent me about my view of the power of
some of the offices. Boy, I'll tell you there is no question in my mind, the most powerful
position in the Sierra Club is the treasurer's position, if the treasurer knows how to do what
the treasurer has the ability to do, the potential to do.

There are two reasons. One is you're tied to the money, and the money is what makes
things happen. But secondly the treasurer is paying attention to what's under the hood.
And most folks aren't. Most folks, they want to be in the driver's seat. They're not
interested in what's under the hood. Well, I want to tell you, if you want to make things go
faster or slower, being under the hood is a good place to be. And the treasurer can make
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some significant differences. I think as treasurer--the contributions I've made to the Sierra
Club in the years that I've served, the greatest contributions were made while I was
treasurer, not while I was president.

Because you have that lever of power.

Well, the president is distracted by having to--it's sort of like being mayor. You've got to go
kiss babies, and shake hands, and cut ribbons. Well, the president of the Sierra Club has
got to make speeches, and talk to the media, and answer the phone when somebody calls.
When CBS News calls and they're going to be on the air in fifteen minutes and they want
your opinion on this, you've got to say something. People don't call the treasurer. The
treasurer can be in there making things happen. And you can think longer range. You can
have a vision of where things are going, and you can bring people along.

Listening to Grass-Roots Leadership and Getting Things Done

No. State level lobbying was not something I decided we wanted to do. The handbook was
David Brower's idea. It sure wasn't my idea. The office of volunteer development
probably came closer to being something I had enthusiasm for because I have enthusiasm
for enablers. I have enthusiasm for an organization that--Well, in this little memo I sent to
Adam [Werbach] yesterday, one of the things I said to him, I said, "Adam, what we need to
be asking is not what the members can do for the Sierra Club, but what the Sierra Club can
do for the members." Now I know I am doing violence to Mr. Kennedy, but we don't do
enough of that. We send out things hourly saying, "You, member of the Sierra Club, write
this letter! Jump over this barrier! Run through this fire! Do all these good things, because
this is important." But very seldom do we go the other way. And that's what the office of
volunteer development--and I saw the reason for doing that. I'm saddened by the fact that
that's been cut back out again because the staff really never had enthusiasm for it.

So we had it for a number of years?

We had it for a number of years, and then when Carl Pope [current executive director]--
Was there good feedback on it?

Yes. Oh yes.

It was helpful.

It was very helpful. But, in Carl's administration that has disappeared. I hate to speak
about somebody else's priorities, but having worked with Carl as long as I have, this is not
the sort of thing that appeals to Carl as much as some other things. And, as executive
director, one of the things I suppose it's his responsibility for him is to move things in a

direction which he sees they should be in. He and I disagree on this, which he knows.

But anyhow. They were not mine. They were ideas which I saw as good ideas. Yes, [ was
responsible for getting them put out there on a list of things. No, [ wasn't surprised when
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the people said, "Yes, this is important." No, I wasn't surprised that the board bought into
them after eighty-five percent of the chapters said that they wanted something.

And you got them into the budget, to come to the board.

I got them into the budget. But it was easy to get--Had I walked into the board one day and
said, "I'm going to put this in the budget next year." They would have said, "You're nuts
Shaffer. Who asked you?" And they should have. But it was a legitimate thing for the
treasurer to see some things which had potential, to send them out to the people who were
really the ones that should be involved in the decision making: the people in the Chapter,
and group, and regional levels--get their opinion. Find out whether the treasurer is right or
wrong.

One of the things I think is terribly important to do is to ask a lot of people's opinion about
everything, because one of the things I learned a long time ago is I'm wrong a lot. That's
how you find out, and it's better to find out before you do it. You learn a lot. So, you ask a
lot of questions. You go into it with an idea. You have to know what you're asking about.
You have to have the list that says here are some things, what are important to you.

But then they came back. They said, "This is what's important to us." I took it to the board.
I said, "This is the membership. This is your grassroots leadership speaking. This is what
they say is important to them. We are going to construct a budget that puts one of these in
it. Which one of the three do you want?"

But I didn't ask them exactly like that. We had a process that permitted them to evaluate,
and weigh them, and talk about them, and chew on it a while, and so on and so forth. And
one went in. And when push came to shove, yeah, [ remember going into the executive
director's office saying, "This goes in this year, or I'm going to fight the whole dang
budget." [Pause.]

That's a style. You've got to be willing to believe in something and say, "Okay, if you want
me to spend this year of my life making this thing work, you've got to at least give me
credit for having an idea once in a while, and this idea is a good idea. If you want me to
support everything you think is a good idea, you've got to at least acknowledge that there's
something else in the world, and that this is a good idea."

David Brower, who is my dear friend, and who I love dearly--David and Anne, of course,
are having serious health problems--David would come to me and say, "Denny, this is a
good idea, whether it was a handbook or whatever, and we need to do this, will you get it
done?"

And I would say, "David, you're David Brower, what are you coming to me for?"

He'd say, "Because you know how to get these things done." And it's the most flattering
thing that anybody could say to me. It's certainly flattering when a David Brower says it
you because, here's a man who has changed the world, but who recognizes that a guy like
myself who has none of the skills he has, and none of the eloquence he has, and none of the
vision he has, but who can line up four pieces on a table to make them work better, it's okay
to say, "Would you mind lining up those four pieces to make this work better?"
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Getting Inspiration from David Brower and the Complexity of Brower's Personality

Did you do that a lot with David Brower?
I did that a lot with every director. Yes.
Because when he came back on the board, he had--

I was president. I was president when he came on the first time. Oh, I think one of the real
thrills of my life was to serve with David.

What did he bring to the board, do you think, when he came back?

[Laughter, followed by a long pause] David keeps reminding you why you're doing this.
One of the dangers of being the kind of person I am is that you can be interested in solving
problems and forget why the devil you're solving them. I do love solving problems. Ilove
puzzles. You know, here's something that's broke. I like mechanical things that are broke
that I can fix. I do less of that than I used to. My fingers and eyes don't work as well as
they used to.

But David won't let you forget. David has focus on--he raises my spirits. He helps me feel
the grandeur of the potential. He helps you see beyond where you're going to see by
yourself. He helps you know that there is something bigger than your thoughts, and
grander than your thoughts, and more important than that, and that you can be part of it.

It seems almost a religious thing as you speak of it.

Oh! Well, of course it is. Well, religion, philosophy, and leadership, all those things--
they're all cut out of the same cloth I suppose. At some point you go from the mortal to the
immortal. People joke about David not being sure which category it falls into. He's mortal.
He's finding that out now, and it's painful I think, as it is for all of us.

I had an experience with David in a board retreat in Vermont, two years ago I guess it was
now. When I arrived, Adam was there to meet me and said, "Come with me, right now."
And I drove up with my family, and I hadn't a clue what he was talking about, and I thought
he was crazy. But I got out of my car, got in his car, and my family kept on in our car. |
went with him and he told me that David was sick, and that he was going home.

We went to the house where David and Anne were staying, and David was very sick. He
had been up all night. He clearly had fluid in his lungs. You could hear him breathe. He
had decided the thing for him to do was to go home. He was going to go to the local airport
and get a plane, as I recall, to New York, and then a plane from New York to Dallas, and
then a plane from Dallas to Oakland to see his doctor. And it occurred to everybody
present but David that this was a terrible idea, and that the Dartmouth medical center was
fifteen minutes away, and getting him there was a really good idea. Everyone had tried
convincing him of this.

Including Anne?
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Yes, and including Adam. Adam was waiting for me to get there on the assumption that
somehow I would be able to convince him of this. So, I talked to David and David talked
to me, and he was going to do this. David does not say, "This is what I think," he says,
"This is what's going to happen."

And I said, "David, why are you doing this?"
"Well, this is my doctor."

I said, "So you trust this man?"

He said, "Of course I trust this man."

I said, "Good. What's his name and phone number?" He gave it to me and I said, "I'm
going to call him."

He said, "You can't. It's the middle of the night there."

I said, "Watch me." I called him. I got an answering service. And I talked to the doctor
who was on duty, explained to him what was going on. I said, "I need the doctor's phone
number and this is why." He gave it to me. I called the doctor, woke him up, explained
what was going on. I said, "You know David as well as I do. He's your patient. My
judgement is his doing this is a very bad idea. I want to take him to the medical center
here. He wants to come see you. I want you to talk to him. He talked to David.
Convinced David that his going to the local medical center was better idea.

And we took him there. I spent the day with David. They put him in a wheelchair and I
wheeled him from station to station because Anne could not physically do it. And he was
amazed that I would do this. "Why would you do this? Why don't you go to the
meetings?"

"David, you're my friend. What would I be doing at a meeting? That's crazy." And so we
did. We spent the day this way. And at the end of the day the doctors allowed as how that
had he flown home, the odds were he wouldn't have made it.

He had fluid in his lungs?

Oh, bad! And they gave medication to start draining the fluid down, told him to take this,
and so on and so forth. And in two days of rest and taking the medication he was
significantly better and was ready to go home. And in the meantime he had had two or
three television interviews and done all these other things. But he'd gotten some rest and so
on and so forth.

But it is a characteristic of David, who is this man who has influenced so greatly a
movement and the people in it, including myself. The first talk I ever gave as a Sierra Club
person, I quoted David Brower. I've still got the talk. And yet, David Brower could not
figure out why I would spend a day pushing him around the Dartmouth medical center.
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[Long pause] David understands why people, when he comes into a large auditorium,
cheer him, but he doesn't understand why they would love him. And that's the best way I
can describe the complexity of David Brower. I wish--1 wish he understood he's lovable.

I think you're capturing him very well from what I know.

Because, boy he is. Cantankerous. Pain in the butt. But lovable. It's been good to have an
opportunity to know him.

Emotions, and an Emotional Time of Life

Let's pause there for a minute. [tape interruption] We're talking about how emotional this
is, [that you have had some tears] discussing not only David Brower but other things in the
club, and since I don't really know Denny Shaffer really well, I want to know is this
characteristic of you as a person, or is this an emotional time vis-a-vis the Sierra Club?

Oh, it's an emotional time for me in my life. I'm reaching a point in my life where I'm
thinking about retirement. I'm thinking what I want to do with what time I have left. I'm
going to be sixty-seven in just a short period of time. I have a seven-year-old daughter. It
causes you to evaluate things. I'm cutting my ties with San Francisco this week, and this
month. My role in the Sierra Club is not going to ever be the same again. Not because I--
I'm certainly not angry with anybody--I mean, it's oversimplification to say, "Been there,
done that." But, you know, been there for thirty years or so, and done that, and there are
good people there that can do it well.

I believe that which is important in life comes out of feelings, not thoughts. That we think
through things, and we rationalize them, and we evaluate them, and we weigh them, but in
our best moments we do what our heart and soul says is the thing to do. It's not logical for
me to have a seven-year-old daughter. But it's clearly the best thing that's ever happened to
me in my life. The people in the environmental movement that [ believe have been the
most significant--or some of the people that have been the most significant, there's
exceptions to that--but, you know, I think of Brower who was able to move people deeply.
Brock Evans. Brock Evans who could bring tears to the eyes of people when he talked to
them.

I remember [ was involved--one of the things I have good feelings about--I was involved
with the ExComs that gave Brock Evans, John McComb, Mike McCloskey, the Muir
award. The only three over a number of years. The only employees that ever got the
award, and I was on the ExComs that did that, and it's not a coincidence.

Because it was sort of an unwritten rule that they [as staff members] wouldn't get it.
Yes, yes, yes. And then when we got to Mike it was this, "Well, but he's still here."
And I said, "So what do you want him to do, die? Or quit, and then you give it to him? I

mean, this is nuts. The man deserves it. He ought to get it." An argument that held up. 1
remember [ gave Brock--1 did the presentation for Brock's Muir award. I remember
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writing it in the style that I thought Brock would write it because I believe that people who
do something very well over a period of time, and recognize they do it very well get very
attached to the way they do it. So, hearing something done in a way that is harmonious
with the way they would do it, has a good chance of meeting with approval.

I started doing this thing, and I looked down front, and Cynthia Wayburn was in the front
row, and she had tears running down her face, and I said to myself, "Denny, you got it
right." [Laughter] And there were a lot of teary eyes before I was finished. Because
Brock was a man who speaks from the soul, who speaks of this tie we have to the primitive
earth that beats within all of us, and if we just shut up and be quiet awhile and hear it, that
we would be enriched by it. These people who have done that sort of--I think it's very
important. The emotion part of life is important to me.

I am of German stock. It does not come naturally. I don't remember being hugged as a
child. All of this emotional stuff was something I had to grow into. Fortunately in the
sixties when all the strange things were happening I learned that feelings were a good idea.
So yes, I laugh about the fact that [ can get teary at beer commercials.

[Laughing] Oh dear.

That's a slight exaggeration.
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VII EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND THE FUNCTIONING OF THE CLUB

Mike McCloskey: Vision and Service

Yes. I'm not quite sure where to take us from here. You were treasurer under a number of
presidents and executive directors.

A number of presidents and a number of executive directors.
I guess you're not really under the executive director, but along side.

Well, people have different view points of that, particularly different executive directors.
But I always made the assumption that I did not serve under the executive director, that |
served under the president and board of directors.

Yes, I think that's the way the organization works. But it would be appropriate to talk some
about how you worked with club executive directors?

Sure.

Mike [McCloskey] was executive director until eighty-five. Let's pin down the years you
served as treasurer.

Yes. Well, I was treasurer under Ted [Snyder]| for two years [1978-1980], Joe [Fontaine]
two years [1980-1982], that's four years. Larry [Downing] two years [1986-1988], that's
six years. And then part of a year under Richard Cellarius [1988-1989] because that's the
year I resigned as treasurer--which was sort of David Browerish--and then, of course, when
I came on the board this last time and served as treasurer under Robbie Cox [1994-1995].
The difference. Oh my! They were different times. You want to ask questions? Ask me a
question. Just what's the difference between the executive directors?

Tell us how you functioned with these different executive directors. It will give us a chance
to have you sort of evaluate their styles, and tell something about what happened.
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Let me talk about the executive directors beyond the context of treasurer. Let's talk about
the whole concept of how they worked, and how it worked. Mike McCloskey is one of the
best human beings I've ever met. He has no peer in quality. I have a letter here, that I
found in digging out my file. [Reaches for and opens file] [ wrote in 1993 to Mike saying
I'm going to do this oral history, and I would be interested in your suggestions as to things |
might cover. And he sent me back two pages, very orderly, that are mostly questions. How
did you change this? What did you do about that? What did you see as your stamp on this?
What did you think about how that worked out?

And then he went on to say in closing, "I'll be interested to read your responses. ['ve
learned a lot from you through the years, and I look forward to learning more." No other
executive director of the Sierra Club has ever come close to saying anything like that to me,
other than Mike. Not their style. It would suggest I knew something they didn't know, and
that would be threatening for them to admit. That's obviously a judgement statement on
my part. They would probably see it differently. But I know they never did.

Mike still does it. Mike has no need to prove himself because his being proves him. What
he is makes a statement, not what he does. Though what he does is outstanding.

Working with Mike was always positive. Never any game playing or anger, or never any
threat of something being done behind my back. Never playing one party against another
party. Always open, and always thinking, always organized. Mike kept on his wall a chart
of important things that were happening in the Sierra Club, which could be something for
funding a chapter project to tax status of the Sierra Club. Important, important to
somebody. They were in the pipeline, and he would have this chart. Where are these
things now? And when will they be ready for the next action? When will they likely get to
the board of directors? And he kept all of these things moving that probably nobody but
Mike really knew was happening--all of them, but knew about individual pieces of course.
And it was all done out in the open for all to see and be a part of if they wished.

Now, I've heard the criticism that he wasn't a great administrator. As you say that, it sounds
like a good administrator. So how do you--

Mike's strength is his vision and his lack of needing to prove himself. He has a strong
enough ego that he didn't have to prove it. Brilliance. Absolutely a brilliant man. True
believer. A man who understands the honor of service. I come out of the Christian faith.
The Christian faith talks about the honor of being a servant. Not taking it too far, but Christ
washed the disciples' feet. A bizarre idea for somebody who is supposedly God to be
washing people's feet. But the point, I think, to be made is that service is a good idea. That
serving your fellow human beings is the highest calling. Mike McCloskey understands
this. Mike would do whatever needs to be done, and do it well.

But Mike was not trained as an administrator. He did not come from a background that
made management system a natural part of your life. I'll give you an example. I'm
treasurer. Times are tough. Board and everybody has agreed what we're going to do is
we're going to reduce travel on the part of staff and volunteers for a period of three months
because this is one of the things you could sort of turn down quickly. So it was decided that
the treasurer would have to approve volunteer travel before it could be authorized, and the
executive director staff [travel] before it could be authorized. Mike gets a call about
something--he is to go to Europe about something. He comes to me and says, "Denny, |
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don't know what to do about this because I've got to monitor the staff travel. I've got to go
to Europe. What should I do?"

I said, "Mike, this is not a problem. What you do is you put a letter out to your staff saying
'T'm going to be gone for a week. You know what's going on in staff travel, if you feel like
you have to travel, go and write down the story about why it is you got to do it, leave it on
my desk, and use your best judgement."

Well, Mike thought about it, he said, "I believe that will work."

I said, "Of course it will work. They'll be harder on themselves than you would be if you
were here." And they were.

Now that's a simple management system. But it was not something that readily came to
Mike. It readily came to me. But Mike readily saw that it would work. The budget was
just a terribly difficult task for Mike because Mike felt a personal responsibility for every
dern number in it. And it ate him up. Wore him out. Wore him down. But the best
executive director by far the club has ever had in my knowledge--now I never saw David
Brower as executive director, so I have no judgement of that, but I've seen the rest of them,
and there's Mike and then there's everybody else.

Creating the Position of Chairman for Mike

When Mike left and became chairman, was it because things like dealing with the budget
that had just gotten to be too much or what?

Mike had worn himself out. Mike actually lost his temper in the middle of a meeting one
time and threw a pile of paper down on the table and walked out. It was a small meeting of
six or eight people, but I was there.

Was it a finance committee meeting?

No, it was a subgroup of people. But it said to me what we all had been noticing, that Mike
was burned out. He was worn out. He was being forced to deal with stuff he really hated to
do, and it was time for him to do something else. But that this was what he did. And so the
board talked a lot about it, and we met and held a meeting, and talked about it some more, I
was asked by the board of directors to sit down with Mike--at the Tabard Inn, in my room
at the [Tabard] Inn after a board meeting. I said, "Mike, next year at this time you're going
to be doing something different from being executive director of the Sierra Club. Now,
what you and I need to do is figure out how to have this be a good thing for everyone: for
you and for the organization. This can be done. But you know that you're worn out with
this, and you know that we need to move things around. And I haven't a clue what it is I'm
suggesting, except that it will be different."

And Mike, in typical Mike style, said, "Well, all right, we'll do that that way." Now, I'm
sure in his stomach, it must have been like getting hit hard because he had been executive
director a long time. I don't know what his thoughts were.
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The job of chairman was developed at my kitchen table in Fayetteville. Mike came down
there at a later time after a number of discussions and we tried to figure out what was Mike
going to do, and it led nowhere. He came down, and we sat down one morning over some
tea (Mike and I are both tea drinkers), and I said to him, "Mike, I've been thinking over
night that we're stuck on this thing, and I don't want to talk about the job. What I want to
do is talk about you."

He said, "All right."

I said, "Mike, tell me what it is that you really don't like doing, the sort of things that you
might just have a second cup of tea before getting to."

HH

So he started listing a few things, and in typical Mike style sort of apologetically, saying
that he realized these were important things and he was certainly willing to do them, and so
on and forth, but that they weren't the things which he found most personally rewarding.
With all those caveats I finally got a list put together. I said, "Okay fine, now let's do
another list. What are the things, when you know you are going to do them, you can't wait
to get in there?"

"Oh well!" And so we made this list up.

And I said, "Mike, we've got a job description. What we do is we throw away the first list,
give these tasks to someone else, and we make a job of the second list, and that's it." And
that became "chairman of the Sierra Club." It had to be titled and it had to be cited, you
know, where does it fit in the structure, and so on and so forth. That's what basically Mike
has done since then.

He doesn't have line authority. Is that correct?

That's right. He has no--now, that's what would--now, when we tried to work something
out like that for Brock Evans, Brock could not do it. I tried to do the exact same thing with
Brock at a different time when Brock's--

Previously?

Previously. And Brock looked at it and said, "But I don't have people working for me.
And that's the test of whether this is an important job or not."

I said, "Well, it could be viewed that way. But the truth of the matter is what we want you
to do is something that does not need to have twenty-seven people underneath you. This
uses your skills." And Brock could not bring himself to do that. He saw that as a
demotion, so he left the club, a loss for us and for Brock.

Mike, on the other hand, being just such a terribly different personality style, was looking
more at the substance of what he would be doing, and less of what people would see when
they looked at what he was doing.
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One more observation--It was noted later when Doug Wheeler was executive director that
he had an open door policy. The door to his office was always open, and Mike had often
had his door closed, and that this was a wonderful thing because people could always go in
and talk to Doug. It was Kim who observed to me, she said, "You noticed, however, that
when Mike was executive director there was always somebody in the office with Mike.
With Doug there's very seldom anybody in the office with Doug." That's, I think, a strong
commentary.

Douglas Wheeler as Executive Director, 1985-1987

Doug Wheeler, I was not on the board when Doug was hired [1985-1987]. Michele was
president. It was the year I was off the board. I was not part of that process.

Did you have any role in shaping the recruiting?

I had taken it up to the doorway. Because I had been involved with getting Mike's changes
made, and so on and so forth. I had been involved in the search. When Michele became
president, she decided that other people would do that better than I would, and I was no
longer part of that. And that was fine. [ mean, that's what presidents should do. They
should have the people working with them that they want to have working with them.

Well, they used a search--

They had a search firm. Yes, they had a head hunter. Anyhow, so then Doug was hired.
My experience--1 have two observations, other than the one I made I guess about Doug.

But you did come back as treasurer while Doug Wheeler was executive director?

Yes [1986-1988]. I was involved in his executive director’s evaluation by the ExCom.
And Larry was having serious health problems. Larry [Downing, president 1986-1988]
had back surgery shortly after that, during his presidency. I remember in doing Doug's
evaluation of saying to him, "Doug, you know, I'm curious about one thing, and this is not
your performance. It's just that I can't stand not asking the question. But you are really an
establishment kind of fellow, and the Sierra Club ain't. You know we're kind of
revolutionary at times. It's curious to me how you come to this job and see this
organization that is--you're a very conservative fellow, politically and philosophically, and
so on."

It wasn't just his being a Republican, but his temperament and all?

No, no. His temperament. You know, he was not a revolutionary. He was not--he was
certainly in favor of change, but he wanted it to be comfortable--and he certainly didn't
want to do things that irritated people like the Sierra Club is known to do--powerful
organizations, or corporations, or things like that.

And his response was basically that he expected that he would move a little bit in the
direction of the Sierra Club, and the Sierra Club would move a little bit towards the
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direction of his thinking. He underestimated the spirit of the Sierra Club. The Sierra Club
is not going to change because any one of its leaders has a philosophy that is a little bit
different than the club's. It will listen to it, and it may adapt to it in some small way, but it's
not going to make a big difference.

Doug was in our home in Fayetteville a couple of times for Sierra Club meetings when
committees met there. Doug was willing to sign on a ballot statement when he saw
something that was going to be run as an initiative on a Sierra Club ballot that he thought
was detrimental to the club. I don't think any executive director before or since has been
willing to take that risk.

Do you remember what that was?

It had to do with the effects of war on the environment as I recall. It was around that issue

somewhere, which was the big hot issue of that period of time. So I admired that in him. I
liked him personally.

Handling the Staff Mutiny against Wheeler

I, unfortunately, was involved with the fiasco of his leaving. I got a phone call from John
McComb saying, "Denny, what are you doing?"

I said, "I'm trying to make a living."

He said, "You need to go to San Francisco."

I said, "Why?"

He said, "Things are in big trouble out there?"
"What is that?"

He said, "Well, the staff is really in revolt with Doug, and somebody needs to get out
there."

I said, "Well, I'm the treasurer and vice president for political affairs."

He said, "Yes, but you need to get out here."

Larry was in the hospital as I recall. Bob Howard was the vice president. Bob Howard
came out. I came out. We talked to Doug Wheeler. We talked to members of the staff, and
it was clear that this was an incredible situation where the department heads had just risen

up in revolt against the executive director.

Now, how would you describe the basic conflict? Was it this a cultural thing,
philosophical?
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It is hard to put into a simple concept. It was just that they had decided they had enough of
him as executive director, and there's going to be no more of him. It astounded me
because, as a guy who comes out of an administrative management background, I'm sorry,
folks, you cannot let the employees decide who the boss is going to be. This is not a
popularity contest. Someone wrote a letter for the department heads to sign saying that
Doug had to go. Eleven of twelve department heads signed it. The one that did not, Len
Levitt, was the one that had come out of a management background.

So that didn't fit with your concept of how things should be run.

No, this didn't suit me a dang bit. By the same token, it was clear to me we had serious
problems. Bob Howard and I had a conversation in which we agreed that we were in the
middle of a mine field, and that we were in great potential to be set up for something bad as
individuals, and that we would make no decisions and take no actions unilaterally,
separately. And if possible, the two of us would get together and get on the phone with
Larry and get a third opinion before we said anything, but if we had to say something we
would be sure two of us were in the room.

Almost within hours, the staff, which was meeting in a hotel somewhere downtown, got
hold of Bob Howard, got him to that meeting. Didn't invite me. Gave him a letter which
eleven had signed saying that they would resign if Doug Wheeler was not fired. Bob
Howard came back and delivered the letter to Doug Wheeler. I am in the adjacent office,
and Michele [Perrault] gets wind of something going on. At that point Bob Howard walks
in the office and tells me what's going on.

So Bob did this without bringing it to you.

I hadn't a clue. I had no idea what was happening. And I went through the roof. I said,
"Bob, how could you do this?"

He said, "Well, this is what they said needed to be done, and I believe they're correct. This
is my best judgement, and so I've done this."

I said, "Well, indeed you have. Now you and I are going back into Doug Wheeler's office
and tell him he is not unemployed because his employees wish him to be unemployed."

And he said, "Well, I don't know what we should do."

I said, "That's not the debate at the moment. This is the decision that's made. We're going
to go do this because we just cannot do this this way. I mean, among other things, I'm not
sure it's legal. I mean, this is just--we can't do this."

Michele was there for this conversation.

Michele was an officer?

She was a director at that point.

We went back in the office and had a conversation with Doug Wheeler in which basically I
said to him that I don't know exactly what Bob said but, "I'm here to tell you from this
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officer's point of view that you are the executive director of the Sierra Club. But I'm also
here to tell you that you are in deep trouble. That ain't a news flash to you. But I'm not
here to tell you that I'm going to make all this well, and that everything is going to be okay.
I'm not sure that it is. But I'm going to tell you that I don't know exactly what Bob said, but
the two of us are standing here, and I only represent myself in this and this is your job.
You've got this job. You need to do this job."

This went down hill fast. There was a lot of bad feeling. Phil Berry and Michele both felt
that people had done the wrong thing, me in particular, and that we had in effect run Doug
off.

But if Michele was involved, didn't she see that you--

Well, you'd have to ask Michele. I've asked Michele. I've heard these stories, what bad
things I've done, and I said, "Michele, don't you remember the conversation in which I got
the news that Bob had talked to Doug?"

But Doug and I had another conversation later that was--. Then we tried to put together a
budget under Doug, and Doug could not put the budget together. So we came together with
the finance committee, as I recall, to put the budget together, and Doug didn't have a budget
for us.

[Added during interviewee review: But Doug had been hired when Michele was president.
This became very personal to her, very quickly. But I sure was not behind any movement
to get rid of Doug, and was in fact very angry with the department heads for the way they
went about this. And then with Bob Howard for his part. At any rate, then we quickly had
a Finance Committee meeting. I tried to work with Doug to get the budget ready for the
meeting, but Doug could not get it done. So we met, and he came to us and said he didn’t
have a budget for us.]

Was it because he couldn't cooperate with the staff?

Couldn't get staff--Nobody would do what he wanted done. It was mutiny. It was, pure
and simply, it was just awful. So what we did was, we came back the next week and had a
budget put together with the staff, without Doug. Because, being the pragmatic fellow I
am, I said, "Well, if I can't get an executive director to put it together, I'll get the dang thing
put together by the staff, because we've got to have a budget."

Some people viewed that as being detrimental to Doug. But I viewed it as, "Man, I gave
you the chance, and you couldn't do it, and we can't stop the organization. We've got to
have a budget."

Doug Scott--1 don't remember who the other two people were [JoAnn Hurley and John
McComb], but they took on the responsibility of getting a budget put together, and did a
commendable job in the week. They did it with more enjoyment than I wished that they
would, and I said as much. When I got out here the next week I remembering taking Doug
Scott in a quiet office and saying to him, "Doug, this is not anything anybody needs to feel
good about. There are no winners in this situation, and we all should be careful in the way
we govern ourselves this weekend, that we recognize that this is a sad time for everybody,
and that we're here to try and get something done."
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But it developed so much into a winners-losers, us-and-them, bad stuff. And I do
remember talking to Doug [Wheeler] at the end of that weekend, and trying to convey to
him that I thought this was a situation which he needed to react to. He kept wanting it all to
go away. And he kept thinking that this was going to be okay. And I'm saying to him,
"Doug, this is not going to be okay. It's not just going away." He left that conversation and
met up with Phil Berry within an hour or so, and basically said to Phil that I had told him
that it was all over, and that he was broken hearted about it and so on and so forth. I think
Phil viewed it as me, I don't know, firing him, or whatever. Obviously I couldn't do that. It
took eight votes of the board.

I never did that. What I tried to do with Doug is to say, "Doug, this is a bad situation. I
don't know exactly how it came by. I don't have any admiration for what these people are
doing here. I don't know how to fix this. If I were you, I would try to figure a way out of
this that lets everybody come out as good as they can. Nobody's going to come out of this
very good."

Would one response have been to get rid of all that senior staff that was in rebellion?
That would have been one possibility.
Was that ever considered seriously?

It was never considered seriously. I think there was a willingness on the part of some
directors to perhaps lop off a head or two. But I think in the main the board looked at this
and said, "This is just a mess," and I think, it turned out the majority of the directors felt
that it was time for Doug to move on. I think it was--I will tell you a story about that. |
think some of the directors were hoping it would all go away.

Larry, who was president, recognizing the seriousness of this, talked to every director
individually. And discussed the pros and cons, and listened to their pros and cons, and
wanted their opinion, and so on and so forth. When he got to the point where eight
directors said that they felt that it was time for Doug to be replaced, he got each of those
directors, including me, to sign a letter saying that's how we would vote, which was a sort
of lawyerly thing for Larry to do. It would never have occurred to me, but, of course, I'm
not a lawyer. But it was a good idea because he didn't want this to come to a vote, and be
close, and the guy stay and have a bitterly divided board supporting your executive
director. So he did it.

The man who was the eighth vote was David Brower. And Larry said to David, "It's
interesting that you feel that he needs to go, since you have been in this position and know
what this feels like." And he said, "Would you share with me your thinking?"

And he said, "Doug has a fatal flaw."

Larry said to him, "Well, what is that?"

He said, "He does not listen to the people around him, and I should know because I have
the same flaw."
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I don't know what the final vote was. I don't remember. I don't know whether that was the
eighth vote that was that significant, or if it was the eighth out of nine or ten, or whatever.
It doesn't matter. But it was time for him to move on. [Added during interviewee review:
It was, however, a very difficult meeting. Phil and Michele went so far as to try to get
enough votes to remove Larry from the presidency. The plan, as [ remember it, was to
promise Richard Cellarius that he would then be chosen president to get his vote to their
way of thinking. It had some support, but of course, the majority had better judgement.]
And then, of course, the next executive director was Mike again, who came back again;
reincarnation, and to great glory and applause. [ was here for several meetings. | was here
at the first staff meeting Mike held after he came back, and there was a standing ovation. If
Mike ever needed to know how appreciated he was, it was clear.

But again, we called on Mike, and Mike was the good soldier. Actually Mike and Maxine
stayed in (our) this apartment here in San Francisco for a while during that period of time
because they didn't move back, because it was temporary. I said to Mike, "Do you want to
use the apartment?"

"Oh, I wouldn't do that."

"Well, it's there, you know."

And they did.

Reservations about Michael Fischer, Executive Director 1987-1992

Then we hired Michael [Fischer]. Michael came in.

I don't know how much one is supposed to acknowledge in these things.

I think if you don't acknowledge, there's no point in doing this interview.

There were two people who opposed hiring Michael Fischer. I was one of them. Larry
Downing was the other. I was the first one to voice that opinion after about nine people, or
ten people had said this is the thing to do. It would have been easier for me to have kept my
mouth shut. But I had reservations about Michael. Not about his sincerity. Not about--I
mean, he's a good man.

Was this based on an interviewing situation, or what you knew about him?

Oh yes. He'd been interviewed twice actually. He'd been interviewed for the job when
Doug Wheeler had been hired, and, of course, I was not part of that process. Then he was
interviewed when he was hired, and [ was part of that process.

Would it have been in front of the whole board, or a committee?

[Pause] I think it was both. I think the initial interview was by a small group, and then
there was a final interview by the whole board.
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As I recall it. I wouldn't swear to that, but that's the way I remember it. Michael came in to
a difficult time, as did Doug. [ mean, my goodness, following Mike McCloskey as
executive director, anybody would have had a difficult time. Following an uprising of the
staff that has just run off the executive director? Michael Fischer came in determined that
that wasn't going to happen to him.

What was your initial objection? I interrupted you when you were saying you--

I have always felt that the Sierra Club underestimates its potential. The Sierra Club is the
most powerful, most ethical, most--it has the greatest potential of any environmental
organization in the world. It's high on the list of cause organizations. We ought to have the
best in the world doing what we have--there are people out there who are so good, so
capable, so--the executive director of the Sierra Club should certainly be somebody that
could be executive director of General Motors. [ mean why not? Aren't we as important as
General Motors? Well, of course we are. Can we pay as much? Of course not. Does
everybody work for money? Of course not. And the people we are looking for don't. They
obviously need to be paid, but that's not what motivates them.

Did you want a manager or an inspirational leader?

Oh, I have always opted for a person who had the ability to lead, and who had people skills.
I think the higher up the food chain of management you get, the more people skills are just
what you've got to do because that's what you do. So, I felt they had to have people skills,
some management background. They had to have actually run something somewhere of
some size and some significance, and done it well. Have the cause deep in their soul, so
they instinctively understand what makes these things happen and why people give large
parts of their life to this. Be ethical. That's my list.

I wasn't looking, as some people suggested, for the second coming. It would be nice. But 1
felt that Michael had not ever been in a position comparable in any way in scale and size to
all of that. I felt that he was very capable, but that there was no risk that anybody would
ask him to be chairman of General Motors. Not that he would want to be. I mean, that's a
figure of speech.

But he was executive director of the California Coastal Commission.

That's correct. But, to a North Carolinian that's less impressive than it may be to somebody
from California. And it was a gut feeling, I suppose, because it goes back to what you
talked to me about emotions a while ago. It's what I felt.

Anyhow we hired him. I worked very closely with him. He has been my guest in
Fayetteville. He has been our guest in Italy with his wife, who is absolutely charming,
Jane.

I had two problems personally with Michael. Michael was sort of a passive aggressive type
fellow, and that drives me sort of crazy because I'm fairly directional. Tell me what the
problem is and let's deal with it, and if we can't deal with it, that's fine, but, you know.
There was a problem--if you went to Michael and said, "Michael, there's a fire in the
library." Michael's response would likely be, "Oh, have you heard what we've done in the
outings program that's really exciting?"
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And I would say, "No, what is that?"
"Well, we've done this."
And I would say, "Well, that's good Michael, but what about the fire in the library?"

And he would say, "Oh. Well. But have you heard about this news coverage." And you
never could get to deal with the fire in the library until it no longer mattered; the place had
burned down.

Was that consistent do you think, or the way he dealt particularly with you?
Well, it was the way he dealt with--No, I think it was fairly consistent.

I resigned as treasurer when Richard Cellarius was president and Michael was the
executive director because of the style of the two of them. The three of us would talk, or
Michael and I would talk, and we would have an agreement on something that was going to
happen. "We'll do this, this, and this. Michael, is that right?"

"Yes, that's right."

"Do you feel okay about that?"
"Yes, I feel okay about that."
"Is it going to work this way?"
"Yes, this will work this way."

Then I would go home, and he would have a conversation with Richard, who was the
president, and they would decide to do something else. I would find out about it later, third
hand, and [ would say, "Wait a minute. What happened to the conversation we had?"

HOh'H

It would sort of go back to the fire in the library. You would find yourself talking about
three things, and I would say, "Wait a minute. You and I had an agreement that we were
going to do A, B, and C. Now you're telling me that you and Richard have decided we're
not going to do two of those, and the third is going to be done differently. I'm here to say to
you that the president and the executive director are certainly in a position to do that, but
the treasurer would appreciate knowing what's going on. Also, if these are financial
matters, should I not be part of the conversation? I mean, if it goes from a three-way
conversation to a two-way conversation, that's cool, but shouldn't I be there? I mean, what
happened? What role do I play here?"

It got to the point where we were putting together a budget which was not responsible, in
my judgement. It was not a budget which I felt was acceptable. There were things being

done which I could not, in good conscience, permit my name to be--

Like a budget out of balance?
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We weren't doing what we said we were going to do. And I can't abide that. I wouldn't
abide that. I just said then, "You're going to take my name off this." I shocked the
daylights out of everybody, because | said--we were in a closed meeting. I don't exactly
remember the particular issue, but it was a financial matter having to do with the budget
expenditures and priorities and so on. I said, "This is what we agreed to do, and this is
what's happened." And I went through the details. "We did this. We had this agreement.
Now we're here. Now we have this. This process stinks," and nya, nya, nya. And Richard
and Michael sort of agreeing though that that's the way it's going to be. I said, "Well, it can
be that way, but I'm not going to be treasurer. I'm going to resign. When we go into open
meeting, put this on the agenda, I resign."

Well, people thought I was being temperamental. But [ wasn't being temperamental. 1
went into the meeting, and within five minutes of the meeting opening up I had resigned as
treasurer.

Did the reasons come out?

I don't think so. There was no need to beat it to death. I mean, I wasn't trying to discredit
anybody, or pick a fight. It's just that [ wasn't going to permit my name to be on something
that I could not have some responsibility for.

Who would your main beef be with in that situation: the president, or the executive
director?

Oh I think the truth of the matter is, it was with the president.
Because that's really your line of authority.

Yes. I think Richard has served the club honorably and well over the years. Richard is--
without any reservation, I could say has no peer as secretary of the Sierra Club in my time.
Keeping things orderly, keeping us informed of what's going on. The business of bylaws,
and all of that, standing rules. Richard is the man who understands that, as nobody else
does. I have great admiration for Richard's service to the club. I consider Richard my
friend. I think Richard had trouble adjusting to the role of the presidency. There was a lot
of pressure put on Richard that he found difficult to deal with. As there has been in every
presidency I can think of, there was a lot of controversy. As I recall it was the mountain
climbing stuff, the mountaineers going oftf--

Insurance.

Yes, insurance not being available for certain kinds of outings which were then cancelled to
protect the club financially. And this was not something that was happening because of
anything that Richard did, but the storm fell upon him. He took it seriously. These were
people that he respected and cared about, who he thought should treat the president of the
Sierra Club better than they were treating him. They, on the other hand, saw Richard as a
bad person doing bad things because they weren't getting what they wanted.

That happens a lot.
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It happens. We do that to each other, in the Sierra Club and in the rest of the world for that
matter. Anyhow, it was a reflection probably more--or as much on Richard, but Michael
knowingly went in to it, making it happen too. So I lost a good deal in my confidence in
him as well, and he and I had a conversation to that effect. That's my reflections on him.
Of course we've got Carl now. I guess I might as well finish the deck.

Hiring and Working with Andrea Bonnette

Let me just ask one more thing about Michael. When you were no longer treasurer, did you
have anything to do with Michael's leaving or subsequent relationships at the Sierra Club?

I worked a lot with Michael, particularly as far as Andrea [Bonnette] was concerned.
Andrea came in to be the administrative person, and to shore up the staff. Michael's having
strong sides and weak sides, or less strong sides, however you want to put. And the idea
was to bring in a strong administrative person who will shape the place up and Michael can
continue to be Michael and do the things which he is good at. Andrea was hired to that
end. She was interviewed by, as | mentioned earlier, Maurice Holloway and myself, and a
couple of other people.

It was a fascinating interview because she came from Chicago. Flew in. Her plane was
late. Her baggage was lost. She had to come in the clothes that she traveled in. Did the
best she could with it. Bought a scarf to put over her whatever to dress it up a little bit.

[Laughingly] Sweat pants.
Yes, whatever. Sweat suit, or whatever.
##8B]

Both Maurice Holloway and I--We went around the room. We interviewed a number of
people: three or four. After each interview, each of us would say what we thought. I was
first with Andrea, for whatever reason. I said, "I'd like to pass." We went to somebody, and
then we went to Maurice, and Maurice said that he had been interviewing people for a
number of years. He, of course, was chief executive officer and one of the major owners of
Corn Nuts at that time, a big corporation. So this is not something he is unfamiliar with
doing. And he said, "You know, I don't have any negatives on my sheet." He said, "And I
don't remember ever interviewing anybody before that way."

And I broke up. I just broke up. [Laughter] They all looked at me like I had lost it. I said,
"Okay I'll fess up. That's why I didn't want to go first. Because I've never interviewed
anybody that I didn't have any negatives. Everything I got down here is one hundred
percent across the board. I figured, man, you've missed something. There's something
wrong with the way you've done this."

So we hired her--

Now, Michael was in on this.
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Michael was in on this, yes.
Because we talked about having the executive director hire people.

Oh yes. Well, let me back up and tell you how that worked. Mike McCloskey actually
instigated this, instituted this, which was a very good idea. He did it first with Len Levitt as
I recall. That was the beginning, and it's been followed ever since, to the best of my
judgement. Before that the directors did the hires. Executive director puts a search in
place. Executive director comes up with the two or three finalists. Those two or three
finalists are interviewed by different groups of people. Depending on what the executive
director seeks to do, one of the groups of people is always a group of volunteers: two or
three volunteers who then give their recommendation to the executive director, which he
can follow or not follow.

Okay, that gets it clarified.

That way the executive director has others' input into the decision. This is a very good idea
for all kinds of reasons. One of which is that there's buy-in from a number of directions to
the hire ahead of time, so if it doesn't turn out too well, then the executive director isn't left
hanging out, all by himself. So that was the process. It's a good point.

So, going through this, Michael is down to two or three. We do these interviews. And it
turns out that everybody agreed, including Michael, that this is the person to be hired.
Turned out that Andrea was a very strong personality, to be kind about it. Extremely
competent. Very bright. Absolutely genius-class woman. But really enjoyed a fight. And
the first board meeting that we were in, she and [ went at it tooth and nail. I mean she just
sort of threw barbs at me, and I just would grab them and throw them right back.

You weren't treasurer?
I don't know whether I was or not. I don't know what I was then. I must have been.

Treasurer to '88, and then you said again under Robbie Cox. Well, anyway, we'll get the
dates.

I don't remember what I was. But at any rate, it was just awful. I remember going in her
office--1 caught her after the meeting. I said, "Andrea, I want to talk to you."

She said, "All right, fine."

So we went in her office and closed the door. I said, "Andrea, how do you think you and I
looked out there, in this meeting?"

She looked at me sort of strange and said, "Well, probably not very good."

I said, "Well, that was sort of my feeling." And I said, "It doesn't seem to me that either one
of us are profiting by doing what we did in there." Isaid, "Can you and I spend a little
time between this meeting and the next meeting figuring out how we can do this better the
next time?"
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She said, "Yes," and I went back to North Carolina. She and I never had any problems
again in public, but she had a really bad characteristic of saying bad things about people to
other people, including Michael. She would say that Michael did this, or Michael was that,
and she would portray him as incompetent, and so on, and so on, and so forth. Again, I did
what [ do. I said Michael came to Italy and visited us. Andrea came to Fayetteville, and
we played golf together. She had always wanted to play golf at Pinehurst. I said, "You
come to North Carolina, and I'll take you playing golf at Pinehurst." And we did, and I still
remember her laughing as we walked up on to the one green saying, "Do you suppose
anybody in the Sierra Club knows who you are?" [Laughter.] I knew exactly what she was
talking about because I do have interests other than the Sierra Club.

You mean the golf?

Well, yes. Golf or whatever. I enjoy a lot of different things that do not necessarily fit the
stereotype. Whatever that is.

So I tried to solve this puzzle between these two people. I was involved in all that, and did
it very poorly, obviously. Then Andrea left the club right before Michael. That was sort of
Michael's final act: to work with Andrea to her separation. I don't know how that exactly
was phrased, but she ended up leaving the club at that point. Then Michael left the club.

Differences with Phil Berry

How did you get along with Phil Berry during all of this? He was president during that
period when Andrea left the club.

Phil's vision of what a director does and what an officer does is different.
From yours, or from other people's?

Yes, certainly from mine. [Pause] More hands off. More interested in specific issues and
things. Less interested in the nuts and bolts. It's interesting. Phil and I have been
adversaries a number of occasions. When I ran for president, he was the primary adversary
to me. He was trying to get anybody but Shaffer. The Wheeler thing, he viewed me as the
bad guy in that. We've fallen out like that. But I certainly view him as a brilliant,
dedicated, long-term advocate--brilliant, very emotional. Another one of these people that
is bright as hell and goes through all the analysis and then does what he feels is the right
thing to do whether it makes any sense at all.

When I was president of the Sierra Club, I was presiding over the annual dinner at--
downtown. I think it's called One Market now or something. It was a big area down there
where the annual dinner was being held, and we had a bomb threat because Lyndon
LaRouche--we had offended him, and we were being picketed. Then after the dinner
started we had a bomb threat. Staff is immediately on phones, and I'm presiding at this
dinner and this meeting, and the bomb squad is going through the building, and we've got
people on the phone trying to get the modus operandi of these people, and we discover in
fact that when they picket there is always a bomb threat. The LaRouche people call the
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media, and they get the pictures of the people coming out of the building with the
demonstrators, and the big deal, nya, nya, nya.

So, I've got these hundreds of people gathered there, and I have got to make a decision,
what do we do? Do we clear the hall or not? I remember going to two people. I went to
Phil Berry and Mike McCloskey, and I said, "This is what's happening, and what do we
do?"

They said, "We think we need to get the two guests of honor..." which was Sala Burton
[congresswoman and widow of Congressman, Phil Burton] who was there, and the speaker
was a syndicated columnist whose name is out of my mind. And so we took all these
people aside. [Laughingly] People are eating, and they don't know what the hell is going
on, except they see a lot of firemen walking around the place, and they're thinking, "That's
strange." And we discuss what to do, and I remember what the columnist said. He said,
"We can't live by intimidation." He said, "I'm going to stay. I don't care what you people
do. I'm going to stay."

I thought, "Oh, that's interesting." And we did stay. But as an aside, I do remember that I
did go back and at the head table there was this great floral display that had a base on it that
looked like it could have held in it about twenty sticks of dynamite. For reasons which
make no sense, I picked the floral display up, took it out of the room, and came back and
presided in the meeting. Now, none of that makes any sense, but it's what I did. I also told
the audience of the bomb threat, said we were going to go on, but gave them time to leave
if they wished. No one left.

The point of the story, if it has a point, is that [ went to Phil Berry, because I respect his
judgement. Analytical, thoughtful, good lawyer. Would not want to be on his opposing
side in a courtroom. Even if I was right and he was wrong, I wouldn't want to do it. Men
do a thing that I have seen women do very little. I suppose they do some of it. But men
with strong personalities do a sort of bull-elephant thing sometimes, and I think Phil and I
have gone into that on occasion, and it's more an instinctive kind of thing than it is
personal.

I have great respect for Phil. We disagreed a lot. We certainly have a different perspective
of the Sierra Club. Phil's perspective of the Sierra Club--Phil has talked to me, "When are
you coming back on the board?"

I said, "I'm not going to do it."

"Well, why not?"

"Phil, you have no idea what it's like to spend this number of years doing this, and living in
a small town in eastern North Carolina. You come to a meeting. You get here thirty
minutes late. You leave thirty minutes early. You work a half a day in your office. You
sleep in your bed at night. It takes me ten hours to get here. It takes me ten hours to get

home. You know the cost to me to doing this--the financial cost--"

And you have the apartment which makes it pleasant. Think of the people who don't.
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Well, yes, but, what? The Sierra Club has not given this to me. [Laughter] I have less
resources to retire on because I have this. And I'm not complaining. These are choices a
person makes. I'm pleased I've made the choices. But they haven't a clue.

[Added during interviewee review: For example, before Kim and I had this apartment I
stayed in a hotel like all the out-of-town volunteers. The club paid the bill, or some part of
it. After Kim and I got married, I went to the executive director and the president, and
asked if it would be okay for me to be reimbursed a small amount per night if I was in town
for club meetings. Less than the hotel cost, but something to help pay the rent. Michele
got word of it and raised a fuss, saying I was staying at my home, and that others who lived
in the Bay Area didn’t get anything. Well, of course it was not my home, my home was in
North Carolina. But I just stopped taking any reimbursement. Now I never saw any of this
as personal. Just a Bay Area viewpoint, that came up over and over.]

Cultural Differences, Fayetteville and San Francisco

And they also don't know what it's like out there in North Carolina where people don't have
a clue what the Sierra Club is, or twenty years ago didn't know what the Sierra Club is.

You don't have the same kind of support from your community?

Oh, it's a different world. The Sierra Club--when we moved into our new offices--you have
asked me at some point whether or not there was really a serious discussion to locate
anywhere except in San Francisco. There really wasn't. But the arguments that were made
in favor of it, and I was one of them making it, was that it would help the club's reality if it
could get out of San Francisco. San Francisco has got to be the most wonderful city in this
country, and one of the most wonderful in the world. But it sure ain't middle America.
And you run a risk when you run an organization out of a place like this that you begin to
think that this is the way the world is, or the country is. Well, this is not the way country is.
I think the leaders like Ed [Wayburn], and Phil, and Michele and others sometimes have a
somewhat different perspective of the club than the people who live in Georgia or Florida
or Connecticut, or whatever. It's not that they're wrong and we're right, or we're wrong and
they're right. It's just that it's a different perspective.

Does it affect their conservation goals? Is this what you're saying?

Oh, I think it affects their vision of how the club functions. I think it affects their vision on
how the country feels about the Sierra Club. I think it affects their vision of what the issues
are. Political climate. All those things are really different. It's easy to argue for
endorsement of--Well, the view that people in California have of the Senate race in North
Carolina, which involves a Jesse Helms, for example, is clearly different than it is in North
Carolina. Now this is the state, of course, that elected Ronald Reagan, and Richard Nixon,
and Hayakawa, and--who was it? The song and dance man.

George Murphy.
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Yes, George Murphy, and a few other people who are not exactly on the raving left edge of
the spectrum. But, there's just an interesting political dichotomy that's different. And it's
not a--

And the Bay Area particularly.

Yes, and it's not a criticism. It's just that it's different. So I think when I say Phil's view of
the club is different than mine, [ don't mean that he's right and I'm wrong or vice versa. It's
just I think we come at--he's been doing it so much longer. He's enmeshed in the history of
it. I'm not.

You're getting there. Thirty years.

Well, [ know. When I joined the Sierra Club, as I think we may have said, the nearest
meeting was held in New York City, and I was in North Carolina. There was no history.

[Added during interviewee review: There is one more major difference between Phil and I.
I come out of a background of people’s movements. I see as most important the
organizing, training, focusing of a mass of people. Phil does not have time for that...sees it
as "process." And I listen to and talk with people. I believe they know some things I don’t.
Phil believes he sees the answer and pushes it at a meeting. Over and over again he and |
would be on opposite sides of important issues and my position would gain the majority
support at the board meeting. But what Phil never figured out is that I had worked to get
those votes before the meeting by talking with folks, adjusting the motion to suit them,
working out details. Phil would make brilliant arguments but I had the votes going in. I
don’t remember a single important vote of that type that he won.]

So anyhow. Can we finish the executive directors? Or do you want to quit?

I wondered if we shouldn't stop. I think we're kind of run down, and we can go on to Carl
next time. That will be a good place to start.

That'll be fine.

[End of Interview]
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Carl Pope. an Insider as Executive Director

[Interview 4: November 10, 1997] ##

We thought we'd finish up today going through the executive directors, and we had come to
Carl [Pope] last time, and then we we can go on to your presidency and your being
treasurer under Robbie [Cox].

Why don't we cover Carl in the context we've done all the rest of them, and then we'll do
the presidency, and then we can, at whatever point we can do it, clean up what's left.

Carl, of course, I knew a long time because he had worked with the club a long time, as had
I. I had worked with him in the context of political campaigning, the whole SCCOPE
[Sierra Club Committee on Political Education] program. I was vice president for political
affairs at least twice. Carl is clearly brilliant, clearly one of the finest in developing
strategy, political strategy, that I have ever seen. Very fast on his feet, verbally,
presentations. He can get up before a group and weave pieces and parts of a political story
together in a way which is interesting and entertaining and understandable and carries
whatever message he wants it to carry. He does all those things, I think, extremely well.

I think Carl probably has a value system very similar to mine. I think he probably went
through this stuff in the sixties that was the reaching out to cure the injustices of the world,
and I think it boils in his soul. Therefore, since I think [chuckling] he and I share some
value systems, I think his are very good! As we're inclined to judge such things by what we
value in ourselves.

His performance as executive director has been interesting to watch because it was
determined by people that we really needed to have an insider, somebody that really
understood the Sierra Club. Having tried going outside and bringing somebody in and not
having it be just exactly what everybody wanted, and since the one model that was clearly
a winner was Mike, and Mike came from inside, maybe we should do that again.

Was that more broadly accepted than most of the votes have been for executive director?

Well, I think, generally speaking, that the other executive directors which were hired--I1 was
not there when Doug Wheeler was hired, but when Michael Fischer was hired, the board
was unanimous behind him.

[Michael Fischer indicated in his oral history that his hiring was not unanimous. ]

[Added during interviewee review: When the Board of Directors discussed the hiring of
Michael Fischer I expressed concerns. Clearly he was a good man, however, I felt that we
could do better. I always thought the club underestimated what it is. We should have the
best person in the country, and I could not believe that Michael was that. I wanted to keep
looking. Larry Downing had the same position. The other members of the board were
ready to hire him, and the straw vote in closed session was 13-2. Larry and I of course
agreed to make it a unanimous vote when the official motion was offered in our regular
meeting.]
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So there's not been, a history, in my experience, of a sharp division of this is the right man,
or the wrong man.

I think there was a general consensus that if we could find somebody that really understood
the Sierra Club and how it worked and the culture of the organization and had the other
skills we were looking for, that this would be very valuable. And I think it is. I think that's
very important. Unfortunately--we talked about this earlier--the Sierra Club has not raised
up through its ranks very many people whose training and background is in administration
and management and how to be an executive director. Certainly, that's not Carl's
background. Carl's background is a political activist and a man of strategies and planning
how you change society's behavior through political action, which clearly is one of the
things we do. So I think it was a general accord that having an insider was a good idea. We
started looking around insiders, and it was a relatively short list, and Carl clearly brought a
lot to the table, and so that was the choice.

I have a little trouble separating Carl from what the club has become under Carl's term as
executive director. I think we can talk about that a little bit later, when we talk about me
coming back onto the board for three more years after I thought I was done and had gone
on to other things and finding just how really different it was. It's difficult, really, to
separate the changes in the nature of the Sierra Club from those who are leading it when
you discover it had greatly changed.

Maybe this discussion is out of order then.

Maybe it is.

It seems to me we should discuss Carl and recent club changes together.

Well, let's do. Let's do that.
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VIII PRESIDENT OF THE SIERRA CLUB, 1982-1984

Becoming President: Elections and Internal Politics

We haven't discussed in any depth your presidency of the club, so let's turn to that now.
Good.
And I think the first question is why you wanted to be president.

It has always been my nature to move forward where there is a forward to move to
[chuckling]. And I certainly did not come on the board of directors thinking that at some
time [ was going to be president of the Sierra Club. That wasn't a goal. I didn't have a plan
to do that. That it happened certainly didn't surprise me. I probably saw myself as
preparing to do that at some time, if the opportunity came. And much of whether you're
president of the Sierra Club or not depends on things which are far outside your own
control. First [you must] be elected to the board of directors. And fine people with great
service have run [and been defeated.] The craziest one was Joe Fontaine, who ran again
after being president of the Sierra Club, probably the most beloved president of the Sierra
Club since I've been around, ran for reelection and wasn't reelected to the board of
directors!

Incredible.

Well, it was incredible. It was a fluke of circumstance. There were a lot of people on the
ballot from California, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera. None of it had anything to do with Joe
and his service; it just fell out that way.

So to have the circumstance to be president, you have to be on the board of directors, and
you have to have eight directors that will vote for you. Assuming you will vote for
yourself, you have to find seven more. Those decisions are often made by people not based
on you particularly; it may be based on their own ambition. Maybe they want to be
president at the same time you do. So I have always advised my friends who were thinking
about being president of the Sierra Club to prepare yourself to be president when the
opportunity presents itself because it may never arise again. To say that, "Okay, I'm going
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to--I'm not quite ready; I'll do it in three years," may mean you've just decided you'll never
do it. So that's the trade-off.

I guess I felt like I was in the right place at the right time, that I had some skills that might
work. I had a group of people who thought it was a good idea for me to do it, as well as a
group who thought it was a bad idea. Probably each of those positions encouraged me to
do it.

[chuckling] You're not one to back down, after all.

Well, it's a challenge. If somebody looks at me and says, "Denny, I don't want you to be
president of the Sierra Club; you'd be a lousy president," I just would like to show them
that's not correct. And the only way I can do that is to be a good president of the Sierra
Club and at the end of my term have them look me in the eye and say, "Well, that wasn't so
bad." So those who opposed me probably encouraged me to run [chuckling] as much as
those who came to me and said, "Denny, you would be great; you ought to do it."

Do you want to talk specifically about how these divisions occur on the board? Are they
personal or are they philosophical?

They come in a lot of layers. It's a little bit like [chuckling] drinking a glass of good wine,
and there's just layer after layer after layer that unfolds in your mouth as you taste the wine.
It's this layered thing. It's a matter of styles. Sometimes it's a matter of emphasis. Certain
directors were always put off by me because I spent a lot of time worrying about
administration and budgets and I spent less time carrying the flag, fighting battles.
Certainly, I did that, and I think when I did it, I think I did it well. I certainly had that
experience when I came on the board.

But then there are those who wanted to be leaders, make decisions, promote their issues
and ideas, and they always sort of were looking down on process people as spending all
their time talking about things, not actually making a difference. The process people were
the ones that were balancing budgets and training people and organizing new chapters,
finding financial resources and things like that.

Did the process people tend to come out of the council?

I think to a large degree. I think some of the differences are geographical. The old-school
California leadership--I spoke about this earlier--they don't really see the Sierra Club quite
the same, I think, as people who have come from another direction. We see it differently,
so we disagree on things. Not that either one is right or wrong, but that our perspective is
different. I think someone like myself might be less inclined to see the rise or fall of the
Sierra Club based on the mountaineering program that we have as would a Phil Berry, for
example, to whom this mountaineering program is something he grew up with and is part
of the heart and soul of the organization to him. The heart and soul of the North Carolina
organization of the Sierra Club when I joined didn't have any mountains to climb, other
than 6,000-foot Mt. Mitchell, and you don't need a rope; you walk up it. So those kinds of
differences.

And then, of course, there was all kinds of perceived political sorts of things and political
ambitions. People want to do different things personally. If you are in line to be president
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and people are encouraging you, or somebody else who wants to be president, that's an
opponent, and it's very difficult.

And it plays out in so many different ways. We talked about Brant Calkin and Bill Futrell,
how--I mean, the leadership of the club that I spoke with assumed Brant would continue
being president, and he wasn't. I don't know exactly what happened. I wasn't there. But
whatever happened was dramatic. Some things were said that Brant did this wrong or
didn't do this right or whatever, and the presentation sold to at least eight people, and there
was a new president of the Sierra Club.

That doesn't happen too often.

No. That was a real unusual event in my time with the club.

There have been a lot of one-year presidencies recently, but most of them are finishing their
term as board member.

Mostly by circumstances of their not being available to run the second year.

Defining the President's Tasks: Working with Chapters. the Media. the Club Staff

You followed Joe Fontaine as president, who has a very good-guy image.

Joe's presidency was a great help in laying the groundwork for my presidency. Joe's
philosophy of the club and Joe's approach to it and mine were so similar. I served as
treasurer both years Joe was president. I was on his ExCom. We worked very closely
together. We had maybe one or two disagreements in that period of time and a whole lot of
agreements. Joe traveled the county, visiting chapters and groups and regional meetings
more than presidents had before that that I know of.

He was the one that spoke of the one Sierra Club and brought people together and tried to
get people beyond this them-and-us, this national and chapter stuff. And he did a really
good job. He was a healer. Joe, like Kent Gill, is not a threatening personality. The
changes that were made when Joe was president of the club and Kent of the Sierra Club
Foundation--They were both highly respected men who were not threatening to people. So
Joe laid a real groundwork. I built on what he did, and it was a wonderful place to start.
And it was a wonderful lesson to me to learn under him.

Did you follow his precedent of going out to the chapters?

I did. I came behind Joe and did it, again, with the same enthusiasm and devotion of time
and energy, but with a slightly different message. Joe's message basically was that we're all
together; if we work together, we'll do better; it's a healing message. Mine was that that's
so, and I talked about that, but, more too. I tried to be an enabler; I tried to show
opportunities; I tried to hear needs, to find tools, and to teach a little.

At the chapter level.
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At the chapter level and at regional levels and wherever I went to meet with volunteers. I
would attend council meetings. If there was a meeting going on of volunteers and [ wasn't
tied up doing something else, I went and did it. Jon Beckmann's books committee meeting
or whatever it was. I also went to staff meetings. 1 went to the staff picnic the years I was
president, both years. I was there and played softball. I mean, I just believed in being with
the people who were doing things and hearing them. You would hear things at the staff
picnic that the staff wouldn't necessarily tell the president of the Sierra Club if they came to
a board meeting.

It was the same thing if you got out to a chapter meeting. Chapter chairs, chapter
conservation chairs, people who didn't hold any office in the chapter but were important
players--You'd sit around and talk with them, and you'd learn a lot. And they would learn
some things, too, hopefully. So, yes, I did a lot of that.

How much time did you spend?

I didn't ration out my time as president of the Sierra Club in a rational way. But I looked at
my calendars after I finished the two years and I realized, by adding them up, that I
averaged working for a living four days a month for those two years. I was not married
most of that time. My sons were grown. | had my own businesses. At the time, [ had some
pretty strong management, and, while it certainly cost me to not be there, it survived, and
that was my standard, frankly. Ted Snyder closed down his law practice for two years to be
president of the Sierra Club. I didn't sell my businesses, but I sure did turn things loose,
and I basically spent all my time being president of the Sierra Club. I sort of camped out
when [ went home. There were rooms in my house I wasn't in [chuckling] for months at a
time. I'd go in the kitchen and the bedroom and dump out a suitcase and fill it up again, and
then be gone.

The traveling for the chapters I did a lot of. 1did, of course, a lot of the political work, a lot
of media stuff. I felt the media was terribly important, and it was a time the media was
interested in hearing what the president of the Sierra Club had to say because it was the
Reagan years. James Watt was there and then James Watt left, and there were stories there.
We were on the front page. The stories were on the front page.

You had the petition campaign against Watt under Fontaine.

Yes, yes, yes. And that great meeting at the capitol, with Tip O'Neill coming like the
godfather down from the top of the steps to pick up the petition from Joe Fontaine. We
were standing in front of more microphones than Joe had ever seen in his life, I suspect,
and may never see that many again. It's a great picture. I have this picture at home. I'm in
it with a beard which, incidentally, I had when I was elected president of the Sierra Club. 1
shaved the day I was elected.

Oh, you did!

[ did.

Was it some significant--
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Well, I felt that it was sort of a stereotype, that, while I sort of liked my beard, that I thought
it was too easy a target and that I'm perfectly happy without one, obviously, because ['ve
never grown it again. But I thought about the public image and how I would be viewed and
how I would be heard. How you look stands in the way of how people hear you
sometimes, and if it's easily changed, without any compromised principles, I think it's
reasonable to do, so I shaved.

So I have the picture standing there with Joe and these hundreds of other people, of course.
So anyway, Watt is gone, and we're on the front page. John McComb was very helpful in
setting up media appointments around the country for me. I remember in a two-day stretch
I visited with the editorial board of the Washington Post; 1 visited with the folks at the Wall
Street Journal.

I went to the New York Daily News, and I was the first major environmentalist to ever do
that at the time, they told me. They were the largest newspaper in the country at that time,
but everybody sort of put it off as a tabloid. It was quite a strange newspaper. They reacted
quite strangely to my going there. They didn't really have an editorial board. They had
people that sort of wrote on these kinds of things, and when they found out, after I got
there, that I really was the president and not the guy who ran the New York City group,
they were quite receptive, and we had a wonderful visit there.

Did they write--

Oh, yes. Well, what happens when you do these things, you get to know the people. 1
mean, quotes I gave the Wall Street Journal reporter kept showing up six months later.
Then he didn't say Denny Shaffer, president of the Sierra Club, said this six months ago.
He said, Denny Shaffer, the president of the Sierra Club, said so and so. And as long as it's
in context, that's fair game, I think. Frankly, you're pleased they're doing it.

I got to know the reporter for the Washington Post, a lovely lady who did the environmental
stuff for the Washington Post. 1 never went to Washington that I didn't call her before I
came and asked her if she was free for lunch or dinner. We had many a meal together. She
was charming. She was not married; I was not married; there was absolutely nothing on,
other than the fact that we enjoyed going out and talking about the things which were
important to us.

But I worked with the media like I worked with chapter chairs or whatever. I tried to get to
know them as people. I tried to be accessible to them; I was accessible to them.

Were you managed? I have the sense now that everything is kind of managed by a media
specialist at the club and the president is sent off on these different--

I used--Oh, that's a terrible word, "used." I found the staff to be a great resource in helping
me sort out the various opportunities. One of the things I did early on in my presidency
was to literally make a list of the things the president could or should do, then divide it
down into those which only the president could do and those which you can delegate. That
was one of the more important things I ever did because presidents frequently spend a lot of
time doing things somebody else can do better than they can, but they do it because
somebody else says, "Gee, how about doing this?" And it's a good thing to do, so they do
it. "How about going to Japan?" "Oh, fine. I'll go to Japan." Well, fine, but as president of
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the Sierra Club--is the club well served if the president of the Sierra Club is in Japan?
Somebody offered me a trip to Japan. I didn't go, but I passed it on to someone else who
did a fine job. So I made this list up. And that sorts things out very well.

And then the second thing I did was I took from the second part of the list those things that
others could do as well as I could, or better; and I picked some things off it that I thought
would be fun [chuckling] because I felt like if I'm going to be doing this for a couple of
years, full-time, I need to have things which will recharge my batteries. I've got to have
some things in here that will help keep me going. So I rather deliberately went about
sorting out the kinds of things I would do, and then I made it really clear to everybody who
was interested and probably a lot who weren't that | was available to do these things.

John McComb was eager to have a president of the Sierra Club who could go talk to
people. I went to the Christian Science Monitor, met with their editorial board, and they
were satisfied enough from that that they asked me to write an op-ed for the Christian
Science Monitor, which 1 wrote. Now, I suspect the president [today] might be less inclined
to do that sort of thing themselves. There probably would be people that would be more
available to do that.

Now, I didn't do it in isolation. I can assure you Mike had input. Mike read it over before
it went out. I made a lot of changes; others looked at it. But a lot of it was stuff you did
yourself.

Asserting the President's Role as L.eader of a Democratic Club

Was it easy to work with Mike on these things?
Oh, yes.

Was there any question of who was going to sign the public letter or who was going to
make a trip?

Oh, no. Early on, Mike and I worked those things out. In talking with Mike at the
beginning of my term as president, I talked with him very candidly about my view of
things, and he was very candid in his view of things. As a for example, I said to him--the
Group of Ten at that point was viewed as this very powerful group of ten people, and they
were the heads of the ten major environmental organizations. They met sort of quarterly
and made medicine and nobody attended but them, and no other staff went, and it was sort
of a black box sort of thing, which scared the daylights out of everybody in the
environmental movement because most organizations' staff felt that perhaps the executive
director needed to have a little support there because they didn't necessarily have the
handle on everything.

It was not a problem for the Sierra Club because Mike really did have his hand on
everything. But I remember saying to Mike, "Mike, the truth of the matter is that the club
might be well served, and the environmental movement might be well served, that if, at one
of the meetings of the Group of Ten you're not available to go, that the president of the
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Sierra Club go in your stead." Now, until that time, if Mike had not gone, nobody would go
because it would not have been acceptable to send a second-in-command; that wasn't done.

To this group. Not acceptable to this group.
No. They would not have had it. Bill--The Wilderness Society--
Turnage.

Bill Turnage. I mean, there were people of strong personalities, Bill Turnage certainly
fitting that role. And, incidentally, that happened. At a point where Mike could not go, he
talked with them and I went, and I don't think they were particularly enthusiastic about me
being there, but I was a gentleman beyond belief and was careful not to offend anybody. 1
think I made a serious contribution or two to the meeting, and I think it carried a message to
all of them that the Sierra Club was different from The Wilderness Society, that the
president of the Sierra Club really was the top person in the Sierra Club. I think that, then,
carries the message to every member of the club that this is a democratically run
organization, that the people the members elect are really the ones that govern. And so |
was trying to prove a lot of points, and I think it did. I think it did.

Did you have some thoughts about the Group of Ten itself? Was it a useful meeting? Were
they in accord with the Sierra Club's points of view?

It was very clear that Mike McCloskey was the leader of the group. There were a number
of things that came up during that meeting which they simply put aside because Mike
wasn't there. And it was clear that they didn't feel comfortable moving forward with this
without his advice and guidance. That was my strongest initial impression.

There is a silly story--I don't mind telling you.

#HH

It was always my style to check out a meeting room long before the meeting started
because | wanted to know my environment before I got in. [ went in and I saw [two large
chairs at each end of this table], and I smiled, and I said, "I wonder who will sit in those
two thrones?" There was no doubt in my mind that Bill Turnage would be one. The other
was a little harder to pin down. I went in the meeting the next day. There were about three
or four people there. The rest of the table had not yet filled up, but Bill Turnage was in one
of those chairs.

So I--It was a meeting which I enjoyed going to. I think it served some purpose. I don't
think I did any damage to the Group of Ten, nor to Mike.

Who sat in the other chair?

I don't even remember. I think it was by default. I think people just wandered in, and then
finally that was the chair that people sat in.

I'see. You didn't pick it?
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No, I would not have taken it. I purposely got there early enough so I had a choice because
it would have been exactly contrary to the message [ was trying to deliver had I shown up
in that chair. I wanted to be there as a humble servant.

Communication between the President and Club Members and Directors

One thing I noticed while looking at your papers in the Bancroft--I'm sure the file is not
complete--but this was from your presidential years. You have a lot of correspondence
with members.

Oh, yes.

Troubleshooting minor points that they were unhappy with. How did you see your role
doing that?

I discovered when I became president of the Sierra Club there was no system to handle
mail or phone calls going to the president. | was sitting in the office the day after [ was
elected. The phone rang, and it was a man that wanted to sell freeze-dried food to the
outings program, so he called and asked to speak to the president of the Sierra Club, and
here he was. I explained to him this was not part of my official duties and went out and
spoke to the lady who was the secretary Mike and I shared and said, "What is the process
for clearing calls to the president?" She said, "Well, there isn't one." "Well, there's going to
have to be one 'cause this is silly!" She agreed. We talked about, well, what's Mike's
system? It was a good system. I said, "Well, we've got the same one now for the president.
If somebody calls like this, you send him to the right person, not to me."

And then I looked at the mail. How was the mail handled? Well, the truth of the matter is
it wasn't. Ted Snyder, when he was president of the Sierra Club, would sit down in the
office late at night and type out the answers, himself. After Ted, Joe's response--Joe's
handling of that was much less formal. He sort of left it to the staff, in the main. Now, he
dealt with what rose to the top. I see it all as important. It's part of the fact that I'm, in the
rest of my life, I'm a business person, and you don't ignore the complaints and pain of your
customers for very long. You shouldn't. I could not possibly stand that.

So I had the mail sorted out in a number of ways. I had it run through a screen to see who
these people were. Is this a chapter chair? Is this a major donor? Is this a state senator
from Nebraska? I mean, who are these people? So that not only did you know the amount
of time and effort that perhaps should be put into the response, but where are these people
coming from, so how do you respond to their issue?

But I did this, and I did it in a number of ways. The best system that I put in place was I put
into the office in San Francisco an answering machine with a very long tape on it. I would
dictate letters into that answering machine from airports all over the country, and the letter
would go out the next day. And so I could get on an airplane with a package of fifty letters
and go through them, and I would literally hand-write responses or outline responses. I'm
not very good at dictating spontaneously. And then when I got to a phone and dictated
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them. And so you could generate huge amounts of correspondence very quickly and very
efficiently. Now, this was before some of the systems we have now.

No e-mail.

No e-mail, no fax, no a number of things. But, yes, I got an awful lot of letters out. But
these were important things. These were important people.

I also carried with me on the airplane handfuls of chapter newsletters and handfuls of
postcards, and when I would see the newsletter editor is resigning after four years of being
newsletter editor, I would write that person a card and thank them, from the president of the
Sierra Club. And I was inclined to think it was a good idea.

It sounds like a wonderful idea.

It didn't cost much, and it's probably better than sleeping or reading a boring book on an
airplane. And I did travel. I traveled a lot, as you could tell by what I said earlier.

Maybe we ought to separate how I related to the board. I did the same thing with directors.
I carried with me at all times a folder that had in it all the phone numbers for all the
directors, and I carried in that folder the emerging and controversial issues and the
emerging and not controversial issues. When a moment came up, [ would call a director
and say, "Brock, I want to ask you about so and so." And we'd talk about it, and he'd tell
me how he felt about it. Or if he had questions, I'd try to respond, or if there were questions
I didn't have answers to, I'd say, "Well, I'll get somebody to get back with you."

And I kept a chart of when did I last talk to Brock and what did we talk about, just in little
symbols and so on and so forth. So there never was a month went by that [ hadn't spoken to
every director on the Sierra Club board once or twice and sometimes four or five times. It
served a lot of purposes. It built a team. They knew they were important to me. They
heard me. They knew how they felt was important to me. We worked out the controversy
over issues before they came before the board, before they became controversial.

Now, is that different from what you had observed?
Oh, yes. I don't think anybody has ever done that before or since, not to the degree I did.
So seeing an issue come up, you would start to line up--

Keep in mind, now, that Mike McCloskey was executive director, too. He had this chart in
his office that we talked about earlier of the emerging issues, so, you know, what was--I
mean, certainly you got blind-sided sometimes, but you knew that there was going to be a
question coming up of the reorganization of the field system in a particular part of the
country, and there were discussions pro and con and so on, and you knew the people in that
part of the country had a lot of interest in how this was going to turn out. Were they going
to get another field office or not?

And so I talked to the directors in that area, I talked to the volunteers in that area, and then,
when it came up, all the pieces were on the table, and the chances of getting it right were
greatly enhanced. And this was not an act. I was not calling these directors to tell them
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what the answer was. I really believed that I would learn something in the conversation,
and [ did. This was dialogue; this was not a monologue.

It wasn't arm-twisting on your part.

It was not a sales pitch. Oh, no. I was not calling somebody and saying, "Would you vote
for this scheme of mine?" It was calling him up and saying, "We're talking about having an
international assembly. How do you feel about it? What do you think we should have?
Who should be there? We talked about inviting John Denver. Is this a good idea or a bad
idea? How do you feel about it?" Rather than inviting John Denver and getting to a
meeting and find seven directors saying, "What a dumb idea this is," publicly. And then
we'd have an arm wrestle. We didn't do that. We just didn't do it.

Changes in the Outings Program and Clair Tappaan Lodge

Should we look at some specific issues that may have come up during your presidency that
you think were most important? You mentioned last time bringing the outings program
under club control. Was that a controversial thing?

Oh, sure.
Why don't you talk about how that was handled? If you can recall it.
Oh, sure. Well, it's not a long story.

The outings program is part of the great, important history of the Sierra Club and a terribly
important part of the organization. I mean, nobody has to explain this to me. I mean, I've
been an outings leader and did that for years. When my first wife died and I found myself
with the two boys, two young boys, we were out there hiking on Sierra Club outings all the
time, and so the importance of this is clear to me.

But [chuckling]--the outings program had basically been run by the committee. They hired
the staff; they decided what the fees would be; they decided what the qualifications of the
leaders would be; they decided about things like insurance and all kinds of things like this.

This was really a volunteer-run program.

Which at one time was probably a grand idea. But when things--Things began to change.
Was there an incident?

No, not that I recall. I think that prior to my presidency there had been some real attempts
to bring this more in-house. Joe had tried to do that and had made some progress. But it
wasn't going to happen until you had the committee on your side. As long as you had a

committee that was an adversary of change, then it became a thing that the board was
forcing on the committee, which would never have worked.
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And the committee leadership was longtime volunteers.

Longtime volunteers. So Ted Snyder had been a longtime supporter of the outings
program, a longtime outings leader, a man who was deeply respected by all concerned, and
trusted, but who understood the problem, having been president of the Sierra Club, with the
outings program sort of separate from the club. The risks involved. You don't have
adequate insurance; you're not paying your leaders in a way that is necessarily quite legal.
Yes. [ mean, are you subject to a suit here from an unhappy outings leader, or whatever?

So I talked to Ted about it, and said, "Ted, you know the problems better than I do, and you
know solutions here better than I do, and these folks trust you, and I need to have
somebody chair this committee that can move it in this direction." He thought about it and
said, "Yes, I can do that." And he did it. And we worked through it piece by piece.

Did things come to the board?

Well, only as--only after it was resolved, really. Things should never come to the board
that are not really almost resolved when they get there. By that I don't mean that
somewhere in a smoke-filled room somebody--two, three people decide how it ought to be
or that the president somehow makes a pronouncement. That's a horrible idea. It would
never work. But if everybody talks to everybody, if everybody sort of identifies what the
concerns and problems are and finds solutions for them that satisfy all the players, then you
bring it to the board on a piece of paper and get it blessed.

And there's no opposition to it. Everybody wins. It is a very poor idea to bring something
in where you have one group says it should be this, another group says it should be that,
and the board is asked in their wisdom to pick which one is right. Well, you can't win. So
we handled it in that way.

Was it a very controversial move? I assume you diminished the power of the committee
somewhat.

Actually, we didn't. What we did is we changed the form of it. People perceived that if
they were not able to actually write the checks themselves, they would no longer have any
fiscal control, for example. Well, that's silly. [ mean, what president of any major
corporation writes the checks? I mean, that's not the way it's done. There are other ways to
maintain a fiscal control. And they eventually understood that the thing that people in the
club observed to me all along, which is I believe the volunteers should maintain control. I
mean, [ think that's what our bylaws say, that the board of directors is the controlling body
of the Sierra Club, and it's a volunteer body, and it appoints volunteer committees to do
certain tasks.

This does not mean that the staff is less important. It just means that that's the legal flow of
authority. And once they really understood that they weren't going to be diminished in
being able to decide the important things and that indeed the program would go on and that
it was more likely to go on, frankly, and that there were real concerns--You know, you'd sit
down and we'd--1 didn't go to many of these meetings, but you'd sit down and you'd say,
okay, here is--We're legally exposed here.
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I mean, it was sort of like the Clair Tappaan Lodge thing. We had a problem with the septic
thing. I mean, the newspaper up there wrote up the fact the Sierra Club is polluting a
stream with its septic tank. Well, you'd sit down with a committee, and with this clipping
out of a newspaper, and it's hard for folks to say, well, there's really no problem here.
Everybody in the room agrees there's a problem here. Now, when you start getting to the
solution, then you decide does this mean you're going to fire the committee and appoint
another committee? Well, of course not.

Does it mean that you're going to need to have some assurance that the committee is going
to behave differently on things like this? Absolutely. And does it mean you're going to
have to have some sort of reporting system and some sort of accountability, some sort of
communication? Well, of course.

Does it mean that there's going to have to be fiscal controls so that the money is in the bank
and audited like public money ought to be audited? Well, of course. Does that mean that
they won't be in charge of putting together the budget? No, it doesn't.

And once they understood those things, and we worked them through piece by piece, it was
fine.

Were there questions of--This is coming out of a vague past, but I have some recollection
that people were fearful the club was going to take a bigger cut for overhead, or charge
more for the outings.

Well, I'm sure that's true, and I'm sure that it was a justifiable concern. The executive
director and the comptroller and those who were responsible for getting the money in the
bank are always looking for ways to do just exactly what you're talking about, and there's a
tension all the time that way. I'm sure that was going on. But you deal with it the same
way. You have those people sit down with this other group of people, and they work out
what is the right amount, and you consult with other people and you get a number that
everybody agrees on, and then that's what comes to the board in the form of the budget.

A director would question where did this come from, and it came from this process and

these people and does the committee agree? Yes. Does the staff agree? Yes. All right,
fine. What's the next item?

Facilitating Interaction on the Board

So what you're saying is that as president you tried to have things go smoothly at board
meetings and be worked out before.

To a level of detail that is probably quite compulsive. For example, I never would have
permitted the seating around the board meeting tables to be random. I mean, there was

never a board meeting that I chaired that I didn't personally arrange who was sitting where.

Tell me your thinking on that.
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Well, I mean, this is so obvious but I don't know any other president that's done it.
Did you have name plates?

Sure. We always had name plates in front of us, and the normal way of doing it is whoever
is doing what Gene Coan is doing now would set them out and put up the mikes and so on,
and they'd sort of randomly put them out, and so on. Well, I mean, let's assume that there is
a controversial issue. We certainly don't want to put five people that feel one way on this
side and five people that feel the other way on that side. Even though that's not something
you're going to get to 'til the next day, they're still going to be sitting in those seats. And so
you know what's on your agenda. You know your players.

So each meeting would be designed differently.

When I was elected president--and we haven't talked about this--there was a clear split on
the board as to whether that was a good idea or a bad idea. Well, [ want to assure you at the
first meeting, the people that thought it was a good idea and the people that thought it was a
bad idea were mixed up around the table, and there were no two opponents sitting beside
each other, and there were no two supporters sitting beside each other. I wanted them to get
to know each other. [ wanted them to ask the other one to pass the water. They had to talk
to each other. Beginning of healing.

So, yes. My theory, I believe, is correct. If there's opposition, if there's disagreement, if
there's controversy, you go to it with an offer to talk that is sincere, that permits people to
be heard, that puts you in there as someone who realizes you don't have the answers. I have
said over and over and over again, and it's not an act. I believe it. I'm wrong a lot. I've
been wrong a lot all my life. I am right a lot, but I'm wrong a lot. And if you're going to be
this type of person that I am that makes a lot of decisions--1 mean, you ask me a question, I
give you an answer. I don't hedge. The risk is you're going to be wrong.

The more interaction you have with more people, the better your batting average is going to
get because you're going to learn. Once people begin to understand that, it begins to be the
beginning of the moving away from the controversy, that you and I are not an enemy. We
are viewing this thing differently. What is it we want? What's our goal? What do we want
to do? What's the point? How do you want to do it?

Getting Elected President: Opposition, Support. Healing

You hinted a minute ago there's more to say about your being elected. Let's go back to that.

Well, being president of the Sierra Club is just this unique thing. [ was walking, as I said to
you earlier, before we started this--1 was walking yesterday with my seven-year-old
daughter, Francesca, and my wife, and I was trying to explain to Francesca who John Muir
was. We were talking about where he was born in Dunbar and how I had been to Dunbar as
a trustee of the Sierra Club Foundation when we went over there, and that wonderful
experience. And I talked to her about things Muir did. But it was clear that this was a little
hard for her seven-year-old mind to quite grasp, though it was not objectionable. Finally, I



Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

148

said to her, "Francesca, you know, like your daddy was president of the Sierra Club, John
Muir was president of the Sierra Club." It's an overwhelming thought.

Yes, it really is.

It is an overwhelming thought. And the opportunity and the challenge and the risk
involved with sitting in the seat that John Muir figuratively sat in is overwhelming. So the
process to get you there, all of that is fraught with different kinds of things happening.

I felt that it was time for me to go ahead and be president of the Sierra Club. I thought I
was ready to do it. I had spent five years on the board, or four and a half. I had spent four
years as treasurer, two years under Ted and two years under Joe. So had been on the
ExCom that period of time. And I did, before that, everything from a group newsletter
editor to whatever, up through the ranks of the group and the chapter and the council and
national committees, which I had been on a half a dozen, and so on.

I had done things like being a city councilman, which helped me understand a little bit how
these things work. The board of directors is as close to a city council, a council
management form of government, as it probably is to anything else. They're politicians,
they're elected in a political way, you have an executive director that works with you in a
political arena, you're dealing with funds which have come out the people's pockets that
have elected you. There's a lot of similarities.

And so I thought all that was a good idea. And I also thought that I had spent enough time
by now that I sort of understood how the organization was wired, you know, mechanically
put together. If you try to pull a rope, I knew which rope, if you pulled it, something would
happen and which rope, if you pulled it, nothing would happen. And I spent time talking to
directors far in advance about what they thought of me being president of the Sierra Club.
There was a clear division of thinking. Phil [Berry] and Michele [Perrault] particularly
thought it was an eminently bad idea--

And people are honest in the way they respond to you.

Well, [chuckling], direct is a different way of putting it. Some are quite direct. There were
on the board probably five or six people who were strongly encouraging me to do it and
thought it was just the thing to be done.

Now, who were they? We're really going to get pros and cons here.

Well, the people who supported me doing this all along were people like--And, you know,
it's funny. I don't even remember exactly who was on the board when [ was elected.

I had meant to bring the list, and I didn't.

But, I mean, Joe was always very supportive of me doing this and Marty Fluharty was very
supportive. Peg Tileston was very supportive and Brock Evans. Larry Downing has
always been a very supportive person in whatever I was doing, but he came on the next
year. I'd have to go back over the list, and I'm not sure I could tell you exactly at this point
because I tried not to pay much attention to that after it was over. [Added during
interviewee review: The directors that were my eight votes going into the meeting to elect
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officers were Joe Fontaine, Peg Tileston, Marty Fluharty, Brock Evans, Nick Robinson,
Phil Hocker, Dick Fiddler, and of course myself.]

But you do remember Phil and Michele not being too happy?

Well, they were the leaders of the opposition. Phil put together this strategy which was
basically anybody but Shaffer. And so he encouraged a lot of people to believe that if they
put their name in nomination, that lightning might strike, that there may be a deadlock, that
there may be seven votes for Shaffer and eight votes for nobody, and that on the twenty-
third ballot that somebody who had one vote to start with might have eight votes, and that's
the way it would go. And that was the strategy. And I give him credit for that being an
excellent strategy.

I thought [ had a good strategy. I had eight people who had committed to me before I went
over there. It turned out, however, that when we announced our intentions, that there were
only--that one of the people who had made a commitment to vote for me announced that he
was running for president. Which then meant that I had seven votes.

Should we name him?

Well, I don't think we should do that. I think that probably would be bad form; these things
are confidential, and the person made a mistake. They knew they made a mistake thirty
minutes later, and I suspect still regret it. But they got caught up in the idea that "maybe
this will work and maybe I'll be president of the Sierra Club. I really would like to be
president of the Sierra Club." And that's understandable. (He never was.)

So on the first ballot, I had seven votes. I needed another vote, and this was troublesome,
but my supporters gathered around and talked to a number of people, including the person
who had decided to run instead of supporting me, and at any rate, I was elected on the
second ballot.

But there was, out of that, a real split on the board. Of course, the silly thing is you go right
over and you start going to work. Michele became vice president. And I supported her
being vice president. Peg Tileston became treasurer. Marty Fluharty was fifth officer.
Sandy Tepfer was the secretary. It was an ExCom that was sort of balanced between those
who thought I was the best choice and those who thought I maybe wasn't the best choice,
and I thought that was a good idea because well, to be totally candid, I had three votes on
ExCom. I had Peg, Marty and myself. And then there was Sandy and Michele, so if'it, you
know, God forbid, came down to a vote, I probably could have rounded up three votes. |
don't think it ever did. I think the healing took place quickly.

And, frankly, in my presidency very few important votes--almost all the votes that are of
any significance are overwhelmingly one way or the other, and many of the no-votes were
symbolic. You mentioned somewhere along the way that I voted no on a certain budget. I
wouldn't have a clue why I voted no on that budget. It was probably over some picky little
thing that I was displeased about that I realized I could make my statement in this way and
it didn't make any difference because there were, you know, twelve people supporting the
budget and it didn't matter whether there was twelve or thirteen.
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Yes, that's right. Things that looked important when you read in the minutes sometimes
don't mean--

Don't mean that at all. I laugh at the fellow who wrote the history of the Sierra Club from
the minutes. Maybe I shouldn't say--How should I say this? It is a book that does not
reflect the history of the Sierra Club.

The Michael Cohen book?!

Yes. It reflects what was in the minutes. It is a mildly amusing [chuckling] reflection on
the Sierra Club by somebody who wasn't there because it sure doesn't get close to
representing what happened. Anyhow, that's an aside.

You feel that that kind of traumatic election didn't carry over.
No.
Did Phil Berry pull back then? Was he a good loser?

Phil was not happy about it. I asked Phil to continue on as vice president for legal affairs,
which he agreed he would do. I asked him to come and talk to the ExCom about what it
was that he did or saw that task being, and he took that as a challenge, and I remember his
saying that if necessary to be knighted he had to come forward, and if he had to bow down,
he would in order to be knighted.

Did you mean it as a challenge?

No. I simply said to him, "Phil, I mean, we really don't know what the devil it is that you
do. And I've served on the board of directors now for four years, four and a half years, and
some of these less. And I think that it's fair that if you're going to be a vice president of the
club that it ought to be on a piece of paper somewhere what the devil it is you're doing and
that the ExCom would like to talk about this first. You have the position. I have said
you've got it; you've got it. But we want to talk about it."

And we did. But there were bumps in the road, sure. There was still animosity over other
things, but it worked out very quickly. And it worked out quickly, I think, because the style
used was an important style. We listened to people; we talked to people. I mean, Phil
Berry was on my list of people I called with a high degree of regularity, and it was not--and
he knew it was not--it was not a song and dance. It was serious stuff. I knew what his
interests were. 1 would no more have dealt with anything in the Sierra Club presidency that
had to do with legal affairs without talking to Phil. I just wouldn't have done it because he
was the expert, and I learned from talking to him.

We had social events. | had dinners for the board, which I paid for out of my pocket. 1
made attempts to visit with people. Michele and Phil had me over to their home. We went
out to dinner. It was a different time. The board, in the main at that time, was much more
social. I mean, we literally went out and danced. We went out dancing Saturday night, and

1. Michael P. Cohen, The History of the Sierra Club (San Francisco: Sierra Club Books, 1988).
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we partied. Now--I mean, I'm getting into these times now, but it's different. There was
more people working at--We knew each other's children's names. We knew when people
were having good times and hard times and what it was about. We knew if somebody's
mom was sick and maybe going to die.

HH

It's easier to have healing when people know--Well, let me turn it backwards. I think a
negative approach, but--It's harder to really be angry with somebody that you know. It's
harder to be angry with somebody you're talking to than it is somebody you're talking
about. I didn't permit very much to happen to where people weren't talking to each other,
and to where you break down that kind of thing, and it worked very well.

Internal Matters: Evaluation of Officers and Making People Accountable

I put in place the evaluation of the officers of the Sierra Club. I said to the board, you
know, "At the February meeting, we're going to set aside a period of time. I want to have
evaluation of each of the officers of the Sierra Club, starting with the president. I want to
know what I'm doing right, what I'm doing wrong. I want you to think ahead of time about
it. Anything is fair game, but I'd just as soon not have a public stoning."

How long into the office did you do it?
Well, it was in February. 1 was elected in May, so--
Nine months.

Nine months. I wanted to do it before I was up for reelection, so there was a self-serving
motive there, but there was also a desire to learn.

Did you get good feedback?

Absolutely. And fair. And they pointed out some things I had done very well, and I felt
good about it. They pointed out some things they wish I had done that I hadn't gotten to,
and they were right. They pointed out things which I had done that had not worked, and
they were right. It was a very good process. And the other officers, I think, profited by it.
We did the same thing again the next year. It's a process which has not been done a whole
lot since then, which I think is unfortunate. I think it should be instituted in a formal way.

I believe in accountability. I believe in evaluation. I believe in feedback. Whether it's the
executive director or the president, it shouldn't make a darn bit of difference. But that's
hard to do.

You've hardly mentioned Ed Wayburn so far. Was he on the board during your presidency?

Yes. Ed was on the board when I was elected. Ed is the ultimate politician. When I was
appointed--1 was appointed to the board to fill Brant's seat. The first real board meeting I
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went to would have been whatever was the first meeting in the fall; September, I guess it
was. And we met, and Ed wanted to take a walk with me. Ed took a walk with me and
talked about how pleased he was that I was on the board, and how I had said all these things
needed to be done and now I was in a position I could do something about it, and that he
was so pleased to see this and so on and so forth. And gave me the feeling that he had
really been the moving force to getting me on the board. I was led to believe by others
afterwards that in fact Ed supported another candidate. There's nothing wrong with that,
except that it is the ultimate in political wisdom that you build--And here's a guy who's now
going to be here for a while, and I want him to see me as an ally and build--But Ed. Ed has
his own agenda.

As treasurer, | had worked with Ed on a couple of things. I was quite chagrined to see how
the board treated Ed on financial matters before I was treasurer. Ed had for years gone out
and found donors that would support something he was interested in doing, sometimes
people fairly close to him. And then he would come back and say, "Okay, I have raised "x"
number of dollars. I want to spend it in this way." And sort of dare anybody to not accept
the money to do that with, and so they would accept it.

But there was some suspicion that Ed had perhaps spent it two or three times and that in
fact he had manipulated the system to these ends. And so when I was treasurer, there was
really some rather harsh stuff going back and forth about Ed and the way he raised money
and spent money and whether you could trust the system that was being used and so on and
so forth.

When you say harsh stuff--

Well, that he's not being straight with the board, that he is in fact spending $50,000 which
was a $25,000 gift, and he spent it here and there, and so on. Or that he said he would raise
this money, this $50,000 and in fact $25,000 came in and we spent $50,000 and where's--
The other $25,000 came out of the conservation budget, or whatever. And these were
people generally who had a desire to spend the money doing something else. So that was
the conflict. It was which issue do you spend it on, or whatever.

As treasurer, I went to Ed and said, "Ed, this won't do. You and I need to understand this
and write it down, and I will stand by it and you will stand by it, and there will be no more
of this silliness." And we did, and there was no more of that silliness.

And that worked?

Of course it worked! I mean, it's the same thing as making people accountable. He knew
darn well that if anything was done in the future that was not according to what had been
agreed upon, everybody would know that it was contrary. It was accountability.
Everybody would know it was contrary.

You were keeping closer track of where the money was going, obviously.

No question about it. No question about it. Here it is; now we know this is what it's
supposed to be; this is what you're going to raise; this is what you're going to spend it for.
Is this what you want to do? Yes. Good. Here it is, we've written it down. That's it. Yes.
Fine.
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Now, was that done without animosity?

Sure. Ed and I did it. Then, when the next controversy came up somewhere, ['d say,
"Look, this is not a problem. The treasurer and Dr. Wayburn have worked this out, and the
executive director has signed off on it; the president has signed off on it, and there's no
problem."

But Ed basically--I have great respect for him. He wanted to be chair of the International
Committee, as I remember, and we had a chair at the time. It was for Ed that I created the
position which he held for so many years, vice president for parks and protected areas, to
work on anything he wanted to. It wasn't just an official title, but it was a hunting license to
go out there and save any wild lands you could in the world. Ed resisted it a little bit at
first, but when he realized that it really was a good idea, he was quite happy with it, and he
served in that position long after | was president.

So that's a job that you structured.

I created, yes. We had the chair of the International Committee, and the skills are different.
To chair a committee that's working on the policy and all that and to be able to go out and
do the wheeling and dealing and being a recognized power in conservation circles around
the world [are] different things. Ed's greatest skills were in that second area. I said, "Why
do you want to mess around with this other stuff for? There's another person over there
[who] wants to do this and will do it real well and wants to do it, and you want me to fire
them and put you there? That makes no sense to me. Why don't we have two good people
doing two good things?" And it worked out very well.

The World Wilderness Conference was held while I was president. I sent--And it was my
choice. I sent Ed [Wayburn] and Jim Dockery from North Carolina, one of the real rising
stars in the club at the time. Died prematurely, unfortunately. Brilliant attorney, brilliant
conservationist, a brilliant lover of wilderness. By all reports, they made the greatest two-
man team that has ever gone out like that because Ed knew the ropes and had been there
and done that, and Jim was so bright and so capable and so competent and understood
people. A great sense of humor, great ability to work with people, a humble man, not
unlike McCloskey in that respect. No ego problems at all.

And I will add that it never occurred to send myself. They both did ten times better than I
would have ever done. And I think that's a temptation presidents have, is that this would
have been a fun thing to do. I would love to be able to look back on memories of having

been there, but I would not have served the club as well as those two.

That's interesting. Okay, that was a good little aside on Ed.

Purchase of Headquarters Building on Polk Street

Were there issues internally--we talked about the outings program--1 know one thing going
on with planning a move, the club move. Is that something we should discuss?
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That was not particularly controversial. That was--And Phil Hocker, to give him great
credit, Phil Hocker put immense amounts of hours into the planning of the move and
exploring of the alternatives and the development of a direction. It unfortunately didn't
turn out the way we all hoped it would because, among other things, the government
changed laws dealing with limited partnerships and the neighborhood we moved into did
not develop like everybody thought it would.

But it was an agreed-upon choice to move to Polk Street because one of the choices was
Howard Street, where the headquarters is now near.

There was one [chuckling]--There was one fellow on the board at the time that had
reservations about Polk Street and expressed them, but the vote was unanimous without his
vote, and so he withdrew his concerns. And that was me.

Oh! And what were your concerns?

My concern was that it was a very elaborate business proposition we were entering into and
that the Sierra Club doesn't--

Describe it just very briefly.

The concept was that this warehouse, and it is owned by a man who wants to sell it. We
want to buy it and do a rehab on it--We don't have any money. We want to buy it cheap, so
we worked out a deal where it was sort of a bargain sale that he got a contribution, a tax
deduction, to the Sierra Club Foundation. And the land, then, was sold, given to, whatever,
the foundation, and he got this write-off, and then the limited partnership was formed, in
which the club was a general partner and the limited partners were the people who put up
the money.

And they would get tax write-offs along the way and, when everything all worked out at
the end, they would have developed a situation where the club owned the building and they
would then be able either to get their money back or they could, at that time, make a
contribution of their limited partnership assets to the foundation, which would then give
them a significant tax write-off. I mean, that was the structure.

Was this a common thing that was being done then? Or was it a brilliant idea that someone
came up with?

It was a common--Limited partnerships were the big thing that was happening then.
Historic renovations, all that sort of thing. Shortly thereafter, the tax laws were changed
and really reduced, really gutted the advantages for doing this--

To the people who invested.

Penalized greatly the limited partners. I had reservations about the ability of the club to, |
mean, become a landlord. We had to rent out the other spaces; we had to do all these

various things; and I had reservations about it.

It seems to me Dave Brower also had reservations. He came on the board.
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He may have. It ultimately--The final decision was left to the ExCom. It was at an ExCom
meeting that | expressed my concerns, and everybody else in the room sort of allowed as
how that was not correct, that we could do all this, and I said, "Well, I just feel an
obligation to put them on the table." Nowhere is it said the president is supposed to vote on
this anyhow. But I had chosen not to be a limited partner because I thought it was better
that I not do that.

Better because you were president?

Well, I thought--I just thought I should stay arm's length from the thing. If it turned out to
be a great financial thing and I had my money in it, [ was worried about how it would look.
And I was worried that if my concerns about the club's management of it turned out to be
correct and I lost the money, I could see how I would feel about that because I don't have
that much money, and I just stayed out of it.

Divisiveness over the Effects of War on the Environment

The controversy at the time that was most troublesome--Each president has a controversy.
We mentioned Richard Cellarius having the mountaineers upset with him. I had the folks
who were interested in the subject of the effects of war on the environment. That was my
politically thorny issue at the time. There were ballot initiatives. There were editorials,
particularly in the Bay Chapter newsletter. Steve Rauh, I believe, was the editor here.
Very, very competent newsletter editor, but really a--I mean, he could blindside you really
well, and did it, routinely.

And this started during Joe Fontaine's presidency. The controversy [on war and the
environment] started before your term.

Yes, yes, it did. It came right over to me. Oh, there were--1 mean, there were--The
personal attacks. You know, that I lived in Fayetteville, North Carolina, which was the
home of Fort Bragg, and many of my customers were soldiers; therefore, I was suspect.
You know, whatever that--

Now, where would these things come?

Oh, out of committee meetings and out of editorials in newsletters and all kinds of mailings
that went around and all that sort of thing. I tried handling it in the way I tried handling
everything else. I tried to sit down and talk to these folks, and I met with them several
times. And when I think we'd worked something out, then there would be another two
people that hadn't been at that meeting who would talk to the people that had been to that
meeting and talked them out of what they had just agreed on, so that you never could find
the head of the monster. You found someone who represented the group, and you worked
things out with them, only to find out that the group then said no, they're not the ones.
They didn't have the authority. And you'd be back to square one.

What was the basic issue? What was the difference?
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Oh, there was this passion that if we were all going to get blown away in a nuclear
explosion, what else did any of this stuff mean that we're doing? And therefore that should
be our issue, and that's where our resources should go, and why are we messing around
with all this other stuff? And you could make the argument that they were right. I mean,
philosophically it's a correct argument. However, it's not quite that simple. If I joined the
Sierra Club, put my money in the Sierra Club because I'm interested in fighting for the old-
growth redwoods, you're going to have a very difficult time convincing me that, having
done that, you should take my money that I put in there and spend it on lobbying in
Washington against nuclear energy, or that we should do away with any efforts to protect
old-growth redwoods. You're going to have a hard time with that. In fact, 'm going to tell
you you're nuts and go someplace else with my time and money and work on it. And so
that was the controversy, and it was very difficult, very passionate. Demonstrations and
meetings. I mean, people coming to a meeting with posters and standing in the middle of
the room, saying "This is what we need to be doing instead of that."

Was the board divided?

Yes. As I recall, there were a few, two or three people on the board that were supportive of
this. In the main, it was viewed as a problem. The solution I came to, which worked very
well, is I found the chair for the committee that was acceptable to the people on the
committee. They didn't necessarily like him, but they accepted him.

So this was the committee on the environmental effects of war.

Yes, the effects of war on the environment. That was Bob Girard, who was a brilliant
attorney, professor, longtime activist, longtime trustee of the Sierra Club Foundation,
friend.

From here?

From here, yes. You don't know Bob Girard? You've missed a colorful character. I don't
want--

Did he have ties with this group that was protesting so much?

Yes, he did in that he believed many of their positions were correct positions, but he also
had a view of the Sierra Club that was a little bigger than what was being presented here.
And he also understood the realities of the whole thing, and he trusted me, and I trusted
him, and we could talk with each other. And when we'd say something to each other, that's
the way it would be. We wouldn't, you know, come back and say, "Oh, well, I talked to
somebody else now and I didn't mean that." So he was willing to go out on the front edge
and take a lot of the punishment to make things move forward. Not only the issue but to
permit the Sierra Club to move forward in other areas and not get sidetracked.

So people like Bob Girard on that issue, Ted Snyder on the outings, they took very much
the lead in working these things through, and they were better equipped to do that than I

was for several reasons. One is they were part of the group of people they were working
with and had been historically, and they were trusted. They knew more about the issues

than I did.
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But it also permitted the president of the Sierra Club to function as president of the Sierra
Club. Presidents of the Sierra Club can get so distracted with those kinds of issues that
they don't do the other stuff we've been talking about. They don't have time to talk to the
Wall Street Journal or the Washington Post because they're in a meeting on an issue. And
that's unfortunate.

Did Bob Girard and his group move the club more into these types of issues?
We made a commitment, and we did move into the issues. We did some lobbying. We put
some club resources into it [the effects of war on the environment]. Significantly less than

what the people on that issue wanted, significantly more than what some people wanted. It
was a middle ground. It permitted the club to keep moving forward.

Ballot Initiatives, and the Election of Directors

I see. That's a real thorny one.

Well, but everybody has one. [ mean, we've just been through this zero cut logging thing. 1
mean, should we or should we not cut any trees off of any public land? Well, you know, |
have trouble with nevers. I mean, [ won't say I never say never, but I don't know that I'm
wise enough to be that all-inclusive on anything, I think. And it has been a thorny issue,
and very divisive, and we've had them over the years. Many of them are related to a
particular activity, like mountaineering, or they're related to a particular issue. Nuclear
power certainly has been one, not in the sense of war and the environment but nuclear
power. When I came to my second meeting, when Larry Moss was president, that was the
big controversy at the time.

And then some of those things that seemed so controversial, like nuclear power, the club
eventually did come to oppose.

Yes.
It doesn't seem so far out now.

No, no. I mean, we're going to have, I believe, a vegetarian initiative on the ballot this
time, and there are people out there who are very passionate, who believe that there is no
reason in the world why you would call yourself an environmentalist if you're not a
vegetarian. [ mean, you've got to understand the importance of this, how much better the
Earth would be if we all were vegetarians. I understand their argument. They're right. 1
don't have any problem with that. I also understand that you do not make six hundred and
some thousand people who belong to the Sierra Club vegetarians by decree, any more than
you make them by decree decide that some other issue is more important.

The organization's strength is its diversity of thought, diversity of action, willingness of
people to get out there and put their selves in doing what it is that's important to do, and that
means that you've got to let them be responsible for much of the agenda. You can't sit here
in a palace and send out the word, saying, well, this year we're going to do this.
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Do you like the idea of the ballot measures? Do you think that it contributes to democracy
in the club?

It's a little bit of a California sort of thing, the initiative kind of thing, and I think it has at
least as much downside as it does upside, and I think California has certainly proven that.
Some of the worst ideas that have ever developed in this state came through initiatives, so,
you know, yes, I think it's a mixed bag. Club ballot initiatives have never threatened me.
I've been involved with probably seven or eight of them, in which I've either written the
ballot statements or helped orchestrate them, and none that--No position that [ ever took
was opposed by the voters. And so I think I understand the will of the members of the
Sierra Club and how you reach out to them and get the answer.

I think the ballot initiative on no cut only was passed because the board sat it out, did not
take a leadership role in it. I think if the board had decided that this is not what they wanted
to do and had taken a leadership role and had a well-written statement that it would not
have passed. And that certainly was the case with the war and the environment initiatives
and it would be on a vegetarian initiative. So they're not threatening to me.

More threatening to me, frankly, is the fact that people can so easily get elected to be a
director. I think that's the real threat to the organization, rather than the initiatives.

Is that something we'll talk about when we're getting into the more current issues, or do you
want to elaborate on that now?

Well, it's not--We might let me just say something about it now. If a person of a minority
race--What am I trying to say? Un-Caucasian ran for the board, was a woman and was
from Alaska and had anything to put in a ballot statement that was creditable, and did not
have a known background that was threatening (executive of Exxon or whatever), they'll be
elected to the board.

Based on their categories, more or less.

Based on the nature of the electorate. There has not been a minority run for the board that
has not been elected.

But not too many have run for the board.

Well. But I stand on what I've observed. Nobody from Alaska that I can remember has run
and not been elected except Peg Tileston, and she ran holding a fish, which has been the
standard joke with all of us, including Peg. But--

You mean, her ballot picture--

Her ballot picture had her holding a salmon about four feet long. No, two feet long. But--
and it was a standing joke that this did not help her.

My point being, I think that an orchestrated effort to take over positions on the board can be
successful. I think the last election has shown that, where a slate [supporting zero-cut
logging] ran, raised money, did mailings. I'm not sure whether those people are going to be
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healthy for the Sierra Club or not that were elected in that group, but it's a scary concept. It
is a complete--It is a long move from democracy. It is--

What do you think the answer is?
Get out of California, and incorporate someplace else.
Now, why? Tell me.

Because California law bends over so far to accommodate the dissenting voice. Therefore,
under California law the members and the restrictions, the rights of the members, the
restrictions on a non-profit corporation are significantly different than they are in many
other states. And therefore you have access to the ballot with many fewer signatures, for
example. I mean, a handful of people can get you on the ballot.

And that's California law, not the club's own bylaws.

That's California law. And I don't think we'll do it until it's too late. I think that's one of the
serious threats. I did a risk analysis for the Sierra Club some years ago, most of which--
none of which was ever published because we decided if we published it, it would be
counter to the point. If we exposed where our risks are, this is disadvantageous, obviously.
I think this is one of the greatest risks, and I think that one is playing itself out. I think that
we should do whatever we need to do to prohibit people spending money or having others
spend money to get them elected to the board of directors. Getting on the ballot should
require some great difficulty in getting there. I would go so far as to require some tenure of
service or whatever, something. Just walking in off the street and getting elected because--
you've raised a lot of money to do mailings, and promote yourself--a bad idea.

Do you fear [a takeover by] the wise-use movement? Or do you fear the more radical
environmentalists?

No, no. The more radical environmentalists are less well organized than we are. I fear that
the corporate power--When we become troublesome enough to the international
corporations, they can do us in on this one. They know enough people out there to look
real good, a credible background, and are of various colors, ethnic backgrounds,
educational backgrounds that live in attractive places to voters. It's a lot easier to get
elected to the board of directors of the Sierra Club if you live in Alaska or if you live in, oh,
Jackson Hole, Wyoming. A much better place than Fayetteville, North Carolina, or San
Francisco, for that matter. San Francisco is both a plus and a minus. You've got a lot of
people who live here who'd vote for you, but you've got a lot of people who'd vote against
you because you're from there.

Well, that's disturbing.

That, again, is an aside, I suppose.
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The International Assembly at Snowmass. 1983

Okay. Now, we've skipped back and forth, but that's okay. That's the way the club works.
The Snowmass Assembly [1983]. That seems like a pretty significant thing.

It was significant.

And that happened during your presidency.

Oh, yes.

But the planning must have started way before.

Yes, but I had been involved with it from the time the first egg got laid, before we started
hatching it. The thing to be said about an international assembly, Snowmass, was that it
was a success. It was a success. It was wonderful. It was a time all the politics was going
on. The presidential candidates showed up, the members showed up, the planning had
been done well. We had small groups and big groups.

They had something--I think they called them learning trees--and at a given hour they
would be sitting in a certain place and if you wanted to go, and a bunch of people wanted to
go, and talk to Ed Wayburn for an hour, he's going to be there for an hour. And you'd go
chat with Ed Wayburn or David Brower or whoever. It was an opportunity for people who
were rising leaders to meet and spend time with these people.

John Denver was there. I spent a good deal of time working with John Denver's agent,
who--of course, John was nearby and shared a lot of issues that were important to us, and
he really kind of relished the idea of coming and talking to us. His agent was aghast at the
idea that he might sing and play. Well, of course, we really wanted him to sing and play.
And so it was my task to somehow get all of the above, which we did. When John Denver
showed up, I greeted him. And the fact that he had a guitar in his hand I took as a great
sign. So, having seen a guitar, I assured him that what we really wanted to do was hear his
thoughts on the issues. Had I not seen a guitar, it would have been a different conversation.
I probably would have started out saying, "Gee, I was hoping you could bring--"

#HH

Gary Hart was there, with his entourage. He decided to come rather at the last minute, and
when he decided to come, announced when he would be there and announced that he
wanted to meet with the board of directors at that hour. Of course, we had planned this
thing out. There were seventeen things going on at any given hour the whole time we were
there. And I shoved and moved around, and I got freed up probably ten of the fifteen
directors. I allowed this to be known to them, and they, Gary Hart's people, are most upset,
but they finally accept this. So we meet, and Gary Hart came in. I introduced myself to
him, and he proceeded to just give me a very difficult time because we hadn't gotten all the
directors there. It was the most curious way to have a start to a meeting, from a presidential
candidate coming to a group that he wishes to endorse him. He came in and he really
fussed at us.
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As if he were doing you a favor.

He really fussed at me. And I pointed out to him, quite politely, that what was happening
was exactly what I had informed his people was going to happen and that if he had any
misunderstandings, he needed to talk to his people, not to me. And that was all [ had to say
on the matter. That sort of ended that, but it was a curious thing, and it made me believe,
frankly, that Gary Hart would not make it because clearly he had some blind spots that I
saw were going to create problems.

But we had other good people there. Of course, [Alan] Cranston was there. It was an
exciting time. It was a growing time. I was hoping, frankly, that it would be something
that would come out that we would do more often. It was an investment in the people that
were there. There was nobody there that didn't go away feeling better about the Sierra
Club, more likely to be active in the future. It was a growing event. It was an enriching
event.

It was a statement of the volunteer--

And it was a statement that the volunteer was an important person. I believe, as much as I
believe anything, that in any given moment, things are moving and that, you know, you
personally are born, you start moving towards dying immediately. It's not a straight line;
you go forward and backward. Sometimes you heal up and get stronger; sometimes you
move further that way. And organizations, relationships are that way. The strength of the
people involved is some way related to the amount of time and energy and the attention

you're willing to invest in it. And we invested time and attention into those people, and it
was a wonderful experience.

Political Endorsements, TV Appearances

It was at the time that all the political stuff was going on. We talked about the media stuff.
We didn't talk about the endorsements.

No. That I'd like to--

I did endorsements all over the country.

Now, this was the first time that the club had endorsed national political candidates.
I guess it was. I'm not sure. We'd have to check the record on that.

I checked, and they had some trials in California, but this was the first--

But I went all over the place. I went up and down--

And this was, just for the record, the congressional election, '82.

Yes, yes. I guess that's right. '82 would be it.
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After Reagan had his great victory.

Yes, right, exactly. Wonderful stories. I spent eight days being passed from volunteer to
volunteer, sleeping in volunteers' homes. I didn't know where I was going to sleep
tomorrow night until I got there; that sort of thing. One of the people I worked with was a
guy named Howard, Congressman Jim Howard from eastern New Jersey, chair of the
Public Works and Transportation Committee. He's now deceased. He was a stereotype of
what you might think of a New Jersey politician. He had a car with a magnetic sign stuck
on the side, you know, and the car was furnished by the local Teamsters Union, as was the
driver, and he never knew from day to day who the driver would be or anything, and it was
very strange.

We met, and I had met this guy--I spent five minutes with this guy, I guess, fifteen minutes.
We end up at a radio station, which there is a black jazz radio station in New Jersey, and
we're in a talk show thing. So I talk about how the president of the Sierra Club could only
go to so many places and do endorsements but how all congressmen are not equal. Every
congressman is important and gets a vote but there are some in Congress that when they
stand up and make a statement that they sway the opinion of the Congress and that, clearly,
this Representative Howard was that kind of man. I went on and on and on like this, and
there were some questions and so on, but it was basically a love fest.

Then we left and we got back down to the car, and this gentleman turned to me and looked
me right in the eye, and he said, "Now, what you said in there, that's right. That's right.
You just keep saying that all day long because that's right." And we did. We went from
place to place, newspapers and so on. We ate at [-Hop [International House of Pancakes],
where the owner was a guy he had played high school football with and the hostess was
Howard’s sister in law. But it was that kind of real personal, down to earth.

I ended up in Connecticut, I think, on that trip. And I met with volunteers. We did
fundraisers. And it was all day long. I mean, it started early in the morning, and it went till
ten o'clock at night, at which point you'd get into a volunteer's house and there would be
seven people sitting in the living room to meet you and talk about politics or whatever. If
you got six hours sleep, you were very, very fortunate.

Now, in all these various places across the country that you went to, how much did the
Sierra Club endorsement mean? Were there places--

It meant a lot. It meant a lot. It was clear it meant a lot. It was clear it was important. And
it was clear they were really glad to have me there. It was important to have the president
of the Sierra Club there. It made a real statement. They really saw that as a real--I mean,
the fact that the president of the Sierra Club would come. They didn't know who the
dickens he was. I mean, and--

One of the difficulties of being president of the Sierra Club is it's very easy to get confused
with the importance of the office and the importance of yourself. That confusion is quickly
removed when you go out of office. The phone stops ringing, and the mailman stops
coming. But at the time, you know, people really want to hear what you have to say, and,
you know, the phone would ring, and it would be CBS News, wanting--CBS radio news.
"We're going on the air in twenty minutes, and we need a statement from you on so and so.
Would you give us a statement which we can record and use on the air?" And so you



Lage:

Shaffer:

Lage:

Shaffer:

163

would do it, and you'd get to thinking, well, maybe you have some wisdom here. But it's
the office which is the important thing.

We did a teleconference that was paid for by some major donors that was sent over the
country to different media markets, in which there were a number of experts who spoke
about the role of the environment in the elections and tried to carry that message to the
media that was stacked around sets around the country. That was the first time we had
done anything like that. I was on--1 [chuckling] remember being on, oh, what's the TV, Ted
Turner's thing?

CNN.

CNN news out of Washington, live, on this political and environmental issue. And on the
way to the program, the taxi I'm in was broadsided and totalled, and it was one of the more
strange interviews I ever had in my life. I got to CNN about five minutes before the
program, and they said, "Have a seat" in the lobby. I mean, it's five minutes before the
program, and I'm having a seat in the lobby. This is nuts! And about three minutes before,
they come out and get me, and they go in and say, "Sit in that stool," and they looked at me
and said, "You're too short. Let me get something." And I thought to myself, well, I didn't
know I was. And somebody is running a wire up my sleeve for this mike, and they're
saying, "There's a knob down here" and "Don't watch the monitor because there's a thirty-
second delay, but you'll get a voice from Atlanta in your ear as well as this here, and be sure
which one you answer the questions of [is the one corresponding to] whoever is asking it."
And so on and so forth.

And then the guy looked at me and said, "You know, you've got blood on your face?" And
I'said, "No-o, I didn't." He said, well, we've got to get makeup, someone to get in here and
clean this blood off his face. And it turns out that I had been cut with flying glass, which I
didn't know, and we're on the air. And we're talking about electoral politics, and one thing
or another. It was quite, quite curious. But not unusual for the way I was doing things. I
just--We'd go from one thing to another thing to another thing.

It must have been an exciting time.

[Added during interviewee review: It was. And we were effective. We did 15
endorsements for the Senate and won 11, in the House 153 and won 121, and in
gubernatorial campaigns we won 9 of 11. Of the races too close to call before the election
we won 3 of 5 in the Senate, 11 of 18 in the House, and 1 of 1 for governor. And we won 9
more races that the polls said we would lose. I met with or appeared for 20 of those
candidates. But I spent more time with the volunteers. An article I wrote for the Jan/Feb
1983 Sierra sets out the details, and expressed my thanks to the volunteer activists.

The second part of the Sierra article was called "The Untold Stories." A copy is attached
[See appendix]. It is rather a good example of how I worked with volunteers. [ wrote all of
this article as I did most things that carried my name.]

When Watt resigned, Reagan wanted to appoint his friend Clark, Judge William Clark.
And William Clark was the national security advisor at that point. I'm sitting in the
president's office on Bush Street, and the phone rings, and the secretary came in and said,
"Denny, William Clark is on the phone and wants to talk to you." O-okay. I pick up the
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phone. "How are you?" "I'm fine." And he talks to me about what he would have to do to
get the support of the Sierra Club to his appointment as secretary of interior.

Did you know he was in--

There were rumors that his name was going in, that that was going to be Reagan's choice.
And I said to him, "Well, this is a serious matter." I said, "This is a matter which, frankly, I
would like to have the opportunity to discuss with you personally, rather than over the
phone." And he said, "Well, when are you going to be in Washington? We'll do that." And
I said, "Well, I'll be in Washington at whatever time it is that you feel would be appropriate
for us to do that." So he said, "Well, fine." He said, "That's --"We talked a little bit more,
and he said, "I'll tell you what I want you to do. Call me Saturday morning at 9 o'clock at
this number." And he gives me a phone number, and I repeat it back to him, and "Yes,
that's the number." "Okay, I'll call."

Well, now, of course, it's six o'clock Saturday morning here, so I get up at five o'clock and
get myself prepared to make the phone call. Make the phone call, and somebody answers
the phone saying, "McFarland." And I said, "Is Judge Clark there? This is Denny Shaffer,
president of the Sierra Club, and I'm supposed to call him at this number." The man said,
"Oh, I don't know. He's around here somewhere. I've seen him recently. Let me see if |
can find him." So he goes looking for him, can't find him, says, "Wait a minute. Let me
see if I can find his secretary." And so he comes--There's nothing for a while.

Finally, the secretary comes, and allows as how they can't find Mr. Clark, that if I would
leave a phone number, he could call me back. So I go into great detail, explaining what this
is all about and that I'm just calling at this time because this is the time he asked me to call.
So we then negotiated a time for me to call back. Which I did. What transpired was that
we set up a meeting.

And then there was another meeting set up for all the environmental organizations to go
meet with Clark. Well, I stuck by my guns. I said, "You want our endorsement. I want a
meeting with you. That's fine, but [ want to meet with you." So we had two meetings. We,
Mike and I, had a meeting with Clark, and then there was a whole group of
environmentalists met with Clark. But the Sierra Club had their own billing.

And Mike came along?

Mike went along. Oh, yes, Mike went along. And we met with Clark down in the bowels
of the old Executive Office Building, as I recall. I remember several things about it. No, it
was the White House. It was the White House. I remember the pictures of Reagan on the
wall in his pajamas, which I thought was curious. He was in his pajamas on Air Force One.
Very curious.

But we had this meeting, and basically we said to him, "You know, you've got to give us
something substantive. The fact that you're meeting with us is very encouraging, and we
appreciate this very much, but if you want us to say this is a good idea, you're going to have
to make a commitment to us to do something of some significance that we can hang this on.
Lacking that--"And we had some suggestions, none of which he felt comfortable with.
And we left.
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[Added during interviewee review: Can you specify what your suggestions were, and his
reasons for not feeling comfortable with them?

As I recall Alaska was on our agenda, another wild lands issue and a pollution issue. He
just was not going to take any position that would cause him problems later.]

Walking down the street, I remember Mike and I talking sort of--We were quiet for a while,
and finally we talked. I remember saying to Mike, "Mike, you know, the thing that is most
incredible about this is that this man really has no particular qualifications for the job, has
no particular desire to do the job, has no particular knowledge about the job, but he is a
friend of the president and is willing to do it."

Well, back to the story of the phone call to him originally, that I got this strange answer. It
turned out that who I had been talking to was Mr. McFarland, who ended up being the
incoming national security advisor and that this phone number is the number of the national
security advisor of the president of the United States, Clark being the out-going national
security advisor, and this was the morning that they invaded Grenada.

Oh, you are kidding!

So that's why everybody was so confused down there in that basement that particular
morning. So you find yourself in all sorts of very strange situations. The president of the
Sierra Club talking to the ingoing and outgoing national security advisor--talking to the
incoming, trying to find the outgoing, national security advisor of the president in the
morning in which they're invading an island, about whether or not the Sierra Club is going
to support the next nomination for secretary of interior.

Do you remember how the meeting with the Group of Ten went?

1 did not attend that one. No, I did attend that. I stand corrected. I did attend that meeting.
It went very much the same way. He was very pleasant. He was very positive. He was
very noncommittal. He held as his highest thing that should encourage people to support
him the fact that he was talking to them, that he had shown a willingness to break through
the animosities and so on, which really wasn't--

Did the club support him?

No.

Did they actively oppose him? Do you remember?

I don't--I think we ended up saying this was not a good idea. Yes, I think so. I'm not sure
of that, but I think that's right.
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Involvement in Electoral Politics

That's another interesting tale. Had you been involved in SCCOPE [Sierra Club
Committee on Political Education] before?

Oh, yes, yes. I had been involved with SCCOPE almost from the beginning and ended up
being chair, you know, vice president of political affairs a couple of times, when [ wasn't on
the board. It has been an interest of mine all along. I felt we should be in electoral politics
all along.

So that was something you pushed for.

Oh, yes. Oh, yes. And I believe that very strongly. I'm not sure we should be involved at
the presidential level. I think that's a harder call.

And we were in '84.

Yes.

With Walter Mondale.

Yes, and that was--It was at that time we realized the difference. I understood it, I thought,
beforehand. But it becomes very partisan. You can support a Democratic candidate for
Senate over the Republican and have some appearances of it not being partisan, but when
there's two people running for president and one's a Republican and one's a Democrat and

you support either one of them, it looks real partisan. And it is.

Now, the Sierra Club supported Mondale [in 1984] and not [Michael] Dukakis [in 1988].
Do you know the thinking?

I don't remember all the details. I remember meeting with him. [ remember meeting with
Dukakis out at the Cliff House, as a matter of fact, on a foggy day.

As part of this SCCOPE process?

Yes, but I couldn't give you a clue as to what the date was. I met with a lot of these people.
I remember meeting with Paul Simon, who was most impressive. Of all the people I talked
with, I liked Paul Simon about as much as anybody.

On the environment. You stick to the environment in these meetings?

Well, yes, pretty much, pretty much. But it's hard. I think you make a mistake if you
isolate things too much. I think you need to include more things.

When you say it becomes very political when you endorse the presidential candidate, is
that something you're uncomfortable with, seeing the club--

It's divisive. It's more partisan.
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Within the club.

It's divisive within the club itself. We lost members the first time we did it. We lose
members each time we do it. I think we should be careful about when we do it. Having
said that, [ have supported it each time we've done it, so I may be speaking out of both sides
of my mouth.

Did the club not endorse Dukakis because they didn't think he was a good candidate? Or
for these reasons that you're mentioning?

I'm not sure I can give you the definitive answer to that. I don't remember. From the
beginning, the message I carried to our SCCOPE program is that you've got to have enough
wins to be creditable. If we go out there and endorse people who are pure on our issue and
lose 80 percent of the races, ain't nobody gonna be paying much attention to us in four or
five years. By the same token, if you take on no candidates except those which are going to
win without your help, then that becomes fairly clear that that's what you're doing, and you
won't be a player that way. So it's a delicate balance.

I always encouraged us avoiding what I call kamikaze races, where the outcome was clear
that it was going to be a horrible crash landing at the end and that, while we could stand
high on our principles during the campaign, we would walk away with nothing to show for
our efforts other than the fact that we fought a good fight. But we wouldn't have any more
votes for our issues, and perhaps we would have a more rigid vote against us in the future.
I think that view has been generally the policy of the club.

At the beginning of SCCOPE, there was real enthusiasm for picking the good guys. You
know, this man is a friend of mine, he's great, he's so--You know, and he's got $700 in the
bank, and he's never run for political office before, but he's right. He's got the right soul.
Well, unfortunately, it's not that simple. But, having said that, I don't mean that you make-
-You make the decisions based on a number of things, and the person needs to be a
creditable candidate.

So one of the factors would be--

Can they get elected? Because if you're going to put your resources and time and energy
into something that's bound to fail, that's not good use of it.

Do you think the process works?
I think so.
Well, you're a process man. And all this takes place locally, or a good deal of it.

Yes, yes. I think that's right. And yes, I think it works well. There have been occasions
where it has been very difficult, and the national leadership then needs to become involved
and has. You can have a congressional race where you want to do an endorsement, and
some local people get ticked off at the guy and say, "No, we're not going to endorse him,"
and yet he's important to the Sierra Club on a national level. A particular issue, he holds a
committee position that's important, and you sure need to do this. And this is why people
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have to get out of San Francisco and go talk to those people. When we've had problems,
it's because people didn't get out of San Francisco and go talk to the people.

You mean the national officers.

Oh, yes, yes, yes.

North Carolinians in the Sierra Club

How has it worked in North Carolina?

Oh, I think it has worked perfectly in North Carolina. We've had no problems at all. We've
had a lot of people really understand the thing there. I mean, Robbie Cox, Chuck
McGrady, who has just finished being chapter chair there, who was chair of the SCCOPE
committee, national SCCOPE committee. We have always had--and I say it with some
local pride I guess--our share of folks who understood the bigger picture. We've got two
members of the board of directors now from North Carolina. We've had two presidents,
we've had four directors in this period of time I've been involved. That's disproportionate
for the size of the state.

How does that happen? Is it tradition?

I think it started a long time ago, with a lot of attention to the sorts of things that I think are
important. The business of making service rewarding. The North Carolina Chapter has by
far a better awards, honors and awards program than the national organization has. Their
awards are better looking, they're given to more people, they're given with more style and
grace. And I don't mean by that that some of them are not done well at the national level. 1
mean, when Mike McCloskey gave me the presentation for the Colby Award that I got a
little while ago, I mean, he brought tears to my eyes. I couldn't value that more. And
particularly I couldn't value more the fact that Mike did the presentation. But there's just--
In North Carolina there has been a real attention to people and rewarding people and so on.

So it's strength within the chapter. I was thinking in terms of a tradition of people moving
onto the board, and mentorships.

Well, it is mentorship. I mean, you know, Chuck McGrady is going to be at my house in a
couple of days, coming by. Wants to sit down and spend an evening talking to me and
picking my brain about what he can do and so on. And I will share with him my thoughts,
and he'll pick out what he thinks are good ones and use them, and what he doesn't think
much of, he won't use. And that's the way it ought to be.

It's good to see chapters that carry on like that.
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Summing up the Shaffer Presidency

Okay, now, do we have other things, kind of looking back at the presidential term, that
we've missed or some overall assessment?

[Added during interviewee review: There is one story I might tell you. Part of the fun side
of being the club president.

Ansel Adams gave the club a lot of large photographs over the years, and Mike had talked
about the fact that none were signed. So we set up a little social in the library, at which
Ansel had agreed to sign the photographs.

After refreshments and visiting, Ansel sat at a small table, and I handed the pictures to him
one at a time. He examined them, signed them, and passed them on to Mike.

The fifth or sixth picture he looked at for an overly long time, shook his head and gave it
back to me, saying, "I'd like to sign it. It's very good. But it's Eliot Porter's. "

I still wonder if we ever got Eliot to sign that one.]

There were other little things. I mean, the annual dinner, for example. I mentioned one
annual dinner at which we had the bomb threat. I gave attention to that, but it amazes me
that--It seems frequently it's discovered at the very last moment that we're going to have an
annual dinner and wonder where we're going to have it. I found great joy in those dinners
because it's a celebration, bringing the people together and having a good place to do it and
thinking ahead about it and making the reservations two or three years in advance.

The one time the club has met in recent history in the Garden Court of the Sheraton Palace
Hotel was because I made the reservation when I was president. Now, that happened two
or three years after I was president. But you don't get that room at a moment's notice. And
I hope they were fun. You know, I brought in a bluegrass band. It was called the Good Old
Persons, which was a women's bluegrass band that played for the cocktail party
beforehand, which I thought set a kind of tone that I was trying to find.

It's funny when I look back on what I did as president, I think a lot more about the people
and what I was able to do to make it more fun for them, more rewarding. And a whole lot
less about which bills we got passed. Because to me the second is a product of the first.
We'll win the legislative battles if we have an army of people out there dedicated to the
cause. That'll happen. So I would rather spend my time having an army of people out there
that are rising up to overthrow the evil in the country, and they're feeling good about it, not
only while they're doing it but after they do it, than worrying about other things which other
people do very well.

You had Brock Evans on the board while you were president.
I sure did.

Was he a good board member after being a staff member for so long?
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Yes. Well, everybody brings to the board something different. Brock brought this great
wealth of history and background and passion. He was frustrated, I think, in some
occasions with service as a director as I think he was frustrated with being on the staff of
the Sierra Club because Brock is a man who has vision. These things are important; he
wants them to happen. He's not very patient with all those things. But Brock is my friend.
Brock has been to my home; I've been to his home. I have a picture of him and his son in
my office, as a matter of fact, which I hadn't thought about. It's true. Athome. He's one of
the unique and special people. I learned a whole lot about him, and about the
environmental movement, and about the Sierra Club.

Did I tell the story of the Eastern Wilderness Bill? Have I told that story? That's when |
really got to know Brock.

[See narrative on Eastern Wilderness Bill, Chapter 1]

And I still have the letter Brock wrote to Ed Easton after that meeting--Ed Easton was then
the chapter chair--saying, "This fellow you sent up here was quite unusual. Let me tell you
what he did." But that was the beginning of a real long relationship with Brock and I. It
goes back, deep roots, many evenings having a drink, talking about philosophy and so on.
We've walked together; we've talked about tough times in our families together. Having
him as director was nothing but a blessing.

And he was on the staff of the National Audubon Society while he was a club director, so
that was sort of a cross-over.

Some people saw that as a conflict. I don't think it ever was. I mean, there were some
times it was perceived that it would be. We don't have any secrets from--

Each other.

No. We really don't. I mean, that's silly. The people that serve--Really, there were no
negatives. There's nobody that I've served with on the board of directors that has not been
in some way very much a personal and organizational positive. They've all had things to
offer the cause, the organization. They bring a diversity. They bring various levels of
knowledge and ability and training for certain issues. But it's a good system. It's a good
system.

So far.
Yes, if we don't screw it up.

Let's stop a minute here.
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IX LAST TERM ON THE BOARD, 1994-1997: REFLECTIONS ON CHANGES IN
CLUB GOVERNANCE

Running for the Board in 1994. Elected as Treasurer: Troubling Changes in the
Volunteer’s Role in the Club

#H

We are back on tape now, having discussed where we're going from here. We've pretty
well gotten a good view of your presidency and how you viewed the role of president. And
we talked about the years after your presidency last time, in the context of the treasurership.
But what we haven't talked about is your last term on the board [1994-1997]. Why you
came back to the board. Had you intended to come back?

Well, that's easy. No, I did not intend to come back, though I did not say never. I was much
less positive on the subject than I am now, for example. But I came back because the club
had run cumulative deficits of about $5 million over the three years while I was gone, and I
saw no real evidence that that was going to stop. We were about to run into a brick wall,
and it was clear to me that it was going to take a serious effort to change that, and it was
important to do.

I had encouraged others of my friends to run again, and they had, past presidents of the
club. I guess I thought, when I decided to come back again, that it would be viewed with a
lot of enthusiasm and the nominating committee would jump up and down and say, "What
a good idea, Denny." In fact, what happened was the nominating committee chose not to
nominate me. That was a rather unpleasant experience, and it came out of--I mean, there
were issues raised about things I had done when I was doing fund-raising before I had been
president that had adversely affected a California chapter, for example, and that--

This came out in an interview?
In a nominating committee interview, as to whether I should serve on the board again. It

was just awful. There was absolutely no positive comments made by the nominating
committee to me.
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Who was it chaired by? You mentioned Will Siri was on it, when we were talking about
the foundation.

Will Siri was on it, come to think about it. I had forgotten about that.
I was taking that from the last interview four years ago.

Sally Reid was on it. I don't remember who all was on it. It really wasn't important. There
was another lady who was from California. Not important. But anyhow, that was
somewhat sobering. But the truth of the matter is I recognize, as a political animal who has
paid attention to this, that frequently you're better off running by petition than as a
nominee, so I wasn't all that distressed about it, and I decided to go ahead and run. And
did. And getting the signatures was no problem at all. I just did a mailing out of the house
to a lot of folks I had worked with, and I had plenty of signatures almost immediately. And
then membership gave me the most votes in the election, which felt good.

Came back and ran for treasurer and was elected. There was a general accord that me
being treasurer was okay. I don't think there was much of a contest. I don't remember
much of a contest. It seemed to me people were quite agreeable because they recognized
we were in a mess.

Were we in a mess because of poor management or because of the economy or what?

We were in a mess [chuckling]--without being overly simplistic, we were in a mess because
we had been spending more money than we had for some period of time, and we did not
have the discipline to do anything about it. We kept wishful thinking; we kept hoping
something was going to come along that was going to solve the problem; we spent money
we knew we didn't have and did it deliberately. We were doing some efforts on the Clean
Air Act; the staff knew were going to exceed the budget for that. And they decided to go
ahead and do it anyhow because it was important.

This was on Carl's watch.
Yes, this was on Carl's watch.
I'm looking to see who was president. Tony Ruckel and Michele [Perrault].

Tony, Michele, yes. At any rate, | watched all this and was somewhat frustrated by the
whole thing, and then I came on and was elected treasurer. The first thing that I did in
coming across was | came into the office and spoke with Robbie [Cox, who was then
president] and the lady who was in charge that took Andrea's job [Debbie Serrando]. She
had the administrative position. And we came in and Robbie was there and she was there,
and I think those were the only two people in the room. I asked a couple questions having
to do with how many people were on the payroll now, what is this, what is that. Because,
frankly, one of the major expenditures that the Sierra Club has is for payroll. It was clear to
me that understanding the growth in this area and how many people were attached to it, and
how many of those people were permanent positions and how many of those were not
permanent, and all that, was an important thing for me to grasp right up front.
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I was basically told that that wasn't something I should know, that this was inappropriate
and so on and so forth, and that you couldn't--We had a union now, and you can't talk about
this. We're going to have all [kinds of] trouble with the union if the word gets out that
you're in here talking about cutting the payroll. And I said, "Well, first of all, I thought the
door was closed. I don't see anybody in here that represents the union. But that's not what
I'm talking about; that's not the subject. The subject is I'm trying to get information
because y'all have been spending more than you've got, and I'm trying to figure out how
you solve the problem. The first thing you need to do is know what's going on."

So we had that very unpleasant conversation, at which point I ended up saying, "Well, this
is not going anywhere. I'm going back to Fayetteville tomorrow. I'd planned to stay here,
but this isn't productive, so I'm going back tomorrow. But in the meantime, I'm going
downstairs and go through the accounting department and speak to people" and so on.

Keep in mind some people in the accounting department I had worked with ten, fifteen
years, and [ was told not to do it. "Don't go down there. There are people down there
already upset enough." "Upset?" "Well, they're upset because you're treasurer.”" This is the
woman who is the chief administrator for the club. And Robbie is sitting there. And
Robbie is allowing that just me going down there is a bad idea. And I said, "Wait a minute.
I mean, what has happened around here? I suffer the illusion that the treasurer of the Sierra
Club, as an officer of the Sierra Club, would not be out of order if he spoke to people who
work for the Sierra Club." I said, "I'm not going down there to gather information. I'm
going down to say hello to people and say, 'Well, here [ am again.'" And, 'You and I have
worked together before. I'm looking forward to working together with you in the future.'
And 'How have you been?' You know, 'How's the kid?"

And they allowed as how this was verboten and I should not do this, and I finally said,
"Well, this is nuts. [ will not do this. But this is nuts." And I went back to Fayetteville,
realizing the Sierra Club had changed in my absence.

Who was treasurer in your absence?

Who was treasurer?

Ann Pogue was.

Ann Pogue.1

I'm just thinking that the office must have changed considerably.

Everything. My impression was my goodness, the whole, the whole--1 mean, it was clear
that I was being viewed as somebody that was incompetent, that was going to create
problems rather than solve problems, that the way to deal with me is to try to get me out of

town, and that the sooner I left, the happier everybody would be and the safer the Sierra
Club would be.

1. Several treasurers have served since Denny Shaffer’s last term as treasurer: Robert Howard,
Richard Fiddler, Ann Pogue, and Jim Dodson.
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Well, this is not anything that anybody had ever conveyed to me so clearly before. They
may have thought it on occasion, but they had never conveyed it to me so clearly before.
And it was a serious shock. I went home. I did a number of things.

Jim Dodson had been treasurer [1993-1994]. 1believe that's right. At any rate, I asked Jim
Dodson to continue to serve as chair of the finance committee, if he would do that. Well,
he gave it some thought and agreed that he would. Now, no treasurer had ever done this
before. The treasurer had always wanted to have control of the finance committee,
including myself. But I felt that it was time to send a different message, and, frankly, the
job had gotten bigger and that having two people doing these two jobs was better than
having one, particularly when one was very competent. Jim Dodson is--Jim Dodson ought
to be treasurer of the Sierra Club today. I mean, he's clearly the most qualified, the most
prepared, the most equipped to do this. But he isn't the treasurer of the Sierra Club. He
agreed to do this. We agreed on how we'd form the committee.

You mentioned Ann Pogue. Everybody assumed I would take Ann Pogue off the finance
committee because she and I had disagreed when she was treasurer. And that's precisely
the reason why I did not take her off the committee because it would have sent the wrong
message again. And, frankly, she brought something to the table. She brought two things
to the table. One is knowledge and competence and history of what had been going on
while I was gone. But she also--Ann can be very tough on people, and it's always good to
have somebody on a committee that's tougher on people than you are. Then you can back
down a little bit and not necessarily be playing that role yourself. So she was an asset to the
committee and stayed on it.

I think I made one change in the committee, total. And then we started figuring out a game

plan. Ihad a prayer meeting1 with Robbie, in which I said, "Robbie, I don't know what's
going on, but this is nuts."

President Robbie Cox and Executive Director Carl Pope

Had Robbie worked out a new way of working with the staft?

He had, but I don't know that he knew he had. Robbie--First of all, I had encouraged
Robbie to run for the board of directors. Robbie and I knew each other in North Carolina,
of course. We worked on the Hunt campaign together. He was chapter chair when I
headed the group with my wife, Kim, called Environmentalists for Hunt. Hunt ran against
Jesse Helms. We made a lot of appearances together, or several. We would work together.
I had great respect for him. He was a good chapter chair. I encouraged him to run for the
board; I encouraged him to run for president. We came into this as people who saw each
other as allies.

1. This is an expression from the South that means serious meeting. — D. S.
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But his strength--he's a professor of rhetoric, and that's where his skills lie. He is excellent
in grasping big political issues. He has a good history of the need for movements, and how
they can be effective, and the value of them. And he is passionate in his desire to make
these things happen and has made great sacrifices personally to that end. Like a lot of
people who have come into this position, Robbie has not had a lot of time and experience in
administration and management and how do you structure things and how do you trust
people.

I think one of the toughest things in a position like president of the Sierra Club or executive
director is can you trust people? Is it okay to trust people, knowing full well that they're
going to mess up sometimes? Well, the answer is you can't do it any other way. I think that
Carl came in with a whole different concept of how things should be structured, how the
role of the executive director--Carl is a man who I believe sees the answer. You name the
problem; he sees the answer. That doesn't mean he won't talk with you about it, but it does
mean that he's made the conclusion most of the times before the conversation, and it isn't
going to be any different after the conversation.

He views the role of the volunteer very differently. And it plays out in minor ways. There
are serious ways. The club no longer pays, really, the expenses of directors when they
come and stay at a hotel. They pay a small amount, but it is less than you can rent a room
for in most cases. Those directors who live in San Francisco and the staff say, "Oh, well,
you can share a room." Well, those people who live in San Francisco go home and go to
their own bed at night, and the executive director goes home and goes to his bed at night,
and you have two directors in a fourth-class hotel, sharing a room, where the heat and
plumbing may or may not work. It sends a message that's very clear: You're not very
important; your contributions are not important.

I have always been offended that the club would not pay the out-of-pocket expenses for
room and board and transportation. Now, ['ve always said everybody ought to pay for their
own food. You eat everywhere anyhow. It costs more here than it will at home, but you
still eat. And anytime I've been an officer of the club, I've seen to it that everybody was
kept whole as best I could.

I found out very quickly that was no longer the philosophy. You got everybody to put on a
hair shirt and convince them that suffering was good for them and that they weren't being
loyal soldiers if they expected the club to do this, besides, these were hard times and there
were better uses of the money. Bad, bad ideas. And it's still the way it is.

It seems more fundamental, though.
In what way? What do you mean?

Well, to say that the treasurer shouldn't talk to people in the accounting department and
shouldn't know how many staff members there are says something very fundamental about
the role of the board.

No question about it. Yes, it was a horrifying change. It was a change from "whatever is
going on is the business of the officers and directors of the Sierra Club," to a "what is your
need to know" sort of philosophy, that I'm executive director or I'm the director of this
department and I know, but why do you need to know? And it played through the whole
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time I was on the board. The things that came to the board came in bizarre ways. The
agenda was developed in very strange ways, not an open process, in my judgment. Not
having things worked on and refined. More just problems thrown on the board's table and
say, "Oh, here's a problem. What are you going to do about it?" A very poor system.

Restructuring of the Volunteer Committee Structure, A Move Away
from Democracy

But from the point of view of the budget, to talk about the budget for a few minutes, we had
a good Finance Committee, a strong man in Jim. I knew how you do this. I knew what
needed to be done. Great resistance from Carl, which consequently meant great resistance
from Robbie because Carl and Robbie--If you got a response from Carl and then you asked
Robbie, you got the same response, almost without exception; they'd talked about it, or
whatever, before.

So that relationship was--

Well, I don't know whether it was close or not, but I knew that the president was supportive
of the executive director's position on whatever it was. This, of course, was after Robbie
had led the effort to do all the restructuring of the club. Now, I had been somewhat critical
of the restructuring effort, of the volunteer side. And still am. I think the restructuring did
great and serious damage to the club which we have not yet overcome.

In--

Oh, in a number of ways. It was done because Carl wanted it done, and Carl's reason for
wanting it done was so we could make decisions more quickly. I mean, there were other
things, but that was the primary thrust, that we were awkward, and we don't make clear
decisions quickly, and they get debated forever. You think you've made a decision and if
somebody else appeals it--You can't operate this way. Well, that's a fair point, and he's
right. But democracies are messy. Dictatorships are neat, and you can make quick
decisions and so on.

Well, we've moved more away from democracy, and you can make decisions more quickly,
but you have less buy-in of those decisions; you have less support of those decisions; you
have less knowledge of those decisions; the decisions aren't as good decisions; and you
reach a point where the governing body no longer is governing. I think that that's very
close to where we are now.

It becomes a sandbox.
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Carl Pope’s Approach to Club Governance

That's right. The governance of the Sierra Club is now basically the executive director, and
to some degree the president of the club on those issues which are important. And, to some
degree, other powerful people, the Ed Wayburns or Phil Berrys of the world, whose
particular issue is at stake. And they will rise up and defend it and fight for it and move it
forward. But on the more basic, probably much more important, fundamentals of where is
this organization going, what are our standards, what is our mission and goal, how do we
go about doing this, I don't see the board even really being asked the questions under Carl.

And so when it came time to redo the budget, Carl insisted that we would have to do a
budget first that was a schematic budget, that you, rather than talking about numbers, that
you talked about the various parts. I understood what he was saying, except I argued that a
budget without numbers is not a budget, no matter what you call it. But he wanted to sort
the parts out.

You mean, like, the plan, the programs?

Well, yes. Let's say, okay, these are the things we do to communicate with our members.
That's Sierra magazine, that's the books program, that's chapter newsletters. One of the
things he saw little value in was chapter newsletters, so let's do away with funding chapter
newsletters and let's use that money to do something else with. That was a conclusion that
he had along the way, which never got far off the ground for a number of reasons, not the
least of which is chapter newsletters are funded by funds which chapters view as their
funds and that the national sends them money and they raise money and they put out a
newsletter and it's their decision. And I happen to agree with the chapters. I think that's
absolutely right.

I understand what Carl was saying. If you were to take the broad picture view of the
organization and say how's the most effective way, he was convinced something like the
little tabloid we send out now, the Planet, was the answer. I again disagree. I think the
Planet is no more useful than most conservation program kinds of things. It comes out,
tells you "this is what you need to do; write this person; make this phone call; do this; this
is why." And I think long-term that diminishes the membership rather than growing the
membership because you get tired of making the phone calls; you don't get any reward
when you do. You get another newsletter that says, "Do it again," and you get worn out by
it. The rewards are not very great. If you don't do it, you feel guilty, so you stop reading
the dang thing and put it away.

This has been my argument with much of what I see as Carl's approach. There has been a
feeling for years that people who headed the conservation department in more or less [any]
form saw members as sort of cannon fodder that you throw into the battle; you know,
where is the next body that's willing to go in there and fight? And the pressure on the
conservation department to get this bill passed, to win this vote that's coming up next
week—It makes it understandable. I understand that, and I'm sympathetic for them. In the
long run, you don't want to run an organization that way, and I think Carl has had a difficult
time making the transition from this short-term, immediate, "You've got to get people out
there to do this; we've got to pass this bill," to a broader, longer range perspective of
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"You've got to make the members feel good about it. " You know, you've got to give them
something back.

And let them have a sense of ownership.

Have ownership in it. And I think this is the big difference that I saw. I think it's why I
never would consider running again for the board of directors while Carl is executive
director. And I don't mean by that | have any desire to get rid of Carl. I mean, Lord knows,
it's not on my list of things to do. It's just not rewarding to work with Carl. I never had a
conversation with Carl about anything that was important in the Sierra Club that I felt that
he wasn't, while we were having the conversation, preparing the response to explain to me
why I didn't get it.

That's the way he deals--Copious amounts of e-mail. [ mean, he reads all the stuff that
comes in and puts out very well-reasoned and very intelligent and articulate responses to
somebody that has resigned from a position. But the response is never one of praising and
building them up and saying, "Well, maybe we were wrong about this and maybe we
should go back and rethink this and maybe you and I should sit down and talk about this,
how we can move this forward and how can we heal? How can we make you feel better
about this? " If the response is, "This is where you got it wrong, and this is what is right,
and [ need to set the record straight because I'm right and you're wrong," that's not fun.
That's not rewarding. It doesn't make you feel good. It makes you feel bad. And I think
that that's Carl's shortcoming.

I think that Robbie got caught up in that because Carl encouraged Robbie to do what he
does well, and Robbie was--Oh, I think about a story. I had a landscape architect who was
a dear friend of mine when I was building my house and landscaping my yard, and I was
watching over his shoulder for a while, and finally, after an hour or so, he said, "Denny,
would you mind going and getting some fertilizer?" And I said, "Well, no. What kind do
you want?" And he said, "Well, I need six bags of so and so." So I went and bought it, and
I'm coming back before I realize he didn't need fertilizer. He just wanted to get me out of
his hair for a couple of hours.

I had a sense with Robbie that Carl got him out of his hair a lot by having him do good
things that needed to be done that Robbie would do very well, and would be an honor to the
club and honor to the organization, to move things forward. But it also served a purpose of
getting him out of the way so that Carl could do what Carl wanted to do.

Did you raise this as a member of the executive committee?

Oh, absolutely, absolutely.

And what kind of response did you get?

I think Robbie wanted to think it wasn't so, that I was being troublesome or irritable and
that--And, you know, there's a risk in all that. I mean, one of the things I was so conscious
of when I came back on the board is that I remember people who had done things and had

gotten older, and then they'd sit around, grumbling about the fact that things aren't like what
they were a long time ago. You know, not like it was in the good old days.
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Boy, I am conscious of that because those kind of people drove me nuts. I don't want to be
one of those kind of people. You run a risk because your mind does edit out the bad and
you remember and cherish the good, and the warm feelings stay with you. But having said
that, I think there was enough evidence and there were enough people that I talked about
this with, including people who were directors, who felt the same way and said, "I wouldn't
do this."

But I think Robbie wore himself out as president. I mean, physically wore himself out. I
would see Robbie sometimes when he looked like he was just barely able to make it, he
was so tired. And he really worked hard at it, and he really was devoted. He struggled with
it. He's a good man, an honorable man, and I have great respect for him. I don't think Carl
was the kind of help to Robbie that Robbie needed, frankly. I think he had his own agenda
of how to move the club forward, and he was doing that.

Adam Werbach as President

Adam [Werbach] was another kettle of fish. Adam called me, saying he was thinking about
running for president; what did I think about it? And I said, "Well, let me think about that,
but my gut feeling is I'll probably end up supporting you. But that's not a commitment."
He said, "I'm not asking for a commitment." I said, "Well--"

You just knew him from those two years you were on the board.

Yes. I said, "You would have taken one [a commitment] if I had given it to you, but |
didn't, and I want to make that clear." In both Robbie and Adam--Robbie had very little
experience as a national director before he became president.

Yes, that's what I was thinking.

And where I came on as the president with four and a half years and Joe Fontaine came on
as president having been around forever--Well, not forever, but a long time. A number of
people came on as president with a lot of history behind them.

Michele.

Michele and so on. In evaluating Robbie's presidency, one of the things you've got to say is
my goodness, he had little time to prepare. I suspect Robbie Cox would have been a
stronger president of the Sierra Club two or three years later, but I talked to Robbie when
he had the chance to be president and gave him the advice I mentioned earlier, which was,
"Robbie, you just may not get the chance again, and so you've got to make the decision
whether you want to do it now or whether you want to wait until you're better prepared, and
you may not have the opportunity. And that's your choice. You've got to make that
decision. Nobody can make that for you. But you've got to realize that may happen." He
chose to run, and was president.

Adam, another kettle of fish. My God, so much energy, so refreshing, so--Boy, you talk
about a different perspective and good for the organization, absolutely. I wish he had had a
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little more time before he was president, but he would then be a different person. Pros and
cons. I found working with Adam to be a real joy. I found Adam to be one who respected
me as an individual--didn't necessarily agree with me--which is all I ever ask for. Lord
knows that if I find anybody who agrees with me all the time, they are suspect immediately
because they're crazy or missing the point or something. I mean, they're wrong. But give
me credit for being an honorable person trying to do the right thing, and we'll get along just
fine. And Adam certainly has done that.

Does he stand up to Carl? Does he understand that past relationships may have been
different?

Yes, the answer is yes. I think that he is a much stronger personality in dealing with Carl.
The downside is that Adam doesn't know how it was before. He doesn't know what has
been stripped away from the governance power of the board of directors, of the support the
board of directors once had from the staff, of the resources made available.

Reimbursing the Expenses of Club Presidents and Board Members

#HH

There was great debate when Adam became president about how much support he could
have. Of course, Robbie would never have raised the question. Robbie--I'll give you an
interesting perception--Robbie needed to have some financial supplement while he served
as president, and this is a long-standing policy of the board, that if this is needed, that this
would be forthcoming. It has always been worked out between the incoming president and
that president's treasurer. Robbie Cox went to Carl and worked it out. From that moment
forward, he was in some ways an employee of Carl. Now, he didn't see himself doing that,
but that is the effect that his doing it that way had.

Now, you were treasurer, so you needed--

I was treasurer. And I advised him. I said, "Don't do this. Don't go to Carl. I mean, Carl
works for you; you don't work for Carl. And what the board feels is fair is what's fair, and
he ain't got a vote. Not his job." Adam, on the other hand, went to the board but got some
resistance from directors who would have rather not had him as president and who--

If I have animosity about any one thing, it probably is that the Bay Area directors have
traditionally had no understanding or sympathy for the need to provide a hotel room that's
comfortable or resources that are important to directors who come here from Connecticut
or Florida or North Carolina or someplace else. The penny-pinching on the volunteer
budget has been led by the folks who live here in the Bay Area and are on the board, and I
just think it's so unfair. I mean, you know, justice would be best served if they then had to
serve twenty-five years on the board that met in Bangor, Maine, and they had to find their
way there for all the meetings and stay in the local, fourth-class hotel.

The local YWCA [chuckles]. And for the president it's even more so. He spends more
time here.
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It's ridiculous. The president of the Sierra Club is one of the most valuable assets the Sierra
Club has, and for Lord's sake they work without pay. And even if they get a supplement,
the supplement the presidents have gotten have been just pathetic little amounts of money.
I don't have a clue what Adam is getting, but I think on the average we've been talking
numbers that are somewhere in the $20,000 area, something like that, just enough to let you
keep paying your bills. I can tell you from personal experience that being president of the
Sierra Club is expensive. You go places; and I paid all my own expenses. Looking back on
it, I think it was a mistake.

A lot of people can't do it.

Well, I could do it, and at the time I didn't have--1 mean, now I'm thinking about retirement.
I have a seven-year-old daughter. I wish I had saved some of that money. But at the time
my kids were grown, and [ wasn't worried about the future. I was young enough; I didn't
think I'd ever retire, I guess. I don't know. But it was a mistake because the club should not
permit that to happen. The president of the Sierra Club should not be financially
diminished because he's president of the Sierra Club. He should not be enriched, but he
should not be diminished. He or she. Because that's a disservice to them.

And the same for the other officers. You're not talking about very much. If you're talking
about $25,000 a year difference, I would be surprised. In a budget of millions and millions
of dollars, it's bizarre. But it is kept there for reasons which I think I pretty much stated. 1
think that it's very, very unfortunate. Adam had some real trouble getting the kind of
support he needed to have. I think eventually he got most of what he needed, but it was a
fight. He had to fight.

So it was a fight on the board.
It was a fight on the board, and it was a fight with Carl.
Did you ever understand why Robbie went to Carl instead of to his own board?

[pausing] Robbie doesn't like controversy. Robbie would rather not have controversy.
He'd rather find a way to smooth it over. I'm inclined to go in--if there's a controversy--go
in and pick it to pieces and find out who's got what problem and work it out with this group
and work it out with that group and so on. More Robbie's style was to try to find something
that would cover it over and put it away and let's go on to something that's working better.
I think that he saw that he could go to Carl and that Carl would probably agree with him
and it would be a done deal and they wouldn't have to think about it or talk about it or argue
with some other director about it or whatever. It was, in my belief, less well done than he
could have done it because, as I said, if somebody wants something from me, I'm not going
to let them buy me a lunch. I'm just not going to do that. You don't let yourself get
obligated that way. And this is bigger than buying your lunch.

Restructuring the Finance Committee. a New Role for the Treasurer

How did your role as treasurer this last time differ from the earlier times?
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I think the big difference was that most everything was done with great resistance by the
staff. Getting information was extremely difficult. I really had to push and shove and use
political power just to get information, which would have been unthinkable before. I mean,
under any of the directors, any of the executive directors--I mean, that was--my goodness,
that's what the treasurer is there for. It was just obvious distrust on the part of the staff.
The staff distrust--Just not trusting me and being perfectly comfortable showing it, which
suggests to me that they had treated other people the same way and found that that was
accepted and so they got into the habit of being able to do that.

Do you think that Carl was particularly wary of you because you did have the reputation for
getting things done?

Oh, sure. Oh, sure. Yes, I'm a threatening fellow to somebody who has their own agenda.
And Carl has his own agenda. People like me are, [ would think, threatening because I'm
going to mess with his agenda. He's going to have to work around me or through me or
whatever, and he's not going to--I mean, yes, I would think so.

Did you work to get the information directly with Carl, then?

I went anywhere I could go until I got it. I mean, including, you know, having prayer
meetings with the ExCom or with Carl and the ExCom, or Debbie and Carl or whoever. |
mean, if [ needed something--and sometimes going to the point of putting it on a piece of
paper and say, "This is what [ need. This is why I need it, and this is when I need it."

And would Robbie support you on that?

With great discomfort. I mean, he really wanted this just not to be such a problem. And I
think he felt that a lot of what I was doing I was doing to create waves, where I clearly saw
what I was doing as doing something because we got something broken, we're trying to fix
it, and we need information to be able to fix it. The fincom was very supportive. Jim and I
worked very well--

How did you work that? It used to be the treasurer would be the chairman of the Financial
Committee.

Always had been and is again now. Has been for the history of the club except for that one
year.

How did it work out?
Oh, it was a wonderful idea. It worked beautifully.
What did your role become if you weren't chairman of the Finance Committee?

My role became the advisor to the board of directors on financial matters. The treasurer of
the Sierra Club is, by definition in the bylaws, the chief financial officer of the Sierra Club,
and I played that role in advising and consulting with the board of directors. The big
picture development of, you know, how much does a budget have to be reduced? What are
the important areas of service that must be maintained? How much flexibility do we have
in this or that? Those kinds of things I played a role.
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In board politics I played a role because Jim wasn't on the board of directors, and so if
something came up in a session that may not have started out being a financial discussion
but became one--Jim was brought in whenever there was known to be a discussion of the
budget, for example, but sometimes it would just happen. And then I'd spend--Of course,
that was sort of my role. And Jim's was to chair the committee, develop the agenda for that
committee with me and with the staff. I certainly went to the committee meetings, and |
had input into the committee discussions and all that. But it was clear it was his committee.

Much better idea. It's the way it ought to be. I was very disappointed to see that the next
year then it went back to well, I'm treasurer, so I'm going to chair this committee.

How long were you treasurer?

One year.

Just one year.

Just long enough to get us in the black.
And did these changes have an effect?

Oh, big time, big time, big time surplus. I mean, we can look it up, but it was a couple
million dollars.

And then did you decide you didn't want the treasurership again?
I decided I did what I came for.
Are we still in the black?

You know, I haven't paid that much attention for the last few months. I don't know, but I do
know we are no longer in danger. It was a serious matter that particular year because the
banks were getting worried. The auditors were getting ready to consider giving us a
qualified audit, which would have meant the banks would have probably moved backwards
on our line of credit or cut us off or whatever, and without our line of credit we are out of
business. That's an overstatement, but we'd be facing going to the endowment and trying to
steal the money out of there and spend it or something. And I use that word advisedly.
That's the way [ would feel about it.

I mean, it was a critical time, and I saw something that needed to be done. I came in, and I
did it. And that's that. And I tried to get off the board after I did it. I tried to resign and get
them to replace me with Jim Dodson on the board. Let him be treasurer. Much to my
surprise, that didn't work. The people who didn't want me to be treasurer and didn't want
me to be on the board also didn't want me to resign and have Jim take the position. I'll
never understand that until the day I die! You would have thought they'd be glad to get rid
of me if they didn't want me there in the first place, and they seemed to like Jim, but I think
the objection was that it was my idea, and there must be a catch somewhere. The only
catch I could think of is that I'd have more time with my daughter.
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Resolving Budget Issues. Past and Present

Now, in getting the budget in balance, as treasurer, does it work by your saying, "Carl, cut
back on spending and bring this budget into balance."? Or does it work by you helping
devise where the cuts will be made?

In my previous incarnations as treasurer, the way it worked was that you looked at the size
of the problem and you looked at what you had to take out, and you looked at things that
you could approach that would help you to that degree. I mean, shaving the peaches, we
used to say, didn't get you there if you needed $4 million. You needed to upset the fruit
basket. And then you decided on priorities. The board had input on what their priorities
were and what was less important and so on.

This time, the process, as I started to say, was Carl's insistence on putting together a sort of
schematic thing. We dumped all this stuff out on the table and said, "These are the parts."
Then Carl relabeled the parts, put different names on them, and put them back together
again in different piles. We re-piled them on the table and if you had seventeen piles
before, you've got seventeen now, but the names on the piles are different and the names on
the pieces that are in it are different, and some pieces have disappeared.

Did other people see it this way?

Other people saw it that way. Other people did not see it that way. It was a very difficult
process because you did a sort of dice and slice, and when you were done, you weren't sure
whether all the pieces were still there or not. One of the great lines about the tinkerer is you
don't throw away any of the parts, and there was never any clarity as to which parts were
still there and which weren't, and you couldn't follow the process. Only Carl knew for sure.

So clearly I had great difficulty with this. What I wanted to do was get on with what I saw
the business of getting a budget that would get us where we wanted to go. Carl said, "This
is what I'm doing." I said, "I don't think so." We spent an awful lot of time talking about
repackaging, re-forming, doing different things. This is a generational thing. There is a
wonderful book on generational trends, one of which has the folks of Carl's age absolutely
smitten with the idea of reinventing things and renaming them and saying, "They're mine."
[chuckling] Because it has a new shape and form and name, it is therefore mine, and I have
discovered it. This is a concept which drives me crazy because it clearly is a lot of action,
and you really still have the same sorts of things before.

But we went through all this. But we went through all this with my knowing darn well that
I'm going to get my day, and I got my day.

How?

When you put numbers on it, the numbers have got to come out. Now, we had very serious
disagreements which reflected the philosophical differences. I mentioned chapter
newsletters. Carl was willing to slice them out in one fell swoop as very, very expensive
and not very productive and there's better ways of doing this. And I mean, I'm sorry, this is
just not something that's going to happen. This is not going to happen. And it didn't
happen. Not because of what I said. [ mean, anybody who knows anything--1 mean, [ was
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amazed that Carl would jump on that, but Carl wants to preserve the staff he has because
that's what he operates with. Those are his tools. He wants those people there that he could
call on to do things which he knows they can do--There are people he knows who can do
that. And that's a high priority. He wants the field system. He wants those people. He
wants those other, you know, whatever.

This money that goes to train volunteers or this money that goes to pay for your hotel room
if you're a director, these things don't give Carl Pope a darn thing, and so he doesn't have
any enthusiasm for them. And all those kinds of things disappeared, or pieces or parts of
them did. And so it became a really difficult process of what do you do about this.

Reducing Staff and the Books Program, Re-forming the Size and Shape of the Club

Clearly, we had to do some reduction of staff. And with the unions, of course, this was a
very difficult thing to do. I am very sympathetic to that. I understand how that is. I've
never owned a business that was unionized, but I've been a member of a union before I was
an owner of a business. Familiar with how all that works. And it's tough. And it was a
difficult problem. And Carl had reason to be concerned that you couldn't go out and start
making wild statements about what you were going to do with employee salaries and
benefits and so on without getting--But nobody was ever going to do that. Certainly, I was
never going to do that.

But eventually we worked out a situation. He proposed some things, and we talked about
things. Other things were put out until there was a process put in place to reduce the size of
the staff, which clearly had to be done. The budget could not have been balanced in a real
way without doing that. Too much of the money was going in to support salaries and
benefits and all that goes with it: travel budgets and phone bills and so on, that goes with
having those people, that you just couldn't do it any other way.

There was some real re-forming in the size and shape of the club, and this budget was a
drastic re-forming. There was real pain in it. There were good people who were laid off
out of it; there were good people who took an early buy-out of their contract, if you will,
with the club, that wish now they hadn't. It was a budget that I will say shared the pain with
everybody. I don't know if it was equal or not, but there was pain--

It's not a budget I was ashamed of. I didn't like the process at all. I would have much
preferred a much more open process, much more dialogue. Carl was absolutely correct that
some of this stuff could not be done openly. Staff salary stuff could not be done openly. 1
regret that terribly. I regret we were unionized. I think that came about through
management error. We didn't have to be unionized. If we had spent more time listening to
our employees and treating them like they wanted--You don't unionize over money; that's
what you talk about. They unionized because they feel like they're not being respected and
they're not being treated right and they're not part of the decision-making process. We've
still got the union. And I think we've still got the union for the same reason.

Now, was this cutback when Jon Beckmann left, or was that before?
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Yes.
So was that part of the cutback, that you couldn't afford a Jon Beckmann?

It actually came out of that. But it was not an instant thing, but it was part of all that whole
thing, the changing of the whole program, the books program.

Was that a change that the board took a policy role in?

Yes, but. Early on, when I came on as treasurer and I realized that the books program could
spend a lot of money, and the club had gotten in trouble with the books program before.
You can have a lot of books in the warehouse and think you have assets, and if nobody
wants to buy the books, you don't have assets. For years, the board of directors, ExCom,
approved every book title, quote unquote. You've got a piece of paper. Here's the title of a
book, this is how many we're going to print, this is how much money we're going to make
on this, and this is what this book is about. And the ExCom would bless it and they'd go
on.

I said, "Why are we doing this?" Well, we're controlling it, the expenditures. Well, of
course, we weren't controlling anything. So I devised a sort of plan which said that the
books program had "x" number of dollars to work with, and that's how much they could
have in inventory and royalties and that sort of thing, and that was the ceiling, and as long
as Beckmann stayed within that ballpark, he ran the program. If he needed more money, he
had to stop spending money until he got it, came back and got it from the board.

Well, somewhere along the way, that got gone, along with a lot of other things. People
forgot about it or executive directors changed or whatever. And so the control of the book
program again went back more to what is the program for and what is it doing? And the
whole program started to change. It was clear that again this is not an instant gratification
program. This is not something that's going to get a bill passed in Congress next week or
influence how Congress is going to vote on a trade treaty. And so this appeals less to
people who think that way. But it appeals a whole lot to me. I joined the Sierra Club by
finding the name and address of the Sierra Club in a Sierra Club book and writing and
saying, "I want to join the Sierra Club." No Sierra Club book, no Denny member, 1
suppose, then. Larry Downing, lots of people came through the books program. But we
moved away from that.

In fairness, the books business is a whole different business. People aren't reading books
like they were. People aren't buying books, and small bookstores are being forced out. It's
a whole different world. And maybe it's a victim of the times. But the thing I said about it
at the time, when we started moving away from the books program, I said, "Let's invent the
substitute first. How are we going to reach the next generation if we don't reach it through
books? Let's find someplace to go before we leave where we are." And we haven't done
that, I don't think.
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More on Changes in Club Management: Missing the Big Picture

Who on the board is thinking in the terms you just described? Is there someone else that's
going to step in and ask those questions?

Oh, I'm the worst person to answer that question. I don't know the new directors. I know
that historically people like Mike have said that one of the things I offered the board was
that I asked the questions that nobody else asked and that I saw beyond an issue that we
were discussing and said, "Well, how will this affect that over there?" I think we've had
other people who are very good at that.

I think Larry Downing is very good at that. And Larry had a big vision of the organization.
Larry was both, at different times, president of the club and president of the board of
trustees [of The Sierra Culb Foundation], took the board of trustees to Scotland, got an
involvement with the John Muir Trust in Scotland and brought those two bodies together
and served on both, served on that board in Scotland. A big vision of what we are and
what's important. And a big understanding of the stuff we've been talking about, the value
of the individual and the value of the person.

Sue Merrow brought that sort of thing. Sue had that. When Sue was president she put
together what she called the big projects list with Michael Fischer, which was basically the
sort of concept of what Mike McCloskey used to put on his wall. But she just--Well, let's
talk about what the big things are. Let's put them on a piece of paper with two paragraphs
each. After each one of them, let's say where they are, where they're going, who's got
them, and so on. And she kept it updated. A brilliant idea.

It's been asked to be continued under subsequent executive directors and has not been, as
far as [ know, continued. There's an accountability that comes out of those kinds of things
that some executive directors find quite annoying, which is the same thing with planning.
Planning is a very annoying concept to some executive directors because it would remove
some control from them and put it into institutional control. This is what we have together
decided we're doing. And that may interfere with an individual's agenda, and so planning
in the Sierra Club now is nonexistent, as far as I'm concerned. I don't see any planning.

No planning committee activities.

No strategic planning.

Long-term planning.

The govcoms all have as a charge long-range planning. Well, of all the silly ways of doing
it, you break it up in seven pieces or whatever it is and say, "Now, you each plan for what's
going to happen in the future of the Sierra Club. But don't talk to each other." I mean, it
doesn't say that in there, but it also doesn't say "Talk to each other." And there's no place

for the individual parts to come together in the form of a complete mosaic.

And their missions overlap.
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Yes. Much of the restructuring was a debilitation, caused the debilitation of the volunteer
governance by fracturing it into pieces that were not well-connected and which had no
normal flow into a place that got resolution of the big picture. The theory was that it would
permit the board to have the big picture. But the big picture comes about by getting pieces
of small pictures. You've got to get information flow. You've got to understand what the
subject is. You've got to understand the implications of what's happening in that area. It
just doesn't happen spontaneously, and it hasn't happened. The big picture is not--The
board is not discussing it.

This is kind of a discouraging note that we're coming to.

Public-interest organizations, cause organizations are in trouble in this country.
Movements are in trouble in this country. There aren't many of them left. The labor
movement is struggling, the women's movement is wherever it is, the environmental
movement comes and goes in its strengths.

It does better when the politics in Washington is against it.

Oh, sure. Oh, sure. Well, yes. People will come to the cause if there's a threat. And in
some ways the strength of the environmental movement is diminished by having Al Gore
as vice president. I mean, that's a bizarre statement, but people are less inclined to write a
check than they would if James Watt were secretary of the interior and the risk is there on
the front page. But the country has changed. There is less enthusiasm, I think, on the part
of people to become actively involved in cause organizations across the board.

To the credit of the Sierra Club and the credit of Carl Pope: the Sierra Club remains strong,
when other environmental organizations have been diminished greatly. Greenpeace is
recently having to lay off a lot of people; other organizations are on the ropes. And we're
not. And you've got to give the folks who have got their hands on the steering wheel credit
for that being the case. This is not an accident. They've done some good things and have
done them right.

So there are some things, I think, to feel good about. The Sierra Club, I think, as much now
as ever in its history is the preeminent voice for the environment in America. I think it is
generally well respected by people who know much about it. I think we need to spend a bit
more time thinking about our future, if we want to ensure our future. Because we're going
to have one anyhow.

Whatever it's going to be like.

Current Lobbying Effort in North Carolina

Well, as you leave your active involvement out here, do you plan to stay active in [the]
North Carolina Chapter politics?

I've just spent the last year and a half lobbying in North Carolina for a piece of legislation
that affects my industry and which affects the environment, having to do with site pollution
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from dry cleaning solvent. I have looked for years at what is happening in Superfund
legislation and how it's putting good people in bad positions. Small businesses, small
property owners, and people who have never polluted anything in their life but happen to
own a piece of property that they rented to somebody twenty-five years ago--they polluted
it and they moved on or died--and now they own the land and it's polluted, and they get a
notice from government saying, "You've got to clean it up, and it's going to cost half a
million dollars." And their net worth is $150,000, and the government says, "Well, tough."
The pollution of course took place twenty, thirty, forty years ago when folks did not know it
was a problem.

This is legislation that we've helped put through and I helped put through, and I spent the
last year and a half trying to prove that it can be fixed. I think we fixed one little piece of it
in North Carolina. And I kind of hoped that it will be a model.

The Sierra Club unfortunately, I don't think, quite gets it here. I don't think they quite
understand what I've done, and there has not been much enthusiasm for it beyond a few
people. I think Adam understands and sees it as a good idea and moving in the right
direction. I think what I might be inclined to do in the future is to pick up things which I
see there is something that can be done. I don't think anybody but me could have gotten
that bill passed in North Carolina because I knew the industry problem, I knew the politics,
and [ knew the environmental problems, and I had the credibility to get out there. I knew
the players. [Added during interviewee review: I know governor Jim Hunt on a first name
basis, and I worked with him. He was excited about finding a system that would actually
work to clean up polluted sites. These states are told to do this, but there is no money, no
system, no solution really. Financially destroying the business and the owner is not
productive and in fact continues the story our enemies tell of how we just don’t care about
people. That even if the person never broke a law, it’s their problem and they should clean
up the site. Having the money to do it does not seem to matter, or for that matter having the
technology that can do it. But now in North Carolina we have a program that is funded by
the industry, seventy-seven million dollars in the next ten years, and managed by the state
that will, before it is done, test every site and clean each of them up to the level that will
protect the environment and people’s health. There is no other program for any other small
business group like this in the country that [ know of. It is historic, really. I could not have
done this as a Sierra Club leader, but could as an individual.]

Devoting More Time to Family and Friends

So I see myself doing things like that. But I want to go walk with my daughter. I want time
to enjoy what time I've got left. I want to figure out how to retire gracefully, or perhaps
retire not gracefully, but retire.

From your business?

No, no. From working every day.
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Oh, I work hard when [ work. You know, I talked about working four days a month when I
was president of the Sierra Club. It would be fair to say that I have always thought in
seven-day weeks and that [ have never thought about an eight-hour or ten-hour day. 1
mean, it's not unusual for me to get up at five o'clock and be at work at six o'clock and
come home at seven o'clock in the evening. I mean, those kinds of things I have done all
my life.

My two sons grew up too fast. I lost my wife in the middle of all that, and it was very
difficult. It got past me. I didn't spend as much time as I wanted to with them. I'm really
frightened that my daughter is seven and a half and I'm not spending as much time with her
as I really want to. Because she wants to spend time with me now. She's not far away from
the time where [ will be seen as the person who knows the least about anything in the
world, but right now I'm not that person. I'm the person that knows everything about
everything in the world, and I don't want to miss that. That's really what I'm going to be
doing. I'm going to be enjoying that. I'm going to be--

I'm doing things which are important to me. I've gotten back to being active in the church.
Important to me. ['ve gotten back to supporting--getting back into my friendships of people
that I care very much about that I've neglected over the years. Spending more time,

frankly, with the rest of my family, my two sons. I talk to my older son, who lives in New
Jersey, on a regular basis now. We try to see each other three or four times a year, at least.

These are changes for me, from trying to save the world [chuckling] or do grand schemes
of things. I guess I'm really looking forward to trying to spend time on things which are
smaller, definable. I said to Adam that, "If you find something that the Sierra Club needs
done that you can draw a neat circle around and say 'this is how much energy it would take
and how much time it would take' and you think I could help you out, I'd be glad to try to
do that."

But I don't want any more to be an officer of the Sierra Club or to be president of the Sierra
Club or chapter chair in North Carolina. I'm looking forward to going to the next chapter
retreat and being there, seeing old friends. And I might end up accepting some task that
might be, you know [chuckling]--might be group newsletter editor. Would not offend me
to do that.

But I'm really looking at--I'm really looking now--If there's anything clear to me is, as you
look back over your life, what is important are those human relationships. Things are not
very important. Historic things are written in sand. How many people know that James
Watt resigned on my watch, and what difference does it make? What difference does it
make? What difference it made was that he did resign. It didn't matter who was president
of the Sierra Club. He would have resigned if somebody else had been president of the
Sierra Club. Sure, it's historic in some ways, and I'm kind of glad he resigned on my watch.
I kind of like that.

I like some of the things we accomplished. I feel good about them. But, as it has been said
that on your deathbed nobody says, "Gee, I wish I had spent more time in the office," I'm
not sure that on my deathbed I'm going to say, "Gee, I wish I had spent more time in a
Sierra Club meeting."
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You probably couldn't have spent more time! Let's face it.

That's possible. But I could see myself saying, "I wish I had spent more time with my wife
and daughter, my sons and my friends." I wish I had spent more time reaching out to
people I know personally who need help. I'm now the guardian of a woman who worked
for me for thirty-nine years, who was an employee for me for thirty-nine years, and she is
in a home because she is no longer able to care for herself, Alzheimer's. Almost no
resources, a little bit. No family that is interested in caring for her. I'm her guardian. I'm
inclined to think, when I look back on it, that that makes more sense than a lot of things I've
done. And I think that's the sort of thing I'm going to spend my time doing.

Reflections on Accomplishments in the Sierra Club

I'll just make one comment. I think you're playing down a little bit too much all the good
you did by being so involved in the Sierra Club. I think that will come into your thinking
before too much longer.

Oh, I'm just not the one to evaluate that. You know, I talked to Larry Downing last night,
and I mentioned I talked to Mike McCloskey, and they both suggested [chuckling] that I
made some significant contributions. And it makes me feel good when people like that,
who I respect and who I know are honest people and who would not say it if it's not the way
they thought--1 mean, it makes me feel pretty good. But I'm not the one to evaluate that.
And I'm certainly not the one to think that if I hadn't done it, it wouldn't have gotten done.
It might not have gotten done as fast, may not have got done the way I did it, but other
people do things.

Yes, the organization--

The organization has been here a long time. When [ was elected to the board of directors
the first time, I had in my mind, as my primary goal, that [ wanted to leave it as well as |
found it, or a little better. And that was my only standard. And I think that ['ve done it. 1
think the organization has grown and prospered, become more powerful, become more
respected. Good life. Fine.

A Sierra Club Romance

Now, one more thing because I think we have overlooked this because it's a given in your
life: You never mentioned when you and Kim got married or very much about Kim.
Maybe we should end on that.

Oh, it is--Yes. Kim and I got married the day after I stopped being president of the Sierra
Club. We got engaged in Chicago at a fund-raising event [laughing]. We fell in love

during my presidency, which--we had known each other, for heaven's sakes, years. Many
years. And worked together. And it never occurred to me--I mean, I worked with her like
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I worked with everybody else. She's a wonderful, personable, cheerful, positive person
who had great interest in making the experience of the volunteer committees--I mean, we'd
all go out for dinner. It was always a pleasant sort of thing.

And she worked for Peggy Hynd. We haven't said much about Peggy Hynd, who is now
Peggy Combs, who was the director of development who Kim worked for. She was
director of development; Kim was director of membership development and worked for
Peggy. Good, wonderful people, and I admired and liked them so much. They were my
friends.

But sometime when I was president, a bunch of us went out for dinner or went out to have
a drink one night after a meeting, and there's fifteen of us sitting around a room, and I said,
"Well, who wants to have dinner? I've got to go get something to eat. Who wants to go
with me?" And the first three people between me and Kim said they had other plans and
Kim said, "Yeah, that'd be great." And there were seven or eight more people, and they all
declined. So it ended up the two of us went to dinner and went to Le Central, which was
right down there next to the offices, and somewhere between the poached salmon and the
dessert, it occurred to both of us that we were seeing each other in a different perspective.
We also recognized that, my goodness, this is a very difficult situation because I'm
president of the Sierra Club, this woman works for the Sierra Club, and so we talked about
it, and we decided, well, we were going to see each other.

Shortly thereafter I went and had a heart-to-heart talk with Mike McCloskey, and I can
assure you this made Mike extremely uncomfortable, on a number of levels. But I sure--I
said, "Mike, you know, this is not anything that I planned, and yes, this is not a good idea."

So you were reporting to the executive director!

Well, I mean, this woman works for him and I'm his boss in some sort of a way, and this is
not a good arrangement, and this is disorderly to my structure of management and
administration. But I assured him that we would be discrete about all this, and we did, we
were. We stayed in the closet as best we could, although it never worked out quite as well
as we thought it would. You'd keep running into Sierra Club people in the strangest places.
But the relationship developed, and Kim came back to Fayetteville to see what Fayetteville
looked like, and I introduced her to Fayetteville. Shortly thereafter we went down to the
coast, below Carmel, and I proposed to her down there, and she accepted.

I went back home and I got a diamond for her, and I'm flying out, and there is a fund-
raising event in Chicago, and though Kim didn't usually do those things because she did
membership development, they were shorthanded, and they asked her to go along with two
people that were going. Of course, this pleased me. I found out she was going to be there,
and so we got there, and before the dinner I gave her the ring, and she opened it up. She
thought it was earrings or something. I mean, she hadn't a clue. And she opened it up, and
her eyes got big as saucers, and she slammed it shut and said, "You're kidding." I said,
"No, I'm not kidding." "For me?" "For you."

And so she got the ring then, and that made it formal, and everybody then knew what was
going on, and that was near the end of my presidency, and then we got married the day
afterwards. We had a small wedding here in--What is the name of that little church that's
over the hill here? I'll think of it in a minute. A lovely little church, perfect for us.
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The little Swedenborgian Church?

Swedenborgian Church [on Lyon Street in San Francisco]. You got it. My family and her
family and everybody came. Small wedding. And then we had the Haas Lilienthal House
for a party. We invited all the directors and families and friends, and there was two
hundred people, I guess, there, and we partied and danced. It was the best party I've been
at. It went on long beyond what anybody thought it could. Consumption of food and
alcohol beyond anybody's belief.

Kim and I then, of course, went back to North Carolina and immediately got involved in
the Hunt campaign, so Kim was introduced to North Carolina in that way. She went on
then to be chapter chair of North Carolina chapter and did a number of things on her own
back there that carried on her tradition of involvement. And then, of course, seven and a
half years ago, this wonderful daughter came into our lives, and refocused everything, in a
wonderful way, in a wonderful way.

Well, I think that's a nicer note to end on than some of the other things.

Well, it's a positive one. It is a positive one. I will tell you one more story. I actually wrote
the introduction of a book on North Carolina, and I included this. It's fitting because I'm
sitting here in this apartment. The man who takes care of this apartment, takes care of the
maintenance of this apartment, I've gotten to know. He's a real environmentalist from way
back. He's sort of found a way to make a living in keeping up a few of these apartments.
We've gotten to know each other well. And I told him about Francesca's birth, standing
down in front of this apartment, and he looked at me and he said, "You know, I wish for
every man a daughter." And I thought to myself, "What a grand phrase that is. I wish for
every man a daughter. What the devil does it mean? What is he talking about?"

She was then just weeks old. And, boy, I found out very quickly what he was talking about.
Francesca, you know, looks at me like I've never been looked at before and has brought the
joy into my life that's never been there before, with all the variety of great joys that have
been there. So his wish was correct and true, and I didn't have the wish because I didn't
have enough sense to have it. But now that [ know what it's about, I'm so pleased that that's
where it is.

I'm so much looking forward to what lies ahead and the opportunities that will be there. It's
going to be fun.

Very nice. Let's end on that note.
Yes.

[END OF INTERVIEW]
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Appendix A--Early Sierra Club Brochure, 1960s

Sierra Club, P.O. Box 7959, Rincon Annex, San Francisco, Ca. 94120

I have informed myself about the purposes of the Sierra Club and wish to
support them. I hereby apply for membership and enclose $____
as total payment. (See schedule on right) Dues include subscription to the
Sierra Club Bulletin ($3) and chapter publications ($1)

Print Name(s)
Print Mailing Address

Zip Code
Date

Signature

Gift Memberships: A card will be sent acknowledging the membership as a
gift in your name.

DONOR:
Print Name

Print Mailing Address

Zip Code
[0 Check if you wish to be billed for the renewal of this membership next year.

ADMISSION FEE AND ANNUAL DUES

Admission

fee  Dues  Total
| o P P T S *  $400.00 $400.00
O Contributing ....... $5.00 50.00 55.00
O Supporting ......... 5.00 25.00 30.00
[EIRR egulac i e 5.00 1500  20.00
O with spouse ...... 5.00 22.50 27.50
O Junior (thru 14) .... L 5.00 5.00
[0 Student (thru 23).... L 8.00
O  with spouse ...... * 13.00 13.00
[J Senior (60 & over).. 5.00 10.00 15.00
[0  with spouse....... 5.00 15.00 20.00

*Admission fee is waived for junior members,

full time students through age 23,

and life members.
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Why the Sierra Club?




“Something will have gone out of us
as a people if we ever let the remain-
ing wilderness be destroyed; if we
permit the last virgin forests to be
turned into comic books and plastic
cigarette cases; if we drive the few
remaining members of the wild spe-
cies into zoos or to extinction; if we
pollute the last clear air, dirty the
last clean streams and push our paved
roads through the last of the silence,
so that never again will Americans be
free in their own country from noise,
the exhausts, the stinks of human and
automotive waste.

And so that never again can we
have the chance to see ourselves as
single, separate, vertical and individ-
ual in the world, part of the envi-
ronment of trees and rocks and soil,
brother to the other animals, part of
the natural world and competent to
belong in it.” —Wallace Stegner

Why the Sierra Club was founded.
Wallace Stegner’s words express the
same instinct that caused John Muir to
found the Sierra Club in 1892, Muir
knew that man’s spirit can only survive
in land that is spacious and unpolluted.
John Muir founded the Sierra Club
to enable more people to explore, enjoy
and cherish the wildlands that are their
heritage. He felt that man should come
as a visitor to these places—the moun-
tains, river canyons, coasts, deserts and
swamps—to learn, not to leave his mark.

To rescue these untrammelled places.

He wanted the Club to rescue these
untrammelled places from those who
see them only as wasted space.

From experience, we know that these
places are only as safe as people, know-
ing about them, want them to be. That
is why we work to let more people know
about them.

Time has proven that the people the
Club takes to the mountains, rivers and
other wild places, become their most
determined defenders.

Through them, the Club helped bring
the National Park Service and the Forest
Service into existence; played a leading
role in the establishment of such national
parks as Kings Canyon, Olympic, Red-
woods, and the North Cascades; was
instrumental in creation of the Wilder-
ness Preservation System and the Wild
and Scenic Rivers System; and led the
defense of Yosemite and Grand Canyon
national parks and Dinosaur National
Monument against dams. It has led
efforts to obtain new parks in Alaska
and to reform the Forest Service so as
to curtail overcutting in national forests

These places are only as safe as people,
knowing about them, want them to be.

and to secure adequate study of road-
less areas as potential wilderness.

The challenges ahead.

While much has been done to ensure
that wildlands will not vanish from our
lives, too little has actually been saved.
Man'’s rising tide threatens to engulf the
little that still remains unprotected, and
the quality of life everywhere declines.

Protected areas must now be expand-
ed: we need more national parks, wilder-
ness areas, wild and scenic rivers, natural
areas, and wildlife refuges; endangered
species must be protected, estuaries
safeguarded, scenic shorelines con-
served, and open space reserved around
our cities.

The environment of the cities now
also needs to be made fit for man: we
must be more effective in combatting
air and water pollution and the preva-
lence of chemical contaminants, noise,
congestion and blight. Most of all, we
must prevent the exhaustion of resources
and control the growth of human num-
bers so that a balance may be struck
between man’s works and the remain-
ing natural world. Technology must be
challenged to do a better job in manag-
ing the part of the planet it has already
claimed.

What programs does the Club offer?
The Club offers programs as diverse as
the environmental challenges that man
faces. Each offers an opportunity to
become involved.

You can join in your chapter’s work.
Active chapters with scheduled events
exist in all parts of the country. In addi-
tion, chapters exist in Canada and
groups are found in other places out-
side the continental United States.

Club publications are issued. To keep
you informed, a monthly magazine and
a monthly chapter newsletter are sent
to all members; dozens of books pub-
lished by the Club are available at a dis-
count to members (send for a catalog);
special newsletters are published also.

Educational opportunities are pro-
vided. Talks, films, exhibits and confer-
ences are scheduled by chapters and
club committees. Our library is avail-
able for armchair exploring.

A worldwide outing program is pro-
vided. It helps you see what needs to be
conserved and lets you explore, enjoy,
and learn how to properly use what has
been conserved. From seeking out the
remote corners of the earth to cleaning
up back-country litter at home, you find
variety:

+ Wilderness outings throughout the
year; daily costs as low as $7.

+ Whitewater trips in wilderness.

« Ski touring and mountaineering.

« Local trips—walk, knapsack, or climb.
+ Clean-up and trail-maintenance trips
for young people aged 16 and over.

» Huts and lodges—14 in California and

one in Canada, open to all members

(12 have sleeping accommodations).

Most important, there is the conser-
vation work. Members work in hun-
dreds of Club committees on urgent
campaigns to save threatened areas,
wildlife and resources.

How to become part of it.

All who feel the need to know more of
nature, and know that this need is basic
to man, are invited to join.

You can be as active as you want-we
put dozens of outings into the field every
weekend, and our conservation cam-
paigns need all the help they can get. We
will value your membership alone, how-
ever, because it shows you care and
allows us to carry our message to more
people.

The Sierra Club has been expanding
in every way: in size, extent and inter-
ests. It now has over 40 chapters in 50
states, with offices and staff in San Fran-
cisco, New York, Washington D.C.,
Los Angeles, Seattle, Arizona, Wiscon-
sin, Wyoming and Alaska. The Club
also maintains an office at the United
Nations in New York.

A B oy v B
Man should come as a visitor to these places
to learn, not to leave his mark.,

Wherever nature needs defense, the
Sierra Club wants to be on the scene.
We welcome all who want to be part
of this defense. With new members
strengthening its resources the Club
can better act on behalf of all that is
defenseless, irreplaceable and voiceless
in our natural heritage.

Annual dues for Regular Member-
ships are $15 (with spouse: $22.50). Dues
are reduced for Juniors (through age 13),
Students (14-23), and Seniors (age 60
and over). An Admission fee of $5.00
(waived for Student and Junior Mem-
berships) is charged to cover initial proc-
essing. Those whose generosity allows
them to contribute more can become
Supporting ($25), Contributing ($50),
Life ($400), or Patron ($1000) Members.
An application listing classifications is
attached.

“Not blind opposition to progress, but
opposition to blind progress.
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APPENDIX C—
Letter from Shaffer, including minutes from 1980 meeting of Sierra Club Foundation Board of
Trustees, regarding resolving issues between the club and the foundation.

2910 Skye Drive

Fayetteville, NC 28303

September 13, 2003
Dear Ann,

I am getting some things togeather as you requested, and this
is not it. However, I came upon the minutes of the BOT meeting of
The Sierra Club Foundation for Jan. 26, 1980. Perhaps having the
story from the minutes might be helpful. At any rate....here it is.

In my oral history, I mentioned the club/foundation problems
of the early days of my work with the Club. The Foundation, under
Torre and Siri, with Clinch as Executive Director, ineisted that
the Sierra Club Foundation would become a "private foundation" if
it raised money only for the club. That had serious tax conseguences,
they said. Lawyers for the Club said they were wrong. So it was
a stand off.

The Foundation was raising some money, folks assumed it was for
the Club, the Foundation in fact then gave it to the Club...but would
:gt pay in advance it was going to happen, and in fact suggested it

ght not.

I was a member of the BOT of the Foundation on Jan 26, 1980.
Several Trustees had forced the matter on the agenda. After much
discussion, I offered a resolution:

"Resolved that the purposes of an organization are fregquently
best revealed in its actions. Those who would ask our reason
for being are respectfully referred to the purposes for which
the Sierra Club Foundation has raised and granted funds in the
past four fiscal years. It is the intent of the Trustees to
follow that precent."

Since the money had been going to the Club, this resolved the
matter, and permitted face saving on the rt of some Trustees who
could not deny history, and were not willing to say that it was not
going to be repeated.

This removed the major trust issue. Now the Club knew they
would get the money, so they would now have more interest in a
larger fundraising effort on the part of the Foundation. This
then opened up the w for the Funding Center, and the Management
Commictee of the Funding Center that put accountability and
responsibility into the fund raising for the Club, Foundation, LDF.
(It also led to the resignation of Nick Clinch.) As I think we
mentioned, I chaired that committee, and wrote the Fund Raising
Plan for the Funding Center, that was adopted by all three
organizations. (Included)

At the same meeting we rescolved the Flora and Azalea Lakes
money. The Club had given the lakes to the Foundation in the Brower
days when there was a real fear of going broke. Since neither the
Club or the Foundation was in the property management business,
gome of us in the club worked out a plan to sell the property to
the Federal Government with an agreed upon plan to preserve it. The
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sale took place, and the Foundation had the $312,000, and would not
give it to the Club. Their given reason was that the club would just
spend it on a campaign and it would be gone.

I locked at the Club's programs. If we moved the calendar income
out of the Books Department financial statement we had a large deficit.
Since the budget was in place, if that deficit was covered by funds
from the Foundation, the club would have a surplus of the same number
of dollars. I got agreement from the majority of Directors of the
Club to agree if that happened to support a resolution to transfer
that surplus to the Life Membership Endowment Fund. Then I talked to
each of the Trustees, explaining the plan. Since this removed their
given concern, they agreed. S0 on this same day in Jan 1980, my
resolution to begin the transfer of funds was approved.

The luaﬁing Center was in business in just a very few months.
Accountablity and responsibility were in place, and a co-ordinated
fundraising plan for the three organizations could move forward.

I am looking for pictures as you reguested. Larry says he
had soma, but he ig in Italy. I am also sorting out the papers that
should have gone to the Bancroft years ago.

Life is stlll full here. We are going to take a family trip

to the South West for Easter, including three days in the Grand
Canyon. MNow that will be a test of the old man!

=
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1) that an Addenda under Item VI, Page Six be inserted, to
wit: ""Trustee Wayburn indicated that the $735,000 thus allocated
makes The Foundation's contribution appear to be 'woefully inade-
guate,' and pointed out that of the approximate 59 million Sierra
Club budget, 56 million represents monles that come "in and out':
the $3 million in dues, approximately $2 milliom for the bocks
program, and $1 million for outings. This $6 million represents
monies in which The Foundation cannot partiecipate. Upon Wayburn's
inguiry, Swatek noted that the expense budget of the Conservation
Department is $1,622 500, Wayburn pointed out that with this figure
as a point of comparisom, it is clear that The Foundation's $735,000
contribution ie a much more significant amount than it otherwise
might appear to be." (Submitted by Wade)

2) that the words "informal meeting notes' be changed to
"minutes"” under Item V, page 3 (submitted by Avery).

III. APPROVAL OF ACTIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AT THE MEETING
HELD ON DECEMBER 5, 1979.

Upon motion by Wayburn, seconded by Roush, the Trustees
unanimously approved the actione taken by the Executive Committee
at the meeting held on December 5, 1979 [see APPFENDIX 1].

IV. APPROVAL OF ACTIONS BY THE PRESIDENT IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE
TREASURER AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, AND ACTIONS BY THE EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE ADMINISTRATOR.

Upon motion by Réush, seconded by Brooks, the Trustees unan-
imously approved the actions by the President in conjunction with
the Treasurer and Executive Director and the actions by the Exe-
cutive Director in conjunction with the Administrator relating to
Agreements to Administer Funds, Grants from Special Funds, Small
Grants from Special Funds, and Recycled Funds [see APPENDIX 2).

-
V. DISCUSSION OF THE RAISON D'ETRE OF THE SIERRA CLUB FOUNDATION

President Torre opened the discussion of the raison d'étre
of The Foundation by stating his desire to include within
discussion the consideration of the proposed Lobby Charity
status of The Foundation, henceforth called the Conable Optiom.
He also referred the Trustees to the past history of the Flora
and Azalea lands, particularly the appendix referring to same of
the November 17, 15?9 Board of Trustees meeting, and the implica-
tions involved im the transfer of the proceeds from the sale of
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these lands to the Sierra Club, to wit the %uestion of maintaining
The Foundation's 501(c)(3) status as a result thereof.

For the benefit of the new Trustees and the general edifica-
tion of all, President Torre summarized the history of The
Foundation:

The Sierra Club Foundation, incorporated in 1960, was original-

%ﬁ directed by past presidents of the Sierra Club who felt that

e Foundation was simply to exist as a dormant organization with
small sums of money under a charitable status which would stand in
reserve awalting its activation at the time of the not unforseen
loss of the Sierra Club's charitable status. Certain directors
were opposed to the formation of The Foundation, such as Richard
M. Leonard who felt that the existence of The Foundation could
possibly fracture the Sierra Club structure. The question involved
was how The Foundation could maintain its own vitality without
injuring the Sierra Club. Further, the original organization of
The Foundation, particularly the fact that its Directors were all
past presidents of the Sierra Club, led some of the "old guard"
to believe that The Foundation would continue under the direct
leadership of the Sierra Club.

President Torre then expressed his views regarding his role
as a consultant and subsequently Trustee of The Sierra Club
Foundation. Torre felt his role to be primarily that of legal
advisor to The Foundation, working to protect its charitable

status and to "protect' The Foundation from the old guard of the
Sierra Club. ere was an excessive fear, at times, on the part

of the Club that The Foundation would also lose its charitable
status due to its connection with the Club; nonetheless, The Founda-
tion continued to support the Sierra Club's programs.

President Torre noted that the Sierra Club budget and programs
fall solely within the internal control of the Sierra Club and that
The Foundation cannot make any pronouncement on them. Torre also
noted that some Trustees on the Board of The Foundation also act
within the Sierra Club's structure, but that these individuals
have not used their personal interests to change or modify the
Sierra Club's programs or budget while sitting on The Foundation's
Board. While it is clear that the realm of activity of The Founda-
tion rccludas modifying the Club's programs or budget, nonethe-
less is just as clear that the i-rrl Club 8 raqussts for funds
mus t bc presented in such a way as -
to ba used for legislative purposes so as to protect The Founda-
tion's charitable status. This is the reason for the itemization
of funding requests. Because of this acute awareness of its status,
The Foundation can be said to support the structure of the Sierra
Club rather than its specific programs.
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The primary commitment of The Foundatiom is to support the
Sierra Club's national programs, although local Chapters can also
use The Foundation as a repository for their funds. The gquestion
of Chapters maintaining their own individual accounts and funds
falls solely within the circumseription of the Sierra Club.

1

Wayburn offered an elucidation of some parts of President
Torre's statement. Wayburm inted out that the ori Board of
Trustees was comprised of fifteen people of whom twelve were former
Sierra Club Presidents, and the remsining three Nathan Clark, the
then President of the Sierra Club; Clifford Heimbucher, first
Treasurer of The Foundation; and Dr. Wayburm, first Vice-President.
He further noted that the Foundation's funds, totalling something
less than 510,000, were spent in small sums over the next seven
{c.lrl. In 1966 the Sierra Club lost its charitable status, and in

968 The Foundation finally became an active organization.

President Torre continued his presentation of the history of
The Foundation by moting the need at the time of its activation
in 1968 to coordinate a fundraieing plan and initiate a develop-
ment program. It was necessary to staff The Foundation, and Cole
Wilbur bllim as Financial Secretary, that is, a position from which
to raise funds Wilbur's work was effected on a personal basis
rather than on a profeasional administrative lewvel.

Later, gifts of land were proffered to The Foundation; at
the same time, the Club had parcels of land which some Club people
felt might be executed on creditoras. In order to preclude this
posaibility, the Sierra Club gawve these lands to The Foundation
unconditionally in order to prevent their posesible losse. The
Trustees of The Foundation, especially George Marshall, were very
reluctant to accept these lands because of their concern for The
Foundation's charitable status. The end result, however, was that
The Foundation did accept these lands and other subsequent gifts
of land. Torre noted parenthetically that at present The Foundation
should only accept land that can then be sold rather than land to
be held because of the administrative costs involved. Because of
two particular instamces -- the creatlon of the Frontera del Norte
Fund by Harvey Mudd, and the Heartline Fund by Mudd's brother --
it appeared to The Foundation that its land-holdings would continue
to inerease at a regular pace because these seemed to be, or it was
hoped that there were, wealthy donors around who were deslrous of
contribut ?nrtels of land to The Foundation, thereby benefiting
from the gift's tax deductibility. It thus became apparent that
while some donors were responding to specific Slerra Club programs,
others were primarily contributing because of deductible tax bene-
fits; in effect, bo the Club Foundation became fundralsers,
appealing at times to donors whose motivation stemmed from different
sources. A single fundraising pru!r:u.wll needed, but its concep-
tion raised some fundamental questions:
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Would it be possible for a public charitable institution
to support legislative and activist organizations, and how could
The Foundation accept gifts intended for legislative purposes.
In the proposed coordinated fundraising program, whi g;rt; -
Club or Foundation -- should be in control; and should e Founda-
tion take the role of a development committee rather than that of
a public foundation. That is, who should bear the responsibility
for instituting and carrying on a fundraising program.

It is precisely to the resolution of these questions that
the Board og Trustees must now direct themselves. President
Torre then asked each member of the Board to give his or her own
thoughts about the raison d'etre of The Foundation, within a
five-minutes limitation.

Wade declined to comment.

Roush expressed the thought that The Foundation exists as
an independent organization within the Sierra Club "family."

Wayburn felt that The Foundation is an independent organiza-
tion primarily devoted to the Sierra Club; however, he stressed
the concepts of independence and of balance between the two or-
ganizations. He felt it is essential that The Foundation be a
public organization; that is, one whose funds are distributed to
various organizations or individuals rather than exclusively to
the Sierra Club.

Girard questioned the legal definition of a public organiza-
tion, but was nerally satisfied with Wayburn's definition. 1In
a brief cn.rat.discussion that followed, the apparent conflict
between Foundation and the Club was brought out, and the
concept of sibling rivalry was used at times to describe irt.

Wheat also perceived The Foundation and Club as belonging
to the same family. She inquired about thso::gnificance and
function of the Funding Center ement ttee and the Conable
Option, topics to be later discussed. :

Behr felt that the raison d'étre of The Foundation is pecu-
liarlg for the benefit of the CIub, that The Foundation should
thus be looked upon as a favorite child of the Sierra Club, and
that the smooth flow of information between the two groups should
be an integral part of the whole Sierra "family.'" Behr stressed
the necasstt{ of maintaining The Foundation's independence while
simultaneously maintaining those intangible ties that exist be-
tween Club and Foundation. He further noted that the apparent
conflict between the two may incur great damage upon both. With
specific regard to the proceeds from the Flora and Azalea lands,
Behr noted that since e Foundation's independence rests on a
primarily legal basis, it is in the self-interest of The
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Foundation not to jeopardize its charitable status; and that, there-
fore, Behr was willing to vote the transfer of these funds upon
written Sierra Club reassurance to the effect that the funds will
not be used in any way that might be construed as threatening The
Foundation's tax-deductibility.

Shaffer expressed the view that this apparent confliect has
reduced The Foundation®s level of efficlency. He noted the personal
integrity of the personnel interested in and working for beth Club
and Foumdation, and yet saw also the discord and misunderstanding
that exists between the two groups. He felt that the Sierra Club
had "failed miserably" in commmnicating with The Foundation Trustees,
and proposed that the Board pregare a written statement to be commu-
nicated to the Club regarding the raison d'étre of The Foundation in
order to resclwve the existing discord., Torre directed Shaffer to
present his resolution after the entire Board had expressed their
comments .

Girard presented some tentative views on the subject. He
felt that The Foundation is a fundraising auxiliary to the Sierra
Club, and that it is precisely this fundralsing activity which is
at the root of the present confliet. He felt that The Foundation
Board should exercise its own independent judgement in raisin
funds but do so after consultation with Sierra Club staff. Girard
further felt that all available Foundation non Trust funds should
be at the Sierra Club's disposal, and that the question of the
Conable Option and the hiring of a Sierra Club lobbyist should fall
solely wnder the jurisdiction of the Sierra Club.

Snyder expressed the idea that the purpose of The Foundation
is to support the national programs of the Sierra Club. He felt
that it is the Sierra Club grngr-nu which enable The Foundation to
raise money. In turn, the Sierra Club is dependent upon The Founda-
tion for the support of a great number of its activities: the Sierra
Club, therefore, has much at stake with regard to the efficiency
of The Foundation. The Foundation, on the other hand, should not
consider itself entirely independent of the Club. The Foundation is
indeed in endent, but independent within certain limitations.
Snyder further elucidated the legal difference between a public
wersus a private foundatiom: the primary difference is that a public
foundation receives money from a multiplicicty of sources. With
regard to the Conable Option, Snyder felt that The Foundation should
take this option provided that The Foundation will not employ its
own legislative programs. Snyder moted that The Foundation could
support Sierra Ciub staff who would lement legislative programs,
thereby increasing the efficiency of e Foundation since ¥h¢ Founda-
tion would not have to institute its own program.
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Gill remarked that, from the point of view of donors and
people interested in the Sierra Club, The Foundation is considered
a part of the Club; but Gill supports the view that the Foundation
and Club are separate organizations. Gill felt that The Founda-
tion should be in endent to the minimum extent necessary from a
legal standpoint; that is, that there should be a minimum amount of
outside grants and a minimum interest in land acquisition and
acceptance, Gill felt that fundraieing should be a cooperative
venture and that the Sierra Club shoul erhaps be the "lead agent."
The same should be true of electing the nable Option. In sum,
Gill sees The Foundationm as a part of the Sierra Club yet indepen-
dent in a legal sense.

Avery lamented the lack of early open disclosure on the part
of the two nrfanisltiunn, both as individuals and as groups. While
donors may think of The Foundation and the Club as one single en-
tity, nonetheless knowledge of the existing discord has spread;
Avery recommended that both Boards maintain a united fromt. She
further brought the Board's attention to the concept of the "terri-
torlal imperatiwve," and felt that the conflict between Club and
Foundation is an expression of territorial infringement. Brooks
and others expressed agreement with this analogy.

Clinch acknowledged the discord that exists and noted the
difficulties involved, as Executive Director of The Foundation, in
reconciling the two organizations. He felt that The Foundation is
A necessary ¢:gln1:at1nn whose primary purpose is to raise money
for Sierra Cl projects -- projects which are determined by the
Sierra Club alone. Most of the Sierra Club g;:graua are in fact
examples of this successful joint venture. objective of
The Foundation is, simply put, to create, maintain and excell inm,
the most effective fundraising programs possible.

MecCloskey noted that theTﬁrablam involved is how to keep the
three entities (Sierra Club, e Sierra Club Legal Defense Fund,

and The Sierra Club Foundation) working together, and at the same
time how to recognize that each of the three continues to develop

as does a liwvi organism. He saw three bases of the current
discord: the first, that with ch es in staff the "flavor" of

the organizations chang:a as does the context of the understanding
amnﬁ them. More and tter commmication among the three entities
can diminish the impact of these changes. Second, that the rela-
tionships and "ceremonies™ involved are now too complex -- including
the fact that three boards of trustees exist who must work together
and the fact that the size of the Sierra Club is increasing, as

are its problems and nﬂlﬁlexit1¢|. MecClos further noted that

the amount of money inwvolwved, approximately $500,000, is a small
amount in comparison with the emotional inwvolvement of all parties,
Third, that an "organiec" Ernblen arises upon attempting to reconcile
the legal separation of the Club and Foundation with the practical
working relationships integral to the two entities; indeed, it is
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Ugm motion by Wayburmn, seconded by Brooks, with the absten-
{im; of Avery, the Board of Trustees approved the following reso-
ution:

WHEREAS on May 14, 1978 the Trustees of The Sierra Club
Foundation elected to become a 501l(h) Conable organization as
described under the Internal Revenue Code, be it RESOLVED that
The Sierra Club Foundation find w:zs to implement this election
in cooperation with the Sierra Club.

President Torre requested that Snyder, as President of the
Sierra Club, and that McCloskey, as its Executive Director,
commmicate the action taken by The Foundation on the Conable
question to the Sierra Club Board of Directors at their next
meeting, a copy of the resolution to be provided them by Wade.

VII, DISCUSSION REGARDING THE PROCEEDS FROM THE SALE OF THE
FLORA AND AZALEA LANDS,

Upon motion by Shaffer, seconded by Behr, the Board of
Trustees approved the following resolution:

Whereas the Sierra Club Foundation now holds the proceeds
from the sale of the Flora and Azalea Lakes property currently
valued at about $312,000, and;

Whereas it is the intention of the Sierra Club Foundation
to make these proceeds available for use by the Sierra Club by
the simplest and most prudent process, and;

Whereas the Books Dei':;tmnt: of the Sierra Club currently
anticipates a defiecit dur fiscal ioar 1980 of approximately

50,000 per quarter in books-publishing alone but not considering
other Books Department ventures such as calendars;

The Sierra Club Foundation therefore resolves to provide
to the Sierra Club on a reimbursement basis, the same as used
for Foundation Grants to Conservation ams , -gpmi.ntnl
$50,000 each quarter or the amount actually in deficit (whichever
is less) from the Books publishing oepration as indicated by gu.ar-
terly financial statements until the proceeds plus accumulate
interest on the proceeds are depleted.

Torre was informed by Shaffer that the latter, having spoken
with two or three members of the Sierra Club Board, felt the
Club Board of Directors would be jubilant to learn of the appro-
val of this motion. McCloskey remarked that perhaps next year
a similar resolution could be passed to continue transferring
the remaining proceeds to the Sierra Club. Behr noted that with
the approval of this motion, the key to the disagreement between
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the Club and Foundation is reasonably resolved without jeopardi-
zing in any way The Foundation in terms of its legal standing; that
is, that the motion as such is clearly within the legal require-
ments of The Foundation.

VIII. RESIGNATION OF MEL B. LANE AS TREASURER AND ELECTION OF
NEW OFFICER

President Torre noted with regret the resi tion of Mel
B. Lane as Treasurer of The Foundation, and called for nominations
for a mew Treasurer.

Upon motion b{ Wayburn, seconded by Shaffer, the Board of
Trustees unanimously elected Robert Girard as the Treasurer of
The Sierra Club Foundation.

IX. TREASURER'S REPORT

The Treasurer's Report was presented by Stephen M. Stevick.
Stevick submitted for the Board's review the Financial Statements
(unaudited) for the three months ended December 31, 1979. Stevick
remarked upon some of the items therein, specifically the facts
that the $98,955 under "Other Receivables'" represents the proceeds
from the Belridge 0il stock; that the $335,843 under "Unrestricted
Current Funds' includes the $312,000 from the sale of the Flora
and Azalea lands; that under “Exg-ns.l (Supporting Services)"
there is a one-time item of $35,000 which represents the cost of
office construction; that the $18,683 under "Revenue (Interest)"”
represents a significant increase in earnings from current hi
interest rates; and that the difference between the 1978 and 1979
figures under "Expenses (Program Services)" is due to the disburse-
ment of the proceeds from the Thorme Estate in 1978.

X. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT

Executive Director Nicholas B. Clinch presented his report
and included within it a presentation of the revised Supportive
Services budget which would increase The Foundation's budget by
$20,400 ([see APPENDIX 3]. The present Foundation budget provides
for an assistant to Pete Wilkinson and $9,000 towards a Research
Assistant, Additional funds are needed to cover the hiring of an
assistant to Ellen Wetzel who will become Director of Donor Rela-
tions and Support Services, and an additional $2,600 is needed to
be added to the present already budgeted $9,000 whose total --
$11,600 -- would represent the salary of the Research Assistant.
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Appendix D—Untold Stories of the 1982 Election, from Sierra, January/February 1983

SIERRA =

THE 1982 ELECTIONS

AN ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT

Kudos for the Club

DENNY SHAFFER

N ELECTION DAY, November 2,
1982, I was in the Sierra Club’s
Washington office with a group
of local volunteers and the
Club’s staff. The computer was keeping
track of all the congressional races. Three
televisions were ready, individuals were as-
signed to phones for receiving returns, and
charts were on the wall for marking results.

The excitement began to build as the first
news came from the networks. Soon the
phones were ringing with early returns and
predictions from the East. Stafford, Mitch-
ell, Sarbanes and Roth in the Senate were all
doing well. Frank, Wise and Mrazek were
running strong in House contests.

My friends were calling from my home
state, North Carolina. Rose had won. Neal
was winning, and Clarke might upset Bill
Hendon, one of Watt’s allies on the Interior
Committee (Clarke did—by 1316 votes).

The office was frantic with activity late
into the night as the results from the West
came in. The Washington office’s computer
traded information with the San Francisco
office’s electronic equipment. The close
votes in California kept staffers and volun-
teers in the San Francisco office on tent-
erhooks for hours.

The next day we were still pulling it all
together. Every network, the national news
magazines, the New York Times, the Wall
Street Journal, the Washington Postand a lot
more were calling to get the Sierra Club’s
reactions to the elections.

And how did we do? By any standard,
incredibly well. In the Senate we were in 15
races and won 11. The Club had made 153
endorsements in House contests—and 121
won. In gubernatorial campaigns, 9 of 11
races went our way.

The Sierra Club did not “play it safe” by

endorsing only probable winners. Many
races were too close to call before the elec-
tions; of these, Sierra Club-backed candi-
dateswon11of 18in House races, 3of 5in the
Senate and 1 of 1 for governor.

Even in the contests the polls and experts
said we wouldn’t win, we made an impres-
sive showing with 9 very sweet unexpected
victories. Moreover, we won every race we
were favored to win.

After the initial celebrations, a calmer
mood of victory set in. We had done it. We
builtamarvelously effective political organi-
zation and managed to keep it running full
speed while it was still under construction.

Our staff was magnificent in even the very
toughest races. Media contacts, strategy ses-
sions, coordination, record keeping and
fund raising—all faultlessly accomplished.
The Sierra Club came up with money, too—
more than $235,000 in cash and in-kind
contributions to candidates.

But the best story, to no one’s surprise, is
theinvolvement of volunteers from virtually
every Sierra Club chapter and group.

MUSH EMMONS

I was fortunate to travel during the cam-
paigns on behalf of candidates. I met with or
appeared for 20 candidates the Club en-
dorsed for the House or Senate. Every-
where I went the enthusiasm and effective-
ness of Sierra Club members was evident as
they staffed phone banks and campaign of-
‘fices, walked precincts, wrote, printed and
distributed literature. They held fundraisers
and contacted media, planned strategy and
coordinated campaigns, and finally got out
the vote. Thousands, even tensof thousands
of volunteers were involved.

The environment was not “the” issue of
the campaign, and we knew it would not be.
Environmental issues did make the crucial
difference in some campaigns; the invoive-
ment of environmentalists made a dif-
ference in many more.

Perhaps the greatest benefits are less ob-
vious. I walked the streets of Asbury Park,
New Jersey, with Representative Jim How-
dard; we held joint media interviews, had
lunch together at the local pancake house
(where his sister-in-law is the hostess). It
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became clear to me that Representative
Howard, chairman of the Public Works and
Transportation Committee, has come to see
the Sierra Club a bit differently. We have
done more than just ask him to vote cor-
rectly on issuesimportant to environmental-
ists. The Sierra Club has been there when he
needed us, helping him to be reelected. Our
relationship is different now—and better.

I spent a day in Michigan with Bob Carr
and the Sierra Club members working for
him. Although the economy was the central

issue—unemployment is higher than 25% in
parts of his district—Bob Carr saw the en-
vironmental vote as important. I received a
note from him a few days before the elec-
tion: “We're going to'do it,” he predicted,
“and let the Sierra Club claim credit. They
will deserve it.” Representative Bob Carr
will see the Sierra Club differently in the
future, too.

It is a major, subtle accomplishment that
elected officials now see us differently, as
folks who are willing and able to help them
get elected. Moreover, we've made it.im-
portant for them to take pos{tive positions
on the environment. In 1980, many politi-
cians ran on a frankly anti-environmental
platform, against strong pollution regula-
tion and for opening wilderness to oil, gas
and mineral development. In 1982, virtually
every candidate wanted to be able to claim
some good environmental votes or a favor-
able environmental record. They seemed
eager to separate themselves from James
Watt and the Reagan administration’s posi-
tions on environmental issues. It was a bit
curious, even amusing, to see some unlikely
candidates strain to find a way to depict
themselves as friends of the environment.
They were often ingenious, if uncefivincing;
their desire to make the effort was hearten-
ing, nonetheless. Finally, and most impor-
tant, we accomplished what we setouttodo.
We have added to our tools and enhanced
our ability to reach our goals. We can con-
tinue to educate and lobby—and now we can
help our friends be elected.

The Sierra Club has thousands of volun-
teers who have built up experience in cam-
paign work. Thousands who know now why
we must be involved in electoral politics.
Thousands who have the satisfaction of
knowing that they, through their personal
involvement, have changed the political cli-
mate in Washington, D.C., and in many
state capitals.

All of us in the Sierra Club are proud of
ouraccomplishmentsin this election. We are
heartened, too, by this political strength as
we look forward to 1984.

o

The Untold Stories

The political results of the Sierra Club’s
first major venture into national electoral
politics are now history. But they're only
part of the story—the public part. The un-
told stories—our personal, human experi-

ences—are just asimportant. Qurmemories

of what happened, how it felt, how we
reacted.

We take care to preserve the political
results of our Club activities, but too often
we let the human history and personal
drama fade away. Yet these are valuable

. aspects of our work, threads in the fabric

- What 'm proposing to you is a sort of .

that makes up the Sierra Club. I'd like to
make a personal suggestion.

archive of the 1982 campaigns and our partin
them. I'd like your help. The results will be a
low-keyed, unofficial history of what part
Sierra Club activists, volunteers and staff
played. You might call it a folk-version of
“How We Spent the Election Campaigns.” I
like to think of it as the side of history that
doesn’t get told. You might like to think of it
as memories for your grandchildren.

Let’s get specific: Here's what I'd like you
to do. Set aside half an hour or so and sit
down at a typewriter or with a pen and
paper. Write me your reminiscences—your
memoriesand experiences. Tell me who you
are, why you decided to get involved, what

you did, and what happened. Tell me, too,
the stories of those who worked with you in
the campaigns.

This isn’t an essay contest, so you don’t
have to worry about fancy writing. There
aren’t any prizes—or any rules. Make it as
long asyoulike; personally, I find details and
anecdotes fascinating,

When you've finished, make a copy of
what you've written for me. Put the original
in your safe deposit box, and mail me the
copy.

I'liseethatthese areall gathered together.
They’ll be read by those preparing for the
1984 elections. They will help usto evaluate
not just the results, but the human involve-
ment of our 1982 SCCOPE effort. We'll sort
through them for vignettes that can be used
by Club leaders to explain who we are and
how we work. Then they will be neatly and
carefully registered in the Bancroft Library,
the official repository of Sierra Club ar-
chives.

The Sierra Club is so special and unique
because of the involvement of people like
you. We must not lose that human record.
‘We must preserve for history more than the
dry account of results that were so excitingin
the making.

So take that few moments today to write
your letter and mail it to Denny Shaffer,
President, Sierra Club, 530 Bush Street, San
Francisco, CA 94108. o

Denny Shaffer is the president of the Sierra Club.

Howard Saxion, national SCCOPE chair, hosts a celebration of SCCOPE victories during the

November Board of Director meetings.

MUSH EMMONS

36 JANUARY/FEBRUARY 1983
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APPENDIX E—
Memo to Sierra Club President Adam Werbach from Denny Shaffer, 11/7/97, regarding involving

the grass-roots.

[1315] From: Denny Shaffer at Sierra-Club-SF 11/7/97 10:15AM (1811 bytes: 21

To: Adam Werbach-Private, David Brower at Internet, Michael Dorsey at Interne
Anne Ehrlich at Internet, Betsy Gaines at Internet, Chad Hanson at Internet
Susan Holmes at Internet, Mike McCloskey at Sierra-Club-DC, Chuck McGrady a
Internet, Richard Cellarius at Internet, Jim Dougherty at Sierra-Club-DC,
Mark Gordon at Internet, Leslie Reid at Internet, Sally Reid at Internet

To mailing list: #Board + Carl & Mike at Sierra-Club-SF,
#Past Directors and Presidents at Sierra-Club-SF

Subject: Should we focus on fewer issues nationally?

------------------------------- Message Contents -----------ccccmccmmnnncnnnax

Adam, it seems to me that the organization must, from the top down, have

a strategy to win the hearts and minds of the people of this country.

I would not say the hell with issues, but I would start with the question
of weather it will win the hearts and minds first. Fighting battles that
diminishes us, means at some time we disappear. Others have shown how that
is done.

In the field we must let folks fight the battles they want to fight. Your
memo makes clear that you understand that. Sure you can organize them, give
them tools, encourage them. But that does not mean beat them up daily becaus
they are not working on the issue of the day, week, or month. The Club needs
to ask not what the member can do for the Club, but what the Club can do for
the member. (sorry...but true.)

As it is we have a system in place that often turns off the public, and a
system in place that often turns off the Club activist. This is not a
matter of issues. This is a matter of understanding, and caring about,
someone other than self. The Club has trouble with that concept.
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	INTRODUCTION-by Lawrence Downing
	In the very early 1970s, a middle-aged North Carolina businessman with a wonderfully smooth drawl asked to be put on the agenda of a regular Circus meeting of the Board of Directors of the Sierra Club in San Francisco. This was only the secon...
	In hindsight the document seems so obvious to us all, but at the time its somewhat reluctant adoption and use would represent a dramatic new departure from the way the Sierra Club of those days “did business”-a departure that I submit ultimat...
	Who was that man? Why had he come to the meeting? And what was that document that forever altered the Sierra Club as it then existed?
	I am privileged to be afforded the opportunity to write the introduction to the oral history of that North Carolina businessman, a clever and personable volunteer leader and problem solver who went on to serve the Sierra Club as its president...
	That man, Denny Shaffer, has been my environmental colleague and my close personal friend for over a quarter of a century. In my observation he had a more profound impact on the growth and stability of the Sierra Club during the last quarter ...
	Denny came to the Sierra Club, as did so many of the effective club leaders during that period, as a Council delegate from his home chapter, the LeConte Chapter. Certainly there were other individuals with business backgrounds that had served...
	At his first meeting, he observed three main areas where he saw an opportunity for him to apply his talents to try to improve and strengthen the venerable organization to which we all have devoted so much of our lives: (1) membership, (2) man...
	Denny’s thought was, “How can you have a church without an evangelist or an army without a recruiting department? How could you have a Sierra Club with nobody charged with the responsibility of getting more members?” He reasoned that if this ...
	And so the “long dance” began. The persuasive gentlemen from North Carolina began with the assistance of other like-minded leaders to woo volunteer leadership and staff into things like a full-time Membership Department, direct mail prospecti...
	When I identified the attempted takeover of the Sierra Club by outsiders in the Board of Directors’ election of 2004, I immediately asked Denny to draft a letter to motivate the directors to sound the alarm and spur the staff and volunteer le...
	Whenever the need for persuasion or funds became great, Denny’s southern drawl became more pronounced, and your hand went instinctively to protect your wallet.
	Of course, there were Sierra Club problems that he could not help us solve, but we learned to address them in a more logical and thoughtful way that was mindful of the feelings of the individuals directly affected.
	A couple of facts from his personal life speak volumes about this man and his principles. He was the first businessman in North Carolina to permit blacks to handle cash from customers. Can we even imagine that this occurred within our adult l...
	He set up medical clinics for pregnant women too poor to be able to afford competent maternity care. And when Denny finally retired from his dry-cleaning business, he had three employees who had worked for him for over thirty years, and he wa...
	The Sierra Club has been fortunate to have had the benefit of this man’s time, treasure, and talents. And I was privileged to have been there.
	Lawrence Downing
	President of the Sierra Club, 1986-88
	President of the Sierra Club Foundation, 1990-92
	December 27, 2004
	INTERVIEW HISTORY-Denny Shaffer
	Denny Shaffer was invited to participate in the Sierra Club oral history series in January 1993, as part of an effort to record oral histories with all living past presidents of the club. The oral history series on the Sierra Club was launche...
	Denny Shaffer agreed to be interviewed, but somewhat reluctantly, noting that he preferred looking ahead to the future and that he regarded his presidency, ten years prior, as “ancient history.” In that same conversation, he characterized him...
	Shaffer joined the club in 1968 or 1969 as a resident of Fayetteville, North Carolina, and participated as activist and outing leader in the growing LeConte Chapter in the Carolinas. Soon he was the delegate to the council of club chapters in...
	Our first two interviews were recorded in June and November of 1993 in Denny and Kim Shaffer’s San Francisco apartment, where they stayed while in town on club business. He looked back to his family influences, youth and education, first marr...
	Our third and fourth interview sessions took place in November 1997, when he was in a reflective mood, having left the board for a final time after completing his three-year term. He discussed club management issues, his role as treasurer, wh...
	Denny Shaffer was sent the oral history transcript, lightly edited by Carl Wilmsen, for review in June 1998, but his attention was elsewhere, with his wife Kim and adored young daughter, Francesca. During the following years he traveled with ...
	Many of Denny Shaffer’s papers relating to his work with the Sierra Club from 1978 to 1987 are part of the Sierra Club Records and Members Papers in the Bancroft Library (finding aid on line at http://www.oac.cdlib.org). A document relating t...
	The Regional Oral History Office was established in 1954 to augment through tape-recorded memoirs the Library’s materials on the history of California and the West. Copies of all interviews are available for research use in The Bancroft Libra...
	Ann Lage, Interviewer
	Director, Sierra Club Oral History Project
	January 14, 2005
	Berkeley, California
	[Interview 1: June 9, 1993] ##
	Family's Grocery Business, Early Love of the Outdoors, and Father's Influence

	Lage:
	Today is June 9, 1993, and this is our first interview with Denny Shaffer for the Sierra Club history program. Today we want to start with background, what molded you and molded the interests you've displayed in the Sierra Club. Let's begin a...

	Shaffer:
	Yes, I'm an only son of an only son so it covers family fairly quickly up to that point. In Pennsylvania, I was born in Altoona, which was then a town of about a hundred thousand people. In World War II, we moved to where my dad worked, which...

	Lage:
	When were you born?

	Shaffer:
	1931, February the 13th, a Friday.

	Lage:
	What kind of work did your father do?

	Shaffer:
	My family was in the grocery business. They had a chain of about sixty-two or three corner grocery stores that were started when they made deliveries with horse and wagon. And the premise they built them on was that they were corner grocery s...
	My father was in the meat packing part of the business, which was located in Tyrone, seven miles away from the headquarters, which were in Altoona. We lived in an apartment above a Shaffer store, grocery store number two of the sixty-some sto...
	My interest, I think, in natural things came about that time, which would have been my early school days, elementary school days. My parents were faced with the decision of whether they should try to get their own house, build their own house...

	Lage:
	Was it their own pleasure as well?

	Shaffer:
	Well, it wasn't. My father had muscular dystrophy, and so he couldn't do those things. His interests in it were--we would take drives every Sunday afternoon, year-round, we'd take an automobile drive, and always out through the most remote pl...
	And we would talk at that time. He loved wildflowers and he loved--he was more curious than anybody I've ever known, I suppose, about everything. A most brilliant man, a little bitter about having this disease that kept him from being able to...

	Lage:
	Which you don't think of as having the broad interests, often.

	Shaffer:
	No, that's right, that's right. And so I grew up with, I suppose, two or three things from my father and my family. One was a tremendous curiosity, which I think I still have, "What makes that work? How do you solve that problem? How do you t...

	Lage:
	Did you learn from him by example, or did he actually undertake to teach you?

	Shaffer:
	No, I think just by my observing his curiosity, I developed a great curiosity, but it was not very much of him saying, "Denny, come here, let me show you how a clock works." I don't think he ever did that. My folks were German, German backgro...

	Lage:
	All the things you think of when you talk about Pennsylvania Dutch?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, but a real love of nature, and real valuing of it. His father had a great love of wildflowers, as well as--I mean, he also grew wonderful other flowers, too, but he probably would have been the one who introduced me, by their first names...

	Lage:
	Did he have muscular dystrophy as well?

	Shaffer:
	Well, at that time, they really hadn't figured out much what muscular dystrophy was. And all the people will now tell you that fathers and sons don't have muscular dystrophy; it comes through the female side. But both my grandfather and his s...

	Lage:
	Did that give you a special role in kind of being an enabler for him?
	[long pause]

	Shaffer:
	You know, it's hard for me to know, because certainly this influenced my life, but I don't--I think it probably made me more sensitive to the fact that not all folks are created equal, that the folks who are not created equal probably didn't ...
	I think that, probably, it opened my awareness to the fact that if you got something, you're lucky, and that if there's some way to--if somebody's physically handicapped and they can't go some place, that your going to that place and bringing...
	So [I received from my father] a curiosity about all that, and, of course, also what ultimately became useful to me: my dad's love of the way numbers worked. I remember, early on, my father would ask me, you know, "What's sixteen percent of f...
	And my parents could not wait until I got old enough to make the third hand in card games, and I was playing three-handed pinochle probably by the time I was seven, or something like that, and bridge by the time I was ten, and I was fairly go...
	A Nurturing Mother, Religion, and Caring for Others


	Lage:
	How about your mother? What was she like?

	Shaffer:
	My mother was one of seven children, a rural family; she grew up on a farm. She quit school before she graduated from high school to help take care of her brothers and sisters. Her mother died when Mom's youngest sister was less than a year old.
	She was a nurturer; she liked people. She cared about people and got a great deal of satisfaction out of expressing it. She really did enjoy cooking wonderful meals for people, entertaining people. She spent a long time taking care of my dad,...
	She then lived a lot longer; she died just a couple of years ago at eighty-eight. Extremely active life in-between times. She died in a hospital where there is a plaque beside the elevator as you go up that has her name on it, saying that she...

	Lage:
	Was she a nurse?

	Shaffer:
	No, no, no, no. An extremely bright woman, good sense of humor. Both of my parents had a very strong moral background, which came out of the church, which was the base of--

	Lage:
	What was the church?

	Shaffer:
	Well, the Christian church, a variety of branches. Mother was originally a Lutheran. I was baptized a Lutheran. Dad was a Methodist, and I was one of those for a while. And then, ultimately, we ended up being Presbyterians, because when we mo...
	I don't believe, frankly, that the difference between those denominations are particularly important, particularly the middle grouping of the Methodists and Lutherans and Presbyterians, and so on, are all pretty much the same. They might not ...

	Lage:
	Was their caring rooted in the Christian faith?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, I mean, I remember them packing up food to take to folks in the family who didn't have much during the latter days of the Depression. And my dad would read in the newspaper of somebody's having a hard time, and he would send them money b...
	My mother, when she died, and I looked through her checkbook, I think it was six out of the last ten checks she had written were to charities, and they weren't big amounts--they were twenty dollar amounts--but it was always this feeling of ch...

	Lage:
	That's a good--I'm sure there's a lot more to say, but that is a very nice picture of your early life and influences.
	Family Interest in Politics, Father's Conservatism, and Other Interests

	Lage:
	How about politics? Was that a topic of discussion in your family?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, always. My father was a very conservative Republican of business orientation.

	Lage:
	What did he think of Roosevelt?

	Shaffer:
	Well, my mother and dad had a standing joke, because my father fussed about Roosevelt over all the years he was in office, and my mother reminded him that she didn't vote for him; he did. He voted for Roosevelt the first time. He never did th...

	Lage:
	We had that same joke in my family. [laughter]

	Shaffer:
	She wouldn't stop enjoying that, because he fussed about it all the way through.

	Lage:
	So he must have been disturbed about the economy when Roosevelt ran the first time, disturbed enough to break from his Republicanism.

	Shaffer:
	That's right, that's exactly right.

	Lage:
	So your parents were actively interested in politics, and it got discussed around the table?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, not just politics, but a wide interest in everything. One of the things my dad did was collect stamps. In fact, he dealt in stamps, had a dealership for a while, as a sort of a side venture that he'd carry on in the evenings and weekends,...
	He also was interested in stocks, and he probably--I know he did--he made more money investing in stocks than he ever made any other way. Because of the limitations that his physical disability put upon him, he could never really advance in b...
	But the business of investing in stocks: I mean, he could sit down and talk to you about corporations you had never heard of and what products they made. So there was always this broad, endless amount of choice of things to think about. It wa...

	Lage:
	They weren't talking theory.

	Shaffer:
	--but it sure as Dickens wasn't boring, either.
	Wanting to Be a Boss, and Parental Emphasis on Education

	Lage:
	Now what kind of goals did your parents present for you, as an only child?

	Shaffer:
	Well, they came out of the Depression and what they saw for me was that I would get an education, because if you got an education, that meant you'd always be financially secure, and Dad never really was, because he was scared--he never knew h...

	Lage:
	Was he college educated?

	Shaffer:
	No. He graduated from high school and he took correspondence courses, back when you did that sort of thing, through the mail. He took accounting, and he took business courses, and all that sort of thing, but his formal education was limited t...

	Lage:
	Did they think of a business career for you, or Shaffer Stores as a career?

	Shaffer:
	Well, no, because it was a family business, and, as in all families, there were advantages and disadvantages, and for my father that side of it was always very difficult. No, I never thought I would do that. I certainly thought I would be in ...
	But my parents saw for me, clearly they saw for me, "Get an education. That means you'll be secure financially, you'll be able to get a job, get married, have two kids, live the American dream, and life will be good." And so that's what I did...

	Lage:
	Were there any particular molding influences in your primary and high school education, or was it mainly family that helped you along?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, I think so. I found out that I could excel, I found out that getting recognition was kind of a nice idea. I mean, in seventh grade, I was captain of the Patrol Boys, which was the ultimate honor for the boy in the class, because he was t...

	Lage:
	Now did you get in those fights?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. I mean, what choice do you have? I mean, somebody comes upon you, what do you do? Yes. One of the advantages, I guess, of being a boy.
	In College: Active in Politics; Organizing and Managing Religious Program


	Shaffer:
	It was in college that the whole political stuff came. I was very active in college politics.

	Lage:
	Now, you graduated in '52.

	Shaffer:
	I graduated from college in '52, yes. Graduated from high school in '48.

	Lage:
	You were in college in the postwar years, which are not thought of as a particularly political time for colleges.

	Shaffer:
	I'm talking about school politics--who decides whatever silly things you were deciding, but they were terribly important at the time.

	Lage:
	So this was student government.

	Shaffer:
	Student government, yes. I learned so much about how to organize people and manage things. We had something called the Religion and Life Program at the University of Pittsburgh, where we put a religious, quote-unquote, speaker in every classr...

	Lage:
	Now who's "we"? The student government?

	Shaffer:
	Well, this was a sort of university idea, but it was run by students, and I was in charge of it that year. And we brought in religious leaders from around the world, and we had a budget, some of which we raised from businesses and interested ...
	It was clearly interdenominational. I mean, it was not a matter of promoting any religion; it was a matter of saying to people, "There is something out there called religion that seems to affect people's lives and you maybe ought to touch it,...

	Lage:
	Good organization skills.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, big school, a lot of speakers. Had to have housing for them, some of them got an honorarium and some didn't, and you had to negotiate with these folks, and it was good, a lot of fun.

	Lage:
	Sounds in some ways like the Sierra Club.

	Shaffer:
	It was. The university also had a spring carnival every year in which we took the lawn and there were big circus tents for shows and booths for games. I was the business manager for it for two years, and it was a business. It was a non-profit...

	Lage:
	Was the University of Pittsburgh a private school?

	Shaffer:
	No, public.

	Lage:
	And no one objected to the religious influence there?

	Shaffer:
	No, that was still back in the days where people prayed in classrooms. I mean, it was not unusual to do that, and not in a university setting, of course, but in other settings. But it was approached as an educational thing. It was not an evan...

	Lage:
	And was there the feeling that the university wasn't teaching that aspect of life, or--

	Shaffer:
	Well, I think it was a feeling at that time--. You could go to college and graduate and never really get into a lot of areas of what was happening in the world. I mean, you'd never be exposed to a lot of areas, and religion just happens to be...

	Lage:
	To kind of broaden people's perspective.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. But anyhow, it was broadening. Out of that kind of thing I learned that I could do that, that it was fun, and that it made some sense. You got all done with it, and you'd say, "Well, you know, we did something here that was useful, serve...

	Lage:
	That's an interesting relation, because it does sound a lot like Sierra Club activities.
	TheKorean War: the Air Force, and Great Smoky Mountains National Park


	Lage:
	So, you were a bus ad major and graduated in '52, and then what happened?

	Shaffer:
	By that time it was the Korean War, and I had used up more deferments than Bill Clinton ever thought of to get through. I had a different deferment every year, because I was concerned that if I didn't finish college, I might not finish colleg...
	I suppose, had I lived in a different time, maybe I would have been a conscientious objector. I have no enthusiasm for killing; it's not something I particularly want to do. Don't own a gun, don't have a gun, because I don't want to use a gun...

	Lage:
	Talk a little bit more about the Korean War, because it really hasn't come up that often in our oral histories. Was there any questioning of it on the campus?

	Shaffer:
	It is the one that nobody remembers that we were in.

	Lage:
	Yes, and you grew up as a young man with the Second World War affecting everybody's lives. And then here comes this Korean War. Do you remember any particular questioning of it, or--

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. Well, I went through questioning on a certain level. I could have come out of college and got an instant commission to be a lieutenant in the marines, immediately, just like that.

	Lage:
	Because that's what one could do if you were a college graduate?

	Shaffer:
	If you had a college education, at that point, you could get a commission in the marines. They would send you off for a few weeks' training, and you were on your way to Korea to run over a hill or through the jungles, saying, "Charge!" with p...
	I spent the rest of my time in the air force doing work in the judge advocate's department, which was interesting. I enjoyed doing that, and it was also broadening and gave me a perspective of the law I had never had. I worked in court martia...

	Lage:
	One more question. Was the student deferment in the Korean War an accepted thing? Did most of the students get deferments, or did some of them rush to join up as they did during World War II?

	Shaffer:
	No, no. There was very little of "It is my duty, I can't wait to go" sort of thing, at least among the people I was with, college students. There may have been somewhere in the world, you know, people who were still having that sort of "It's ...
	##


	Shaffer:
	Well the way people felt, in my recollection of the people I was around, was something between the way people felt about the Vietnam War and the way they felt about World War II. World War II, it was--I remember the rationing and how everybod...
	There was beginning to become some real suspicion that it wasn't as black and white as people thought it was. I don't remember what World War II was, World War I was the "War to End All Wars," World War II must have been something different f...

	Lage:
	So you remember that kind of questioning at some levels.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, oh yes. We'd sit around, talk about it. But you didn't talk about going to Canada. You talked about how could you do it and not get killed, as opposed to, "How could I do it and best serve my country?" It became a little more personal an...

	Lage:
	Is there more to say about your Korean War experience? You served at your--

	Shaffer:
	Well, there was, I suppose, some relevance to my later Sierra Club work. I ended up spending twenty-one months of my twenty-four months in the air force at McGhee Tyson Air Force Base in Alcoa, Tennessee, which was very close to the Great Smo...
	I ended up working in the judge advocate's office, which was sort of an eight-to-five, five day a week job, primarily, and so, although I did organize and run an officers' club. They did not have an officers' club there at that place (it was ...
	I did other things. Coached basketball there, which was fun. I still had a lot of fun.

	Lage:
	And it was the first time you lived in the South?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, I had spent a little time in North Carolina. I spent a few months, after I graduated from high school, in North Carolina with relatives, so I had some idea what the South was like. But, of course, this was very different. I had never bee...
	Marriage to Betty, and Dry Cleaning Partnership with Uncle in North Carolina


	Lage:
	You married while you were in the Air Force?

	Shaffer:
	Married my childhood sweetheart. Betty and I had our first date when we were in seventh grade, and we got married while I was in the service, and stayed married until she died. We had two children. She died in '72. Had two sons. When she died...

	Lage:
	Now, how did you get to North Carolina?

	Shaffer:
	Well, the fellow I had visited with before I went in the service, very wonderful man, also no background in education, but a real great business mind. It was at that time one-hour dry cleaning had just started. One-Hour Martinizing was the co...
	I, in the meantime, had applied, sent resumes to--you know how you do when you're looking for jobs--the twenty-seven Fortune 500 companies, or something like that. But I really wanted to be in small business. I really liked what my family had...

	Lage:
	And you actually thought of these things, as you decided about the business?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. I like people, in small numbers. I'm not great with cocktail parties. I'd rather sit down, have two couples over for dinner. I mean, that's a good evening. But anyhow--

	Lage:
	Did you go to North Carolina right after the service?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, he got in touch with me, and I went and talked to him, and went to work for him. And at that point, I guess, he had two dry cleaning plants, and within no time at all, we had a bunch of them, and we were all over the place, and we were f...

	Lage:
	Now this was Martinizing. But here on your resume I see Koretizing.
	Discontent with the Great American Dream


	Shaffer:
	Well, at some place along the line, when Martinizing got bought out by American Laundry and Machinery Company, and then it got bought out by McGraw-Edison, and when McGraw-Edison got into the picture, it became considerably less personal and ...

	Lage:
	Now when you say the bells hadn't rung, was this a big feeling of dissatisfaction, or just a sense that there must be more to life?

	Shaffer:
	You know the old song, "Is this all there is?" It was that sort of thing. It was that--those were wonderful things. I mean, I liked being married, I liked having children, I liked having money. I didn't have any before--I mean I really didn't...

	Lage:
	Had the challenge of the business operation dropped for you? Because you seemed to really enjoy that kind of a challenge.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, it wore off. I think ten or fifteen years of that and I said to myself, "Well, this is all very interesting, but there's got to be something more important in life than making money and running a business." I mean, there's got to be more...

	Lage:
	Now he was a relative?

	Shaffer:
	He was a relative. He was married to one of my mother's sisters, so he was an uncle by marriage, and a wonderful, wild, crazy man who really had an instinct for how you made money. Very good; I learned a lot from him.
	Role Models: Learning from Other's Failures and Recognizing Good Ideas


	Shaffer:
	You asked me [in the interview outline] about role models, you asked me in two contexts, I believe, and I thought a lot about that, and I suppose that what I have really done in life is look at people and figure out what I could learn from th...

	Lage:
	You take the part of the person--

	Shaffer:
	Yes. I feel like you can learn a lot by watching somebody who has failed at something. I think it's sort of a common thought that you learn more from your failures than you do from your successes, but I believe you can do that just as well ob...

	Lage:
	You're a analytical observer.

	Shaffer:
	Well, I hope so, because there's an abundance--so many good ideas out there. I mean, you know, you could look at a David Brower and you could learn so much from him. You don't necessarily want to learn from him how to balance a budget. But bo...

	Lage:
	So role model's not a good word.

	Shaffer:
	Not for me it isn't, because I sure have learned a lot from David Brower, I hope. I hope I have.

	Lage:
	This came up in talking about the uncle that you had the business divorce with.

	Shaffer:
	The business guy, yes, his name was Weller, I. C. Weller.

	Lage:
	You learned things from him also, I guess, but rejected others.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. He had different feelings about certain things than I did. His standards on some levels were different than mine, but he sure taught me a lot. And he enabled me, he helped me become successful faster than I would have otherwise. And then...

	Lage:
	Now how did that develop? Let's pursue that a little. What were the other things?
	Interest in Civil Rights, and Community Reaction


	Shaffer:
	Well, it was the civil rights movement, I guess, first. I got into this thing. I backed into it. You know, I remember going to North Carolina in 1954 and operating a business and I had a black tailor in my business. And my black tailor, when ...
	And so I realized that that's the way the system was. If you went to the gas station, a black man came out, pumped your gas, washed your windows; a white man came out and took your money. I said, "This is nuts. This makes no sense to me," and...

	Lage:
	This is the black man himself.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, and I said, "Well, are you game?" He said, "Sure." I said, "Well, so am I." So we just started doing it. And then--little things.

	Lage:
	Did it cause trouble?

	Shaffer:
	Well, of course it caused some trouble. I mean, there were people who wouldn't hand him the money. Of course, there were people then who would come into the lobby of the business and if you waited--if there were three people to be waited on a...

	Lage:
	You weren't from the South.

	Shaffer:
	And we got in some trouble. But this sort of opened my eyes to what just--I mean, I just didn't feel very comfortable with all this.
	[Added during interviewee review: Looking back, I don’t know if I really understood what I was getting into. The 1954 Supreme Court separate but equal decision caused a great revival of the Klan. North Carolina Governor Hodges did nothing to ...
	I don’t think I worried at all about personal danger. Young, I guess.

	Lage:
	Had there been minorities in your community in Pennsylvania?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, there was, but it was--I had a buddy I walked to school with all the time, was black, but there were, you know, five black families in Tyrone and there were ten thousand people, and they had their own church and they sort of lived in the...
	Then, I guess, a couple of years later, I remodeled a business, and I ran into the State of North Carolina that told me that I must have restrooms for each race and each sex. At that time I had black men, black women, white men, white women, ...

	Lage:
	Were they Public Health--?

	Shaffer:
	No, it was the State Labor Department. And I remember them telling me that, "Well, when people find out that you're doing this, your business is going to suffer." And I said, "You mean to tell me the state of North Carolina is threatening to ...

	Lage:
	Did you get involved in an organization?

	Shaffer:
	No, because the organizations were all black that were doing anything. The white people who were involved in being useful were either outsiders that came in and did a sort of hit- and-run thing, or they were people like myself who were willin...

	Lage:
	What time are we talking about? Are we moving into the sixties now?

	Shaffer:
	From about 1965 through the sixties.

	Lage:
	Were you still perceived as an outsider, as a northerner, or had you kind of put down your roots pretty well.

	Shaffer:
	No, I was perceived, probably, as a northerner. Fayetteville is less conservative than a lot of southern towns because it's a military town, but in some ways, that makes part of the town more conservative, because you have a group--the old ti...

	Lage:
	How large a town?

	Shaffer:
	Fayetteville now is about seventy-five or eighty thousand, but the military base is about the same size and it's really about a 225,000-250,000 metropolitan area.

	Lage:
	So you had (let's get back to the sixties) this integrated military base.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. I think overlaying this, of course, was the Vietnam stuff. I mean, Jane Fonda came to Fayetteville and did her number, but I was not involved in the Vietnam protest because I had my hands full with what I was doing. And it got nasty. I c...

	Lage:
	You recognized his voice.

	Shaffer:
	I recognized his voice. His name was Matthews. He was a painter, a house painter, and I remember telling him, I took the phone, and I said, "I know who you are and if you want to talk to me do it in person. You know where I live, get out from...

	Lage:
	Values of--?

	Shaffer:
	Life was less--well, I mean, there was this scale; some people's lives were valuable and some weren't. The law was clearly on one side. And one of the most controversial things I ever did in my life was when on the city council, I went to the...

	Lage:
	This was 1967, when you were first elected to the council.

	Shaffer:
	This was 1967, yes.

	Lage:
	And did it stop?

	Shaffer:
	Sure. You bet. And I had enough friends, I had lawyer friends, who knew what was happening, and others who were--I mean, this was not something I was doing by myself; there were some other white people that felt the same way. But the majority...
	Elected to the City Council, 1967, and More on Civil Rights


	Lage:
	What is the story of how you happened to run for the council and what kind of support you had? Was it part of a group effort?

	Shaffer:
	Before I was involved in the civil rights stuff, I was involved in the church, and I was involved with the church working with young people. I taught senior high Sunday school, had the senior high fellowship in the evening.

	Lage:
	What church was it?

	Shaffer:
	Highland Presbyterian Church. And I did that for several years. One of the more rewarding things I've ever done in my life. I still run into those kids--of course, not kids now, they're adults with children that are that age now--but we spent...

	Lage:
	About race relations?

	Shaffer:
	About race, and about inhumanity to humans, what we used to call inhumanity to man, but that's sort of sexist. But the fact that, just what I said, that, how can you have a different value system for people based strictly on race, or whatever...
	There was the story about separate but equal schools. Well, they were not equal. They were certainly separate, but they were not equal. And when you integrated the schools, the tragedy of the integration was to realize just how different the ...

	Shaffer:
	But those kids kind of challenged me, and so I said, "All right, I'll run for public office," and I did. Ran twice, got elected twice. Ran for mayor, and didn't get elected, didn't carry a white precinct, got beat by a John Birch Society fell...

	Lage:
	And when was this? Was this in 1971?

	Shaffer:
	This was in '71.

	Lage:
	Did you have a political support group when you ran, or was this kind of an individual effort?

	Shaffer:
	No, I had people in every precinct and I had, you know, a campaign manager and fund raisers and all the whole nine yards.

	Lage:
	Had you become a Democrat by this time?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes, well, I had never been anything but a Democrat.

	Lage:
	Oh, I see, well we talked about your family and--

	Shaffer:
	Yes, my family was Republican. No, I never--I voted for Goldwater, I will acknowledge that. I didn’t like the choices at the moment, but that's who I voted for.

	Lage:
	But you'd been a Democrat.

	Shaffer:
	Well, I've never been a registered Republican. It was a nonpartisan election, but everybody knew I was a Democrat. I mean, it's just not--

	Lage:
	Of course, in the South, most of the people at that time were Democrats.

	Shaffer:
	Well, that's right. But this was the time at which the Republican Party moved into being a different kind of creature. It became the haven of scoundrels. It was where the Ku Klux Klan went. The hate mongers moved into the Republican Party, mu...
	This fellow who beat me was one of the real--he was a piece of work. And I never knew what hit me. I mean, there were rumors. It was typical of the kind of hate stuff: lies, rumors. And the campaign was over, the election was over, before I f...
	At the same time, it seemed to me that there was a loss of a common agenda in the civil rights activity in Fayetteville.

	Lage:
	Can you define the common agenda?

	Shaffer:
	Well, the common agenda was equality under the law.

	Lage:
	And integration.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, integration, which was equality under the law. I mean, if you want to drink out of a water fountain, and it's a public water fountain, you can drink out of the water fountain. You're not going to get arrested. And more to the point, you'...
	We have in Fayetteville a black college. It was the first state teachers' college for blacks, a normal school, in the South. Totally black, black faculty, black everything, and about that time--and much of the energy for the civil rights move...
	But the point came when a lot of those folks, who were my friends and working with me, and I'd been working with them, realized that if you really had integration that institution would change. You would possibly have Black professors, you mi...

	Lage:
	The issue of whether that school should be integrated, or whether it should remain a Black college.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, well, whether it should--really, both, yes. I mean, what should happen to it? Should it stay Black, or should it become part of the greater University of North Carolina system and be like the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill?

	Lage:
	And was that more your feeling, that it should be?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, I guess my approach was probably a little simplistic, but I thought you should admit people there without respect to race. I mean, that's what I thought. And you ought to do it the same way at the University of North Carolina in Chapel Hi...
	Wife's Illness


	Shaffer:
	Of course, shortly thereafter, my wife--her situation continued to deteriorate.

	Lage:
	Did she have a long-term illness?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, she had had illness for a long time, and she had a variety of things that were complications of complications.

	Lage:
	This sounds like a hard time in your life right there.

	Shaffer:
	It was sobering. Losing the mayoral race was the first thing I ever lost that I ever wanted to do, and that's sobering. And I probably would have been better off had I had that experience at a younger age. It's good to have that early on, I t...
	Outraged Over Logging in a Northwestern National Forest, and Joining the Sierra Club
	##



	Lage:
	So at this particular point in your life, which was a difficult one, you became involved or more involved in the Sierra Club.

	Shaffer:
	Well, I joined the club. I insist I joined in '68. Now the official records say I joined in '69, but I know how we kept records then, so I still think I'm right. And I guess a word or two about how I joined and why--

	Lage:
	Yes, I think that's important.

	Shaffer:
	My family, my wife and children, and I suppose I might as well admit it, my mother and my mother-in-law, took a trip in 1968 and we drove 11,759 miles and saw the wonders of this country, and touched into Mexico and touched into Canada.

	Lage:
	Now when was that again?

	Shaffer:
	In '68, summer of '68. And we had great fun doing this. I wrote off to everybody, all the national parks, all the chambers of commerce, all the state travel bureaus, everybody. Printed up postcards, sent them out, "Going to be there on a vaca...
	And we had a big Ford station wagon and we loaded into that and took off and did all these wondrous things. And it was an exposure to some things I had dreamed about seeing. It was the first time I saw the Grand Canyon, and it was the first t...

	Lage:
	Did you focus on the natural areas, the parks?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, we did, absolutely. We spent a little time in cities, but by far the majority of it was the natural wonders of the country. It's what I wanted to see, it's what my family wanted to see. It was a grand, grand, grand trip, one of the highl...
	Going through the Northwest, we saw a national forest that looked to me like it had been bombed. I have never seen such a mess. And it made me mad. I said, "This is horrible to do this to land, a forest. This is awful." I was just outraged. C...

	Lage:
	Was that the first exposure to--

	Shaffer:
	Yes, I didn't know who the Sierra Club was, had no idea. I may have had some vague notion of the books. I think my wife knew about Sierra Club books; she was a school teacher. I think that probably she's the one that knew about the books. She...

	Lage:
	You had no sense of the club as a bunch of local groups.

	Shaffer:
	There wasn't any sense of that. At that point, I became a member of the Atlantic Chapter, which, of course, held its meetings in New York, which were not convenient to North Carolina. But I didn't want to go anyhow, so it didn't matter. I did...
	LeConte (Carolina) Chapter, Forming a Group in Fayetteville, Becoming a Council Delegate, 1970


	Shaffer:
	And then, to move through this quickly, of course, the LeConte Chapter, North and South Carolina, was formed in 1968 and 1969, and we started forming local groups, including one in Fayetteville, but I had not been involved at first.

	Lage:
	So there were other people in the area who were--

	Shaffer:
	Yes, by that time, the time we got ready to look at a local group in Fayetteville, I think there were fifteen people in Fayetteville that belonged to the Sierra Club, and the guy who pulled it together was in the army. He was a doctor, David ...

	Lage:
	Was he a northerner?

	Shaffer:
	He was from Connecticut. And you remember there was a lawyer out here--we don't need to put this in my oral history--

	Lage:
	Stephen Bingham [young lawyer in the Bay Area who was involved in radical political action in the seventies]?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, this was a brother of his, and another cousin or somebody was congressman from up there. Anyhow, very political, very active, very bright, wonderful fellow, and he wrote in and got the mailing list (there were like fifteen of us). He got...
	Then somewhere about that time, it was certainly before Betty died, I went to a chapter meeting, representing my local group, and they were talking about the need to have a council delegate that would really make a commitment to do this. We a...

	Lage:
	So that was maybe 1970?

	Shaffer:
	That would have been '70, I suppose, yes.

	Lage:
	That was soon after you joined.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. I think there were three council meetings [in San Francisco] before Betty died and I came to two of them, as I recall. I think that's right. And then, in the meantime, on the other end of the country, I guess I became group chair probabl...
	Family Backpacking After Wife's Death, and Leading Club Outings


	Shaffer:
	And my boys, by that time, were of an age when they really loved to backpack. They'd take a couple of buddies and we'd go backpacking. Some of this was I wanted to lead trips because "there's nobody going where I want to go, so let's do that,...

	Lage:
	Were they teenagers?

	Shaffer:
	Well, they were twelve and fourteen when their mom died, so, yes. So then I got to know a lot more Sierra Club people, and I got active on the chapter level there as things opened up, and I got interested and did some lobbying on the Eastern ...

	Lage:
	One thing certainly led to another. Did many people backpack?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes.

	Lage:
	That wasn't unusual, the backpacking.

	Shaffer:
	No. We had a good system in the chapter then. The groups would have outings, listed them in the chapter newsletter, so on any given weekend you had a choice of three or four different hikes to go on. You quickly got to know who you really wan...

	Lage:
	When you hiked with the boys, were they on club trips, or were these--

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. The only times we went hiking that weren't on club trips was when we'd go on scouting trips. And we'd go out and scout some things and then we'd run the trips. And they got to the point where, you know, I'd give them some responsibili...
	Chapter Leaders: Ed Easton, Ann Taylor, Ted Snyder


	Lage:
	Now who were the chapter leaders at that time? You mentioned Ed Easton.

	Shaffer:
	Well, yes. The people who were--again, role models is probably the wrong word--but the initial people who helped me see what--

	Lage:
	Mentors is really the word to use, I think.

	Shaffer:
	Mentors is the word to use. Ted Snyder, obviously. Ted was the first chapter chair. Ted and I weren't close in the sense that we were buddies, but I sure learned a whole lot from Ted. Then you have Easton. And Ann Taylor, who is a wonderful w...

	Lage:
	Now what if I ask you how you do that? Are you going to--

	Shaffer:
	Well, I hope I'm better at that than I used to be. I mean, it used to be that I was--you know, if I saw something that needed to be done and I wanted to do it and people thought it was a good idea, I went about doing it. And occasionally, you...

	Lage:
	And how did Ann Taylor do it? What did you learn from her?

	Shaffer:
	Well, more conversations, more talking to people, more building a consensus, more building a constituency, more developing an idea and letting it become other people's ideas and then letting them say, "Gee, why don't we do this?" And I looked...
	Opposing an Oil Refinery in Wilmington, 1979-1980


	Shaffer:
	I can tell you the refinery story in North Carolina at an appropriate point, and that was certainly a case in point of doing that.

	Lage:
	What date was that?

	Shaffer:
	I don't know. I really don't know. I could find out.

	Lage:
	But you don't know the decade even?

	Shaffer:
	Well, yes, it would have been in the--wait a minute. Well, maybe I don't know the decade. It would have been about '80, I would suppose, 1979 and 1980.
	[Added during interviewee review: A large oil refinery was proposed for the Wilmington area, at the mouth of the Cape Fear River as it meets the ocean there. The chapter was opposed, and they asked me if I could go and make a statement at the...
	I spoke first, then each of the twenty-five or so other folks got up and each said about the same thing. I’m opposed to this, it is a very bad idea, and they would give some reasons and say, "But I know it is going to happen." After everyone ...
	At the date set about fifty or sixty people showed up. They wanted me to be the chair, but I pointed out the person needed to be local. Well, I just kept telling them they could do it, and within a year they had two thousand members in a town...
	But the Sierra Club life went in two directions. One was the North Carolina life, and then the other was the national life, and I jumped into it with some enthusiasm, obviously. Do you want to talk about the North Carolina end first, or this end?

	Lage:
	Yes, maybe North Carolina makes more sense, to kind of wrap that up, although I assume you've had some connection with them even as you got more involved nationally, or is that a wrong assumption?

	Shaffer:
	Oh no. I still go to meetings. I missed for the first time my chapter annual meeting this year. So, yes, I still go to group meetings and chapter meetings. I've always been amused when I was a director and people were talking about the grassr...
	That probably is the exception, but I did because A, I like it and I enjoy it; B, that's where I get my batteries charged. You don't charge batteries here very well in this [the national] level. And third is that--well, I don't pose a third. ...
	Lobbying for the Eastern Wilderness Bill


	Shaffer:
	In North Carolina what I did, I guess, I moved into being conservation chair on the chapter level. I served on the chapter ExCom [executive committee] a number of years. I became the vice chair of the chapter. I did a good deal of lobbying wh...

	Lage:
	What kind of issues were they? Were they issues that the conservation committee had decided were key to the Sierra Club to get--

	Shaffer:
	Well, strip-mining was a big deal then, and the legislation was up, and so you lobbied for that.
	The Eastern Wilderness Bill was the first big issue I worked on, and I'm not sure what year that was [1974], but it was early on in this, and I went to Washington to lobby for that. It was kind of an interesting experience for me and for the ...
	The situation was that there had been this ongoing discussion about what wilderness was, and our enemies wished to not put anything into wilderness areas that had ever been touched in any way by anybody, which meant most everything in the Eas...

	Lage:
	Was the conservation movement itself divided over this definition of wilderness?

	Shaffer:
	No. We were like we are now. I mean, we wanted a broad definition of wilderness, but the folks who were desiring not to have things be--to use their expression, "locked up" as wilderness--included in the bill, made the argument that, "How can...
	So I went up and the House Interim Committee’s Subcommittee on Public Lands had decided, the week I went up there and the weekend before, to pass a bill out of the subcommittee but they had done it in a very disorderly manner. This had been o...
	So I am up there the next week lobbying for this along with a group, a typical lobbying week thing that we were doing, but we didn't have a copy of the bill because nobody had a copy of the bill. Well, the third person I went to see was my co...
	So he was then my congressman and he said, "Well, Denny, how can you be up here lobbying for a bill when you don't have the bill?" And I said, "Well, it's not easy, but this is the problem." And he said, "Well, let me get somebody on the phon...
	Well, it ended up that I had an appointment to go talk to this fellow, and so I went into his office. It was about a third the size of this room, and behind his desk was a great big picture of the great huge strip-mining shovel that I think t...

	Lage:
	I thought you were going to say there was this beautiful Ansel Adams photograph.

	Shaffer:
	No, wrong. And I said, "Oh Lord, I am in deep trouble." So I went in and I explained to him who I was and that I had this interest and that I would be interested in knowing what the bill was going to look like and what was in and what was out...
	And at that point, the phone rings, and I sat there for five minutes while he talks on the phone. He hangs up, and we start talking again, get about four sentences out, the phone rings. And we wait five minutes and we start talking again, but...
	And so he finally hangs up, and he says, "What do you want this for?" I said, "Well, the truth of the matter is," I said, "I'm just very interested, and listen, I'm not going to be back up here and you're going to have this thing out in a wee...

	Lage:
	Did he know you were Sierra Club?

	Shaffer:
	No.

	Lage:
	He knew you were a friend of Charlie Rose.

	Shaffer:
	He just knew I was a constituent of Charlie Rose, who had sent me over. So he runs me off a copy of the Eastern Wilderness Bill. So I go back to the office, and I go in and it's typical of that office--it's still the same way, crazy, people a...

	Lage:
	Brock Evans' office in Washington.

	Shaffer:
	Brock Evans is in charge. I had met Brock once or twice before, and I go in and I said, "I want to see Brock." "Well, he's busy." I said, "I don't care if he's busy, I want to see him. I got the Eastern Wilderness Bill." And they said, "No, y...
	Well, finally they got me in to see him and I went through this conversation with Brock five times. "Brock, I've got the Eastern Wilderness Bill." "No, you don't have the Eastern Wilderness Bill. The staff's got it. It won't be out." Finally ...
	And so, from there on in, of course, we had a different kind of approach to the thing because we now knew what was in and what was out, and what we were lobbying for, and what we should be working on, what we were defending, and what we were ...

	Lage:
	Did you find any surprises in it?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, it had some but it was not violently surprising. I mean, it was more informative. There were, like it is always, there were those things you were confident were going to go in and those you thought probably wouldn't go in. And then there...
	But it was a good experience and I enjoyed it and I, of course, saw all the congressmen from North and South Carolina while I was up there. Appointments had been made for me by members from each district. I found somebody in the district to c...

	Lage:
	Lobbying at the federal level.

	Shaffer:
	The lobbying and so on, and getting introduced to the people in the club and, frankly, some of those people getting introduced to me, figuring out who I was. And so I piddled around with that kind of stuff for a good while, but basically my i...
	First Impressions of the National Sierra Club: Problems with Membership Development, Management, and Fund-raising


	Shaffer:
	The first meeting I came to out here was, without a doubt, one of the most--I want to say I was shocked, maybe that's too strong a word. I was sure amazed that this powerful organization which was viewed as being so wise and old and right in ...

	Lage:
	You realized that rather quickly.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, the first meeting I'm out here.

	Lage:
	Let's think when the first meeting would have been. Was this a board meeting or a council meeting?

	Shaffer:
	It was a circus meeting [a national meeting of the club board of directors, council, regional conservation committee caucus, and many issue committees ].

	Lage:
	Circus meeting, and it was in '70.

	Shaffer:
	It was here, could have been in '70.

	Lage:
	So it was shortly after David Brower had left as executive director.

	Shaffer:
	Well, see, I don't know about that because he was gone.

	Lage:
	But that was '69, May '69, when he left.

	Shaffer:
	We were still--when did we move out of the old Mills Tower?

	Lage:
	I don't remember the date, '73 or '74 perhaps [1975].

	Shaffer:
	We were still in Mills Tower, so whenever that was.

	Lage:
	That's interesting that you thought about membership development right away.

	Shaffer:
	Well, I thought about three things. That was the first one. I mean, you cannot have a church without an evangelist, you cannot have an army without a recruiting department. How could you have a Sierra Club with nobody charged with the respons...

	Lage:
	Had you worked on that at the local level?

	Shaffer:
	No.

	Lage:
	It hadn't been something you'd been involved with, then, for your chapter.

	Shaffer:
	No, but it just seemed so obvious to me. I mean, if you can get this power simply by people who are willing to go to the library and find out where the devil you are and write to you and say, "Can I join?" can you imagine what would happen if...
	I suppose it came out of several things. It came out of my business background. The way you get customers is you try to get customers. I mean, you can open up a store and wait until they bounce into your front door by mistake, but there are m...
	And it just amazed me that these people, who were clearly very effective and clearly very bright, didn't seem to be very much interested in that. If somebody happened to join, that was nice, but if they didn't, well, "We're doing very well, t...

	Lage:
	Of course the club thought it was growing fast at the time.

	Shaffer:
	My perspective was clearly so much different from somebody's perspective who had been here for twenty years. I walked in the door and looked at it, and said, "Well isn't this interesting?"
	Now let me--I should have said this first--I was immensely impressed by what I saw that was positive. I was immensely impressed by the dedication, and the roots, the background, the fact that we had this history behind us, this credibility be...
	Second thing was, it was clear to me there wasn't anybody around who wanted to be boss when they were a little boy or a little girl, that they were people who wanted to be an attorney when they grew up, or they wanted to be whatever, a doctor...
	So some of them looked at people who had real management and administration skills as sort of a pain in the neck, as opposed--And I said to myself, "This is nuts! You cannot run this organization, and you cannot continue to grow it without so...
	Now, there was Mike McCloskey. Mike McCloskey, clearly one of the most brilliant, fine human beings I've ever known, who found a way to learn management skills, even though that ain't what he wanted to do, it wasn't what his background was, i...

	Lage:
	Now, it sounds like you came here and had this instantaneous--

	Shaffer:
	Well, I was here three days.

	Lage:
	[laughs]

	Shaffer:
	Well, it was.

	Lage:
	It didn't take long for you to see this, it seems.

	Shaffer:
	Well, it's obvious, and the third one--

	Lage:
	But, to me, it's amazing that you would notice--I want you to go to the third one, but first--the club is so complex that for somebody to come in to their first--

	Shaffer:
	Oh, but the issue's so big. I mean, this is sort of like walking in a store where they don't have any clerks. I mean, you say, "Well, this is a nice store. They've got good merchandise, they've got nice stock, it's a great location, ain't got...
	##[2B]


	Shaffer:
	Well, the third one was fund-raising. I met Denny Wilcher. What a wonderful man! But it became clear to me in about three minutes that all of the fund-raising of the Sierra Club was in three by five cards in this guy's back pocket, if they're...

	Lage:
	And apparently Denny Wilcher brought a new level of fund-raising to the club.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, I think that's probably right. I think that's probably right.
	So I looked at these three things and I said, "Okay"--I must say, I will say, it was a highly politicized fund-raising. There was a lot of playing issues against issues and organizations against organizations. I mean, here is a donor. Will th...

	Lage:
	You mean our own family organizations, foundations?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes, a lot of politicizing in that. I mean, there was a lot of--still is, for that matter--a lot of thought given to who's going to get to use the money for their issue.
	But I went home, and I'm flying home, and I think about it, and I'm thinking about these three things, and if they ever got their fund-raising really put together in a real professional manner, and if they got some real management in here, an...
	A Driven Person: Finding Time for Business and the Club


	Lage:
	Now are you still running your business with one hand?

	Shaffer:
	Yes.

	Lage:
	Okay, I just wanted to make it clear because--

	Shaffer:
	Maybe it is fair to say--you probably are beginning to get a clue to this: I'm a fairly driven person. I like to think that I'm much more relaxed now than I used to be, and I think I am, but I still--I value time. Time is such a wonderful gif...
	One of the current officers of the club talked to me one time about some things I was scheduled to do and she said, "Denny, you can't do that," that one person can't do that. And, in exasperation, I tried to explain to her that some people ca...
	I spend long days, and enjoy doing that, and when I wanted to make money I did that, you see. It was five years before I took off a weekend. I'm not talking about vacation, I'm talking about a weekend. When I came out of college and went into...
	A lot of times when I was doing this other stuff I'd travel and be gone many times. We had plants in--I'm digressing, but just to give you some idea of my nature--I mean, we had businesses two hundred miles away in Charleston, South Carolina,...

	Lage:
	No, it is, because the way you have told the story, it's almost as if you'd dropped your business and went into the city council and then the Sierra Club. How much did you stay involved with your business?

	Shaffer:
	What happened in my business world, and maybe I can deal with that in just a couple of sentences--. When Betty got really sick, I got rid of the business interests I had out of town and bought out my partners that were in town. That would hav...

	Lage:
	Was that the Shaffer Management Company?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. That was basically set up to provide management services. Up until that time, I found I gave a lot of people advice. You know, they were in small business, they were in trouble, and they'd come to me, and I'd look at it and say, "Well, t...

	Lage:
	You were used to doing with businesses what you thought maybe the Sierra Club could do.

	Shaffer:
	Well, it was the same sort of thing. There was a chain of dry cleaning plants, they were on the American Exchange, publicly financed, they had a hundred dry cleaning plants from Miami to Pittsburgh, from the coast to the Mississippi River. Th...

	Lage:
	I see. So that explains why in three days you could kind of take stock of the Sierra Club.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. I mean, I remember going with Roger Craver, who is one of the great people in the world, and we'll, I'm sure, get into fund-raising and all of that later, but he and I were on vacation and we walked into the Flying Bear Candy Shop in For...

	Lage:
	Okay, it may be a good point to stop, because we've built a great background picture and we've shown three areas you thought the club needed, and to me, that starts to sound like the beginning of some big topics that maybe we shouldn't start ...

	Shaffer:
	Well, that's fine. And I can think about it.

	Lage:
	Yes, yes. And this is the early seventies. We're going to see what you did with these topics through the council, I'm guessing, in part. When did you get on the board? Now let me look at our dates--'77 you went on the board.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, and I'd try to write that down, because I have a terrible time with dates.

	Lage:
	I have 1977 to May '91, with a year off, 1984-1985.

	Shaffer:
	I was trying to remember who was president before Brant Calkin and Kent Gill. It was the guy who was in favor of nuclear energy.

	Lage:
	Larry Moss [president, 1973-1974].

	Shaffer:
	I came out here when Larry was president, but it was Brant Calkin who put me in charge of membership development. He gave me chairmanship of the membership committee. Well, we'll get into that later; we're getting ahead of the story.

	Lage:
	Brant was just a one-year president. I can get those dates. It might have been '76-77.

	Shaffer:
	All right, and when Brant resigned, I filled his seat. That's how I got on the board. When Brant resigned, the directors appointed me to the board.
	It may be that I have got this a little off on--it's hard for me to remember. I'd have sworn I thought I came out here while Betty was still alive, but I may not have. I know I was coming out here when Kent [Gill] was president [1974-1976]. I...

	Lage:
	Do you remember Phil Berry being president? That was 1969-'71.

	Shaffer:
	No. I think Ray Sherwin was president [1971-1973] during my first visit to San Francisco.
	[End Interview]
	[Interview 2: November 23, 1993]##
	Finding a Focus: State of the Club's Membership Development in the Mid-Seventies


	Lage:
	Today is November 23, 1993, and this is the second interview with Denny Shaffer on the Sierra Club. We've just been talking about organization and how to proceed. Last time we finished, you gave a picture of having come to San Francisco for t...

	Shaffer:
	[laughs]

	Lage:
	In fund-raising, membership, and management, it seems to me.

	Shaffer:
	I think that's right. It was clear to me that this was a dynamic organization doing wonderful things, that could do more dynamic things even more wonderfully if it got its act together in the areas that you mentioned. They were things which I...

	Lage:
	So once you see an area of need in the club, how do you work your way into--or how did you--let's not talk in the abstract--work your way into becoming a presence?

	Shaffer:
	I think that there's one thing very clear about the club, and that is if there's a vacuum, people can rush in and fill it, and at least initially, nobody objects to that, as long as it's not viewed as somebody else's turf or whatever. And bel...

	Lage:
	It just happened, people just joined?

	Shaffer:
	It just happened. At that time, there was no person in the Sierra Club, no person on the staff, whose responsibility, total responsibility or focus was getting members for the Sierra Club. There was a man whose name was, as I recall, George D...
	And on the volunteer side, there was a membership committee that had been chaired by Sandy Tepfer, and then it was being chaired by Bob Norman when I came along, both of whom are wonderful men who are still active in the club. Sandy went on t...
	They occasionally tried outreach. They did a newspaper ad, for example, one time, which they tested in newspapers across the country, maybe four or five, that asked people to join the Sierra Club. And they did it themselves. I think in fairne...
	Well, it didn't work, and so then folks decided, well, advertising isn't going to work, so we can forget about that.

	Lage:
	Now, Dave Brower, of course, had done some of this with a flair.

	Shaffer:
	Well, yes. But Brower's flair was more to raise high the issues and to raise high the positions of the club, and to cry a battle cry. And that was a good idea, and it made the name of the Sierra Club something people understood. It's an awful...
	So David's dynamic work in that area had laid out there this potential for somebody to come along and say, "Okay, now let's act upon that to build the organization." That was so obvious to me, and I just knew it. It doesn't matter what we do;...
	Testing a New Approach


	Lage:
	You didn't need a business plan to test it?

	Shaffer:
	No, you didn't need to test this. How could you--no. Well, I'll give you an example. I think it was the second meeting of the board of directors that I attended, I asked to be on the agenda, with a membership development concept, project. I s...
	So I sat down and I talked with him and said, "Bill, this is nuts." So we sat down and we developed a point-of-sale brochure, with a mock-up in color and a counter display to hold the brochures and so on. He did the graphics and concepts. I w...
	It introduced several ideas which were revolutionary. One, it was in color, which my goodness, was revolution in itself. Secondly, it invoked humor. The brochure's headline said, "A bunch of crazy people want you to join them." So it was diff...
	Well, the board allocated a small amount of money to test it. I took that small amount of money and I went to half a dozen chapters on my own, with no authorization whatsoever, and said, "We're going to do this, and we'd like you to participa...

	Lage:
	What chapters did you pick?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, good question. Well, of course North Carolina, which was then the Le Conte Chapter, which was North and South Carolina. Oh, Ann, I'm not sure I could remember. But they were scattered around. There was one from California and there was on...
	So anyhow, by doing this, I accomplished two things. First of all, now I had twice as much money. So I printed three times as many brochures, because as you know with printing, the more you print, the cheaper they are per piece. So I ended up...
	Well, you can imagine that it worked. And it worked spectacularly well. I am confident we have never gotten as much return on the dollar in any membership project since then, just because there was nothing out there. It was new, it was attrac...

	Lage:
	Do you remember when this was? Was this shortly after your first trip to San Francisco?

	Shaffer:
	I think it was the second meeting I came to.

	Lage:
	Like '72 or '73?

	Shaffer:
	Yes.
	The Board's Reaction: Fear of Being Commercial, and Resistance to New Ideas


	Lage:
	And there wasn't a lot of discussion about the content of the brochure--?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, people were offended by it. They thought it was smart-alecky, which it was.

	Lage:
	You mean people on the board?

	Shaffer:
	People on the board. They were offended--well, they were offended by it being in color. They were offended by it being commercial. One of the strains that I have fought all the way through for twenty years is the objection to using commercial...

	Lage:
	So there's sort of an anti-commercial feeling throughout the leadership?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, absolutely, yes. And so one of the things that I had to--well, I'll give you another example. About six months later, I had developed by then another idea. The club was looking for money, and I said, "Well, here's the way to make some mon...
	So I went out and found the folk musicians who I had heard of, and they were all very sympathetic with the Sierra Club, if they'd heard of us, and if they hadn't, I explained it to them, and they kind of liked it, and so that was a good idea....
	So then I found the guy out in Tennessee that pressed out records for a living, a small recording company, and priced out what it would cost to do. And of course, this was back in the days of the big records, you know--

	Lage:
	Thirty-three LPs.

	Shaffer:
	That's right, great big things. So I said, "Now, but it needs something else." So I contacted Annie Dillard, who was fresh off of Pilgrim at Tinker Creek and said to her--I had never met her--but I got her on the phone, talked to her, lovely ...
	So I brought it to the board and said, "This is--" and I had it all figured out--

	Lage:
	You got it all worked out before you brought it to the board?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes. I never asked anybody in San Francisco what they thought of this, because I figured, well, what's wrong with this? So I brought it out, [laughing] got on the agenda, and it was a little bit like I was speaking in a foreign language. ...

	Lage:
	Were you thinking of working it into the book program?

	Shaffer:
	Well, that was one of the ways, and that was one of the ideas of getting Annie Dillard in the middle, so that you could get reviews not only in the music columns, but you could get reviews in the literary column, so you've got two ways to go ...
	Well, after much debate, they decided that if I wanted to do this, that I should do it, and that I should share the profits with the Sierra Club. I said, "No, I'm not going to do that, because I'm going to make money. I don't want to come to ...
	About two months later, the guy who made the recordings in Tennessee went to National Geographic with my idea, and they said, "What a good idea!" So National Geographic did it, did the whole series, they went for the series around the country...
	And it was a very educational process to me to realize how bound in tradition the organization was, that there was a resistance to new ideas, there was some inertia, that there was a language barrier that if you talked promotion and fund-rais...

	Lage:
	You were learning about the club, and they were probably learning about you.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes. After my first experiences with the board of directors, I just sort of went off and scratched my head and tried to figure out what happened, because I had been accustomed-- I cannot think of another group of people that I could have ...

	Lage:
	But it does sound like you came from outside with an idea that they hadn't asked for--

	Shaffer:
	Oh, absolutely. And on one level, that they should look at me and say, "Why do this?" Because they hadn't seen anything like me before, I'm sure. They hadn't had anybody do this to them.

	Lage:
	Was there anyone on staff who was supportive of that focus?

	Shaffer:
	I had run it by some people, I'm sure including Mike [McCloskey]. I learned early on that Mike's way of operating is if he saw something as having merit, he kind of let it ooze on to the board's agenda and see what happened. That's what had h...

	Lage:
	Probably still is a challenge.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, it is still a challenge. It still is.
	Chair of the National Membership Committee


	Shaffer:
	But anyhow, what happened next is Brant Calkin called me while he was president and said he wanted me to chair the national membership committee.

	Lage:
	Is that pretty much the president's prerogative, to choose who is going to be chairman?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, and still is, though some presidents use that authority and power and some don't. Brant heard me. Brant thought the things I had been saying made good sense. He wanted somebody that was aggressive; he wanted somebody that would challenge...
	So he called me, and I said, "Brant, I've never served on a membership committee in my own group." He said, "Good." [laughter] I remember him saying it. He said, "What I want is something different than what we're doing." So we talked briefly...

	Lage:
	So this gave you an official role.

	Shaffer:
	That's right. That gave me the license, so I looked out and I said, "Well, there's three things I've got to do. One is I've got to make this committee a committee that is respected, that people look at and say, `Well, if they say it's a good ...
	We were not at that time really putting anything out there. I think we had done some coupons in the Sierra Club Bulletin asking people to join, or something like that, but it had been very, very--

	Lage:
	Individual chapters must have been making some efforts.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. Well, the method up until that time basically had been that people found the Sierra Club, or "I joined the Sierra Club because I heard about what it was doing and said this is a good idea, I want to be part of it." I may have said this t...

	Lage:
	It took an effort to join.

	Shaffer:
	You bet. And an amazing number of people did that, but you're not going to get a big organization that way. There are not that many people that are going to go to that much trouble.

	Lage:
	But you are going to get a more committed membership, most likely. Was that something you thought about?

	Shaffer:
	Well, you're going to find--you're going to perhaps, by doing it that way, get people who are more proactive. And you may get a bit different type of cat. But ultimately how much that benefits the organization I don't know, because there are ...
	Some Thoughts on the Membership Effort Today


	Shaffer:
	Ultimately, we're going to talk, I suppose, about the process--how we got the big organization, and how we got there, and direct mail, and things like that. But we're to a point in time now where we've forgotten about the fact that that is a ...

	Lage:
	This is interesting, kind of a circular--

	Shaffer:
	Yes, and this is not unusual. You come along, you have an organization that's built itself to a certain size using certain methods. Basically, your one-on-one kinds of things. You say, "Okay, boy, we could really be big." And in the seventies...
	So you say, "Hey, there's something to be said for this." I was one of the people that said, "There's something to be said for this, this is a good idea." And it was a good idea. So I put a lot of energy into developing those kinds of things,...
	This is clearly one of so many examples where a little forward thinking and a little planning in this organization would be useful, and we don't do that. Anybody who had sat back and looked at this and wanted to develop a plan for the Sierra ...
	Forming the Membership Committee, Camaraderie, and the Sense of Working Together


	Lage:
	Well, let's go back and find out what we did do. It must have been about '76 that you became chairman; that's when Brant Calkin was president.

	Shaffer:
	I would think that sounds right to me. Yes, if that's when Brant was president, that sure is it.

	Lage:
	So you mentioned getting a group of people on the committee.

	Shaffer:
	Well, that's right. And I can't remember all of the people that were on that committee, but they were good, strong leaders, and I can tell you three of them that went on to become directors were Jerry Lieberman, Sue Merrow, and Larry Downing,...

	Lage:
	Did you get them from your contacts in the [Sierra Club] Council?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. Because they were all council people.

	Lage:
	But it wasn't a council project, I'm assuming, or was it? Was there some overlap?

	Shaffer:
	Well, there was overlap. And certainly my field of knowledge on leaders from around the country centered at that point very much upon the council, because I had been there a little while. There were really a lot of good, strong people coming ...
	I had great help with this, too, after we had a staff. In '77, we finally hired Peggy Hynd, who is now Peggy Combs, as membership coordinator. She wasn't director of development, because we still had Denny Wilcher, and Denny was running somet...
	And shortly thereafter, she brought under her Kim Martin-Carroll from Denny Wilcher’s office. Kim had worked for Denny's office. They both were interesting people. They both were cause-oriented people; they were people who were there because ...

	Lage:
	And she did come out of a business background.

	Shaffer:
	She came out of a business background, that's exactly right. Peggy had a fund-raising background, but came out of this passion for social change, this passion for justice. Both of them.

	Lage:
	What age group were they? It would be mid-seventies.

	Shaffer:
	Well, let me think backwards. Kim is forty-two now--

	Lage:
	And that was almost twenty years ago.

	Shaffer:
	So that was seventeen years ago, so that would be twenty-five, wouldn't it? And I guess Peggy is maybe a year or two older than Kim, but not much difference. So they were bright people, and they were friendly. They liked people, they were peo...
	##


	Shaffer:
	It was very proactive, if you would. And the staff always attended all the board meetings, I mean from beginning to end, we all went. We'd go out and have drinks afterwards, gangs of us, twenty-five to thirty of us would go out. It was this--...
	Lieberman said, "Look, there's that new council delegate from Connecticut. Stop and pick her up." So we stopped, and Jerry hollers at her, and it's Sue Merrow. First meeting she's at in the Sierra Club, as council delegate. "Come on over here...
	She gets in the car, and we start off. And Sue is sort of taken aback, and with the charm that she has had all these years, and her way of saying things, sort of smiled and said, "You know, I've been in San Francisco two hours, and I'm alread...

	Lage:
	But I think this is an important part of the story.

	Shaffer:
	Well, it is part of it. It's one of the things that [Ted] Snyder and I agreed on so much, that if we're not having a good time doing this, there's something wrong with the way we're doing it. I mean, this is a good cause, we care about the sa...
	Membership Ads in Sierra Club Publications and Other Promotional Ideas


	Shaffer:
	So early on, right away, before we got staff, going back to that, I remember me insisting that we needed to have ads in the Sierra Club Bulletin, and Mike agreeing that we would do that. So the Bulletin would come out and there would be no ad...
	So finally I lost it, and I said, "Mike, if you will say to me, 'Denny, will you get an ad in the next issue of the Bulletin,' there will be an ad in the next issue." He said, "Oh, well, would you do it?" "I'll do it." He said, "Well, but it'...
	Well, of course, I had no idea what I was going to do, but I hung up the phone and got my friend Bill Raue, and we sat down and drank beer until we thought of a concept, and put together and ad and sent it out in whatever way you sent things then--

	Lage:
	Not by fax.

	Shaffer:
	No, not by fax, and not by express mail. It was something like, you took it to the airport, and they flew it out, and somebody picked it up or something. It was very complicated, but it got here. And we had an ad in the Sierra Club Bulletin. ...

	Lage:
	Do you have a file of those?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, sure.

	Lage:
	Those should go to the Bancroft Library (and maybe a couple for an appendix to the oral history) [See Appendix].

	Shaffer:
	Oh, sure. And we did things like finding a way to get space in national magazines for nothing or something close to nothing, and we ran ads in national magazines. We went to work, and I'm not sure when this happened with getting ads in calend...
	So we went to work on Scribner and finally got their agreement to do that. So we produced probably the first six ads in calendars came out of Fayetteville, with Bill doing them and with me writing.

	Lage:
	Was there a good return on those?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, absolutely, one of the best. Because it cost practically nothing. And very, very productive. I don't have the numbers in my head anymore, but just significantly productive. And again, you knew that anything like that was going to work. Ho...

	Lage:
	They didn't even know it was a club.

	Shaffer:
	They didn't know that anybody wanted them to join. They didn't know, if they wanted to join, how to do it. All you've got to do is put a piece of paper in their hand that says, "Yeah, we want you, and this is what it costs, and you're going t...
	It's that concept that's often been missed in commercial dealings when the Sierra Club is doing them, that we were making a lot of money for Scribner. They had a good product here. Us asking for it to be more useful to us was not an outrageou...

	Lage:
	Did you handle that kind of negotiation?

	Shaffer:
	Not directly. I was not directly in it. The only time I got directly involved with all that was when we left Scribner, and that's probably for another point, when we went to Random House. I did get involved in that.
	But anyhow, we did these kinds of things. We started doing clip art, making up sheets of things and sending them to chapter newsletters, so that the chapter newsletter would run not just an ad with a membership application on it, but we did l...
	But none of this is great brilliance. This is not the sort of thing of which fortunes are made in the advertising business, but they had to work. And again, they cost almost nothing.

	Lage:
	But who gets the newsletters besides the members?

	Shaffer:
	Ah, but the members never had applications. So when their neighbor actually was interested in joining the Sierra Club, they didn't have anything to give them.

	Lage:
	I see, so this served that purpose.

	Shaffer:
	Absolutely. That's why there's such a big thing in Sierra magazine. The magazine goes to people who belong to the Sierra Club, but what it does, when their neighbor comes over and they're having dinner together, and their neighbor says, "You ...
	As a matter of fact, it was a question and people insisted it wouldn't work because of that. Why would that work?

	Lage:
	And yet, it is very little ventured, very little risk.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, virtually nothing. Bill charged modest amounts of money to do his work, and of course, I did everything for free. I had done copywriting before, for commercial stuff, for money. And so it was not new to me. But it was more fun. Oh, and we...
	But at any rate, so we got in touch with him, and his agent said, "Well, you know, Dr. Seuss gets a thousand requests like this a week, and we really don't do this sort of thing, but call back on this and I'll let you know." So Bill called ba...

	Lage:
	How nice!

	Shaffer:
	And so he gave us permission to do it, and set the standard. I wrote the copy, and Bill did the graphics. We sent them a copy of it, and they made a suggestion or two, and we changed it, and we got to run it. So again, the idea is there's so ...

	Lage:
	It's not creating the demand.

	Shaffer:
	No. There's people out there who care so much about what we're doing, and who have great skills to do this kind of thing, and we've not reached them as well as we could. But anyhow, we did all that sort of thing. We had a membership contest f...
	Concerns Among the Directors, and a Basic Contradiction


	Lage:
	Did this create any ripples on the board?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, absolutely. Everybody was--not everybody; a lot of people were kind of outraged at it.

	Lage:
	What was the objection to this type of thing?

	Shaffer:
	Well, the--[sighs] "It's so commercial. It's what 'they' do. "

	Lage:
	And are there people in particular who stand out as being leaders of the opposition?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, I think Phil Berry [laughs] has been the leader of the opposition to commercial ideas, generally speaking. He has, I think, been somewhat offended by commercialization and using the club's name in connection with commercial products. And ...

	Lage:
	Was it that they didn't see the virtue of growing the club, to use that new verb?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, absolutely. And there's still resistance to that. There are still people out there arguing that we should be leaner and meaner.

	Lage:
	I saw that in your own words, you used that phrase “leaner and meaner” during your presidency.

	Shaffer:
	Did I really? Well, there you go. I wonder what I meant when I said that. I suspect what I meant, [laughs] if I can do a little revisionist thinking here, we've never paid much attention to efficiency in this organization. We've had the luxur...
	But as far as size is concerned, I think we ought to be real big. If you read our vision statement, it's a revolutionary statement. It's a statement that talks about changing the value systems of the people of this country. That's not easily ...
	But it's always been my concept to have a presence locally every place. I've said over and over again, if there's a town of 50,000 in this country, there ought to be a Sierra Club group there. And then you educate the people coming up, you ge...
	But there has been consistently and constantly an argument from people that getting big is a problem, and it's ranged from the people who were the Sierra Club in California who saw it as a club, who were the people left from the days when it ...

	Lage:
	But it must have been a broader group than that, because that was really a dying breed.

	Shaffer:
	It was wider. That was a dying breed. Then you had--there is great difficulty in the philosophy in what we do. We believe in the conservation of the earth's resources, and the preservation of the wild places that can only be done if we do the...
	Now, the other side of that is, you will have 100,000 more people who are giving their money and their time and their thinking to the cause that we believe in, in an organized way. But a lot of paper is thrown away. So there's an argument to ...
	I think going the other way, which is for me to stay home and not do anything, and not use any resources, and simplify my life, is in some ways making a contribution, but it is not going to get us there. It is not going to change the value sy...
	But yes, I feel guilty when I use the resources, so I understand the argument, and I am sympathetic with the argument.

	Lage:
	Seems to me the other side of the argument might be, which would lead into the next topic later, when the club gets to this size, how do we manage it? You must have the vision for that.

	Shaffer:
	That's right, I can see how that can be done. This is not a big problem.

	Lage:
	But many people can't.

	Shaffer:
	And it's one we haven't resolved. We're not doing it. We're not doing it right now, but it is so simple. It's there to be done. You can organize--well, you're right, it is another subject. But there is a resistance, and it's also the resistan...
	Well, I find that sort of curious, because we are corporate America. We are a corporation, even with the bad finances we're in, we have a $40 million budget, 500,000 members more or less. We're a California corporation, got a board of directo...
	But yes, there is the argument against it right up to the moment, "Don't use the resources, don't waste the money, it costs too much money to send out direct mail, don't do it, don't send out, don't use up the paper, don't look like corporate...

	Lage:
	Well, let's see how we've got--
	Direct Mail: Roger Craver and Dick Hammond


	Shaffer:
	Can we talk about the direct mail?

	Lage:
	That's what I was going to ask you, how did you get the club, or how did the club get into direct mail?

	Shaffer:
	When I went on the board of directors, I went on in 1977, I guess, and I was called in the middle of the night by Ted Snyder to say that they had chosen me to fill a vacancy. We can talk more about that later.
	But I got on an airplane and got in a car and arrived at this ranch in the Southwest. [Added during interviewee review: This was the Baca Ranch in New Mexico that was recently acquired by the federal government.] That was the first meeting Ro...

	Lage:
	That's what I wanted to ask you.

	Shaffer:
	He is clearly bigger than life. He raises more money for left-of-center causes than anybody else in the world.

	Lage:
	Where does he hail from?

	Shaffer:
	He is out of the Washington, D.C., area. He has a company called Craver, Matthews, and Smith, CMS. He is a revolutionary. He is a wild man. He is absolutely the most--as brilliant as any man I've ever known, more dedicated than 99.9 percent. ...

	Lage:
	And this is on vacation?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes, and he thinks that's quite reasonable.

	Lage:
	How did he come to the Sierra Club?

	Shaffer:
	He came to the Sierra Club because the Sierra Club, Mike and others, had decided that they really needed to talk to somebody who had some expertise in direct mail, and in fund- raising techniques of the time, if you will.

	Lage:
	Did you have anything to do with it?

	Shaffer:
	I don't recall having anything to do with it. I may have, because it sounds like something I would have been interested in. I did not know Roger Craver; I had heard of him.

	Lage:
	What other kind of causes does he work for?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, he has handgun control, abortion rights, things like Planned Parenthood. He always worked very closely with Cesar Chavez. John Anderson, when he ran for president, was a client of his; he's had the Democratic Senate campaign as a client--...

	Lage:
	He's not just direct mail, or is he just direct mail?

	Shaffer:
	He is not just direct mail. He has a very large operation that includes quite creative sorts of things. I like the political hotline he put together, for example, a few years ago in which he convinced politicians that it would be in their int...
	So he then had somebody who gathered all this in, piles of information, and then somebody would sit down, frequently Roger, kind of go over it and edit it, and they put out a newsletter right back to the same people to tell them what was goin...
	Well, he was there. [laughs] He tells a story, I don't even know if it's true, because Roger loves telling stories as much as I do. But he insists that Mike took him aside when he got there and said--after they put me on the board--"Now, Roge...
	Roger told me later, he said, "Well, clearly that was the best thing Mike could have done, because I immediately wanted to know who you were, because what this organization needed was somebody who was going to change some of these things, and...

	Lage:
	He was what you were looking for.

	Shaffer:
	He was what I was looking for, and he saw me as somebody that he found interesting. We have since become just dear, good, close friends, a man I care about immensely. And he introduced me, through him I got to know other giants, people like D...

	Lage:
	Yes, I think it's important that we talk about this, because it hasn't been talked about in the oral histories, except just referred to briefly.

	Shaffer:
	Dick Hammond was a man who realized early on that organizing mailing lists was a good idea. Now, you've got to keep in mind that direct mail can't work if you don't have people's names and addresses to send it to. And just starting with the p...

	Lage:
	Was he part of the Craver organization?

	Shaffer:
	Well, only loosely. These people whose names I'm going to mention all are people who were very close to each other--Dick Hammond has died, tragically, a few years ago, at a young age--and was godfather of one of Roger's kids. So all these peo...
	Up to that point there had been things like--magazines had mailing lists, of course, and so there was some trade on the commercial side. You could buy lists of names and so on. But there was nobody thinking about it as a tool to build social ...
	So Dick built mailing lists of people who cared about justice as you or I might see it. And then they refined and refined and refined the process so that you got more and more focus and you had some certainty when you sent out this piece of m...
	For example, a new social-change organization coming along, maybe like handgun control, that might not have much money, and these crazy people would say, "Okay, we'll lend you half a million names, and then when you build your mailing list up...
	But as advocates for social change, they made this tremendous gift to the new social- change organization of a mailing list that they could write to that would be likely to respond.

	Lage:
	A mailing list taken from another social change organization?

	Shaffer:
	From some other, yes. With constant refinement and updating.
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	Lage:
	Okay, so we have Dick Hammond and--

	Shaffer:
	Yes, and then there's Sheila Martin. Sheila Martin has a company named Triplex that's here in the Bay Area, and Sheila recognized what computers could do with all of this, and that all of these lists were useful, but can you imagine how much ...
	She has built, and is the repository, of these jigillions of names, now separated out and refined, and of course now there's information by ZIP codes and so on, and there's all kinds of demographic information you play back against the list o...

	Lage:
	Does she do this work just for social-change organizations?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, as far as I know. All nonprofit stuff. Now, she may have some commercial stuff, but she got into business, just like Dick got into business, saying to themselves, "I really believe in this stuff. There's a lot of injustice in this countr...
	And really, all three of these people sort of were students of, if you will, a guy named Peter Tagger. Peter Tagger--oh boy, what an oral history that would have been to do. Peter's dead. He died three years ago, I guess, something like that....
	He was working with the tools available then, which weren't very many. This was not direct mail as we think about it now, millions of pieces, computer-generated, so on. But he was the first one that figured out that you could do it this way. ...
	Now, it may not sound like a big deal at the moment, but that observation changed the way social-change organizations in this country were built, dramatically.

	Lage:
	Do you know when he was operating, when these ideas came into being?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, golly. It was a long time ago. This would have been--this was after the blacklisting. I would say probably mid to late fifties, maybe, something like that.

	Lage:
	So he was definitely a pioneer.

	Shaffer:
	Oh. And [laughs] one of the world's great characters. He was one of the few people that could come to our meetings when we were being our most cantankerous, and say something about us that we would feel comfortable laughing about. He had this...

	Lage:
	How did he get brought in? Were these board meetings you're talking about?

	Shaffer:
	Well, he's a Craver connect, though he is--and he actually worked in a formal way with Roger starting in 1974, and sometimes Roger would bring him in on specific kinds of things. But there were these handful of people, and these four are the ...

	Lage:
	I don't mean to interrupt you, but I want to get a clearer picture of what Roger's role has been. In 1977, he made a presentation to the board. Did he become a consultant, an occasional consultant, a continuous consultant?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, all really--all of the above. He was hired to do specific things for us at that time. He advocated us becoming a client of his on a contractural basis with a contract that said he would do certain things, and we then did that. Immediatel...
	Then he, in later years, after Kim left the club, became more involved in the production, and I think still is involved in the production of things, like mail appeals and so on. When Kim was there, they actually would get somebody to write th...

	Lage:
	This would be done out of the club office, Kim--

	Shaffer:
	Well, yes, Kim did it here, that's right. And after Kim left, they pretty much hired Roger to do it. So he actually then got later into--and he has his own printing and his own art department, and he has writers who work for him, and so on, t...

	Lage:
	That must have been fun.

	Shaffer:
	Well, he said it was, and he said that Kurt called him and said, "Thank god you understand that this is not supposed to be literature, this is supposed to raise some so-and-so, so-and-so money." And he clearly understood what it was all about...
	Growth of the Direct Mail Program, and the Role of Interior Secretary Watt


	Shaffer:
	But at any rate, Roger came in, and I just got fascinated with all these people, so obviously I got to know all of them, and spent time with them, they became personal friends. And they became friends of Kim's. Now, I don't know at what point...

	Lage:
	Well, we need to put it in.

	Shaffer:
	Which at some point is relevant. [laughs] But at that point, we were not only not married to each other, we had no idea that a thought would ever enter either of our minds--as far as I know; it certainly had never entered mine. For a variety ...
	So we learned a whole lot from them, but at the same time were able to introduce this. We got the club to go into direct mail a little bit at a time, and test it and test it, and move the numbers up a little bit, and it worked so well. It was hard to do.

	Lage:
	Hard to get the--

	Shaffer:
	Hard to get the board of directors to agree to. It meant putting a line item in the budget that said you're going to spend a lot of money to do this. They'd say, "Well, how do we know it's going to work?" Well, it's going to work. This is how...

	Lage:
	You had tested it for the club?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes.

	Lage:
	Or Roger Craver had tested it.

	Shaffer:
	Both--no, we test everything. We still test everything. In our direct mail membership solicitation, we send out a test package and then a new package and maybe a third package every time we do a mail, so that you see which one does better, an...
	And incidentally, and I do not think this is a small matter, the appeals that are responded to most strongly in this organization are appeals that have to do with the preservation of wild lands. The direct wilderness kinds of appeals. I belie...

	Lage:
	So that's held up over the years?

	Shaffer:
	It's held consistent from the beginning to the moment. But what we would do, I would do a back-of-the-envelope sort of thing that would show people, "Okay, you spend--" whatever it is, "$400,000 for this direct mail, and this is what you get ...

	Lage:
	And the first year, there is a lot of expense.

	Shaffer:
	In the first year, there's an expense of getting the member. But the second, third, fourth years, if you can keep them out there longer, are very profitable. So I would do this projection. "If you spend this," whatever it is, $100,000, $400,0...
	But we finally did, and we grew dramatically. This was the basis of the people and the money for the eighties. This is why we were able to be what we were in the eighties. Without this, it wouldn't have been possible. Couldn't have done it.

	Lage:
	How did the Watt petition campaign figure into the success of membership? You always hear that as being a big factor in our dramatically increasing membership.

	Shaffer:
	People have got the right general idea, but they don't have the focus right. You've got to have a devil. If you have a devil in fund-raising, you're going to do better. It is much preferable--if I come to you and say, "Look, if you'll give me...
	So what was I saying? I got off on Buicks.

	Lage:
	The Watt petition.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes, the Watt petition. That was far afield. Watt was the perfect devil. Outrageous, an outrageous man. And he signified everything that we were opposed to. But the thing that was most significant was that we were in everybody's mailbox w...
	And that's the part people don't pick up. They sort of think that happened spontaneously, that this guy came along and somehow everybody joined the Sierra Club. Well, it could have been that he would have come along, and that wouldn't have ha...
	Now, we could have played it better. If we would have had more--we could have been bigger, we could have raised more money. But we were pretty conservative on that. I wasn't. I was pushing all the time to get more and more active, because it ...

	Lage:
	Was the petition itself to get Watt out an important part of the membership development?

	Shaffer:
	No. It wasn't in my opinion, except that, like the Brower ads, it gave you a national presence. It put us out there. It was a brilliant idea. It was a good thing we did it. I was there on the steps, and you wouldn't recognize me in the pictur...

	Lage:
	Do you know whose idea it was? I've never quite gotten--

	Shaffer:
	I would give credit to it, without even knowing, to Carl Pope or Doug Scott. It sounds to me like their kind of thinking.

	Lage:
	So it came out of the staff. That had been my impression.

	Shaffer:
	We have--I have observed this--there is an old advertising saying that you don't sell the steak, you sell the sizzle. The Sierra Club, in using that metaphor, has more steak than anybody. But we keep being hesitant to talk about the sizzle. W...
	The Sierra Club has been hesitant to, in effect, think in terms of how it presents itself to the country, and therefore we make it more difficult to raise money and get members, because we don't--we let others describe who we are. We let othe...

	Lage:
	Are there things that you thought of that were rejected as sizzle?

	Shaffer:
	Just philosophically, I think I am more aggressive and more dramatic--I would be more dramatic--an example: direct corporate action. A little while ago, there was an organization whose name has not come to mind that took on one of the fast fo...
	The Sierra Club, if they wanted to do that, the way we have a network of groups, chapters, across the country, could have shown up in the front yard of every Burger King in the country on that day, if we had wanted. I have suggested on occasi...
	Now, the other side of that is that it's disorderly and it could get out of hand, or it could be offensive, it could turn off donors, whatever. But I think it's got much more positive--and we don't have anybody, as far as I know, that's sitti...
	Promotion of Life Memberships and Building Endowment


	Shaffer:
	The only other thing I can think of on membership side--well, two things I suppose. Life memberships. I was, to the best of my knowledge, the first and only person who promoted the idea of promoting life memberships. Let's go out and sell the...

	Lage:
	Than if they joined every year.

	Shaffer:
	Than if you joined every year. And furthermore, you've got that income forever, including when they're dead and gone. Even if they get mad at you, you've still got it. Even if they die, you've still got it. But tremendous resistance to that.

	Lage:
	Because they thought that would take away from the annual membership money.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, take away from the annual membership money. Another objections was that 18 percent of dues went to chapters and nothing from life memberships went to chapters. So chapters didn't want life memberships because they didn't get a piece of t...
	But there were different kinds of resistances to that, and then the idea, which was mine, that we should sell it in three easy payments was another one of those sort of, sounds like you're selling used cars. This is not a good idea. Well, I w...
	So that permitted that to happen, so when we've had these fiscal crises like we're in now-- the biggest and best I've ever seen, the one we're in now, $2.9 million in the red they said this weekend--it's just inconceivable to me that we could...
	So of the things that I have anything to do with, I really feel good about that. I managed to get some other money put into that fund in addition to life memberships, some contributions and some other things--

	Lage:
	Large donations?

	Shaffer:
	Well, yes. For example, the two lakes behind Clair Tappaan Lodge [in the Sierra Nevada] that we sold. Golly, what was the name of those lakes? [Flora and Azalea]
	Well, the Sierra Club Foundation owned that property, and we're not in the property owning business. So we cut a deal with the federal government that they would buy it from us, and they would take care of it, protect it, which is the best of...
	But eventually, we talked them into giving the money back to the club to fund tax deductible programs like books. That helped create a surplus. So there were two or three years in which we ran a nice surplus. So at that point, I was able to c...
	Later, Michael Fischer came along with the idea that it was really not an endowment, it was a quasi-endowment, and that because the board set it up we could un-set it up and spend it. I allowed as how when he decided to do that, that there wa...
	So this is an endowment that will be there forever and continues to grow, that has been the fiscal insurance for the organization. That was a good idea. Aside from all the other things, it's nice to have life members.
	Lessons from Direct Mail


	Lage:
	Now, the direct mail had its ups and downs too. Is that something we want to talk about now, or shall we talk about that under your treasurership?

	Shaffer:
	No, we can talk about it now, because I don't think it's--there's not a whole lot to be said about it. The most significant thing in the ups and downs of direct mail is that for the last three years, it's been down. It's going the same direct...
	There are basically two things to be learned from it, and I think that the lessons are on the table. Now, whether we've learned them or not--. One is that it's not going to work forever, that solutions to problems don't necessarily solve all ...
	And also, we've encouraged us to think creatively to alternatives to everything we've done. Instead of going back to something we've done, what is it we have not done? How do we approach this in a different way? And we haven't done much of that.
	But the second thing, the second lesson out of the decline in mail is the results of this Peter Hart task force.

	Lage:
	Now, who is Peter Hart?

	Shaffer:
	Peter Hart, the pollster [Added during interviewee review: His father, James D. Hart, was the head of The Bancroft Library, I have been told by Roger Craver.] He's, I guess, one of the best there is. Certainly he's an impressive chap. We hire...
	But we hadn't really done one that asked--that might bring bad news. Well, it did bring some bad news--and this came out of the work of the development department and development advisory committee, which we'll talk about a little bit later, ...
	So we insisted that we go back and do this survey again and see what this told us. And it told us a number of things that reflect on why not only membership development is going downhill, but the renewal rate is dropping. People who have been...

	Lage:
	What did that second survey show?

	Shaffer:
	[Added during interviewee review: Hart came back to us with so much information. We asked people for money and for their calls and letters on an issue, yet barely thanked them. The next thing they got from us was another ask for more money, a...
	And we didn’t even make the pitch very well. That is we just got to the ask, we didn’t bring people along, let them know what we were doing, let them know how their contributions were helping. We were not even saying thanks very well. I refer...
	But the question is, what are we going to learn? Are we going to respond to what we learned?
	##
	Relationship Between Membership Development and Fund-raising


	Lage:
	We're just starting up again after a break, and I was going to ask you when does membership development merge into fund-raising, in purpose and effect, and how does it relate?

	Shaffer:
	Well, it in some ways is part of the same fabric. The members become a source of money as soon as they join, because you have that membership fee and you have the renewal income. But they also become--the trade name is file, the file from whi...
	So I moved immediately into the fund-raising side.
	State of Club Fund-raising under Denny Wilcher: Tension Between the Club and the Foundation


	Lage:
	While you were doing the membership development, you were also--

	Shaffer:
	Yes. Well, I was interested in that, and it drove me crazy, because it was just terribly inefficient. We had Denny Wilcher at the club, heading the office of program funding, and then the Sierra Club Foundation had their own fund-raising staf...

	Lage:
	Did it take you a while to figure this out?

	Shaffer:
	Not very long. [laughter] That was pretty obvious. So you'd say--which I did--why are we doing this? This makes no sense, this is inefficient. You ought to have a central file, you should have central research on your donors, you should have ...

	Lage:
	Was it intended originally that the club wouldn't do fund-raising, and that the foundation was the fund-raising arm? That was sort of the way I had understood it, I guess.

	Shaffer:
	Well, the foundation was set up as a device to permit the club to raise tax-deductible funds, when the club lost its tax status. I wasn’t there, and all I know is what I've been told. I think it was more a protective device and a device to pe...
	From the beginning, though, we saw emerging a serious problem that's still around, though God knows we have worked to get rid of it, and that is the connection between fund-raising and fund spending. There has been a lot of tradition in the c...

	Lage:
	Now, when you say the person who raised it, who are you talking about?

	Shaffer:
	I'm talking about--unfortunately, this got to be contagious into the staff, but it also got to be a very much of a matter of a contention with the trustees of the foundation. Because keep in mind, the trustees of the foundation were originall...
	So you got into a controlling of the funds flow--so the more they raised, then the more they sort of had some power with, and the more the club raised, the less you had to deal with that, and so that was sort of a dynamic that kept all this working.
	Well, in 1979, I became a trustee of the Sierra Club Foundation. A seven-year term, I found out after I said yes, and then I found out about a year later that that had only recently gone in place. Before that it had been like a lifetime term,...
	So I found a bunch of things when I went on the board of trustees. This inefficiency, this people running into each other, and then in trying to figure out why, it became the control issue. But it also went back, I believe, to the Brower thin...
	So you got into these kinds of issues that then developed in goofy ways. Gary Torre and others then started presenting the idea that for the Sierra Club Foundation to remain in its tax classification of tax-deductible, it had to be a public f...
	And then, of course, you can imagine what happens over here at the Sierra Club side, because what they're hearing is, "You mean these people are going to go out and raise money in the name of the Sierra Club, using the Sierra Club Foundation ...
	Resolution of the Tension: 1980


	Lage:
	Were you on their--I thought a lot of this had happened earlier too. Was this still being resolved?

	Shaffer:
	Yes.

	Lage:
	Ted Snyder had some role in all this, didn't he?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. I think--well, Ted in his [laughs]--Ted brought a lot of this to a head. Ted was a dynamic fellow and very direct. He challenged a number of these things.

	Lage:
	He was president of the club when you went on the board of the trustees?

	Shaffer:
	All right, well, there you go. We were clearly working very closely together all the way through on this, because he and I had a wonderful relationship, and he was--I have the greatest respect for Ted. He was an outstanding president. He said...
	So the first thing I did was to try to deal with that, to offer some reassurance to the club that they'd get the money, to lower the temperature there, and try to get some commitment from the board of trustees that they really weren't going t...
	So I finally got passed a resolution [1979-1980] in the board of trustees that defined the purposes of the Sierra Club Foundation by saying that those who would like to understand the purpose of the Sierra Club Foundation should examine the a...
	Well, this was a long way of saying, "We've really been doing nothing but raising money for the Sierra Club, and turning it over to the Sierra Club, and that's what we intend to do." But it got it into another language that wasn't threatening--

	Lage:
	So they didn't have to say that.

	Shaffer:
	So much to everybody's amazement, it passed. Peter Behr was a trustee at that time. I remember when I showed it to him, I said, "What do you think?" He said, "I find it absolutely charming." [laughter] And I thought that was a good sign. Beca...

	Lage:
	He wasn't part of the old leadership circles of the club.

	Shaffer:
	No, he was not. It made no sense to him at all. So that broke some of the tension over, where's the money going to go?
	Fund-raising Inefficiencies


	Shaffer:
	So then, the next thing was efficiency, how do we get about getting all this mess straightened out? That was infinitely more difficult. How do we get away from having double staff, so on and so forth. Mike claimed even after that resolution g...

	Lage:
	He had to deal with it.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, he had to get the money. So he had to worry more about it. But it was less a concern to me, and that sort of moved the control thing out of the way, I think. And then we got into the, how do we make this thing more efficient? And that--w...
	That was the first effort, and Bob Girard, as I recall, chaired that. It was my doing, though, I must admit. And I was on it. But Bob was a really, really good fellow to do that, because again, he was not part of any team or anything, and I w...

	Lage:
	And the Sierra Club Legal Defense Fund was part of this--

	Shaffer:
	Legal Defense Fund was part of it, but they were part of it--Rick [Sutherland] was the best I have ever seen at being able to just kind of figure out what was the advantage of what he was doing and taking that, and then not bothering with the...
	Now, and let me quickly say about Rick that that's one of the greatest losses the environmental movement has had, his premature death [in 1991]. Tragic for what we believe in. His work is--nobody can do what he did, as far as I'm concerned.
	But the funding center and management committee didn't work very well. But it did for the first time provide an arena for asking questions about costs of fund-raising. I remember drawing up little charts that sorted out the fund-raising costs...

	Lage:
	Your costs were greater than--

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes. The costs were just out of line. But no reason for them not to be. What we were doing was a very inefficient way of doing it.

	Lage:
	Was this when Nick Clinch was still head of the foundation?

	Shaffer:
	It was. Nick then left--I don't remember exactly when Nick left. I do have that somewhere.

	Lage:
	I believe it was 1980 or '81.
	Relations with Foundation Trustees: Cultural Barriers


	Shaffer:
	The next thing--yes--the next thing that happened, and this all came about at about the same time--I will say as an aside, I really was amazed at the old-timers. Will Siri and Gary Torre, people like that. I'd never met anybody like that before.

	Lage:
	In what respect?

	Shaffer:
	Well, they were sort of aristocracy in the way they behaved. I remember going down and having lunch with Gary Torre one time, trying to get to know him. I play off of understanding people. I invest a lot of time in trying to figure people out...
	We came to a very nice restaurant and I thought maybe that was it, and I sort of looked at him, and he said, "Oh, no. That's where the shop girls eat. We're going over here." And I had never heard that expression. I had read about it in sort ...
	And so I found myself with this charming, gentlemanly, obviously very bright person, but who was clearly--I sort of think of myself as a little bit of a bomb-thrower. I mean not literally, of course, but I mean a real social revolution. It ju...

	Lage:
	Maybe younger, also?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, absolutely younger. I found it all very curious and difficult.

	Lage:
	Did you find Will Siri the same in that respect?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, I think so. And certainly what I did then made these people very angry. And what I did is I got an agreement through the management committee of the funding center--to get agreement from the three organizations to bring in a consultant t...
	So I talked to my friend Roger Craver and said, "We're looking for somebody," and he said, "Well, let me think of some people." He called me and said, "I've got a guy for you who would be perfect, his name is Wen Forest. He's a director of de...
	Centering Fund-raising in the Club, 1980


	Shaffer:
	So we got agreement, we brought him in, he did this. He talked to all the people individually and did what consultants do well. He then met with the individual boards and made some really very strong suggestions, and they were of course exact...
	Now, this was dramatic. This was reducing a lot of power in some ways, and Nick Clinch has not, I'm sure, to this day forgiven me. I passed him on an airplane ten years after this happened, and he still wouldn't speak to me. I didn't know he ...

	Lage:
	A power grab, would you say?

	Shaffer:
	Well, a power grab, and as sort of repudiating the great things they had done. They had raised money, and they had spent a lot of time doing good work, and here comes this guy along who has put in place some things which has caused that to ch...

	Lage:
	So they became administrators.

	Shaffer:
	Well, the foundation trustees became then primarily responsible for trust kinds of responsibilities, as they saw it. Now, I argued at the time not so, that they could become the basis of major donor fund-raising from a volunteer point of view...

	Lage:
	But a new board of trustees.

	Shaffer:
	A new board of trustees, new cast of characters. And it's great anger. It's one of those ironies of life that Will Siri was sitting on the nominating committee this weekend (November 1993) that I was interviewed by, that chose not to nominate...

	Lage:
	How do you react when you have that kind of personal anger directed at you? Or how did you?

	Shaffer:
	I react a lot better now than I used to. I don't like it. I'm a passionate fellow myself, I'm a fighter. You bop me on the nose, I am philosophically and spiritually, I guess, attuned to the idea of bopping you back as not being the best answ...
	The change to having a coordinated staff, the contract with the club, bringing in professional fund-raisers, coordinated and so on, has raised immensely more money than we ever thought about, significantly more money. The outgrowth of that in...
	Now, I don't want to make this sound like this happened because of me. This has not been a success because of me. What I was able to do was sort of clear a trail, and then good people went out there and did it. I'm not raising million-dollar ...

	Lage:
	Where did Denny Wilcher fit in, then? Maybe we've never really talked about where he fit in before.

	Shaffer:
	Denny, of course, when I first came along, was associate director of the Sierra Club. I still have his card that says, "Associate Director." I got to know Denny early on, and we roomed together in St. Louis when the board met there. He and I-...
	But Denny gradually was phased out of all of this and went on to his Alaskan deep love, and was really happy doing that, and was in a great position to do that, because frankly, he had developed personal contacts with donors all over the coun...
	What happened is we brought in new staff, Audrey Berkovitz, who then became Audrey Rust, was hired to run the department. She became the boss of Peggy Hynd and of course of Kim (now Kim Martin Shaffer).

	Lage:
	So she was over membership development?

	Shaffer:
	She was over membership development and fund-raising. She was over all of the raising of income on that side. I was instrumental in that happening, or played a part in that. I spent a good year or so, year and a half, running interference for...
	But that didn't work out as well as we had hoped. There was a difference in personality and style. She was a professional, and she is still in the field, and I think doing well in the field. But she brought a dramatically different style to i...

	Lage:
	You have to fit the club culture. Was this part of the problem?

	Shaffer:
	I think that's right. And this is again another issue, I suppose we might touch later, but the whole business of moving into "professional people on the staff," and moving away from people who have come into it because they are cause-oriented...
	So then I worked with some people like Joe Fontaine and Rosemary Carroll when she came on to head the department, and others, to put together a document which established the structure which we now have, which is the development advisory comm...

	Lage:
	Is this part of the development advisory--

	Shaffer:
	Part of--well, it's the same document. The same document said, "We need this group, development advisory committee, for oversight, big picture, vision, raise lots of money, good ideas, creative. We need a group that's going to deal with the t...

	Lage:
	Do you have this document somewhere?

	Shaffer:
	It's a board resolution, probably from about 1988. I could look.
	##

	Carl [Pope] allows as there's two kinds of people in the world: those who are horizonal filers and those who are vertical filers. He and I both file horizontally, which means you have a lot of tables covered with piles of things.

	Lage:
	Who is your other vertical filer? Did you say?

	Shaffer:
	No. Carl is a horizontal filer. Piles of paper. If you've ever been--[laughs] after the last earthquake, they went around checking the offices to see how much damage was done, and the only office they couldn't tell was Carl's because it looke...
	And then out of this came the Centennial Campaign, and we know sort of where that's been going.

	Lage:
	That's a subject in itself, but it does follow here. Do you think we should leave that for another time? You kind of run out of steam, I think, after two and a half hours.

	Shaffer:
	Has it been that long? I think we probably ought to quit, because I am getting tired.

	Lage:
	Yes, it's a good stopping point, and we can take up with the Centennial Campaign.

	Shaffer:
	All right.
	[End of Interview]
	[Interview 3: November 8, 1997] ##
	Thinking of Events Conceptually Rather than Chronologically


	Lage:
	Today is November 8, 1997, and this is our third interview after a very long hiatus. Four years. Almost exactly. We're just talking about how to conceptualize what's left.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. [Laughter]

	Lage:
	Repeat what you said about how you think.

	Shaffer:
	I don't think chronologically. I think in concepts. I think of the things I have done as treasurer, or fiscal manager and management stuff. Then I think of the political stuff, and I think of the fund-raising stuff. More than I think, you kno...

	Lage:
	I think it is important, then, to have our oral history work the way your head works.

	Shaffer:
	[Laughter] It may make no sense to anyone else, but we'll see.

	Lage:
	Well, it is the way we started out when we began interviewing in 1993. You said when you came out here to San Francisco in '74 there were three things that you immediately saw.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, that's true.

	Lage:
	Membership development, fund-raising, and management. We have discussed membership development. We discussed a lot of fund-raising, and we were just leading into the Centennial Campaign. So why don't we start there?
	Major-Donor Fund-raising under Denny Wilcher


	Shaffer:
	Yes. That's fine. And I think that is a relatively shorter story, because it was an evolutionary thing. For a long time we talked about how is it that you raised major contributions. And we didn't know. We had major donor fund raisers who wen...

	Lage:
	Was that terminology different because he conceived of it differently, or didn't we have the term "development officer?"

	Shaffer:
	You know, I don't know. Knowing Denny, I think it probably was his desire to approach it in a different way. But he basically ran a one-man operation. He went out. He knew people who were sympathetic with what we were doing. And he raised mon...

	Lage:
	Was he good at it?

	Shaffer:
	Denny was one of the rare jewels of the world. If you were to write a manual for professional fund raisers, probably little that Denny did would fit in to what you would think you should do. But he was honest. He was sincere. His soul was rig...
	You know he'd been a conscientious objector in World War II when you didn't do that, and he went to prison for it. Denny never married the woman, Ida. He never married his wife of many years with whom--he had several children. Denny was just ...
	And yes, he was good at what he did, but he had the limitations of a one-man show. With no investment in those donors, it was simply a matter of going to those people and having a pleasant hour or two with them, and saying, "We have some need...

	Lage:
	You mean no follow-up?

	Shaffer:
	No, no. Very little follow-up. Very little reward for donors. Very little in the way of donor recognition. Very little in the way of developing the donor, of courting the donor, and helping the donor see what it is we are doing--getting their...

	Lage:
	What was her last name then?

	Shaffer:
	Knoll. Like Knoll Furniture. She did major-donor fund-raising when Kim, my present wife, was the person who was director of membership development. At any rate, that's an aside to all that.
	Ann and I made calls on people to ask them for money when I was president. There was no major investment in it, if you will. Support staff, research was all minimal.
	A Desire for Change--Genesis of the Centennial Campaign


	Shaffer:
	And so a number of people, primarily the trustees of the Sierra Club Foundation, felt we needed to get on with it and figure out how you did this [major-donor fund-raising]. Maurice Holloway was clearly one of the guiding lights to it. He und...

	Lage:
	Now are we talking about after the period when the club and the foundation kind of went through their crisis?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. The crisis was over. The crisis was over.

	Lage:
	We did talk about that last time.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. And as a matter of fact, somewhere, I was looking here you have on my record here that I was a trustee of the Sierra Club Foundation for seven years [1979-1986] which is correct, but I also went back and served another three-year term, f...

	Lage:
	Okay. That's what I didn't know.

	Shaffer:
	And that was during this period of time, as I recall. It was one of the ironies of all the conflict between the Sierra Club Foundation and the Sierra Club over things which I believe we discussed that I was told at that time that I would neve...
	So, these things all worked. The changes we made worked. We raised more money. We spent less money doing it. Everybody had a good time. Everybody felt good about it. And so people looked back on that and said, "Well, it was a controversy and ...
	And there were people who wanted to do this. And then there was the question of how do you do it. Frankly, nobody knew. We had Audrey Berkovitz, who became Audrey Rust, who had come in to head the development department of the Sierra Club. Sh...

	Lage:
	Do you remember what kinds of things?

	Shaffer:
	First of all, we had an enthusiasm from the onset of this to build endowment. And we would have this major Centennial Campaign at the end of which we would have an endowment build-up of millions of dollars which would continue to fund program...

	Lage:
	That's, after all, what you wanted to hear.

	Shaffer:
	That's what we wanted to hear. But none of that turned out to be correct. We went into another set of consultants. We went through several directors of the Centennial Campaign. And then we finally ended up with a consultant here in town whose...
	But Charlie came in as a consultant. Then he acted as acting director of the campaign when we fired another of the directors. We went through--my goodness--we went through three or four. He did a lot of reality checking for us. He got us in t...
	Investing in Fund-raising vs. Spending on Programs


	Lage:
	Now were these people willing to give or people willing to--?

	Shaffer:
	Give money and raise money. And give advice and guidance. Invest in it. Steve Stevick, I would have to say Steve Stevick played a very major role in all this as an enabler. It was a dream of Steve's to see this happen. Steve is, of course, th...

	Lage:
	Conflict among policy makers in the club?

	Shaffer:
	Among the directors. Yes, the policy makers. The board of directors and the top staff. And this was just an enlargement of the earlier problem with direct-mail fund-raising or anything else. People like Roger Craver, who led us for so many ye...
	Well, this never was very attractive to directors who would rather go fight a battle with it. So generally we went and fought a battle with it, and then the next year you'd put together a budget that had an expense line item in there of somet...

	Lage:
	But you did get the board to endorse the idea?

	Shaffer:
	The board endorsed the idea. The board endorsed the idea really based on the recommendations of the initial--[laughter]--the initial folks we had who were consultants who made it sound easy, and highly likely to succeed, and not terribly pain...
	So then we eventually moved along, and we got Harry Dalton to come in. And Harry Dalton had been a council delegate from South Carolina. He had been a chapter chair in South Carolina. I knew him as an activist. Frankly I hadn't a clue he had ...
	I've done political fund-raising. You get into political fund-raising and finding your people who put big bucks into political fund-raising is fairly easy to do. They're known in every community and state, and you get the list and you know wh...

	Lage:
	It was a tradition almost.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, that's right. So here comes Harry Dalton who it never occurred to anybody would have the ability to write a check for a million dollars if he wanted to and it wouldn't bounce. I mean, it never occurred to me. I certainly wouldn't have. I...
	But he came along, and he put a lot of money in this, as did Allan Brown. And they basically funded the thing, along with some others.

	Lage:
	Funded the effort?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, they basically put up the nut, if you will, the kitty to get the thing over the hump. And that's really what made it work. So they deserve the credit for not only the energy and the vision and so on, but the willingness to put their mone...
	Centennial Campaign Committees and Staff


	Lage:
	I know Allan Brown was also involved in managing, on the advisory committee.

	Shaffer:
	That's correct. Oh, yes. Allan was the chair for a very long time. We had two committees. We had a Centennial Campaign Planning Committee which I chaired and was on for as long as it existed, along with Larry Downing and a couple other people...
	Then there was the Centennial Campaign Steering Committee, and the theory was that the first one, the planning committee, would take care of the political stuff that you have to do in the Sierra Club; when a chapter chair would get out of joi...
	In bequests, for example, I had chaired the committee that had written the only bequest policies we had back, way back, that Drake hotel meeting we had in--oh Lord, years, way back. [Added during interviewee review: It was when Joe [Fontaine]...
	For example, on bequests. A person would die and leave money to the Sierra Club. Well, there is only one Sierra Club, the national. So the club would take the money, that had perhaps come from someone who had been active in their chapter or w...
	But with the Centennial Campaign we made this policy more broad and set up a policy that the chapter got something from any bequest of a member from that chapter, even if the chapter was not mentioned. Of course, if the bequest was for a spec...
	The Centennial Campaign Planning Committee did a lot of that. We worked through the budgets. We kept the budgets moving so that the steering committee, the Allan Browns and the Maurice Holloways, did not have to go to board meetings and argue...

	Lage:
	I see. That explains these two committees in a way I hadn't heard them explained before.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. We sort of cleared out the--leveled the field so that those people could go about doing what they wanted to go about doing.

	Lage:
	Did that--excuse me for interrupting--but did it become a policy that a bequest or major donation would be shared with the chapters?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. So we moved through this, and then we finally had Bill Meadows come to the campaign with his wonderful background. He'd been a council delegate at one time. He'd been an activist in the Sierra Club. And he was a professional in major-don...

	Lage:
	But before him you had somebody that was a big problem, as I recall.

	Shaffer:
	As I remember, we went through three. I think we went through three directors, as I remember, and I would have a hard time sitting here telling you who they were. It's sort of this Freudian thing, your mind kicks out these unpleasant experien...
	Understanding Club Culture


	Shaffer:
	If you are going to raise money you would love to be The Nature Conservancy rather than the Sierra Club because The Nature Conservancy hardly ever makes anybody mad. I don't know that they've ever made anybody mad. The Sierra Club makes peopl...
	And some of them didn't really understand that. And it frustrated them and they would try to get things changed and it just was not a pretty picture.
	Bill came in, he understood what our potential was and what our limitations were. And at this point we also began to realize that if we were going to raise this money we were not going to raise it for endowment; we were going to raise it for ...

	Lage:
	Oh, I see. So you gave up the idea of endowment.

	Shaffer:
	We pretty well gave up the idea of endowment. Now I will have to say this was not done over my dead body, but it was done over my badly wounded body. Because I have felt all along that endowment was a terribly important thing and that that wo...
	So we've raised a lot of money. It's been very successful. And most importantly, it is built into the organization now, and this was the hope from the beginning: the capability of continuing to raise large contributions. And thank God, and Al...

	Lage:
	So even though you promoted the idea of the direct mail, you recognized that it had its limitations?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. [pause]

	Lage:
	Or was that over time?

	Shaffer:
	It's been my contention, and this is probably an overstatement, that I've never had a good original idea in my life, but that I've been blessed with the ability to know a good idea when I see one. At the time we moved into direct mail members...

	Lage:
	The phone-mail programs?

	Shaffer:
	Yeah, I hate those things. And you know I still get people calling me. I must have five brokers a week calling me, and I have no interest in talking to them. When we got into that program, which I hated and which I resisted, I recognized, how...
	So, yes, when we went into those things I saw them as the good idea at the time, the thing you needed to do, and things which we'll always do, I think. I think we'll always do some of that. But it will come and go. And you will refine the too...
	The Next Step: Involving the Grass Roots


	Lage:
	I wonder what the next step is?

	Shaffer:
	Ann, I haven't given this much thought anymore. Twenty-five years or thirty years, or whatever, of this has been enough, and I really am thinking about other things. That's a good question, and part of me would love to sit down and think abou...
	I will venture one observation. I think we have to get the feeling of the contribution and the effect of that contribution closer together. I think people are more and more wanting instant gratification. If I give you a thousand dollars, I wa...

	Lage:
	More of an almost grassroots involvement in the funding.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. I think so. This really gets into the whole concept of what the Sierra Club ought to be in the future, and I just wrote a short note to Adam Werbach yesterday on the subject [see appendix]. But I really believe that we need the national ...

	Lage:
	Out at the chapter level, or field?

	Shaffer:
	Well, we get into this mentality of the structure which--you know whether it should be on the group level, or chapter level, or the regional level, or the national level. It really just needs to be where the people are. You could structure it...

	Lage:
	So more decentralized.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, in the best of all worlds. [pause] Here you've got me thinking in the future. This is supposed to be history.

	Lage:
	I know, I know. [Laughter] You're always thinking about the next step, and we wouldn't be getting you if we didn't get that.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, and it's so much more exciting to think about what--to me the exciting thing always is what can you do tomorrow you've not done.
	Legacy of the Centennial Campaign


	Lage:
	Right. But analyzing what's happened in the past I think leads to that. Anything else we should say about the Centennial Campaign, or your particular role?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, I don't think so. I think my role in the Centennial Campaign was like my role is in so many things. I saw myself as an enabler. I went from one group to another. When people were out of sorts about something, I tried to find a way to make...

	Lage:
	Who brought them into the Sierra Club?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, they had been there. They had been there forever, just about. But, I'm not quite sure exactly. Well, Maurice had been involved in fund-raising in the Sierra Club and in other things.
	So I was thinking, on a whole totally different subject, I noticed the name Andrea Bonnette in here, and he [Maurice Holloway] was one of the people who interviewed her when she was hired, along with myself. He's clearly a very successful loc...
	But I think the legacy of this is that we now have the ability and potential to do this kind of fund-raising, we have some knowledge about how it is done. We have a group of people who have made major financial contributions, who have now som...
	And I think my role in it was that I understood from the very beginning it was a good idea, and that I understood that some of the people we got involved weren't going to make it work, and that I was perfectly willing to help get them out of ...
	Initial Impressions of Club Administration


	Lage:
	Shall we turn back again to the early involvement and your concern with management issues in the Sierra Club? When you say management is one of your three major things, were you thinking of mainly fiscal management, or general club management...

	Shaffer:
	Well, the thing that interested me when I came out here was it was clear there was nobody in sight on the staff of the Sierra Club that was a trained administrator. There was nobody there that when they were a kid said, "When I grow up I want...
	But the idea of management systems, the idea of the concept of how do you arrange things to make them work better--the business of people and money and systems--how do you do that, came to them after they got into their kind of jobs. Mike McC...
	##


	Shaffer:
	Moving into the executive director position meant that he had to take this sheer brilliance that he brings with him and try this, or learn that, or whatever. But he hadn't been brought to it in that way. So it struck me immediately that it wo...

	Lage:
	And professors.

	Shaffer:
	And professors think that the administration is inept at best, and so on. So many of the people who govern the Sierra Club historically look at these kinds of folks who are administrators or management people as sort of folks who get in the w...

	Lage:
	Now you came on the board in 1977.

	Shaffer:
	Yes.

	Lage:
	Did you introduce these ideas, and what kind of a response did you get?

	Shaffer:
	I had a little introduction to the board before I came on through the membership development. I came to them--

	Lage:
	And you were on the council.

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes, and through the council. The council was an interesting experience because the council was different then, I believe, because the people who were on the council viewed themselves as national leadership more than they viewed themselves...
	And out of that group of people grew some of the really good leaders of the club. The Sue Merrows, and Larry Downings, and Marty Fluhartys, and Bob Howards, and a number of others came out of that same group of people. And that group of peopl...

	Lage:
	So they were interested in--

	Shaffer:
	They were interested in making these things work better. They, or we, I guess it would be fair to say because I was there with them, would take things on simply because it looked like they needed to be taken on and nobody was paying any atten...
	I went to the board twice that I remember. One was with a point of sale display to sell memberships of the Sierra Club which I had developed back in Fayetteville, and the second experience was I put together with a friend back home a concept ...
	Now, the moral of the story was [chuckles] that I went on the board knowing that we spoke a different language in some areas. And that did not mean that my first year was not rocky, because it was rocky. But it helped me understand that good ...
	Appointment to the Board of Directors, 1977


	Lage:
	When you say that your first year was rocky, what kinds of things? I'm trying to get some specifics.

	Shaffer:
	Well, I was appointed to the board to fill the seat of Brant Calkin, who resigned to take the position of southwest rep after he had not been reelected president of the Sierra Club which everybody thought he was going to be. And he really wan...
	So then Brant came back and resigned, and the board then decided to wait until their retreat in the summer to fill the vacancy. And they did. They made up a list of names. I understand there were over fifty names on it, and they started going...

	Lage:
	So somebody liked what you brought to the board.

	Shaffer:
	Well, evidently. Certainly I had been conspicuous. I had certainly done things which were high profile. I look back on it with some embarrassment. Actually the first membership campaign that was held in the Sierra Club--we actually used to do...
	So I had been very high profile. And I was interested in serving on the board, and I saw that as something I might do sometime. So yeah, people noticed me, and I think in fairness the board at that point was looking for somebody with some of ...
	But the board that I came on--I came in mid-summer and that year, which was Bill Futrell's year as president, which by then was already three months old--

	Lage:
	And he was the first southern president. I don't know if that's significant or not, but he was.

	Shaffer:
	Well, I never thought about that, but I guess that's right, yes. No, it wasn't significant to me. Obviously, I didn't remember it. [Laughter] But it's difficult for a one-term president. Bill had an agenda. As a matter of fact, he appointed m...

	Lage:
	Oh you did?

	Shaffer:
	Which was his pet thing. It was very important to him. He asked me to chair that. I did.

	Lage:
	Was that an interest of yours?

	Shaffer:
	Well, I had had some--you know I had been a city councilman early on. I understood what some of these issues were. I understood how city councils, mayors, and so on thought. It was not--the truth of the matter is my primary interests are tree...
	Elected to the Board, 1978, and Thoughts on a Bizarre Election System


	Shaffer:
	Then in the following year I ran for the board and was elected, and was also elected treasurer at the same time. At a time we were in financial crisis, which was not great timing on my part.

	Lage:
	And Ted Snyder was elected president.

	Shaffer:
	Ted Snyder was elected president. Ted was my friend. I managed to help Ted get elected. I thought Ted would make a good president. I think he did. I think that was a correct thing at the time. The primary contender at that time was Richard Ce...

	Lage:
	Is that a--just to go back in time there--are these presidential elections, or was that one, a particularly contentious kind of thing?

	Shaffer:
	[Pause] A lot of them are eight-to-seven votes. [Laughter] Including mine, the first time. Directors are political animals. They're inclined to think rather highly of themselves and their abilities. And in most cases there's justification for...
	[Pause] Contentious, I don't know. Some of them have been that. Some of them have been hurts that people probably carry with them to this day. I think people generally, though, have gotten over those things. But, yes, it's important.
	It's a bizarre system. It's a system which I've tried to change over the years, and had absolutely no success doing. We go into a retreat setting two or three days before the May board meeting. We elect our officers and the president presides...

	Lage:
	Would you prefer to see the election take place earlier?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. We should have a president-elect. I think a president-elect would be a good idea and you have a year of training. Elect officers in February, and have them have a chance to have the ExCom have a retreat and get to know each other, and...
	I am a political animal. And I will acknowledge this. I have probably the most complete file of ballot statements, and so on that anybody has ever had in this organization. I've had great interest in the things I have done in that area. I, fo...

	Lage:
	Oh you mean, in the official statement.

	Shaffer:
	In the statement.

	Lage:
	Not on the side?

	Shaffer:
	No, on the ballot, on the ballot statement said, "Please vote for me." Asked you to vote for me. Revolutionary idea. Well, of course everybody does that now. I was the first person to put my telephone number in my ballot statement and say, "I...
	The last time I ran I used quotations from people who said nice things about me, rather than saying it myself. This is a concept that hasn't been copied much yet, but it will be. I've enjoyed this kind of political stuff. And I've enjoyed the...
	I have always, each of the years I served, three months before the elections came up started talking to the other directors. "Who's going to be the next president? Who's going to be the next treasurer?" It's been amazing to me that a number o...
	We need to think about who is going to be treasurer, for example. We need to know that we have somebody that's competent to be treasurer on the board, and there are times in which we do not. And that's not putting down the people that are on ...

	Lage:
	Didn't at one time the club have the capability to appoint a member, a fixed officer or something?

	Shaffer:
	I have tried several times to have the present system changed. I introduced the concept of having the board be permitted to elect a treasurer that is not a director. But it would have taken a bylaw change, and the board voted against it. I me...
	Not infrequently the board is made up of folks who really have not spent much time working on budgets and finance, are not thinking in terms of risk assessment as a managerial concept as opposed to a toxic chemical concept. And that's unfortu...
	Elected as Treasurer, 1978: Dealing with a Budgetary Mess


	Lage:
	But you did get elected treasurer after just one year on the board. [1978-1982]

	Shaffer:
	I did.

	Lage:
	Was that something you campaigned for, or how does one get elected treasurer?

	Shaffer:
	It was sort of a given by that time. I think when they put me on the board they were looking for somebody that they hoped had some skills. They knew they had a mess. And they wanted me to do it. And I said, "Well, all right I will." It was aw...

	Lage:
	Let's talk about that.

	Shaffer:
	It was just awful. [Laughter] I had been there a few months, and I should have known better. I had no clue how bad it was going to be. We went in to the September 1978 board meeting--well, first of all, there was a budget committee, not a fin...
	It was a budget committee that I did not choose. It was a committee that I inherited. That ain't all bad, except that when I have a committee I'm chairing I would like to have at least one or two people on there that I have enough relationshi...
	But I didn't. And the budget committee met just a couple weeks or so before, about two weeks before the board met to adopt the budget. At the budget committee meeting I realized that the system that we had was that we had no system. At that p...

	Lage:
	So they gave you what they felt they needed to run the departments and--

	Shaffer:
	Well, unfortunately it was much worse than that. Because the department heads had learned that it was the inclination of the politicians, the directors, to pump up the income streams. To say, "Oh well, we'll bring in more than this, so what w...
	They did the same thing in expenses. They would overstate expenses on the assumption the board is going to cut them, so we'll put a little extra in there so after the board cuts it we'll still have enough to do the job. So what you had was a ...

	Lage:
	Does the board usually adopt the budget in September?

	Shaffer:
	Yes.

	Lage:
	Would you meet in August?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, yes.

	Lage:
	Now what kind of staff involvement was there at these budget committee meetings?

	Shaffer:
	The staff. The way that worked was the accounting department put all this paper together and gave it to you complete with the fact that it didn't balance. And then you would have a sort of dog and pony show. And you would have Jon Beckmann [b...
	So there were always some people--Fran, Fran Gendlin [head of public affairs], was one of the people that was very good at that. Fran always had a few thousand bucks somewhere hidden away that when things really got tough she would come in an...
	A Legendary Budget Meeting of the Board, September 1978


	Shaffer:
	So this mess, then, went on to the board, and we met over at the headlands.

	Lage:
	Marin Headlands.

	Shaffer:
	And for that meeting there was a large contingent of California activists who appeared at this meeting because they knew the club's finances were in trouble and they were there to protect those things which were near and dear to them.

	Lage:
	Are we talking about a specific meeting now?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. That was the first board meeting--when the board adopted the budget.

	Lage:
	In '78.

	Shaffer:
	In '78, which was my first term as being treasurer. And I am presenting this budget which has come out of a budget committee meeting in terrible straits, with numbers which are more or less accurate. Probably less.

	Lage:
	Did you get it in balance?

	Shaffer:
	The budget committee did not. I went to that meeting with a solution in my pocket. I never, as treasurer, went to a meeting with any budget that I didn't have a solution in my pocket. It was not necessarily a solution I thought anybody would ...
	Several things happened. One was, there was this large contingent of folks from California who were there to not only protect, but to argue vehemently for what they believed in, and they took a great amount of time doing that.
	Ted was president. Ted is my friend to this day and I love him. Ted ran a meeting as a parliamentarian. I mean everything had to be in the form of a motion, properly made and seconded, then debated, and then moved on. Well, you try to adopt a...

	Lage:
	One after another.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. Right. It was horrible. And it became clear to me, after two days of this that there was not a majority in the room for anything. No matter what you proposed, it would go down in flames because it would mean reducing spending, or whateve...

	Lage:
	Out of frustration.

	Shaffer:
	Wrote a note on a piece of paper and gave it to Mike McCloskey, and said, "I resign my position. I cannot run my job in this way. They're tearing my department apart. They're doing it without understanding what they're doing. I resign." It was horrible.

	Lage:
	Was it a particularly bad crisis year?

	Shaffer:
	[slowly] It was a tough year. It was a year that we were going to have to reduce somewhat what we were doing. There had been no preparation for it. There had been no building up to this. There had been no ground laid--and we had had some year...
	I, to this day, don't know exactly how we got out of there, except I remember Dick Fiddler, who was new on the board--Dick, and Marty, and Nick Robinson were the three new directors which were elected with me in May. There was a carryover, an...

	Lage:
	Anderson?

	Shaffer:
	Judy Anderson. And others that have been active over many years, but they were all there. And there were all standing around. And they were all hollering at me, and I said, "Stop! Sit down!" And I sat down on the floor. Right there. And they ...
	And Liz Meyer, incidentally, went on--I put her on the finance committee, the budget committee the next year. Which, again, was my style. You find somebody that doesn't like it like it is, you invite them in and say, "Okay, let's change it." ...

	Lage:
	This was dealing with the California activists?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, this was the California activists. I don't know if it was a major issue. It may have been. It may have been the question of whether they were going to have one or two field offices. I mean, I don't remember at this point what it was. But...

	Lage:
	That's a good place to change the tape.
	##


	Lage:
	What role did the staff play in this meeting, aside from resigning? Did they lobby for their programs?

	Shaffer:
	Well, it was a political game, so the department heads were forced into a political game whether they wished to be in it or not. They were forced to defend their numbers. They tried to put something on the table that would help. Mike was carr...
	Making the Staff Responsible for a Balanced Budget


	Shaffer:
	After the meeting it was clear to me what needed to be done and we just proceeded to do it. I changed the make-up somewhat of the committee. I think the committee met an extra time. I charged, we charged, whoever charged--it was my idea--neve...
	Now, the system I set up was that this would be a balanced budget, and it would be a balanced budget with alternatives. That you would have a program in there in such a way that it could be identified by description: that this program will do...

	Lage:
	That was the kind of thing they would--?

	Shaffer:
	Oh Lord, yes! I mean, they got down into the most minute level of detail you could get down into. Literally. Phone bills, travel and so on.

	Lage:
	Right at the board meeting?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. Down to the nickels and dimes. I mean, yes. Yes, and no big picture. All just inside the workings of the machinery, sort of like little mites in a television set trying to rewire it with never having seen a television set in the whole...

	Lage:
	Do you think this came out of the--I mean it must have come out of the history of the club somehow.

	Shaffer:
	Well, of course. And it was a system that once worked. You could run a mama-papa business that way, you know. But the club had grown. I mean this was just the beginning of my discoveries of where we were. It was not much later than that--it m...

	Lage:
	As treasurer.

	Shaffer:
	As treasurer. And he said, "Denny, we have a problem. We have six thousand dollars in the bank, and we've got to meet the payroll in three days. We're not going to have enough money to meet the payroll."
	And I said, "Allen, how do we track our cash flow?"
	And the answer basically was, "We really don't." Now, nobody apparently had given this much thought: the fact that we ran business on accrual accounting. And the sort of feeling was, "Well, if we're running a little surplus, that means you're...
	From that point on--for the next year and a half--I kept the cash flow records of the Sierra Club on a spreadsheet myself on a weekly basis. So I knew how much money we had from a cash flow point of view. By which time I was able to get the s...

	Lage:
	But should it be the board that pays attention to it or the staff?

	Shaffer:
	No, but the staff should keep the board informed. The board should know what questions to ask. The board should know that you can have assets and not be able to pay your bills, as we've all known personally. I mean you can own a big house and...

	Lage:
	But what about someone like Allen Smith? Being a controller, wouldn't he have thought of this? Or who else was responsible for financial management? Len Levitt comes to mind.

	Shaffer:
	Len Levitt came in later. Len came in later. Len came in a little bit later, and Len's--

	Lage:
	So Mike was trying to do it all himself.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. [Pause] I don't know the answer to your question directly. Why didn't Allen Smith have somebody paying attention to this? My guess is there really weren't many people there. There were Allen Smith and Tom Combs, who later married Peggy H...
	Len Levitt was part of my concept of you've got to get somebody in here that understands management. Len had been an executive with Safeway, and had decided to retire from that and to do something that he thought would be better and serve hum...

	Lage:
	Out of the frying pan, I would say [laughter].

	Shaffer:
	Fortunately he had the co-op to acclimate him. But Len brought a sort of remote kind of approach to the club that was extremely helpful at that time to bring things along in an orderly way. Roger Craver--I remember one extremely controversial...
	He said, "Well, every organization should have at least one person that doesn't sweat." [Laughter] And he didn't. Everybody was just exercised, and screaming at each other. Len just sort of sat there and listened to it all through, and if you...
	Putting the Executive Director in Charge of his Staff


	Shaffer:
	Len was the first major employee of the Sierra Club that was hired by the executive director.

	Lage:
	Rather than the board of directors.

	Shaffer:
	[Rather than] by the board of directors. Allen Smith was hired by the board of directors. Jon Beckmann was hired by the board of directors. All these people up to that time had been hired by the board of directors. Ted Snyder had advocated, a...
	But it goes back to that management systems thing. You just cannot hold somebody responsible for doing something and then tell them that you have to do it my way and with my people, because they have the built-in excuse. They come back to you...

	Lage:
	Did Mike ask for that, or was this something the two of you, you and Ted--

	Shaffer:
	No, I don't remember Mike asking for it. That would have not been Mike's style. Mike didn't come forth and say, "You need to give me this, or you need to give me that." Mike is, and always was, the good soldier. You tell Mike what you want hi...
	Richard Cellarius once said to me that's the most significant contribution that I made to the Sierra Club. I think he's wrong. But I think that it's important--

	Lage:
	Putting the executive director in charge of his staff.

	Shaffer:
	In charge. Yes! Now, we just mentioned two things: the executive director now responsible for putting together a budget, that he says is a responsible budget that would work to keep this organization moving in the next year in a good way; and...

	Lage:
	That really is quite a change.

	Shaffer:
	It changed the whole concept of what kind of organization--is this a professional organization or isn't it? And then we moved into other things which I supported like having wage and salary studies done. Are we paying the people the right amo...

	Lage:
	You mean in the departments as well?

	Shaffer:
	All the way up and down the line.

	Lage:
	Even as you mention this effort to put the executive director in control, I also think of the tradition of board members going to department heads, you know, and not going through the executive director.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, absolutely. And in this same process you had a books committee which was sort of the advocate for the books program, and you had an outings committee that was advocate for the outings program, and so on. And so you had political constitue...
	Bringing Clair Tappaan Lodge under Club Control


	Shaffer:
	Incidentally, here's a case in point. Strangeness. I got involved about this time-it was when Joe Fontaine was president--I discovered that Clair Tappaan Lodge--we discovered, the club discovered--Clair Tappaan Lodge had a serious problem wit...
	The problem was to solve the sewage thing. I got into this thing and I discovered, my gracious, we don't own the land this lodge is sitting on! We own land up around here. But we don't own the land under the lodge!

	Lage:
	Was it Forest Service?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. It was on a permitted lease kind of thing from the Forest Service. We owned land across the street.

	Lage:
	You owned the lakes.

	Shaffer:
	The Sierra Club Foundation owned Flora and Azalea Lakes. Which we had absolutely no use for. We bought them so something bad wouldn't happen to them. So what did I find myself in? I found myself bringing Clair Tappaan Lodge into the Sierra Cl...
	So, we went from solving the sewer problem to bringing Clair Tappaan Lodge into the club, which was very difficult as these people--

	Lage:
	Controversial as I recall.

	Shaffer:
	Very controversial. These people saw it as a power play, to take this over, and throw them out. Well, it wasn't. It was just a matter of, it belonged to the Sierra Club, and the Sierra Club was liable and responsible. And there had to be a sy...
	Then we got into the whole Flora and Azalea Lakes thing, and the land thing, and the end of that all is we sold Flora and Azalea Lakes to the Forest Service. Big piece of money. The lakes belonged to the Sierra Club Foundation, so the money w...
	And then we went on to the whole thing, okay now, let's acquire the land that's under Clair Tappaan Lodge. And people like Steve Stevick and Phil Hocker and others worked on that for years after I worked on that, and that's of course now all been done.

	Lage:
	So the club was able to purchase that land?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. Well, traded land. Traded other land we had that we had no earthly use for, for the land under the lodge. So now we own a lodge that's on our land, which is much better than owning a lodge that is on somebody else's land.
	Disagreement over Proceeds from Sale of Flora and Azalea Lakes


	Shaffer:
	Back to the receipts from the Flora and Azalea Lakes thing. This became a big controversy. The club wanted the money. Wanted to spend the money. The foundation said, "No. We ain't going to give it to you. We give it to you, and you'll blow it...

	Lage:
	So this is part of the power struggle.

	Shaffer:
	A part of the power struggle. I went from one body to the other body. Back and forth, and back and forth. We cut a deal that was simple as it could be. [slowly] You give us that money to fund a program which is fundable by soft money. This wi...

	Lage:
	Is that what the foundation wanted, to build the endowment?

	Shaffer:
	They hadn't thought about it. They just didn't want to give us the money because they didn't want us to blow it. The directors, in fact, probably were thinking about ways to spend it. What I was thinking about, first, was how do we get the mo...
	So more money now lies in that endowment fund in the Sierra Club. It was a matter of negotiation back and forth. And it was a significant amount of money. That's the kind of thing that I just kept falling into.
	Finding More Money: Negotiating with Random House, Buying a Washington Office, Selling Life Memberships


	Shaffer:
	Another story. Treasurer. 1982. Books been published by Scribner forever. Scribner, for whatever reason, is becoming less of a rising star, or less of a star in the publishing business. Jon Beckmann particularly said we need to shop around, t...
	Jon finalizes the whole thing, brings it back, and everybody knows the board has got to approve this thing. He brings it back. We're sitting in Mike's office, Jon, Mike and I, and they're telling me how this is, and I'm telling them how good ...
	And they both looked at me like I'd lost my mind. "What do you mean what else do we want? We got what we wanted."
	I said, "Yes, but we can get something else."
	They said, "How do you know."
	I said, "Because I know. Random House has already told their salesmen they're going to have Sierra Club calendars out there in a couple of years, and this is a done deal in their mind. They're going to be willing to throw something else on th...
	"Well, how could we do it?"
	"That's easy. You tell them that you've got a treasurer who is a nut, and you've come to the treasurer and the treasurer has said, 'Jon, you haven't done well enough. We've got to get this, or I can't recommend it to the board.' And you say t...

	Lage:
	[Laughingly] How did this strike Jon Beckmann?

	Shaffer:
	Jon Beckmann shook his head. Jon is one of the finest human beings that has ever served the Sierra Club. One of the finest editors, one of the finest publishers. Has done some of the best things to get the club's message before the public, an...
	We sat there. They looked at me like I was crazy. They agreed that we do this. “ But what do we want?”
	I said, “I don't know.”
	So we sat there and we agreed that what we would ask for was a couple of percentage points more, which was a poor choice, but was the best we could think of.
	Made the appointment, we went to New York to meet with these people.

	Lage:
	You went along?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. I went along. Good guy, bad guy. I'm the bad guy. I've got to be there. They've got to hear from me what a bad guy I am. And we go along, and I explain to them how proud I am of Jon for what he's done, but the truth of the matter is t...
	They said, "No, we can't give you any more percentage because in fact we have five other organizations we do the same thing with. They all get the same percentage. If we gave you more, they'd all be mad at us." Immediately I recognized this i...
	Out of nowhere, and I had, of course, done my homework, I said to them, "I happen to know you all are in pretty good shape as far as cash flow is concerned. Let me tell you, we aren't. How would you feel about giving us an advance on our firs...
	"Well, we could probably do that." [emphatically] We walked out of there with $500,000 [pause] as an advance on our contract, to get the contract. Now, $500,000 at whatever it was, 13, 15 percent, whatever it is, was at that time for the Sier...
	Well, it's that kind of stuff I found myself doing constantly as treasurer of the Sierra Club. Now, where is it written that that's what the treasurer does? The answer is, it is not written, and it's not normally--

	Lage:
	And every treasurer doesn't do it.

	Shaffer:
	No, no, no, no. And not every staff would let the treasurer do it. Mike McCloskey recognized that I could do things that were honorable, that worked, that make sense, and he was pleased for me to do it. Other executive directors wouldn't be t...

	Lage:
	Well, that's a good illustration of--

	Shaffer:
	Well, it was the sort of thing we did--I did a lot of.
	[Added during interviewee review: Then there's the Washington office story. As Treasurer during Larry Downing’s term as president, we worked together to move forward something we both felt very strongly about. The lease on the office the club...
	I went to work on the project, talking to my friend Roger Craver who had just completed a major office move of his own. He gave me the name of a consultant developer named Jon Abbet. I went to his office in McLean, Virginia, and arranged for ...
	I did three things when I was treasurer--a lot of. One is, I tried to find more money because I found out pretty quickly, it's a lot more fun to balance a budget by finding more income than it is by cutting programs. And that there was more m...

	Lage:
	Are you also thinking of fund-raising when you say find more money?

	Shaffer:
	Well--

	Lage:
	Flora and Azalea Lakes?

	Shaffer:
	Flora and Azalea Lakes. But we didn't spend that. But we spent the interest off the surplus it created and we have done it every year since. That money that is in that endowment pays interest every year that goes to program funding in the Sie...
	The money from the advance on the contract was a one year help. I worked on the concept. I remember going in to see Len, we were putting together a budget, and I said, "I'm down to the last two ideas, Len, of where we can find money."
	He said, "What's that?"
	I said, "Well, we have got to find a way to get money from people who are not members. I mean, we raise money from members, but we have never raised money from somebody who has not made a commitment to join, or had an interest then in joining...
	We put in place the life membership thing that year. It took us a lot longer to figure out how to go around to asking people for money whether they were a member of the Sierra Club or not. Clearly, we do that. But, I digress.
	Vice-President for Planning: Scenario Planning


	Shaffer:
	One [of the three things I did as treasurer] was to find money to balance the budget. One was to bring some order to the procedures of how you distributed the money. I mean, what really is more important? What's your priorities? I worked with...

	Lage:
	Well, how successful was that effort? You headed the planning committee obviously.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. One of the things about it, it was a wonderful growing experience for me. I met world-class planners. We put together a meeting of a guy who used to be the planner for Royal Dutch Petroleum, the guy who was the planner for Nissan USA, th...

	Lage:
	PG&E?

	Shaffer:
	PG&E. Two other people of that caliber, and the Sierra Club. How can we plan our future? And they went into scenario planning with us. We developed scenario planning. We put it in front of the board. The board figured out the scenario that wa...

	Lage:
	Did you put alternative visions, when you say scenario planning?

	Shaffer:
	Yes.

	Lage:
	Do you remember when this happened? Was Mike executive director?

	Shaffer:
	No, Mike [McCloskey] was not. I think Michael Fischer was executive director.

	Lage:
	So that was after ’87.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. But Mike was always involved in anything like that, because Mike has the vision. I mean look around for somebody with some vision and you can't get past Mike.

	Lage:
	Mike's good at scenarios, I think.

	Shaffer:
	Oh. I mean, yes. Mike can take the most complex issue and sit down with a piece of paper and make a matrix that breaks it down into logical pieces so that you can digest it, and so you can make a decision.
	But, we did those things. We didn't profit by them because people--we predicted, for example, in that, that people's lives would become more stressed out financially, that there would be more conflicts for volunteer time, that you would have ...

	Lage:
	And what was the--?

	Shaffer:
	Well, some of it was accepted. People shook their heads and said, "Yes," and some things happened, and some things didn't happen.

	Lage:
	Would the logical conclusion to this scenario be we need more staff?

	Shaffer:
	The logical scenario to that was--Had we proceeded with that, we would have then backed off and said, "That being the case, what kind of organization is the Sierra Club going to be in ten years?" And that is the point at which the thing fell ...

	Lage:
	Yes. It's built into the organization.
	Priority-Setting and Tying Priorities to Funding


	Shaffer:
	But in this planning process, we were able to tie priorities (and that's before the scenario planning), we were able to tie priorities to funding. We did a study, it may have been when Sue was president, of what was important to people--maybe...

	Lage:
	I remember Doug Scott being involved in priority setting.

	Shaffer:
	And out of that came three things. And we sent out questionnaires, and we held workshops, and we talked to people, and--
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	Shaffer:
	And it came out they wanted three things. They wanted funding for state programs, state lobbying programs. They wanted a handbook. Something that reflected who the devil we were, and where we came from, and so on, which, of course, was what D...

	Lage:
	I know. I thought that was just David Brower. But this came from the grassroots too?

	Shaffer:
	It came out, I think, third on the list. But it came out, and there was enthusiasm for it. And David was the advocate. I would have to admit that.
	The third thing the membership wanted was an office of volunteer development. Which would be somebody at the offices of the Sierra Club that was thinking not about what can we get volunteers to do, but what can we do to help volunteers. Who c...
	Historically the answer was you would call the offices of the Sierra Club, and you would get moved around from telephone to telephone, and if you got lucky, you got a good answer. If you didn't get lucky, you didn't get any answer. You didn't...
	I was treasurer. I remember going to the executive director, whoever he was at the time, and saying, "Okay, this is the year we're going to do this one. And this is the year we're going to do this one."
	And the executive director saying, "I'm not sure we're going to have the money."
	And me saying, "If this treasurer is going to support the budget, this is going to be in the budget."
	Treasurer: the Most Powerful Position in the Club


	Lage:
	But did this come from you as an individual because you thought it was important, or were you supporting a process?

	Shaffer:
	No. You asked a question in some of things you sent me about my view of the power of some of the offices. Boy, I'll tell you there is no question in my mind, the most powerful position in the Sierra Club is the treasurer's position, if the tr...
	There are two reasons. One is you're tied to the money, and the money is what makes things happen. But secondly the treasurer is paying attention to what's under the hood. And most folks aren't. Most folks, they want to be in the driver's sea...

	Lage:
	Because you have that lever of power.

	Shaffer:
	Well, the president is distracted by having to--it's sort of like being mayor. You've got to go kiss babies, and shake hands, and cut ribbons. Well, the president of the Sierra Club has got to make speeches, and talk to the media, and answer ...
	Listening to Grass-Roots Leadership and Getting Things Done


	Shaffer:
	No. State level lobbying was not something I decided we wanted to do. The handbook was David Brower's idea. It sure wasn't my idea. The office of volunteer development probably came closer to being something I had enthusiasm for because I hav...

	Lage:
	So we had it for a number of years?

	Shaffer:
	We had it for a number of years, and then when Carl Pope [current executive director]--

	Lage:
	Was there good feedback on it?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. Oh yes.

	Lage:
	It was helpful.

	Shaffer:
	It was very helpful. But, in Carl's administration that has disappeared. I hate to speak about somebody else's priorities, but having worked with Carl as long as I have, this is not the sort of thing that appeals to Carl as much as some other...
	But anyhow. They were not mine. They were ideas which I saw as good ideas. Yes, I was responsible for getting them put out there on a list of things. No, I wasn't surprised when the people said, "Yes, this is important." No, I wasn't surprise...

	Lage:
	And you got them into the budget, to come to the board.

	Shaffer:
	I got them into the budget. But it was easy to get--Had I walked into the board one day and said, "I'm going to put this in the budget next year." They would have said, "You're nuts Shaffer. Who asked you?" And they should have. But it was a ...
	One of the things I think is terribly important to do is to ask a lot of people's opinion about everything, because one of the things I learned a long time ago is I'm wrong a lot. That's how you find out, and it's better to find out before yo...
	But then they came back. They said, "This is what's important to us." I took it to the board. I said, "This is the membership. This is your grassroots leadership speaking. This is what they say is important to them. We are going to construct ...
	But I didn't ask them exactly like that. We had a process that permitted them to evaluate, and weigh them, and talk about them, and chew on it a while, and so on and so forth. And one went in. And when push came to shove, yeah, I remember goi...
	That's a style. You've got to be willing to believe in something and say, "Okay, if you want me to spend this year of my life making this thing work, you've got to at least give me credit for having an idea once in a while, and this idea is a...
	David Brower, who is my dear friend, and who I love dearly--David and Anne, of course, are having serious health problems--David would come to me and say, "Denny, this is a good idea, whether it was a handbook or whatever, and we need to do t...
	And I would say, "David, you're David Brower, what are you coming to me for?"
	He'd say, "Because you know how to get these things done." And it's the most flattering thing that anybody could say to me. It's certainly flattering when a David Brower says it you because, here's a man who has changed the world, but who rec...
	Getting Inspiration from David Brower and the Complexity of Brower's Personality


	Lage:
	Did you do that a lot with David Brower?

	Shaffer:
	I did that a lot with every director. Yes.

	Lage:
	Because when he came back on the board, he had--

	Shaffer:
	I was president. I was president when he came on the first time. Oh, I think one of the real thrills of my life was to serve with David.

	Lage:
	What did he bring to the board, do you think, when he came back?

	Shaffer:
	[Laughter, followed by a long pause] David keeps reminding you why you're doing this. One of the dangers of being the kind of person I am is that you can be interested in solving problems and forget why the devil you're solving them. I do lov...
	But David won't let you forget. David has focus on--he raises my spirits. He helps me feel the grandeur of the potential. He helps you see beyond where you're going to see by yourself. He helps you know that there is something bigger than you...

	Lage:
	It seems almost a religious thing as you speak of it.

	Shaffer:
	Oh! Well, of course it is. Well, religion, philosophy, and leadership, all those things-- they're all cut out of the same cloth I suppose. At some point you go from the mortal to the immortal. People joke about David not being sure which cate...
	I had an experience with David in a board retreat in Vermont, two years ago I guess it was now. When I arrived, Adam was there to meet me and said, "Come with me, right now." And I drove up with my family, and I hadn't a clue what he was talk...
	We went to the house where David and Anne were staying, and David was very sick. He had been up all night. He clearly had fluid in his lungs. You could hear him breathe. He had decided the thing for him to do was to go home. He was going to g...

	Lage:
	Including Anne?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, and including Adam. Adam was waiting for me to get there on the assumption that somehow I would be able to convince him of this. So, I talked to David and David talked to me, and he was going to do this. David does not say, "This is what...
	And I said, "David, why are you doing this?"
	"Well, this is my doctor."
	I said, "So you trust this man?"
	He said, "Of course I trust this man."
	I said, "Good. What's his name and phone number?" He gave it to me and I said, "I'm going to call him."
	He said, "You can't. It's the middle of the night there."
	I said, "Watch me." I called him. I got an answering service. And I talked to the doctor who was on duty, explained to him what was going on. I said, "I need the doctor's phone number and this is why." He gave it to me. I called the doctor, w...
	And we took him there. I spent the day with David. They put him in a wheelchair and I wheeled him from station to station because Anne could not physically do it. And he was amazed that I would do this. "Why would you do this? Why don't you g...
	"David, you're my friend. What would I be doing at a meeting? That's crazy." And so we did. We spent the day this way. And at the end of the day the doctors allowed as how that had he flown home, the odds were he wouldn't have made it.

	Lage:
	He had fluid in his lungs?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, bad! And they gave medication to start draining the fluid down, told him to take this, and so on and so forth. And in two days of rest and taking the medication he was significantly better and was ready to go home. And in the meantime he ...
	But it is a characteristic of David, who is this man who has influenced so greatly a movement and the people in it, including myself. The first talk I ever gave as a Sierra Club person, I quoted David Brower. I've still got the talk. And yet,...
	[Long pause] David understands why people, when he comes into a large auditorium, cheer him, but he doesn't understand why they would love him. And that's the best way I can describe the complexity of David Brower. I wish--I wish he understoo...

	Lage:
	I think you're capturing him very well from what I know.

	Shaffer:
	Because, boy he is. Cantankerous. Pain in the butt. But lovable. It's been good to have an opportunity to know him.
	Emotions, and an Emotional Time of Life


	Lage:
	Let's pause there for a minute. [tape interruption] We're talking about how emotional this is, [that you have had some tears] discussing not only David Brower but other things in the club, and since I don't really know Denny Shaffer really we...

	Shaffer:
	Oh, it's an emotional time for me in my life. I'm reaching a point in my life where I'm thinking about retirement. I'm thinking what I want to do with what time I have left. I'm going to be sixty-seven in just a short period of time. I have a...
	I believe that which is important in life comes out of feelings, not thoughts. That we think through things, and we rationalize them, and we evaluate them, and we weigh them, but in our best moments we do what our heart and soul says is the t...
	I remember I was involved--one of the things I have good feelings about--I was involved with the ExComs that gave Brock Evans, John McComb, Mike McCloskey, the Muir award. The only three over a number of years. The only employees that ever go...

	Lage:
	Because it was sort of an unwritten rule that they [as staff members] wouldn't get it.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, yes, yes. And then when we got to Mike it was this, "Well, but he's still here."
	And I said, "So what do you want him to do, die? Or quit, and then you give it to him? I mean, this is nuts. The man deserves it. He ought to get it." An argument that held up. I remember I gave Brock--I did the presentation for Brock's Muir ...
	I started doing this thing, and I looked down front, and Cynthia Wayburn was in the front row, and she had tears running down her face, and I said to myself, "Denny, you got it right." [Laughter] And there were a lot of teary eyes before I wa...
	I am of German stock. It does not come naturally. I don't remember being hugged as a child. All of this emotional stuff was something I had to grow into. Fortunately in the sixties when all the strange things were happening I learned that fee...

	Lage:
	[Laughing] Oh dear.

	Shaffer:
	That's a slight exaggeration.
	Mike McCloskey: Vision and Service


	Lage:
	Yes. I'm not quite sure where to take us from here. You were treasurer under a number of presidents and executive directors.

	Shaffer:
	A number of presidents and a number of executive directors.

	Lage:
	I guess you're not really under the executive director, but along side.

	Shaffer:
	Well, people have different view points of that, particularly different executive directors. But I always made the assumption that I did not serve under the executive director, that I served under the president and board of directors.

	Lage:
	Yes, I think that's the way the organization works. But it would be appropriate to talk some about how you worked with club executive directors?

	Shaffer:
	Sure.

	Lage:
	Mike [McCloskey] was executive director until eighty-five. Let's pin down the years you served as treasurer.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. Well, I was treasurer under Ted [Snyder] for two years [1978-1980], Joe [Fontaine] two years [1980-1982], that's four years. Larry [Downing] two years [1986-1988], that's six years. And then part of a year under Richard Cellarius [1988-1...

	Lage:
	Tell us how you functioned with these different executive directors. It will give us a chance to have you sort of evaluate their styles, and tell something about what happened.

	Shaffer:
	Let me talk about the executive directors beyond the context of treasurer. Let's talk about the whole concept of how they worked, and how it worked. Mike McCloskey is one of the best human beings I've ever met. He has no peer in quality. I ha...
	And then he went on to say in closing, "I'll be interested to read your responses. I've learned a lot from you through the years, and I look forward to learning more." No other executive director of the Sierra Club has ever come close to sayi...
	Mike still does it. Mike has no need to prove himself because his being proves him. What he is makes a statement, not what he does. Though what he does is outstanding.
	Working with Mike was always positive. Never any game playing or anger, or never any threat of something being done behind my back. Never playing one party against another party. Always open, and always thinking, always organized. Mike kept o...

	Lage:
	Now, I've heard the criticism that he wasn't a great administrator. As you say that, it sounds like a good administrator. So how do you--

	Shaffer:
	Mike's strength is his vision and his lack of needing to prove himself. He has a strong enough ego that he didn't have to prove it. Brilliance. Absolutely a brilliant man. True believer. A man who understands the honor of service. I come out ...
	But Mike was not trained as an administrator. He did not come from a background that made management system a natural part of your life. I'll give you an example. I'm treasurer. Times are tough. Board and everybody has agreed what we're going...
	I said, "Mike, this is not a problem. What you do is you put a letter out to your staff saying 'I'm going to be gone for a week. You know what's going on in staff travel, if you feel like you have to travel, go and write down the story about ...
	Well, Mike thought about it, he said, "I believe that will work."
	I said, "Of course it will work. They'll be harder on themselves than you would be if you were here." And they were.
	Now that's a simple management system. But it was not something that readily came to Mike. It readily came to me. But Mike readily saw that it would work. The budget was just a terribly difficult task for Mike because Mike felt a personal res...
	Creating the Position of Chairman for Mike


	Lage:
	When Mike left and became chairman, was it because things like dealing with the budget that had just gotten to be too much or what?

	Shaffer:
	Mike had worn himself out. Mike actually lost his temper in the middle of a meeting one time and threw a pile of paper down on the table and walked out. It was a small meeting of six or eight people, but I was there.

	Lage:
	Was it a finance committee meeting?

	Shaffer:
	No, it was a subgroup of people. But it said to me what we all had been noticing, that Mike was burned out. He was worn out. He was being forced to deal with stuff he really hated to do, and it was time for him to do something else. But that ...
	And Mike, in typical Mike style, said, "Well, all right, we'll do that that way." Now, I'm sure in his stomach, it must have been like getting hit hard because he had been executive director a long time. I don't know what his thoughts were.
	The job of chairman was developed at my kitchen table in Fayetteville. Mike came down there at a later time after a number of discussions and we tried to figure out what was Mike going to do, and it led nowhere. He came down, and we sat down ...
	He said, "All right."
	I said, "Mike, tell me what it is that you really don't like doing, the sort of things that you might just have a second cup of tea before getting to."
	##


	Shaffer:
	So he started listing a few things, and in typical Mike style sort of apologetically, saying that he realized these were important things and he was certainly willing to do them, and so on and forth, but that they weren't the things which he ...
	"Oh well!" And so we made this list up.
	And I said, "Mike, we've got a job description. What we do is we throw away the first list, give these tasks to someone else, and we make a job of the second list, and that's it." And that became "chairman of the Sierra Club." It had to be ti...

	Lage:
	He doesn't have line authority. Is that correct?

	Shaffer:
	That's right. He has no--now, that's what would--now, when we tried to work something out like that for Brock Evans, Brock could not do it. I tried to do the exact same thing with Brock at a different time when Brock's--

	Lage:
	Previously?

	Shaffer:
	Previously. And Brock looked at it and said, "But I don't have people working for me. And that's the test of whether this is an important job or not."
	I said, "Well, it could be viewed that way. But the truth of the matter is what we want you to do is something that does not need to have twenty-seven people underneath you. This uses your skills." And Brock could not bring himself to do that...
	Mike, on the other hand, being just such a terribly different personality style, was looking more at the substance of what he would be doing, and less of what people would see when they looked at what he was doing.
	One more observation--It was noted later when Doug Wheeler was executive director that he had an open door policy. The door to his office was always open, and Mike had often had his door closed, and that this was a wonderful thing because peo...
	Douglas Wheeler as Executive Director, 1985-1987


	Shaffer:
	Doug Wheeler, I was not on the board when Doug was hired [1985-1987]. Michele was president. It was the year I was off the board. I was not part of that process.

	Lage:
	Did you have any role in shaping the recruiting?

	Shaffer:
	I had taken it up to the doorway. Because I had been involved with getting Mike's changes made, and so on and so forth. I had been involved in the search. When Michele became president, she decided that other people would do that better than ...

	Lage:
	Well, they used a search--

	Shaffer:
	They had a search firm. Yes, they had a head hunter. Anyhow, so then Doug was hired. My experience--I have two observations, other than the one I made I guess about Doug.

	Lage:
	But you did come back as treasurer while Doug Wheeler was executive director?

	Shaffer:
	Yes [1986-1988]. I was involved in his executive director’s evaluation by the ExCom. And Larry was having serious health problems. Larry [Downing, president 1986-1988] had back surgery shortly after that, during his presidency. I remember in ...

	Lage:
	It wasn't just his being a Republican, but his temperament and all?

	Shaffer:
	No, no. His temperament. You know, he was not a revolutionary. He was not--he was certainly in favor of change, but he wanted it to be comfortable--and he certainly didn't want to do things that irritated people like the Sierra Club is known ...
	And his response was basically that he expected that he would move a little bit in the direction of the Sierra Club, and the Sierra Club would move a little bit towards the direction of his thinking. He underestimated the spirit of the Sierra...
	Doug was in our home in Fayetteville a couple of times for Sierra Club meetings when committees met there. Doug was willing to sign on a ballot statement when he saw something that was going to be run as an initiative on a Sierra Club ballot ...

	Lage:
	Do you remember what that was?

	Shaffer:
	It had to do with the effects of war on the environment as I recall. It was around that issue somewhere, which was the big hot issue of that period of time. So I admired that in him. I liked him personally.
	Handling the Staff Mutiny against Wheeler


	Shaffer:
	I, unfortunately, was involved with the fiasco of his leaving. I got a phone call from John McComb saying, "Denny, what are you doing?"
	I said, "I'm trying to make a living."
	He said, "You need to go to San Francisco."
	I said, "Why?"
	He said, "Things are in big trouble out there?"
	"What is that?"
	He said, "Well, the staff is really in revolt with Doug, and somebody needs to get out there."
	I said, "Well, I'm the treasurer and vice president for political affairs."
	He said, "Yes, but you need to get out here."
	Larry was in the hospital as I recall. Bob Howard was the vice president. Bob Howard came out. I came out. We talked to Doug Wheeler. We talked to members of the staff, and it was clear that this was an incredible situation where the departme...

	Lage:
	Now, how would you describe the basic conflict? Was it this a cultural thing, philosophical?

	Shaffer:
	It is hard to put into a simple concept. It was just that they had decided they had enough of him as executive director, and there's going to be no more of him. It astounded me because, as a guy who comes out of an administrative management b...

	Lage:
	So that didn't fit with your concept of how things should be run.

	Shaffer:
	No, this didn't suit me a dang bit. By the same token, it was clear to me we had serious problems. Bob Howard and I had a conversation in which we agreed that we were in the middle of a mine field, and that we were in great potential to be se...
	Almost within hours, the staff, which was meeting in a hotel somewhere downtown, got hold of Bob Howard, got him to that meeting. Didn't invite me. Gave him a letter which eleven had signed saying that they would resign if Doug Wheeler was no...

	Lage:
	So Bob did this without bringing it to you.

	Shaffer:
	I hadn't a clue. I had no idea what was happening. And I went through the roof. I said, "Bob, how could you do this?"
	He said, "Well, this is what they said needed to be done, and I believe they're correct. This is my best judgement, and so I've done this."
	I said, "Well, indeed you have. Now you and I are going back into Doug Wheeler's office and tell him he is not unemployed because his employees wish him to be unemployed."
	And he said, "Well, I don't know what we should do."
	I said, "That's not the debate at the moment. This is the decision that's made. We're going to go do this because we just cannot do this this way. I mean, among other things, I'm not sure it's legal. I mean, this is just--we can't do this."
	Michele was there for this conversation.

	Lage:
	Michele was an officer?

	Shaffer:
	She was a director at that point.
	We went back in the office and had a conversation with Doug Wheeler in which basically I said to him that I don't know exactly what Bob said but, "I'm here to tell you from this officer's point of view that you are the executive director of t...
	This went down hill fast. There was a lot of bad feeling. Phil Berry and Michele both felt that people had done the wrong thing, me in particular, and that we had in effect run Doug off.

	Lage:
	But if Michele was involved, didn't she see that you--

	Shaffer:
	Well, you'd have to ask Michele. I've asked Michele. I've heard these stories, what bad things I've done, and I said, "Michele, don't you remember the conversation in which I got the news that Bob had talked to Doug?"
	But Doug and I had another conversation later that was--. Then we tried to put together a budget under Doug, and Doug could not put the budget together. So we came together with the finance committee, as I recall, to put the budget together, ...
	[Added during interviewee review: But Doug had been hired when Michele was president. This became very personal to her, very quickly. But I sure was not behind any movement to get rid of Doug, and was in fact very angry with the department he...

	Lage:
	Was it because he couldn't cooperate with the staff?

	Shaffer:
	Couldn't get staff--Nobody would do what he wanted done. It was mutiny. It was, pure and simply, it was just awful. So what we did was, we came back the next week and had a budget put together with the staff, without Doug. Because, being the ...
	Some people viewed that as being detrimental to Doug. But I viewed it as, "Man, I gave you the chance, and you couldn't do it, and we can't stop the organization. We've got to have a budget."
	Doug Scott--I don't remember who the other two people were [JoAnn Hurley and John McComb], but they took on the responsibility of getting a budget put together, and did a commendable job in the week. They did it with more enjoyment than I wis...
	But it developed so much into a winners-losers, us-and-them, bad stuff. And I do remember talking to Doug [Wheeler] at the end of that weekend, and trying to convey to him that I thought this was a situation which he needed to react to. He ke...
	I never did that. What I tried to do with Doug is to say, "Doug, this is a bad situation. I don't know exactly how it came by. I don't have any admiration for what these people are doing here. I don't know how to fix this. If I were you, I wo...

	Lage:
	Would one response have been to get rid of all that senior staff that was in rebellion?

	Shaffer:
	That would have been one possibility.

	Lage:
	Was that ever considered seriously?

	Shaffer:
	It was never considered seriously. I think there was a willingness on the part of some directors to perhaps lop off a head or two. But I think in the main the board looked at this and said, "This is just a mess," and I think, it turned out th...
	Larry, who was president, recognizing the seriousness of this, talked to every director individually. And discussed the pros and cons, and listened to their pros and cons, and wanted their opinion, and so on and so forth. When he got to the p...
	The man who was the eighth vote was David Brower. And Larry said to David, "It's interesting that you feel that he needs to go, since you have been in this position and know what this feels like." And he said, "Would you share with me your thinking?"
	And he said, "Doug has a fatal flaw."
	Larry said to him, "Well, what is that?"
	He said, "He does not listen to the people around him, and I should know because I have the same flaw."
	I don't know what the final vote was. I don't remember. I don't know whether that was the eighth vote that was that significant, or if it was the eighth out of nine or ten, or whatever. It doesn't matter. But it was time for him to move on. [...
	But again, we called on Mike, and Mike was the good soldier. Actually Mike and Maxine stayed in (our) this apartment here in San Francisco for a while during that period of time because they didn't move back, because it was temporary. I said ...
	"Oh, I wouldn't do that."
	"Well, it's there, you know."
	And they did.
	Reservations about Michael Fischer, Executive Director 1987-1992


	Shaffer:
	Then we hired Michael [Fischer]. Michael came in.
	I don't know how much one is supposed to acknowledge in these things.

	Lage:
	I think if you don't acknowledge, there's no point in doing this interview.

	Shaffer:
	There were two people who opposed hiring Michael Fischer. I was one of them. Larry Downing was the other. I was the first one to voice that opinion after about nine people, or ten people had said this is the thing to do. It would have been ea...

	Lage:
	Was this based on an interviewing situation, or what you knew about him?

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. He'd been interviewed twice actually. He'd been interviewed for the job when Doug Wheeler had been hired, and, of course, I was not part of that process. Then he was interviewed when he was hired, and I was part of that process.

	Lage:
	Would it have been in front of the whole board, or a committee?

	Shaffer:
	[Pause] I think it was both. I think the initial interview was by a small group, and then there was a final interview by the whole board.
	As I recall it. I wouldn't swear to that, but that's the way I remember it. Michael came in to a difficult time, as did Doug. I mean, my goodness, following Mike McCloskey as executive director, anybody would have had a difficult time. Follow...

	Lage:
	What was your initial objection? I interrupted you when you were saying you--

	Shaffer:
	I have always felt that the Sierra Club underestimates its potential. The Sierra Club is the most powerful, most ethical, most--it has the greatest potential of any environmental organization in the world. It's high on the list of cause organ...

	Lage:
	Did you want a manager or an inspirational leader?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, I have always opted for a person who had the ability to lead, and who had people skills. I think the higher up the food chain of management you get, the more people skills are just what you've got to do because that's what you do. So, I f...
	I wasn't looking, as some people suggested, for the second coming. It would be nice. But I felt that Michael had not ever been in a position comparable in any way in scale and size to all of that. I felt that he was very capable, but that the...

	Lage:
	But he was executive director of the California Coastal Commission.

	Shaffer:
	That's correct. But, to a North Carolinian that's less impressive than it may be to somebody from California. And it was a gut feeling, I suppose, because it goes back to what you talked to me about emotions a while ago. It's what I felt.
	Anyhow we hired him. I worked very closely with him. He has been my guest in Fayetteville. He has been our guest in Italy with his wife, who is absolutely charming, Jane.
	I had two problems personally with Michael. Michael was sort of a passive aggressive type fellow, and that drives me sort of crazy because I'm fairly directional. Tell me what the problem is and let's deal with it, and if we can't deal with i...
	And I would say, "No, what is that?"
	"Well, we've done this."
	And I would say, "Well, that's good Michael, but what about the fire in the library?"
	And he would say, "Oh. Well. But have you heard about this news coverage." And you never could get to deal with the fire in the library until it no longer mattered; the place had burned down.

	Lage:
	Was that consistent do you think, or the way he dealt particularly with you?

	Shaffer:
	Well, it was the way he dealt with--No, I think it was fairly consistent.
	I resigned as treasurer when Richard Cellarius was president and Michael was the executive director because of the style of the two of them. The three of us would talk, or Michael and I would talk, and we would have an agreement on something ...
	"Yes, that's right."
	"Do you feel okay about that?"
	"Yes, I feel okay about that."
	"Is it going to work this way?"
	"Yes, this will work this way."
	Then I would go home, and he would have a conversation with Richard, who was the president, and they would decide to do something else. I would find out about it later, third hand, and I would say, "Wait a minute. What happened to the convers...
	"Oh."
	It would sort of go back to the fire in the library. You would find yourself talking about three things, and I would say, "Wait a minute. You and I had an agreement that we were going to do A, B, and C. Now you're telling me that you and Rich...
	It got to the point where we were putting together a budget which was not responsible, in my judgement. It was not a budget which I felt was acceptable. There were things being done which I could not, in good conscience, permit my name to be--

	Lage:
	Like a budget out of balance?

	Shaffer:
	We weren't doing what we said we were going to do. And I can't abide that. I wouldn't abide that. I just said then, "You're going to take my name off this." I shocked the daylights out of everybody, because I said--we were in a closed meeting...
	Well, people thought I was being temperamental. But I wasn't being temperamental. I went into the meeting, and within five minutes of the meeting opening up I had resigned as treasurer.

	Lage:
	Did the reasons come out?

	Shaffer:
	I don't think so. There was no need to beat it to death. I mean, I wasn't trying to discredit anybody, or pick a fight. It's just that I wasn't going to permit my name to be on something that I could not have some responsibility for.

	Lage:
	Who would your main beef be with in that situation: the president, or the executive director?

	Shaffer:
	Oh I think the truth of the matter is, it was with the president.

	Lage:
	Because that's really your line of authority.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. I think Richard has served the club honorably and well over the years. Richard is-- without any reservation, I could say has no peer as secretary of the Sierra Club in my time. Keeping things orderly, keeping us informed of what's going ...

	Lage:
	Insurance.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, insurance not being available for certain kinds of outings which were then cancelled to protect the club financially. And this was not something that was happening because of anything that Richard did, but the storm fell upon him. He too...

	Lage:
	That happens a lot.

	Shaffer:
	It happens. We do that to each other, in the Sierra Club and in the rest of the world for that matter. Anyhow, it was a reflection probably more--or as much on Richard, but Michael knowingly went in to it, making it happen too. So I lost a go...
	Hiring and Working with Andrea Bonnette


	Lage:
	Let me just ask one more thing about Michael. When you were no longer treasurer, did you have anything to do with Michael's leaving or subsequent relationships at the Sierra Club?

	Shaffer:
	I worked a lot with Michael, particularly as far as Andrea [Bonnette] was concerned. Andrea came in to be the administrative person, and to shore up the staff. Michael's having strong sides and weak sides, or less strong sides, however you wa...
	It was a fascinating interview because she came from Chicago. Flew in. Her plane was late. Her baggage was lost. She had to come in the clothes that she traveled in. Did the best she could with it. Bought a scarf to put over her whatever to d...

	Lage:
	[Laughingly] Sweat pants.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, whatever. Sweat suit, or whatever.
	##[8B]


	Shaffer:
	Both Maurice Holloway and I--We went around the room. We interviewed a number of people: three or four. After each interview, each of us would say what we thought. I was first with Andrea, for whatever reason. I said, "I'd like to pass." We w...
	And I broke up. I just broke up. [Laughter] They all looked at me like I had lost it. I said, "Okay I'll fess up. That's why I didn't want to go first. Because I've never interviewed anybody that I didn't have any negatives. Everything I got ...
	So we hired her--

	Lage:
	Now, Michael was in on this.

	Shaffer:
	Michael was in on this, yes.

	Lage:
	Because we talked about having the executive director hire people.

	Shaffer:
	Oh yes. Well, let me back up and tell you how that worked. Mike McCloskey actually instigated this, instituted this, which was a very good idea. He did it first with Len Levitt as I recall. That was the beginning, and it's been followed ever ...

	Lage:
	Okay, that gets it clarified.

	Shaffer:
	That way the executive director has others' input into the decision. This is a very good idea for all kinds of reasons. One of which is that there's buy-in from a number of directions to the hire ahead of time, so if it doesn't turn out too w...
	So, going through this, Michael is down to two or three. We do these interviews. And it turns out that everybody agreed, including Michael, that this is the person to be hired. Turned out that Andrea was a very strong personality, to be kind ...

	Lage:
	You weren't treasurer?

	Shaffer:
	I don't know whether I was or not. I don't know what I was then. I must have been.

	Lage:
	Treasurer to '88, and then you said again under Robbie Cox. Well, anyway, we'll get the dates.

	Shaffer:
	I don't remember what I was. But at any rate, it was just awful. I remember going in her office--I caught her after the meeting. I said, "Andrea, I want to talk to you."
	She said, "All right, fine."
	So we went in her office and closed the door. I said, "Andrea, how do you think you and I looked out there, in this meeting?"
	She looked at me sort of strange and said, "Well, probably not very good."
	I said, "Well, that was sort of my feeling." And I said, "It doesn't seem to me that either one of us are profiting by doing what we did in there." I said, "Can you and I spend a little time between this meeting and the next meeting figuring ...
	She said, "Yes," and I went back to North Carolina. She and I never had any problems again in public, but she had a really bad characteristic of saying bad things about people to other people, including Michael. She would say that Michael did...

	Lage:
	You mean the golf?

	Shaffer:
	Well, yes. Golf or whatever. I enjoy a lot of different things that do not necessarily fit the stereotype. Whatever that is.
	So I tried to solve this puzzle between these two people. I was involved in all that, and did it very poorly, obviously. Then Andrea left the club right before Michael. That was sort of Michael's final act: to work with Andrea to her separati...
	Differences with Phil Berry


	Lage:
	How did you get along with Phil Berry during all of this? He was president during that period when Andrea left the club.

	Shaffer:
	Phil's vision of what a director does and what an officer does is different.

	Lage:
	From yours, or from other people's?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, certainly from mine. [Pause] More hands off. More interested in specific issues and things. Less interested in the nuts and bolts. It's interesting. Phil and I have been adversaries a number of occasions. When I ran for president, he was...
	When I was president of the Sierra Club, I was presiding over the annual dinner at-- downtown. I think it's called One Market now or something. It was a big area down there where the annual dinner was being held, and we had a bomb threat beca...
	So, I've got these hundreds of people gathered there, and I have got to make a decision, what do we do? Do we clear the hall or not? I remember going to two people. I went to Phil Berry and Mike McCloskey, and I said, "This is what's happenin...
	They said, "We think we need to get the two guests of honor..." which was Sala Burton [congresswoman and widow of Congressman, Phil Burton] who was there, and the speaker was a syndicated columnist whose name is out of my mind. And so we took...
	I thought, "Oh, that's interesting." And we did stay. But as an aside, I do remember that I did go back and at the head table there was this great floral display that had a base on it that looked like it could have held in it about twenty sti...
	The point of the story, if it has a point, is that I went to Phil Berry, because I respect his judgement. Analytical, thoughtful, good lawyer. Would not want to be on his opposing side in a courtroom. Even if I was right and he was wrong, I w...
	I have great respect for Phil. We disagreed a lot. We certainly have a different perspective of the Sierra Club. Phil's perspective of the Sierra Club--Phil has talked to me, "When are you coming back on the board?"
	I said, "I'm not going to do it."
	"Well, why not?"
	"Phil, you have no idea what it's like to spend this number of years doing this, and living in a small town in eastern North Carolina. You come to a meeting. You get here thirty minutes late. You leave thirty minutes early. You work a half a ...

	Lage:
	And you have the apartment which makes it pleasant. Think of the people who don't.

	Shaffer:
	Well, yes, but, what? The Sierra Club has not given this to me. [Laughter] I have less resources to retire on because I have this. And I'm not complaining. These are choices a person makes. I'm pleased I've made the choices. But they haven't a clue.
	[Added during interviewee review: For example, before Kim and I had this apartment I stayed in a hotel like all the out-of-town volunteers. The club paid the bill, or some part of it. After Kim and I got married, I went to the executive direc...
	Cultural Differences, Fayetteville and San Francisco


	Shaffer:
	And they also don't know what it's like out there in North Carolina where people don't have a clue what the Sierra Club is, or twenty years ago didn't know what the Sierra Club is.

	Lage:
	You don't have the same kind of support from your community?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, it's a different world. The Sierra Club--when we moved into our new offices--you have asked me at some point whether or not there was really a serious discussion to locate anywhere except in San Francisco. There really wasn't. But the arg...

	Lage:
	Does it affect their conservation goals? Is this what you're saying?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, I think it affects their vision of how the club functions. I think it affects their vision on how the country feels about the Sierra Club. I think it affects their vision of what the issues are. Political climate. All those things are rea...

	Lage:
	George Murphy.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, George Murphy, and a few other people who are not exactly on the raving left edge of the spectrum. But, there's just an interesting political dichotomy that's different. And it's not a--

	Lage:
	And the Bay Area particularly.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, and it's not a criticism. It's just that it's different. So I think when I say Phil's view of the club is different than mine, I don't mean that he's right and I'm wrong or vice versa. It's just I think we come at--he's been doing it so ...

	Lage:
	You're getting there. Thirty years.

	Shaffer:
	Well, I know. When I joined the Sierra Club, as I think we may have said, the nearest meeting was held in New York City, and I was in North Carolina. There was no history.
	[Added during interviewee review: There is one more major difference between Phil and I. I come out of a background of people’s movements. I see as most important the organizing, training, focusing of a mass of people. Phil does not have time...
	So anyhow. Can we finish the executive directors? Or do you want to quit?

	Lage:
	I wondered if we shouldn't stop. I think we're kind of run down, and we can go on to Carl next time. That will be a good place to start.

	Shaffer:
	That'll be fine.
	Carl Pope, an Insider as Executive Director
	[Interview 4: November 10, 1997] ##



	Lage:
	We thought we'd finish up today going through the executive directors, and we had come to Carl [Pope] last time, and then we we can go on to your presidency and your being treasurer under Robbie [Cox].

	Shaffer:
	Why don't we cover Carl in the context we've done all the rest of them, and then we'll do the presidency, and then we can, at whatever point we can do it, clean up what's left.
	Carl, of course, I knew a long time because he had worked with the club a long time, as had I. I had worked with him in the context of political campaigning, the whole SCCOPE [Sierra Club Committee on Political Education] program. I was vice ...
	I think Carl probably has a value system very similar to mine. I think he probably went through this stuff in the sixties that was the reaching out to cure the injustices of the world, and I think it boils in his soul. Therefore, since I thin...
	His performance as executive director has been interesting to watch because it was determined by people that we really needed to have an insider, somebody that really understood the Sierra Club. Having tried going outside and bringing somebod...

	Lage:
	Was that more broadly accepted than most of the votes have been for executive director?

	Shaffer:
	Well, I think, generally speaking, that the other executive directors which were hired--I was not there when Doug Wheeler was hired, but when Michael Fischer was hired, the board was unanimous behind him.

	Lage:
	[Michael Fischer indicated in his oral history that his hiring was not unanimous.]

	Shaffer:
	[Added during interviewee review: When the Board of Directors discussed the hiring of Michael Fischer I expressed concerns. Clearly he was a good man, however, I felt that we could do better. I always thought the club underestimated what it i...
	So there's not been, a history, in my experience, of a sharp division of this is the right man, or the wrong man.
	I think there was a general consensus that if we could find somebody that really understood the Sierra Club and how it worked and the culture of the organization and had the other skills we were looking for, that this would be very valuable. ...
	I have a little trouble separating Carl from what the club has become under Carl's term as executive director. I think we can talk about that a little bit later, when we talk about me coming back onto the board for three more years after I th...

	Lage:
	Maybe this discussion is out of order then.

	Shaffer:
	Maybe it is.

	Lage:
	It seems to me we should discuss Carl and recent club changes together.

	Shaffer:
	Well, let's do. Let's do that.
	Becoming President: Elections and Internal Politics


	Lage:
	We haven't discussed in any depth your presidency of the club, so let's turn to that now.

	Shaffer:
	Good.

	Lage:
	And I think the first question is why you wanted to be president.

	Shaffer:
	It has always been my nature to move forward where there is a forward to move to [chuckling]. And I certainly did not come on the board of directors thinking that at some time I was going to be president of the Sierra Club. That wasn't a goal...

	Lage:
	Incredible.

	Shaffer:
	Well, it was incredible. It was a fluke of circumstance. There were a lot of people on the ballot from California, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera. None of it had anything to do with Joe and his service; it just fell out that way.
	So to have the circumstance to be president, you have to be on the board of directors, and you have to have eight directors that will vote for you. Assuming you will vote for yourself, you have to find seven more. Those decisions are often ma...
	I guess I felt like I was in the right place at the right time, that I had some skills that might work. I had a group of people who thought it was a good idea for me to do it, as well as a group who thought it was a bad idea. Probably each of...

	Lage:
	[chuckling] You're not one to back down, after all.

	Shaffer:
	Well, it's a challenge. If somebody looks at me and says, "Denny, I don't want you to be president of the Sierra Club; you'd be a lousy president," I just would like to show them that's not correct. And the only way I can do that is to be a g...

	Lage:
	Do you want to talk specifically about how these divisions occur on the board? Are they personal or are they philosophical?

	Shaffer:
	They come in a lot of layers. It's a little bit like [chuckling] drinking a glass of good wine, and there's just layer after layer after layer that unfolds in your mouth as you taste the wine. It's this layered thing. It's a matter of styles....
	But then there are those who wanted to be leaders, make decisions, promote their issues and ideas, and they always sort of were looking down on process people as spending all their time talking about things, not actually making a difference. ...

	Lage:
	Did the process people tend to come out of the council?

	Shaffer:
	I think to a large degree. I think some of the differences are geographical. The old-school California leadership--I spoke about this earlier--they don't really see the Sierra Club quite the same, I think, as people who have come from another...
	And then, of course, there was all kinds of perceived political sorts of things and political ambitions. People want to do different things personally. If you are in line to be president and people are encouraging you, or somebody else who wa...
	And it plays out in so many different ways. We talked about Brant Calkin and Bill Futrell, how--I mean, the leadership of the club that I spoke with assumed Brant would continue being president, and he wasn't. I don't know exactly what happen...

	Lage:
	That doesn't happen too often.

	Shaffer:
	No. That was a real unusual event in my time with the club.

	Lage:
	There have been a lot of one-year presidencies recently, but most of them are finishing their term as board member.

	Shaffer:
	Mostly by circumstances of their not being available to run the second year.
	Defining the President's Tasks: Working with Chapters, the Media, the Club Staff


	Lage:
	You followed Joe Fontaine as president, who has a very good-guy image.

	Shaffer:
	Joe's presidency was a great help in laying the groundwork for my presidency. Joe's philosophy of the club and Joe's approach to it and mine were so similar. I served as treasurer both years Joe was president. I was on his ExCom. We worked ve...
	He was the one that spoke of the one Sierra Club and brought people together and tried to get people beyond this them-and-us, this national and chapter stuff. And he did a really good job. He was a healer. Joe, like Kent Gill, is not a threat...

	Lage:
	Did you follow his precedent of going out to the chapters?

	Shaffer:
	I did. I came behind Joe and did it, again, with the same enthusiasm and devotion of time and energy, but with a slightly different message. Joe's message basically was that we're all together; if we work together, we'll do better; it's a hea...

	Lage:
	At the chapter level.

	Shaffer:
	At the chapter level and at regional levels and wherever I went to meet with volunteers. I would attend council meetings. If there was a meeting going on of volunteers and I wasn't tied up doing something else, I went and did it. Jon Beckmann...
	It was the same thing if you got out to a chapter meeting. Chapter chairs, chapter conservation chairs, people who didn't hold any office in the chapter but were important players--You'd sit around and talk with them, and you'd learn a lot. A...

	Lage:
	How much time did you spend?

	Shaffer:
	I didn't ration out my time as president of the Sierra Club in a rational way. But I looked at my calendars after I finished the two years and I realized, by adding them up, that I averaged working for a living four days a month for those two...

	Shaffer:
	The traveling for the chapters I did a lot of. I did, of course, a lot of the political work, a lot of media stuff. I felt the media was terribly important, and it was a time the media was interested in hearing what the president of the Sierr...

	Lage:
	You had the petition campaign against Watt under Fontaine.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, yes, yes. And that great meeting at the capitol, with Tip O'Neill coming like the godfather down from the top of the steps to pick up the petition from Joe Fontaine. We were standing in front of more microphones than Joe had ever seen in...

	Lage:
	Oh, you did!

	Shaffer:
	I did.

	Lage:
	Was it some significant--

	Shaffer:
	Well, I felt that it was sort of a stereotype, that, while I sort of liked my beard, that I thought it was too easy a target and that I'm perfectly happy without one, obviously, because I've never grown it again. But I thought about the publi...
	So I have the picture standing there with Joe and these hundreds of other people, of course. So anyway, Watt is gone, and we're on the front page. John McComb was very helpful in setting up media appointments around the country for me. I reme...
	I went to the New York Daily News, and I was the first major environmentalist to ever do that at the time, they told me. They were the largest newspaper in the country at that time, but everybody sort of put it off as a tabloid. It was quite ...

	Lage:
	Did they write--

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes. Well, what happens when you do these things, you get to know the people. I mean, quotes I gave the Wall Street Journal reporter kept showing up six months later. Then he didn't say Denny Shaffer, president of the Sierra Club, said th...
	I got to know the reporter for the Washington Post, a lovely lady who did the environmental stuff for the Washington Post. I never went to Washington that I didn't call her before I came and asked her if she was free for lunch or dinner. We h...
	But I worked with the media like I worked with chapter chairs or whatever. I tried to get to know them as people. I tried to be accessible to them; I was accessible to them.

	Lage:
	Were you managed? I have the sense now that everything is kind of managed by a media specialist at the club and the president is sent off on these different--

	Shaffer:
	I used--Oh, that's a terrible word, "used." I found the staff to be a great resource in helping me sort out the various opportunities. One of the things I did early on in my presidency was to literally make a list of the things the president ...
	And then the second thing I did was I took from the second part of the list those things that others could do as well as I could, or better; and I picked some things off it that I thought would be fun [chuckling] because I felt like if I'm go...
	John McComb was eager to have a president of the Sierra Club who could go talk to people. I went to the Christian Science Monitor, met with their editorial board, and they were satisfied enough from that that they asked me to write an op-ed f...
	Now, I didn't do it in isolation. I can assure you Mike had input. Mike read it over before it went out. I made a lot of changes; others looked at it. But a lot of it was stuff you did yourself.
	Asserting the President's Role as Leader of a Democratic Club


	Lage:
	Was it easy to work with Mike on these things?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes.

	Lage:
	Was there any question of who was going to sign the public letter or who was going to make a trip?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, no. Early on, Mike and I worked those things out. In talking with Mike at the beginning of my term as president, I talked with him very candidly about my view of things, and he was very candid in his view of things. As a for example, I sa...
	It was not a problem for the Sierra Club because Mike really did have his hand on everything. But I remember saying to Mike, "Mike, the truth of the matter is that the club might be well served, and the environmental movement might be well se...

	Lage:
	To this group. Not acceptable to this group.

	Shaffer:
	No. They would not have had it. Bill--The Wilderness Society--

	Lage:
	Turnage.

	Shaffer:
	Bill Turnage. I mean, there were people of strong personalities, Bill Turnage certainly fitting that role. And, incidentally, that happened. At a point where Mike could not go, he talked with them and I went, and I don't think they were parti...

	Lage:
	Did you have some thoughts about the Group of Ten itself? Was it a useful meeting? Were they in accord with the Sierra Club's points of view?

	Shaffer:
	It was very clear that Mike McCloskey was the leader of the group. There were a number of things that came up during that meeting which they simply put aside because Mike wasn't there. And it was clear that they didn't feel comfortable moving...
	There is a silly story--I don't mind telling you.
	##


	Shaffer:
	It was always my style to check out a meeting room long before the meeting started because I wanted to know my environment before I got in. I went in and I saw [two large chairs at each end of this table], and I smiled, and I said, "I wonder ...
	So I--It was a meeting which I enjoyed going to. I think it served some purpose. I don't think I did any damage to the Group of Ten, nor to Mike.

	Lage:
	Who sat in the other chair?

	Shaffer:
	I don't even remember. I think it was by default. I think people just wandered in, and then finally that was the chair that people sat in.

	Lage:
	I see. You didn't pick it?

	Shaffer:
	No, I would not have taken it. I purposely got there early enough so I had a choice because it would have been exactly contrary to the message I was trying to deliver had I shown up in that chair. I wanted to be there as a humble servant.
	Communication between the President and Club Members and Directors


	Lage:
	One thing I noticed while looking at your papers in the Bancroft--I'm sure the file is not complete--but this was from your presidential years. You have a lot of correspondence with members.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes.

	Lage:
	Troubleshooting minor points that they were unhappy with. How did you see your role doing that?

	Shaffer:
	I discovered when I became president of the Sierra Club there was no system to handle mail or phone calls going to the president. I was sitting in the office the day after I was elected. The phone rang, and it was a man that wanted to sell fr...
	And then I looked at the mail. How was the mail handled? Well, the truth of the matter is it wasn't. Ted Snyder, when he was president of the Sierra Club, would sit down in the office late at night and type out the answers, himself. After Ted...
	So I had the mail sorted out in a number of ways. I had it run through a screen to see who these people were. Is this a chapter chair? Is this a major donor? Is this a state senator from Nebraska? I mean, who are these people? So that not onl...
	But I did this, and I did it in a number of ways. The best system that I put in place was I put into the office in San Francisco an answering machine with a very long tape on it. I would dictate letters into that answering machine from airpor...

	Lage:
	No e-mail.

	Shaffer:
	No e-mail, no fax, no a number of things. But, yes, I got an awful lot of letters out. But these were important things. These were important people.
	I also carried with me on the airplane handfuls of chapter newsletters and handfuls of postcards, and when I would see the newsletter editor is resigning after four years of being newsletter editor, I would write that person a card and thank ...

	Lage:
	It sounds like a wonderful idea.

	Shaffer:
	It didn't cost much, and it's probably better than sleeping or reading a boring book on an airplane. And I did travel. I traveled a lot, as you could tell by what I said earlier.
	Maybe we ought to separate how I related to the board. I did the same thing with directors. I carried with me at all times a folder that had in it all the phone numbers for all the directors, and I carried in that folder the emerging and cont...
	And I kept a chart of when did I last talk to Brock and what did we talk about, just in little symbols and so on and so forth. So there never was a month went by that I hadn't spoken to every director on the Sierra Club board once or twice an...

	Lage:
	Now, is that different from what you had observed?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes. I don't think anybody has ever done that before or since, not to the degree I did.

	Lage:
	So seeing an issue come up, you would start to line up--

	Shaffer:
	Keep in mind, now, that Mike McCloskey was executive director, too. He had this chart in his office that we talked about earlier of the emerging issues, so, you know, what was--I mean, certainly you got blind-sided sometimes, but you knew tha...
	And so I talked to the directors in that area, I talked to the volunteers in that area, and then, when it came up, all the pieces were on the table, and the chances of getting it right were greatly enhanced. And this was not an act. I was not...

	Lage:
	It wasn't arm-twisting on your part.

	Shaffer:
	It was not a sales pitch. Oh, no. I was not calling somebody and saying, "Would you vote for this scheme of mine?" It was calling him up and saying, "We're talking about having an international assembly. How do you feel about it? What do you ...
	Changes in the Outings Program and Clair Tappaan Lodge


	Lage:
	Should we look at some specific issues that may have come up during your presidency that you think were most important? You mentioned last time bringing the outings program under club control. Was that a controversial thing?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, sure.

	Lage:
	Why don't you talk about how that was handled? If you can recall it.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, sure. Well, it's not a long story.

	Shaffer:
	The outings program is part of the great, important history of the Sierra Club and a terribly important part of the organization. I mean, nobody has to explain this to me. I mean, I've been an outings leader and did that for years. When my fi...
	But [chuckling]--the outings program had basically been run by the committee. They hired the staff; they decided what the fees would be; they decided what the qualifications of the leaders would be; they decided about things like insurance an...

	Lage:
	This was really a volunteer-run program.

	Shaffer:
	Which at one time was probably a grand idea. But when things--Things began to change.

	Lage:
	Was there an incident?

	Shaffer:
	No, not that I recall. I think that prior to my presidency there had been some real attempts to bring this more in-house. Joe had tried to do that and had made some progress. But it wasn't going to happen until you had the committee on your s...

	Lage:
	And the committee leadership was longtime volunteers.

	Shaffer:
	Longtime volunteers. So Ted Snyder had been a longtime supporter of the outings program, a longtime outings leader, a man who was deeply respected by all concerned, and trusted, but who understood the problem, having been president of the Sie...
	So I talked to Ted about it, and said, "Ted, you know the problems better than I do, and you know solutions here better than I do, and these folks trust you, and I need to have somebody chair this committee that can move it in this direction....

	Lage:
	Did things come to the board?

	Shaffer:
	Well, only as--only after it was resolved, really. Things should never come to the board that are not really almost resolved when they get there. By that I don't mean that somewhere in a smoke-filled room somebody--two, three people decide ho...
	And there's no opposition to it. Everybody wins. It is a very poor idea to bring something in where you have one group says it should be this, another group says it should be that, and the board is asked in their wisdom to pick which one is r...

	Lage:
	Was it a very controversial move? I assume you diminished the power of the committee somewhat.

	Shaffer:
	Actually, we didn't. What we did is we changed the form of it. People perceived that if they were not able to actually write the checks themselves, they would no longer have any fiscal control, for example. Well, that's silly. I mean, what pr...
	This does not mean that the staff is less important. It just means that that's the legal flow of authority. And once they really understood that they weren't going to be diminished in being able to decide the important things and that indeed ...
	I mean, it was sort of like the Clair Tappaan Lodge thing. We had a problem with the septic thing. I mean, the newspaper up there wrote up the fact the Sierra Club is polluting a stream with its septic tank. Well, you'd sit down with a commit...
	Does it mean that you're going to need to have some assurance that the committee is going to behave differently on things like this? Absolutely. And does it mean you're going to have to have some sort of reporting system and some sort of acco...
	Does it mean that there's going to have to be fiscal controls so that the money is in the bank and audited like public money ought to be audited? Well, of course. Does that mean that they won't be in charge of putting together the budget? No, it doesn't.
	And once they understood those things, and we worked them through piece by piece, it was fine.

	Lage:
	Were there questions of--This is coming out of a vague past, but I have some recollection that people were fearful the club was going to take a bigger cut for overhead, or charge more for the outings.

	Shaffer:
	Well, I'm sure that's true, and I'm sure that it was a justifiable concern. The executive director and the comptroller and those who were responsible for getting the money in the bank are always looking for ways to do just exactly what you're...
	A director would question where did this come from, and it came from this process and these people and does the committee agree? Yes. Does the staff agree? Yes. All right, fine. What's the next item?
	Facilitating Interaction on the Board


	Lage:
	So what you're saying is that as president you tried to have things go smoothly at board meetings and be worked out before.

	Shaffer:
	To a level of detail that is probably quite compulsive. For example, I never would have permitted the seating around the board meeting tables to be random. I mean, there was never a board meeting that I chaired that I didn't personally arrang...

	Lage:
	Tell me your thinking on that.

	Shaffer:
	Well, I mean, this is so obvious but I don't know any other president that's done it.

	Lage:
	Did you have name plates?

	Shaffer:
	Sure. We always had name plates in front of us, and the normal way of doing it is whoever is doing what Gene Coan is doing now would set them out and put up the mikes and so on, and they'd sort of randomly put them out, and so on. Well, I mea...

	Lage:
	So each meeting would be designed differently.

	Shaffer:
	When I was elected president--and we haven't talked about this--there was a clear split on the board as to whether that was a good idea or a bad idea. Well, I want to assure you at the first meeting, the people that thought it was a good idea...
	So, yes. My theory, I believe, is correct. If there's opposition, if there's disagreement, if there's controversy, you go to it with an offer to talk that is sincere, that permits people to be heard, that puts you in there as someone who real...
	The more interaction you have with more people, the better your batting average is going to get because you're going to learn. Once people begin to understand that, it begins to be the beginning of the moving away from the controversy, that y...
	Getting Elected President: Opposition, Support, Healing


	Lage:
	You hinted a minute ago there's more to say about your being elected. Let's go back to that.

	Shaffer:
	Well, being president of the Sierra Club is just this unique thing. I was walking, as I said to you earlier, before we started this--I was walking yesterday with my seven-year-old daughter, Francesca, and my wife, and I was trying to explain ...

	Lage:
	Yes, it really is.

	Shaffer:
	It is an overwhelming thought. And the opportunity and the challenge and the risk involved with sitting in the seat that John Muir figuratively sat in is overwhelming. So the process to get you there, all of that is fraught with different kin...
	I felt that it was time for me to go ahead and be president of the Sierra Club. I thought I was ready to do it. I had spent five years on the board, or four and a half. I had spent four years as treasurer, two years under Ted and two years un...
	I had done things like being a city councilman, which helped me understand a little bit how these things work. The board of directors is as close to a city council, a council management form of government, as it probably is to anything else. ...
	And so I thought all that was a good idea. And I also thought that I had spent enough time by now that I sort of understood how the organization was wired, you know, mechanically put together. If you try to pull a rope, I knew which rope, if ...

	Lage:
	And people are honest in the way they respond to you.

	Shaffer:
	Well, [chuckling], direct is a different way of putting it. Some are quite direct. There were on the board probably five or six people who were strongly encouraging me to do it and thought it was just the thing to be done.

	Lage:
	Now, who were they? We're really going to get pros and cons here.

	Shaffer:
	Well, the people who supported me doing this all along were people like--And, you know, it's funny. I don't even remember exactly who was on the board when I was elected.

	Lage:
	I had meant to bring the list, and I didn't.

	Shaffer:
	But, I mean, Joe was always very supportive of me doing this and Marty Fluharty was very supportive. Peg Tileston was very supportive and Brock Evans. Larry Downing has always been a very supportive person in whatever I was doing, but he came...

	Lage:
	But you do remember Phil and Michele not being too happy?

	Shaffer:
	Well, they were the leaders of the opposition. Phil put together this strategy which was basically anybody but Shaffer. And so he encouraged a lot of people to believe that if they put their name in nomination, that lightning might strike, th...
	I thought I had a good strategy. I had eight people who had committed to me before I went over there. It turned out, however, that when we announced our intentions, that there were only--that one of the people who had made a commitment to vot...

	Lage:
	Should we name him?

	Shaffer:
	Well, I don't think we should do that. I think that probably would be bad form; these things are confidential, and the person made a mistake. They knew they made a mistake thirty minutes later, and I suspect still regret it. But they got caug...
	So on the first ballot, I had seven votes. I needed another vote, and this was troublesome, but my supporters gathered around and talked to a number of people, including the person who had decided to run instead of supporting me, and at any r...
	But there was, out of that, a real split on the board. Of course, the silly thing is you go right over and you start going to work. Michele became vice president. And I supported her being vice president. Peg Tileston became treasurer. Marty ...
	And, frankly, in my presidency very few important votes--almost all the votes that are of any significance are overwhelmingly one way or the other, and many of the no-votes were symbolic. You mentioned somewhere along the way that I voted no ...

	Lage:
	Yes, that's right. Things that looked important when you read in the minutes sometimes don't mean--

	Shaffer:
	Don't mean that at all. I laugh at the fellow who wrote the history of the Sierra Club from the minutes. Maybe I shouldn't say--How should I say this? It is a book that does not reflect the history of the Sierra Club.

	Lage:
	The Michael Cohen book?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. It reflects what was in the minutes. It is a mildly amusing [chuckling] reflection on the Sierra Club by somebody who wasn't there because it sure doesn't get close to representing what happened. Anyhow, that's an aside.

	Lage:
	You feel that that kind of traumatic election didn't carry over.

	Shaffer:
	No.

	Lage:
	Did Phil Berry pull back then? Was he a good loser?

	Shaffer:
	Phil was not happy about it. I asked Phil to continue on as vice president for legal affairs, which he agreed he would do. I asked him to come and talk to the ExCom about what it was that he did or saw that task being, and he took that as a c...

	Lage:
	Did you mean it as a challenge?

	Shaffer:
	No. I simply said to him, "Phil, I mean, we really don't know what the devil it is that you do. And I've served on the board of directors now for four years, four and a half years, and some of these less. And I think that it's fair that if yo...
	And we did. But there were bumps in the road, sure. There was still animosity over other things, but it worked out very quickly. And it worked out quickly, I think, because the style used was an important style. We listened to people; we talk...
	We had social events. I had dinners for the board, which I paid for out of my pocket. I made attempts to visit with people. Michele and Phil had me over to their home. We went out to dinner. It was a different time. The board, in the main at ...
	##


	Shaffer:
	It's easier to have healing when people know--Well, let me turn it backwards. I think a negative approach, but--It's harder to really be angry with somebody that you know. It's harder to be angry with somebody you're talking to than it is som...
	Internal Matters: Evaluation of Officers and Making People Accountable


	Shaffer:
	I put in place the evaluation of the officers of the Sierra Club. I said to the board, you know, "At the February meeting, we're going to set aside a period of time. I want to have evaluation of each of the officers of the Sierra Club, starti...

	Lage:
	How long into the office did you do it?

	Shaffer:
	Well, it was in February. I was elected in May, so--

	Lage:
	Nine months.

	Shaffer:
	Nine months. I wanted to do it before I was up for reelection, so there was a self-serving motive there, but there was also a desire to learn.

	Lage:
	Did you get good feedback?

	Shaffer:
	Absolutely. And fair. And they pointed out some things I had done very well, and I felt good about it. They pointed out some things they wish I had done that I hadn't gotten to, and they were right. They pointed out things which I had done th...
	I believe in accountability. I believe in evaluation. I believe in feedback. Whether it's the executive director or the president, it shouldn't make a darn bit of difference. But that's hard to do.

	Lage:
	You've hardly mentioned Ed Wayburn so far. Was he on the board during your presidency?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. Ed was on the board when I was elected. Ed is the ultimate politician. When I was appointed--I was appointed to the board to fill Brant's seat. The first real board meeting I went to would have been whatever was the first meeting in the ...
	As treasurer, I had worked with Ed on a couple of things. I was quite chagrined to see how the board treated Ed on financial matters before I was treasurer. Ed had for years gone out and found donors that would support something he was intere...
	But there was some suspicion that Ed had perhaps spent it two or three times and that in fact he had manipulated the system to these ends. And so when I was treasurer, there was really some rather harsh stuff going back and forth about Ed and...

	Lage:
	When you say harsh stuff--

	Shaffer:
	Well, that he's not being straight with the board, that he is in fact spending $50,000 which was a $25,000 gift, and he spent it here and there, and so on. Or that he said he would raise this money, this $50,000 and in fact $25,000 came in an...
	As treasurer, I went to Ed and said, "Ed, this won't do. You and I need to understand this and write it down, and I will stand by it and you will stand by it, and there will be no more of this silliness." And we did, and there was no more of ...

	Lage:
	And that worked?

	Shaffer:
	Of course it worked! I mean, it's the same thing as making people accountable. He knew darn well that if anything was done in the future that was not according to what had been agreed upon, everybody would know that it was contrary. It was ac...

	Lage:
	You were keeping closer track of where the money was going, obviously.

	Shaffer:
	No question about it. No question about it. Here it is; now we know this is what it's supposed to be; this is what you're going to raise; this is what you're going to spend it for. Is this what you want to do? Yes. Good. Here it is, we've wri...

	Lage:
	Now, was that done without animosity?

	Shaffer:
	Sure. Ed and I did it. Then, when the next controversy came up somewhere, I'd say, "Look, this is not a problem. The treasurer and Dr. Wayburn have worked this out, and the executive director has signed off on it; the president has signed off...
	But Ed basically--I have great respect for him. He wanted to be chair of the International Committee, as I remember, and we had a chair at the time. It was for Ed that I created the position which he held for so many years, vice president for...

	Lage:
	So that's a job that you structured.

	Shaffer:
	I created, yes. We had the chair of the International Committee, and the skills are different. To chair a committee that's working on the policy and all that and to be able to go out and do the wheeling and dealing and being a recognized powe...
	The World Wilderness Conference was held while I was president. I sent--And it was my choice. I sent Ed [Wayburn] and Jim Dockery from North Carolina, one of the real rising stars in the club at the time. Died prematurely, unfortunately. Bril...
	And I will add that it never occurred to send myself. They both did ten times better than I would have ever done. And I think that's a temptation presidents have, is that this would have been a fun thing to do. I would love to be able to look...

	Lage:
	That's interesting. Okay, that was a good little aside on Ed.
	Purchase of Headquarters Building on Polk Street


	Lage:
	Were there issues internally--we talked about the outings program--I know one thing going on with planning a move, the club move. Is that something we should discuss?

	Shaffer:
	That was not particularly controversial. That was--And Phil Hocker, to give him great credit, Phil Hocker put immense amounts of hours into the planning of the move and exploring of the alternatives and the development of a direction. It unfo...

	Lage:
	But it was an agreed-upon choice to move to Polk Street because one of the choices was Howard Street, where the headquarters is now near.

	Shaffer:
	There was one [chuckling]--There was one fellow on the board at the time that had reservations about Polk Street and expressed them, but the vote was unanimous without his vote, and so he withdrew his concerns. And that was me.

	Lage:
	Oh! And what were your concerns?

	Shaffer:
	My concern was that it was a very elaborate business proposition we were entering into and that the Sierra Club doesn't--

	Lage:
	Describe it just very briefly.

	Shaffer:
	The concept was that this warehouse, and it is owned by a man who wants to sell it. We want to buy it and do a rehab on it--We don't have any money. We want to buy it cheap, so we worked out a deal where it was sort of a bargain sale that he ...
	And they would get tax write-offs along the way and, when everything all worked out at the end, they would have developed a situation where the club owned the building and they would then be able either to get their money back or they could, ...

	Lage:
	Was this a common thing that was being done then? Or was it a brilliant idea that someone came up with?

	Shaffer:
	It was a common--Limited partnerships were the big thing that was happening then. Historic renovations, all that sort of thing. Shortly thereafter, the tax laws were changed and really reduced, really gutted the advantages for doing this--

	Lage:
	To the people who invested.

	Shaffer:
	Penalized greatly the limited partners. I had reservations about the ability of the club to, I mean, become a landlord. We had to rent out the other spaces; we had to do all these various things; and I had reservations about it.

	Lage:
	It seems to me Dave Brower also had reservations. He came on the board.

	Shaffer:
	He may have. It ultimately--The final decision was left to the ExCom. It was at an ExCom meeting that I expressed my concerns, and everybody else in the room sort of allowed as how that was not correct, that we could do all this, and I said, ...

	Lage:
	Better because you were president?

	Shaffer:
	Well, I thought--I just thought I should stay arm's length from the thing. If it turned out to be a great financial thing and I had my money in it, I was worried about how it would look. And I was worried that if my concerns about the club's ...
	Divisiveness over the Effects of War on the Environment


	Shaffer:
	The controversy at the time that was most troublesome--Each president has a controversy. We mentioned Richard Cellarius having the mountaineers upset with him. I had the folks who were interested in the subject of the effects of war on the en...

	Lage:
	And this started during Joe Fontaine's presidency. The controversy [on war and the environment] started before your term.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, yes, it did. It came right over to me. Oh, there were--I mean, there were--The personal attacks. You know, that I lived in Fayetteville, North Carolina, which was the home of Fort Bragg, and many of my customers were soldiers; therefore,...

	Lage:
	Now, where would these things come?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, out of committee meetings and out of editorials in newsletters and all kinds of mailings that went around and all that sort of thing. I tried handling it in the way I tried handling everything else. I tried to sit down and talk to these f...

	Lage:
	What was the basic issue? What was the difference?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, there was this passion that if we were all going to get blown away in a nuclear explosion, what else did any of this stuff mean that we're doing? And therefore that should be our issue, and that's where our resources should go, and why ar...

	Lage:
	Was the board divided?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. As I recall, there were a few, two or three people on the board that were supportive of this. In the main, it was viewed as a problem. The solution I came to, which worked very well, is I found the chair for the committee that was accept...

	Lage:
	So this was the committee on the environmental effects of war.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, the effects of war on the environment. That was Bob Girard, who was a brilliant attorney, professor, longtime activist, longtime trustee of the Sierra Club Foundation, friend.

	Lage:
	From here?

	Shaffer:
	From here, yes. You don't know Bob Girard? You've missed a colorful character. I don't want--

	Lage:
	Did he have ties with this group that was protesting so much?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, he did in that he believed many of their positions were correct positions, but he also had a view of the Sierra Club that was a little bigger than what was being presented here. And he also understood the realities of the whole thing, an...
	So people like Bob Girard on that issue, Ted Snyder on the outings, they took very much the lead in working these things through, and they were better equipped to do that than I was for several reasons. One is they were part of the group of p...
	But it also permitted the president of the Sierra Club to function as president of the Sierra Club. Presidents of the Sierra Club can get so distracted with those kinds of issues that they don't do the other stuff we've been talking about. Th...

	Lage:
	Did Bob Girard and his group move the club more into these types of issues?

	Shaffer:
	We made a commitment, and we did move into the issues. We did some lobbying. We put some club resources into it [the effects of war on the environment]. Significantly less than what the people on that issue wanted, significantly more than wha...
	Ballot Initiatives, and the Election of Directors


	Lage:
	I see. That's a real thorny one.

	Shaffer:
	Well, but everybody has one. I mean, we've just been through this zero cut logging thing. I mean, should we or should we not cut any trees off of any public land? Well, you know, I have trouble with nevers. I mean, I won't say I never say nev...

	Lage:
	And then some of those things that seemed so controversial, like nuclear power, the club eventually did come to oppose.

	Shaffer:
	Yes.

	Lage:
	It doesn't seem so far out now.

	Shaffer:
	No, no. I mean, we're going to have, I believe, a vegetarian initiative on the ballot this time, and there are people out there who are very passionate, who believe that there is no reason in the world why you would call yourself an environme...
	The organization's strength is its diversity of thought, diversity of action, willingness of people to get out there and put their selves in doing what it is that's important to do, and that means that you've got to let them be responsible fo...

	Lage:
	Do you like the idea of the ballot measures? Do you think that it contributes to democracy in the club?

	Shaffer:
	It's a little bit of a California sort of thing, the initiative kind of thing, and I think it has at least as much downside as it does upside, and I think California has certainly proven that. Some of the worst ideas that have ever developed ...
	I think the ballot initiative on no cut only was passed because the board sat it out, did not take a leadership role in it. I think if the board had decided that this is not what they wanted to do and had taken a leadership role and had a wel...
	More threatening to me, frankly, is the fact that people can so easily get elected to be a director. I think that's the real threat to the organization, rather than the initiatives.

	Lage:
	Is that something we'll talk about when we're getting into the more current issues, or do you want to elaborate on that now?

	Shaffer:
	Well, it's not--We might let me just say something about it now. If a person of a minority race--What am I trying to say? Un-Caucasian ran for the board, was a woman and was from Alaska and had anything to put in a ballot statement that was c...

	Lage:
	Based on their categories, more or less.

	Shaffer:
	Based on the nature of the electorate. There has not been a minority run for the board that has not been elected.

	Lage:
	But not too many have run for the board.

	Shaffer:
	Well. But I stand on what I've observed. Nobody from Alaska that I can remember has run and not been elected except Peg Tileston, and she ran holding a fish, which has been the standard joke with all of us, including Peg. But--

	Lage:
	You mean, her ballot picture--

	Shaffer:
	Her ballot picture had her holding a salmon about four feet long. No, two feet long. But-- and it was a standing joke that this did not help her.
	My point being, I think that an orchestrated effort to take over positions on the board can be successful. I think the last election has shown that, where a slate [supporting zero-cut logging] ran, raised money, did mailings. I'm not sure whe...

	Lage:
	What do you think the answer is?

	Shaffer:
	Get out of California, and incorporate someplace else.

	Lage:
	Now, why? Tell me.

	Shaffer:
	Because California law bends over so far to accommodate the dissenting voice. Therefore, under California law the members and the restrictions, the rights of the members, the restrictions on a non-profit corporation are significantly differen...

	Lage:
	And that's California law, not the club's own bylaws.

	Shaffer:
	That's California law. And I don't think we'll do it until it's too late. I think that's one of the serious threats. I did a risk analysis for the Sierra Club some years ago, most of which-- none of which was ever published because we decided...

	Lage:
	Do you fear [a takeover by] the wise-use movement? Or do you fear the more radical environmentalists?

	Shaffer:
	No, no. The more radical environmentalists are less well organized than we are. I fear that the corporate power--When we become troublesome enough to the international corporations, they can do us in on this one. They know enough people out t...

	Lage:
	Well, that's disturbing.

	Shaffer:
	That, again, is an aside, I suppose.
	The International Assembly at Snowmass, 1983


	Lage:
	Okay. Now, we've skipped back and forth, but that's okay. That's the way the club works.
	The Snowmass Assembly [1983]. That seems like a pretty significant thing.

	Shaffer:
	It was significant.

	Lage:
	And that happened during your presidency.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes.

	Lage:
	But the planning must have started way before.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, but I had been involved with it from the time the first egg got laid, before we started hatching it. The thing to be said about an international assembly, Snowmass, was that it was a success. It was a success. It was wonderful. It was a ...
	They had something--I think they called them learning trees--and at a given hour they would be sitting in a certain place and if you wanted to go, and a bunch of people wanted to go, and talk to Ed Wayburn for an hour, he's going to be there ...
	John Denver was there. I spent a good deal of time working with John Denver's agent, who--of course, John was nearby and shared a lot of issues that were important to us, and he really kind of relished the idea of coming and talking to us. Hi...
	##


	Shaffer:
	Gary Hart was there, with his entourage. He decided to come rather at the last minute, and when he decided to come, announced when he would be there and announced that he wanted to meet with the board of directors at that hour. Of course, we ...

	Lage:
	As if he were doing you a favor.

	Shaffer:
	He really fussed at me. And I pointed out to him, quite politely, that what was happening was exactly what I had informed his people was going to happen and that if he had any misunderstandings, he needed to talk to his people, not to me. And...
	But we had other good people there. Of course, [Alan] Cranston was there. It was an exciting time. It was a growing time. I was hoping, frankly, that it would be something that would come out that we would do more often. It was an investment ...

	Lage:
	It was a statement of the volunteer--

	Shaffer:
	And it was a statement that the volunteer was an important person. I believe, as much as I believe anything, that in any given moment, things are moving and that, you know, you personally are born, you start moving towards dying immediately. ...
	Political Endorsements, TV Appearances


	Shaffer:
	It was at the time that all the political stuff was going on. We talked about the media stuff. We didn't talk about the endorsements.

	Lage:
	No. That I'd like to--

	Shaffer:
	I did endorsements all over the country.

	Lage:
	Now, this was the first time that the club had endorsed national political candidates.

	Shaffer:
	I guess it was. I'm not sure. We'd have to check the record on that.

	Lage:
	I checked, and they had some trials in California, but this was the first--

	Shaffer:
	But I went all over the place. I went up and down--

	Lage:
	And this was, just for the record, the congressional election, '82.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, yes. I guess that's right. '82 would be it.

	Lage:
	After Reagan had his great victory.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, right, exactly. Wonderful stories. I spent eight days being passed from volunteer to volunteer, sleeping in volunteers' homes. I didn't know where I was going to sleep tomorrow night until I got there; that sort of thing. One of the peop...
	We met, and I had met this guy--I spent five minutes with this guy, I guess, fifteen minutes. We end up at a radio station, which there is a black jazz radio station in New Jersey, and we're in a talk show thing. So I talk about how the presi...
	Then we left and we got back down to the car, and this gentleman turned to me and looked me right in the eye, and he said, "Now, what you said in there, that's right. That's right. You just keep saying that all day long because that's right."...
	I ended up in Connecticut, I think, on that trip. And I met with volunteers. We did fundraisers. And it was all day long. I mean, it started early in the morning, and it went till ten o'clock at night, at which point you'd get into a voluntee...

	Lage:
	Now, in all these various places across the country that you went to, how much did the Sierra Club endorsement mean? Were there places--

	Shaffer:
	It meant a lot. It meant a lot. It was clear it meant a lot. It was clear it was important. And it was clear they were really glad to have me there. It was important to have the president of the Sierra Club there. It made a real statement. Th...
	One of the difficulties of being president of the Sierra Club is it's very easy to get confused with the importance of the office and the importance of yourself. That confusion is quickly removed when you go out of office. The phone stops rin...
	We did a teleconference that was paid for by some major donors that was sent over the country to different media markets, in which there were a number of experts who spoke about the role of the environment in the elections and tried to carry ...

	Lage:
	CNN.

	Shaffer:
	CNN news out of Washington, live, on this political and environmental issue. And on the way to the program, the taxi I'm in was broadsided and totalled, and it was one of the more strange interviews I ever had in my life. I got to CNN about f...
	And then the guy looked at me and said, "You know, you've got blood on your face?" And I said, "No-o, I didn't." He said, well, we've got to get makeup, someone to get in here and clean this blood off his face. And it turns out that I had bee...

	Lage:
	It must have been an exciting time.

	Shaffer:
	[Added during interviewee review: It was. And we were effective. We did 15 endorsements for the Senate and won 11, in the House 153 and won 121, and in gubernatorial campaigns we won 9 of 11. Of the races too close to call before the election...
	The second part of the Sierra article was called "The Untold Stories." A copy is attached [See appendix]. It is rather a good example of how I worked with volunteers. I wrote all of this article as I did most things that carried my name.]
	When Watt resigned, Reagan wanted to appoint his friend Clark, Judge William Clark. And William Clark was the national security advisor at that point. I'm sitting in the president's office on Bush Street, and the phone rings, and the secretar...

	Lage:
	Did you know he was in--

	Shaffer:
	There were rumors that his name was going in, that that was going to be Reagan's choice. And I said to him, "Well, this is a serious matter." I said, "This is a matter which, frankly, I would like to have the opportunity to discuss with you p...
	Well, now, of course, it's six o'clock Saturday morning here, so I get up at five o'clock and get myself prepared to make the phone call. Make the phone call, and somebody answers the phone saying, "McFarland." And I said, "Is Judge Clark the...
	Finally, the secretary comes, and allows as how they can't find Mr. Clark, that if I would leave a phone number, he could call me back. So I go into great detail, explaining what this is all about and that I'm just calling at this time becaus...
	And then there was another meeting set up for all the environmental organizations to go meet with Clark. Well, I stuck by my guns. I said, "You want our endorsement. I want a meeting with you. That's fine, but I want to meet with you." So we ...

	Lage:
	And Mike came along?

	Shaffer:
	Mike went along. Oh, yes, Mike went along. And we met with Clark down in the bowels of the old Executive Office Building, as I recall. I remember several things about it. No, it was the White House. It was the White House. I remember the pict...
	But we had this meeting, and basically we said to him, "You know, you've got to give us something substantive. The fact that you're meeting with us is very encouraging, and we appreciate this very much, but if you want us to say this is a goo...

	Lage:
	[Added during interviewee review: Can you specify what your suggestions were, and his reasons for not feeling comfortable with them?

	Shaffer:
	As I recall Alaska was on our agenda, another wild lands issue and a pollution issue. He just was not going to take any position that would cause him problems later.]
	Walking down the street, I remember Mike and I talking sort of--We were quiet for a while, and finally we talked. I remember saying to Mike, "Mike, you know, the thing that is most incredible about this is that this man really has no particul...
	Well, back to the story of the phone call to him originally, that I got this strange answer. It turned out that who I had been talking to was Mr. McFarland, who ended up being the incoming national security advisor and that this phone number ...

	Lage:
	Oh, you are kidding!

	Shaffer:
	So that's why everybody was so confused down there in that basement that particular morning. So you find yourself in all sorts of very strange situations. The president of the Sierra Club talking to the ingoing and outgoing national security ...

	Lage:
	Do you remember how the meeting with the Group of Ten went?

	Shaffer:
	I did not attend that one. No, I did attend that. I stand corrected. I did attend that meeting. It went very much the same way. He was very pleasant. He was very positive. He was very noncommittal. He held as his highest thing that should enc...

	Lage:
	Did the club support him?

	Shaffer:
	No.

	Lage:
	Did they actively oppose him? Do you remember?

	Shaffer:
	I don't--I think we ended up saying this was not a good idea. Yes, I think so. I'm not sure of that, but I think that's right.
	Involvement in Electoral Politics


	Lage:
	That's another interesting tale. Had you been involved in SCCOPE [Sierra Club Committee on Political Education] before?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes, yes. I had been involved with SCCOPE almost from the beginning and ended up being chair, you know, vice president of political affairs a couple of times, when I wasn't on the board. It has been an interest of mine all along. I felt w...

	Lage:
	So that was something you pushed for.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes. Oh, yes. And I believe that very strongly. I'm not sure we should be involved at the presidential level. I think that's a harder call.

	Lage:
	And we were in '84.

	Shaffer:
	Yes.

	Lage:
	With Walter Mondale.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, and that was--It was at that time we realized the difference. I understood it, I thought, beforehand. But it becomes very partisan. You can support a Democratic candidate for Senate over the Republican and have some appearances of it not...

	Lage:
	Now, the Sierra Club supported Mondale [in 1984] and not [Michael] Dukakis [in 1988]. Do you know the thinking?

	Shaffer:
	I don't remember all the details. I remember meeting with him. I remember meeting with Dukakis out at the Cliff House, as a matter of fact, on a foggy day.

	Lage:
	As part of this SCCOPE process?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, but I couldn't give you a clue as to what the date was. I met with a lot of these people. I remember meeting with Paul Simon, who was most impressive. Of all the people I talked with, I liked Paul Simon about as much as anybody.

	Lage:
	On the environment. You stick to the environment in these meetings?

	Shaffer:
	Well, yes, pretty much, pretty much. But it's hard. I think you make a mistake if you isolate things too much. I think you need to include more things.

	Lage:
	When you say it becomes very political when you endorse the presidential candidate, is that something you're uncomfortable with, seeing the club--

	Shaffer:
	It's divisive. It's more partisan.

	Lage:
	Within the club.

	Shaffer:
	It's divisive within the club itself. We lost members the first time we did it. We lose members each time we do it. I think we should be careful about when we do it. Having said that, I have supported it each time we've done it, so I may be s...

	Lage:
	Did the club not endorse Dukakis because they didn't think he was a good candidate? Or for these reasons that you're mentioning?

	Shaffer:
	I'm not sure I can give you the definitive answer to that. I don't remember. From the beginning, the message I carried to our SCCOPE program is that you've got to have enough wins to be creditable. If we go out there and endorse people who ar...
	I always encouraged us avoiding what I call kamikaze races, where the outcome was clear that it was going to be a horrible crash landing at the end and that, while we could stand high on our principles during the campaign, we would walk away ...
	At the beginning of SCCOPE, there was real enthusiasm for picking the good guys. You know, this man is a friend of mine, he's great, he's so--You know, and he's got $700 in the bank, and he's never run for political office before, but he's ri...

	Lage:
	So one of the factors would be--

	Shaffer:
	Can they get elected? Because if you're going to put your resources and time and energy into something that's bound to fail, that's not good use of it.

	Lage:
	Do you think the process works?

	Shaffer:
	I think so.

	Lage:
	Well, you're a process man. And all this takes place locally, or a good deal of it.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, yes. I think that's right. And yes, I think it works well. There have been occasions where it has been very difficult, and the national leadership then needs to become involved and has. You can have a congressional race where you want to...

	Lage:
	You mean the national officers.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, yes, yes, yes.
	North Carolinians in the Sierra Club


	Lage:
	How has it worked in North Carolina?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, I think it has worked perfectly in North Carolina. We've had no problems at all. We've had a lot of people really understand the thing there. I mean, Robbie Cox, Chuck McGrady, who has just finished being chapter chair there, who was chai...

	Lage:
	How does that happen? Is it tradition?

	Shaffer:
	I think it started a long time ago, with a lot of attention to the sorts of things that I think are important. The business of making service rewarding. The North Carolina Chapter has by far a better awards, honors and awards program than the...

	Lage:
	So it's strength within the chapter. I was thinking in terms of a tradition of people moving onto the board, and mentorships.

	Shaffer:
	Well, it is mentorship. I mean, you know, Chuck McGrady is going to be at my house in a couple of days, coming by. Wants to sit down and spend an evening talking to me and picking my brain about what he can do and so on. And I will share with...

	Lage:
	It's good to see chapters that carry on like that.
	Summing up the Shaffer Presidency


	Lage:
	Okay, now, do we have other things, kind of looking back at the presidential term, that we've missed or some overall assessment?

	Shaffer:
	[Added during interviewee review: There is one story I might tell you. Part of the fun side of being the club president.
	Ansel Adams gave the club a lot of large photographs over the years, and Mike had talked about the fact that none were signed. So we set up a little social in the library, at which Ansel had agreed to sign the photographs.
	After refreshments and visiting, Ansel sat at a small table, and I handed the pictures to him one at a time. He examined them, signed them, and passed them on to Mike.
	The fifth or sixth picture he looked at for an overly long time, shook his head and gave it back to me, saying, "I'd like to sign it. It's very good. But it's Eliot Porter's. "
	I still wonder if we ever got Eliot to sign that one.]
	There were other little things. I mean, the annual dinner, for example. I mentioned one annual dinner at which we had the bomb threat. I gave attention to that, but it amazes me that--It seems frequently it's discovered at the very last momen...
	The one time the club has met in recent history in the Garden Court of the Sheraton Palace Hotel was because I made the reservation when I was president. Now, that happened two or three years after I was president. But you don't get that room...
	It's funny when I look back on what I did as president, I think a lot more about the people and what I was able to do to make it more fun for them, more rewarding. And a whole lot less about which bills we got passed. Because to me the second...

	Lage:
	You had Brock Evans on the board while you were president.

	Shaffer:
	I sure did.

	Lage:
	Was he a good board member after being a staff member for so long?

	Shaffer:
	Yes. Well, everybody brings to the board something different. Brock brought this great wealth of history and background and passion. He was frustrated, I think, in some occasions with service as a director as I think he was frustrated with be...
	Did I tell the story of the Eastern Wilderness Bill? Have I told that story? That's when I really got to know Brock.
	[See narrative on Eastern Wilderness Bill, Chapter II]
	And I still have the letter Brock wrote to Ed Easton after that meeting--Ed Easton was then the chapter chair--saying, "This fellow you sent up here was quite unusual. Let me tell you what he did." But that was the beginning of a real long re...

	Lage:
	And he was on the staff of the National Audubon Society while he was a club director, so that was sort of a cross-over.

	Shaffer:
	Some people saw that as a conflict. I don't think it ever was. I mean, there were some times it was perceived that it would be. We don't have any secrets from--

	Lage:
	Each other.

	Shaffer:
	No. We really don't. I mean, that's silly. The people that serve--Really, there were no negatives. There's nobody that I've served with on the board of directors that has not been in some way very much a personal and organizational positive. ...

	Lage:
	So far.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, if we don't screw it up.

	Lage:
	Let's stop a minute here.
	Running for the Board in 1994, Elected as Treasurer: Troubling Changes in the Volunteer’s Role in the Club
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	Lage:
	We are back on tape now, having discussed where we're going from here. We've pretty well gotten a good view of your presidency and how you viewed the role of president. And we talked about the years after your presidency last time, in the con...

	Shaffer:
	Well, that's easy. No, I did not intend to come back, though I did not say never. I was much less positive on the subject than I am now, for example. But I came back because the club had run cumulative deficits of about $5 million over the th...
	I had encouraged others of my friends to run again, and they had, past presidents of the club. I guess I thought, when I decided to come back again, that it would be viewed with a lot of enthusiasm and the nominating committee would jump up a...

	Lage:
	This came out in an interview?

	Shaffer:
	In a nominating committee interview, as to whether I should serve on the board again. It was just awful. There was absolutely no positive comments made by the nominating committee to me.

	Lage:
	Who was it chaired by? You mentioned Will Siri was on it, when we were talking about the foundation.

	Shaffer:
	Will Siri was on it, come to think about it. I had forgotten about that.

	Lage:
	I was taking that from the last interview four years ago.

	Shaffer:
	Sally Reid was on it. I don't remember who all was on it. It really wasn't important. There was another lady who was from California. Not important. But anyhow, that was somewhat sobering. But the truth of the matter is I recognize, as a poli...
	Came back and ran for treasurer and was elected. There was a general accord that me being treasurer was okay. I don't think there was much of a contest. I don't remember much of a contest. It seemed to me people were quite agreeable because t...

	Lage:
	Were we in a mess because of poor management or because of the economy or what?

	Shaffer:
	We were in a mess [chuckling]--without being overly simplistic, we were in a mess because we had been spending more money than we had for some period of time, and we did not have the discipline to do anything about it. We kept wishful thinkin...

	Lage:
	This was on Carl's watch.

	Shaffer:
	Yes, this was on Carl's watch.

	Lage:
	I'm looking to see who was president. Tony Ruckel and Michele [Perrault].

	Shaffer:
	Tony, Michele, yes. At any rate, I watched all this and was somewhat frustrated by the whole thing, and then I came on and was elected treasurer. The first thing that I did in coming across was I came into the office and spoke with Robbie [Co...
	I was basically told that that wasn't something I should know, that this was inappropriate and so on and so forth, and that you couldn't--We had a union now, and you can't talk about this. We're going to have all [kinds of] trouble with the u...
	So we had that very unpleasant conversation, at which point I ended up saying, "Well, this is not going anywhere. I'm going back to Fayetteville tomorrow. I'd planned to stay here, but this isn't productive, so I'm going back tomorrow. But in...
	Keep in mind some people in the accounting department I had worked with ten, fifteen years, and I was told not to do it. "Don't go down there. There are people down there already upset enough." "Upset?" "Well, they're upset because you're tre...
	And they allowed as how this was verboten and I should not do this, and I finally said, "Well, this is nuts. I will not do this. But this is nuts." And I went back to Fayetteville, realizing the Sierra Club had changed in my absence.

	Lage:
	Who was treasurer in your absence?

	Shaffer:
	Who was treasurer?

	Lage:
	Ann Pogue was.

	Shaffer:
	Ann Pogue.

	Lage:
	I'm just thinking that the office must have changed considerably.

	Shaffer:
	Everything. My impression was my goodness, the whole, the whole--I mean, it was clear that I was being viewed as somebody that was incompetent, that was going to create problems rather than solve problems, that the way to deal with me is to t...
	Well, this is not anything that anybody had ever conveyed to me so clearly before. They may have thought it on occasion, but they had never conveyed it to me so clearly before. And it was a serious shock. I went home. I did a number of things.
	Jim Dodson had been treasurer [1993-1994]. I believe that's right. At any rate, I asked Jim Dodson to continue to serve as chair of the finance committee, if he would do that. Well, he gave it some thought and agreed that he would. Now, no tr...
	You mentioned Ann Pogue. Everybody assumed I would take Ann Pogue off the finance committee because she and I had disagreed when she was treasurer. And that's precisely the reason why I did not take her off the committee because it would have...
	I think I made one change in the committee, total. And then we started figuring out a game plan. I had a prayer meeting with Robbie, in which I said, "Robbie, I don't know what's going on, but this is nuts."
	President Robbie Cox and Executive Director Carl Pope


	Lage:
	Had Robbie worked out a new way of working with the staff?

	Shaffer:
	He had, but I don't know that he knew he had. Robbie--First of all, I had encouraged Robbie to run for the board of directors. Robbie and I knew each other in North Carolina, of course. We worked on the Hunt campaign together. He was chapter ...
	But his strength--he's a professor of rhetoric, and that's where his skills lie. He is excellent in grasping big political issues. He has a good history of the need for movements, and how they can be effective, and the value of them. And he i...
	I think one of the toughest things in a position like president of the Sierra Club or executive director is can you trust people? Is it okay to trust people, knowing full well that they're going to mess up sometimes? Well, the answer is you c...
	He views the role of the volunteer very differently. And it plays out in minor ways. There are serious ways. The club no longer pays, really, the expenses of directors when they come and stay at a hotel. They pay a small amount, but it is les...
	I have always been offended that the club would not pay the out-of-pocket expenses for room and board and transportation. Now, I've always said everybody ought to pay for their own food. You eat everywhere anyhow. It costs more here than it w...
	I found out very quickly that was no longer the philosophy. You got everybody to put on a hair shirt and convince them that suffering was good for them and that they weren't being loyal soldiers if they expected the club to do this, besides, ...

	Lage:
	It seems more fundamental, though.

	Shaffer:
	In what way? What do you mean?

	Lage:
	Well, to say that the treasurer shouldn't talk to people in the accounting department and shouldn't know how many staff members there are says something very fundamental about the role of the board.

	Shaffer:
	No question about it. Yes, it was a horrifying change. It was a change from "whatever is going on is the business of the officers and directors of the Sierra Club," to a "what is your need to know" sort of philosophy, that I'm executive direc...
	Restructuring of the Volunteer Committee Structure, A Move Away from Democracy


	Shaffer:
	But from the point of view of the budget, to talk about the budget for a few minutes, we had a good Finance Committee, a strong man in Jim. I knew how you do this. I knew what needed to be done. Great resistance from Carl, which consequently ...

	Lage:
	So that relationship was--

	Shaffer:
	Well, I don't know whether it was close or not, but I knew that the president was supportive of the executive director's position on whatever it was. This, of course, was after Robbie had led the effort to do all the restructuring of the club...

	Lage:
	In--

	Shaffer:
	Oh, in a number of ways. It was done because Carl wanted it done, and Carl's reason for wanting it done was so we could make decisions more quickly. I mean, there were other things, but that was the primary thrust, that we were awkward, and w...
	Well, we've moved more away from democracy, and you can make decisions more quickly, but you have less buy-in of those decisions; you have less support of those decisions; you have less knowledge of those decisions; the decisions aren't as go...

	Lage:
	It becomes a sandbox.
	Carl Pope’s Approach to Club Governance


	Shaffer:
	That's right. The governance of the Sierra Club is now basically the executive director, and to some degree the president of the club on those issues which are important. And, to some degree, other powerful people, the Ed Wayburns or Phil Ber...
	And so when it came time to redo the budget, Carl insisted that we would have to do a budget first that was a schematic budget, that you, rather than talking about numbers, that you talked about the various parts. I understood what he was say...

	Lage:
	You mean, like, the plan, the programs?

	Shaffer:
	Well, yes. Let's say, okay, these are the things we do to communicate with our members. That's Sierra magazine, that's the books program, that's chapter newsletters. One of the things he saw little value in was chapter newsletters, so let's d...
	I understand what Carl was saying. If you were to take the broad picture view of the organization and say how's the most effective way, he was convinced something like the little tabloid we send out now, the Planet, was the answer. I again di...
	This has been my argument with much of what I see as Carl's approach. There has been a feeling for years that people who headed the conservation department in more or less [any] form saw members as sort of cannon fodder that you throw into th...

	Lage:
	And let them have a sense of ownership.

	Shaffer:
	Have ownership in it. And I think this is the big difference that I saw. I think it's why I never would consider running again for the board of directors while Carl is executive director. And I don't mean by that I have any desire to get rid ...
	That's the way he deals--Copious amounts of e-mail. I mean, he reads all the stuff that comes in and puts out very well-reasoned and very intelligent and articulate responses to somebody that has resigned from a position. But the response is ...
	I think that Robbie got caught up in that because Carl encouraged Robbie to do what he does well, and Robbie was--Oh, I think about a story. I had a landscape architect who was a dear friend of mine when I was building my house and landscapin...
	I had a sense with Robbie that Carl got him out of his hair a lot by having him do good things that needed to be done that Robbie would do very well, and would be an honor to the club and honor to the organization, to move things forward. But...

	Lage:
	Did you raise this as a member of the executive committee?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, absolutely, absolutely.

	Lage:
	And what kind of response did you get?

	Shaffer:
	I think Robbie wanted to think it wasn't so, that I was being troublesome or irritable and that--And, you know, there's a risk in all that. I mean, one of the things I was so conscious of when I came back on the board is that I remember peopl...
	Boy, I am conscious of that because those kind of people drove me nuts. I don't want to be one of those kind of people. You run a risk because your mind does edit out the bad and you remember and cherish the good, and the warm feelings stay w...
	But I think Robbie wore himself out as president. I mean, physically wore himself out. I would see Robbie sometimes when he looked like he was just barely able to make it, he was so tired. And he really worked hard at it, and he really was de...
	Adam Werbach as President


	Shaffer:
	Adam [Werbach] was another kettle of fish. Adam called me, saying he was thinking about running for president; what did I think about it? And I said, "Well, let me think about that, but my gut feeling is I'll probably end up supporting you. B...

	Lage:
	You just knew him from those two years you were on the board.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. I said, "You would have taken one [a commitment] if I had given it to you, but I didn't, and I want to make that clear." In both Robbie and Adam--Robbie had very little experience as a national director before he became president.

	Lage:
	Yes, that's what I was thinking.

	Shaffer:
	And where I came on as the president with four and a half years and Joe Fontaine came on as president having been around forever--Well, not forever, but a long time. A number of people came on as president with a lot of history behind them.

	Lage:
	Michele.

	Shaffer:
	Michele and so on. In evaluating Robbie's presidency, one of the things you've got to say is my goodness, he had little time to prepare. I suspect Robbie Cox would have been a stronger president of the Sierra Club two or three years later, bu...
	Adam, another kettle of fish. My God, so much energy, so refreshing, so--Boy, you talk about a different perspective and good for the organization, absolutely. I wish he had had a little more time before he was president, but he would then be...

	Lage:
	Does he stand up to Carl? Does he understand that past relationships may have been different?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, the answer is yes. I think that he is a much stronger personality in dealing with Carl. The downside is that Adam doesn't know how it was before. He doesn't know what has been stripped away from the governance power of the board of direc...
	Reimbursing the Expenses of Club Presidents and Board Members
	##



	Shaffer:
	There was great debate when Adam became president about how much support he could have. Of course, Robbie would never have raised the question. Robbie--I'll give you an interesting perception--Robbie needed to have some financial supplement w...

	Lage:
	Now, you were treasurer, so you needed--

	Shaffer:
	I was treasurer. And I advised him. I said, "Don't do this. Don't go to Carl. I mean, Carl works for you; you don't work for Carl. And what the board feels is fair is what's fair, and he ain't got a vote. Not his job." Adam, on the other hand...
	If I have animosity about any one thing, it probably is that the Bay Area directors have traditionally had no understanding or sympathy for the need to provide a hotel room that's comfortable or resources that are important to directors who c...

	Lage:
	The local YWCA [chuckles]. And for the president it's even more so. He spends more time here.

	Shaffer:
	It's ridiculous. The president of the Sierra Club is one of the most valuable assets the Sierra Club has, and for Lord's sake they work without pay. And even if they get a supplement, the supplement the presidents have gotten have been just p...

	Lage:
	A lot of people can't do it.

	Shaffer:
	Well, I could do it, and at the time I didn't have--I mean, now I'm thinking about retirement. I have a seven-year-old daughter. I wish I had saved some of that money. But at the time my kids were grown, and I wasn't worried about the future....
	And the same for the other officers. You're not talking about very much. If you're talking about $25,000 a year difference, I would be surprised. In a budget of millions and millions of dollars, it's bizarre. But it is kept there for reasons ...

	Lage:
	So it was a fight on the board.

	Shaffer:
	It was a fight on the board, and it was a fight with Carl.

	Lage:
	Did you ever understand why Robbie went to Carl instead of to his own board?

	Shaffer:
	[pausing] Robbie doesn't like controversy. Robbie would rather not have controversy. He'd rather find a way to smooth it over. I'm inclined to go in--if there's a controversy--go in and pick it to pieces and find out who's got what problem an...
	Restructuring the Finance Committee, a New Role for the Treasurer


	Lage:
	How did your role as treasurer this last time differ from the earlier times?

	Shaffer:
	I think the big difference was that most everything was done with great resistance by the staff. Getting information was extremely difficult. I really had to push and shove and use political power just to get information, which would have bee...

	Lage:
	Do you think that Carl was particularly wary of you because you did have the reputation for getting things done?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, sure. Oh, sure. Yes, I'm a threatening fellow to somebody who has their own agenda. And Carl has his own agenda. People like me are, I would think, threatening because I'm going to mess with his agenda. He's going to have to work around m...

	Lage:
	Did you work to get the information directly with Carl, then?

	Shaffer:
	I went anywhere I could go until I got it. I mean, including, you know, having prayer meetings with the ExCom or with Carl and the ExCom, or Debbie and Carl or whoever. I mean, if I needed something--and sometimes going to the point of puttin...

	Lage:
	And would Robbie support you on that?

	Shaffer:
	With great discomfort. I mean, he really wanted this just not to be such a problem. And I think he felt that a lot of what I was doing I was doing to create waves, where I clearly saw what I was doing as doing something because we got somethi...

	Lage:
	How did you work that? It used to be the treasurer would be the chairman of the Financial Committee.

	Shaffer:
	Always had been and is again now. Has been for the history of the club except for that one year.

	Lage:
	How did it work out?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, it was a wonderful idea. It worked beautifully.

	Lage:
	What did your role become if you weren't chairman of the Finance Committee?

	Shaffer:
	My role became the advisor to the board of directors on financial matters. The treasurer of the Sierra Club is, by definition in the bylaws, the chief financial officer of the Sierra Club, and I played that role in advising and consulting wit...
	In board politics I played a role because Jim wasn't on the board of directors, and so if something came up in a session that may not have started out being a financial discussion but became one--Jim was brought in whenever there was known to...
	Much better idea. It's the way it ought to be. I was very disappointed to see that the next year then it went back to well, I'm treasurer, so I'm going to chair this committee.

	Lage:
	How long were you treasurer?

	Shaffer:
	One year.

	Lage:
	Just one year.

	Shaffer:
	Just long enough to get us in the black.

	Lage:
	And did these changes have an effect?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, big time, big time, big time surplus. I mean, we can look it up, but it was a couple million dollars.

	Lage:
	And then did you decide you didn't want the treasurership again?

	Shaffer:
	I decided I did what I came for.

	Lage:
	Are we still in the black?

	Shaffer:
	You know, I haven't paid that much attention for the last few months. I don't know, but I do know we are no longer in danger. It was a serious matter that particular year because the banks were getting worried. The auditors were getting ready...
	I mean, it was a critical time, and I saw something that needed to be done. I came in, and I did it. And that's that. And I tried to get off the board after I did it. I tried to resign and get them to replace me with Jim Dodson on the board. ...
	Resolving Budget Issues, Past and Present


	Lage:
	Now, in getting the budget in balance, as treasurer, does it work by your saying, "Carl, cut back on spending and bring this budget into balance."? Or does it work by you helping devise where the cuts will be made?

	Shaffer:
	In my previous incarnations as treasurer, the way it worked was that you looked at the size of the problem and you looked at what you had to take out, and you looked at things that you could approach that would help you to that degree. I mean...
	This time, the process, as I started to say, was Carl's insistence on putting together a sort of schematic thing. We dumped all this stuff out on the table and said, "These are the parts." Then Carl relabeled the parts, put different names on...

	Lage:
	Did other people see it this way?

	Shaffer:
	Other people saw it that way. Other people did not see it that way. It was a very difficult process because you did a sort of dice and slice, and when you were done, you weren't sure whether all the pieces were still there or not. One of the ...
	So clearly I had great difficulty with this. What I wanted to do was get on with what I saw the business of getting a budget that would get us where we wanted to go. Carl said, "This is what I'm doing." I said, "I don't think so." We spent an...
	But we went through all this. But we went through all this with my knowing darn well that I'm going to get my day, and I got my day.

	Lage:
	How?

	Shaffer:
	When you put numbers on it, the numbers have got to come out. Now, we had very serious disagreements which reflected the philosophical differences. I mentioned chapter newsletters. Carl was willing to slice them out in one fell swoop as very,...
	This money that goes to train volunteers or this money that goes to pay for your hotel room if you're a director, these things don't give Carl Pope a darn thing, and so he doesn't have any enthusiasm for them. And all those kinds of things di...
	Reducing Staff and the Books Program, Re-forming the Size and Shape of the Club


	Shaffer:
	Clearly, we had to do some reduction of staff. And with the unions, of course, this was a very difficult thing to do. I am very sympathetic to that. I understand how that is. I've never owned a business that was unionized, but I've been a mem...
	But eventually we worked out a situation. He proposed some things, and we talked about things. Other things were put out until there was a process put in place to reduce the size of the staff, which clearly had to be done. The budget could no...
	There was some real re-forming in the size and shape of the club, and this budget was a drastic re-forming. There was real pain in it. There were good people who were laid off out of it; there were good people who took an early buy-out of the...
	It's not a budget I was ashamed of. I didn't like the process at all. I would have much preferred a much more open process, much more dialogue. Carl was absolutely correct that some of this stuff could not be done openly. Staff salary stuff c...

	Lage:
	Now, was this cutback when Jon Beckmann left, or was that before?

	Shaffer:
	Yes.

	Lage:
	So was that part of the cutback, that you couldn't afford a Jon Beckmann?

	Shaffer:
	It actually came out of that. But it was not an instant thing, but it was part of all that whole thing, the changing of the whole program, the books program.

	Lage:
	Was that a change that the board took a policy role in?

	Shaffer:
	Yes, but. Early on, when I came on as treasurer and I realized that the books program could spend a lot of money, and the club had gotten in trouble with the books program before. You can have a lot of books in the warehouse and think you hav...
	I said, "Why are we doing this?" Well, we're controlling it, the expenditures. Well, of course, we weren't controlling anything. So I devised a sort of plan which said that the books program had "x" number of dollars to work with, and that's ...
	Well, somewhere along the way, that got gone, along with a lot of other things. People forgot about it or executive directors changed or whatever. And so the control of the book program again went back more to what is the program for and what...
	In fairness, the books business is a whole different business. People aren't reading books like they were. People aren't buying books, and small bookstores are being forced out. It's a whole different world. And maybe it's a victim of the tim...
	More on Changes in Club Management: Missing the Big Picture


	Lage:
	Who on the board is thinking in the terms you just described? Is there someone else that's going to step in and ask those questions?

	Shaffer:
	Oh, I'm the worst person to answer that question. I don't know the new directors. I know that historically people like Mike have said that one of the things I offered the board was that I asked the questions that nobody else asked and that I ...
	I think Larry Downing is very good at that. And Larry had a big vision of the organization. Larry was both, at different times, president of the club and president of the board of trustees [of The Sierra Culb Foundation], took the board of tr...
	Sue Merrow brought that sort of thing. Sue had that. When Sue was president she put together what she called the big projects list with Michael Fischer, which was basically the sort of concept of what Mike McCloskey used to put on his wall. B...
	It's been asked to be continued under subsequent executive directors and has not been, as far as I know, continued. There's an accountability that comes out of those kinds of things that some executive directors find quite annoying, which is ...

	Lage:
	No planning committee activities.

	Shaffer:
	No strategic planning.

	Lage:
	Long-term planning.

	Shaffer:
	The govcoms all have as a charge long-range planning. Well, of all the silly ways of doing it, you break it up in seven pieces or whatever it is and say, "Now, you each plan for what's going to happen in the future of the Sierra Club. But don...

	Lage:
	And their missions overlap.

	Shaffer:
	Yes. Much of the restructuring was a debilitation, caused the debilitation of the volunteer governance by fracturing it into pieces that were not well-connected and which had no normal flow into a place that got resolution of the big picture....

	Lage:
	This is kind of a discouraging note that we're coming to.

	Shaffer:
	Public-interest organizations, cause organizations are in trouble in this country. Movements are in trouble in this country. There aren't many of them left. The labor movement is struggling, the women's movement is wherever it is, the environ...

	Lage:
	It does better when the politics in Washington is against it.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, sure. Oh, sure. Well, yes. People will come to the cause if there's a threat. And in some ways the strength of the environmental movement is diminished by having Al Gore as vice president. I mean, that's a bizarre statement, but people ar...
	To the credit of the Sierra Club and the credit of Carl Pope: the Sierra Club remains strong, when other environmental organizations have been diminished greatly. Greenpeace is recently having to lay off a lot of people; other organizations a...
	So there are some things, I think, to feel good about. The Sierra Club, I think, as much now as ever in its history is the preeminent voice for the environment in America. I think it is generally well respected by people who know much about i...

	Lage:
	Whatever it's going to be like.
	Current Lobbying Effort in North Carolina


	Lage:
	Well, as you leave your active involvement out here, do you plan to stay active in [the] North Carolina Chapter politics?

	Shaffer:
	I've just spent the last year and a half lobbying in North Carolina for a piece of legislation that affects my industry and which affects the environment, having to do with site pollution from dry cleaning solvent. I have looked for years at ...
	This is legislation that we've helped put through and I helped put through, and I spent the last year and a half trying to prove that it can be fixed. I think we fixed one little piece of it in North Carolina. And I kind of hoped that it will be a model.
	The Sierra Club unfortunately, I don't think, quite gets it here. I don't think they quite understand what I've done, and there has not been much enthusiasm for it beyond a few people. I think Adam understands and sees it as a good idea and m...
	Devoting More Time to Family and Friends


	Shaffer:
	So I see myself doing things like that. But I want to go walk with my daughter. I want time to enjoy what time I've got left. I want to figure out how to retire gracefully, or perhaps retire not gracefully, but retire.

	Lage:
	From your business?

	Shaffer:
	No, no. From working every day.
	##


	Shaffer:
	Oh, I work hard when I work. You know, I talked about working four days a month when I was president of the Sierra Club. It would be fair to say that I have always thought in seven-day weeks and that I have never thought about an eight-hour o...
	My two sons grew up too fast. I lost my wife in the middle of all that, and it was very difficult. It got past me. I didn't spend as much time as I wanted to with them. I'm really frightened that my daughter is seven and a half and I'm not sp...
	I'm doing things which are important to me. I've gotten back to being active in the church. Important to me. I've gotten back to supporting--getting back into my friendships of people that I care very much about that I've neglected over the y...
	These are changes for me, from trying to save the world [chuckling] or do grand schemes of things. I guess I'm really looking forward to trying to spend time on things which are smaller, definable. I said to Adam that, "If you find something ...
	But I don't want any more to be an officer of the Sierra Club or to be president of the Sierra Club or chapter chair in North Carolina. I'm looking forward to going to the next chapter retreat and being there, seeing old friends. And I might ...
	But I'm really looking at--I'm really looking now--If there's anything clear to me is, as you look back over your life, what is important are those human relationships. Things are not very important. Historic things are written in sand. How m...
	I like some of the things we accomplished. I feel good about them. But, as it has been said that on your deathbed nobody says, "Gee, I wish I had spent more time in the office," I'm not sure that on my deathbed I'm going to say, "Gee, I wish ...

	Lage:
	You probably couldn't have spent more time! Let's face it.

	Shaffer:
	That's possible. But I could see myself saying, "I wish I had spent more time with my wife and daughter, my sons and my friends." I wish I had spent more time reaching out to people I know personally who need help. I'm now the guardian of a w...
	Reflections on Accomplishments in the Sierra Club


	Lage:
	I'll just make one comment. I think you're playing down a little bit too much all the good you did by being so involved in the Sierra Club. I think that will come into your thinking before too much longer.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, I'm just not the one to evaluate that. You know, I talked to Larry Downing last night, and I mentioned I talked to Mike McCloskey, and they both suggested [chuckling] that I made some significant contributions. And it makes me feel good w...

	Lage:
	Yes, the organization--

	Shaffer:
	The organization has been here a long time. When I was elected to the board of directors the first time, I had in my mind, as my primary goal, that I wanted to leave it as well as I found it, or a little better. And that was my only standard....
	A Sierra Club Romance


	Lage:
	Now, one more thing because I think we have overlooked this because it's a given in your life: You never mentioned when you and Kim got married or very much about Kim. Maybe we should end on that.

	Shaffer:
	Oh, it is--Yes. Kim and I got married the day after I stopped being president of the Sierra Club. We got engaged in Chicago at a fund-raising event [laughing]. We fell in love during my presidency, which--we had known each other, for heaven's...
	And she worked for Peggy Hynd. We haven't said much about Peggy Hynd, who is now Peggy Combs, who was the director of development who Kim worked for. She was director of development; Kim was director of membership development and worked for P...
	But sometime when I was president, a bunch of us went out for dinner or went out to have a drink one night after a meeting, and there's fifteen of us sitting around a room, and I said, "Well, who wants to have dinner? I've got to go get somet...
	Shortly thereafter I went and had a heart-to-heart talk with Mike McCloskey, and I can assure you this made Mike extremely uncomfortable, on a number of levels. But I sure--I said, "Mike, you know, this is not anything that I planned, and yes...

	Lage:
	So you were reporting to the executive director!

	Shaffer:
	Well, I mean, this woman works for him and I'm his boss in some sort of a way, and this is not a good arrangement, and this is disorderly to my structure of management and administration. But I assured him that we would be discrete about all ...
	I went back home and I got a diamond for her, and I'm flying out, and there is a fund- raising event in Chicago, and though Kim didn't usually do those things because she did membership development, they were shorthanded, and they asked her t...
	And so she got the ring then, and that made it formal, and everybody then knew what was going on, and that was near the end of my presidency, and then we got married the day afterwards. We had a small wedding here in--What is the name of that...

	Lage:
	The little Swedenborgian Church?

	Shaffer:
	Swedenborgian Church [on Lyon Street in San Francisco]. You got it. My family and her family and everybody came. Small wedding. And then we had the Haas Lilienthal House for a party. We invited all the directors and families and friends, and ...
	Kim and I then, of course, went back to North Carolina and immediately got involved in the Hunt campaign, so Kim was introduced to North Carolina in that way. She went on then to be chapter chair of North Carolina chapter and did a number of ...

	Lage:
	Well, I think that's a nicer note to end on than some of the other things.

	Shaffer:
	Well, it's a positive one. It is a positive one. I will tell you one more story. I actually wrote the introduction of a book on North Carolina, and I included this. It's fitting because I'm sitting here in this apartment. The man who takes ca...
	She was then just weeks old. And, boy, I found out very quickly what he was talking about. Francesca, you know, looks at me like I've never been looked at before and has brought the joy into my life that's never been there before, with all th...
	I'm so much looking forward to what lies ahead and the opportunities that will be there. It's going to be fun.

	Lage:
	Very nice. Let's end on that note.

	Shaffer:
	Yes.
	[END OF INTERVIEW]
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